# **UC San Diego**

# **UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations**

## **Title**

"Outlaw Poverty Not Prostitutes": Sex Workers' Responses to Poverty Management in San Francisco

## **Permalink**

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1533s9wz

### **Author**

Yarbrough, Donna Dilara

## **Publication Date**

2016

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

"Outlaw Poverty Not Prostitutes": Sex Workers' Responses to Poverty Management in San Francisco

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

Sociology

by

Donna Dilara Yarbrough

## Committee in charge:

Professor Isaac W. Martin, Chair Professor Suzanne Brenner Professor Jeff Haydu Professor Kwai Ng Professor Christena Turner

Copyright

Donna Dilara Yarbrough, 2016

All rights reserved.

The Dissertation of Donna Dilara Yarbrough is approved, and is acceptable in quality
and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:
Chair

University of California, San Diego

2016

# DEDICATION

To the Saint James Infirmary and the Transgender Gender Variant and Intersex Justice Project.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Signature Page	
Dedication.	
Table of Contents	
List of Tables	
Acknowledgements	
Vita	
Abstract of the Dissertation	
Chapter 1 Introduction	
1.1 Race, gender and poverty management	
1.2 The criminalization of street-based sex work	
1.3 Criminalization as a form of poverty management	
1.4 Medicalization of poverty	
1.5 Harm reduction	
1.6 Methods	
1.6.1 Case selection and recruitment	
1.6.2 Interviews with people who have been homeless and	
the sex trade	
1.6.3 Interviews with staff at organizations for people in the	
trade	
1.6.4 Ethnographic observation	
1.8 A note on language	
1.6 A flote off fallguage	•••••
Chapter 2 Precarious Housing and Work at the Margins	
2.1 Precarious work in the low-wage formal economy	
2.1.1 Jay	
2.1.2 Akasha	
2.1.3 Calvin	
2.2 How receiving government aid affects work	
2.2.1 Beto	
2.3 Exclusion from housing and formal work	
2.3.1 Ana	
2.3.2 Pauline	
2.4 Survival and mobility through sex work	
2.4.1 Matt	
2.4.2 Aimee	
2.5 Incarceration creates barriers to formal employment	

2	5.1 Debra
	Discussion
CI.	
-	er 3 Carceral Classification in the Criminalization of Poverty
3.1	Managing poverty: From entitlement to mass incarceration
3.2	Prostitution laws and enforcement
3.3	Anti-homeless and quality of life laws and enforcement
	Drug laws and enforcement
	Theorizing intersectional vulnerability
3.0	Policing in public space
	6.2 Police profiling
3	
	3.6.3.1 Belinda
27	3.6.3.2 Bill
	Carceral classification in jails and prisons
	7.1 Ana
3.9	
3.9	Acknowledgments
Chapte	er 4 The Medicalization of Poverty: How Service Bureaucracies
c iii.p v	Administer Identity And Reform
4.1	Introduction
	Medicalization of homelessness
	Medicalization of sex work
	3.1 Serenity Village: Medicalization through behavioral reform
	Medicalization of HIV and mental illness
	4.1 Jay
	.4.2 Sandra
	Medicalization of drug addiction
	Conclusion
Chapte	er 5 Harm Reduction as a Structurally Transformative Response to
	Poverty
5.1	Introduction
	What is harm reduction?
5.3	From criminalization to health promotion: Historical shifts in the
	use of health rationales in the management of sexuality, race and
	poverty
5.4	Harm reduction practice at the Saint James Infirmary
5.5	How harm reduction contests medicalization and administrative
	violence
5.6	Fighting the norms of professional training
5.7	Harm reduction as a resource for policy advocacy and against
	criminalization

5.8 Accessing harm reduction services for sex workers at SJI	236
5.9 A Harm reduction response to HIV	241
5.10 A harm reduction response to drug use	242
5.11 A harm reduction response to homelessness	247
5.12 Harm reduction in action	248
Chapter 6 Conclusion	256
Bibliography	265

## LIST OF TABLES

Poverty 1	09

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Isaac Martin has been an excellent adviser and a wonderful mentor throughout my time at UCSD. Over the years, he has encouraged my research interests, and has provided generous and insightful feedback at every stage, from research design to data collection and writing. His guidance helped me stay focused on my larger questions about poverty and social policy even when the daily work of qualitative research and of supporting my research participants threatened to overwhelm the goals of analysis and writing. This research project has benefitted immensely from his mentorship.

I was lucky to have a committee of careful and critical yet supportive readers, who provided encouraging yet critical feedback on drafts. Suzanne Brenner helped with strategies to establish a regular practice of writing field notes, which proved invaluable for the completion of this project. Jeff Haydu provided always encouraging and remarkably quick responses to my questions, along with crucial insights about political consciousness and social movements that helped me specify my arguments and generate new questions for future projects. Kwai Ng's careful reading and honest assessment of earlier drafts, along with his attention to debates in contemporary criminological theory, have made the final document much better than it was before he read it. I am very grateful to Christena Turner for her insightful advice about the presentation of my key findings, along with encouragement and support that helped me believe in myself at a crucial moment.

In addition to my committee at UCSD, I was lucky to have a supportive academic community in San Francisco where I did my fieldwork. I would like to thank

Janet Shim for welcoming me into her dissertation seminar (a.k.a. "the unicorn of academia") in the fall of 2015, and for generous feedback on my early writing. My writing group at UCSF spent time carefully reading and commenting on early drafts, and I feel so lucky to have fallen into this uniquely supportive and generative community of thinkers. I would especially like to thank Kate Darling, Natalie Ingraham, Chris Hansmann, Jennifer James, and Sonia Rab Alam not only for carefully reading drafts, but also for friendship and moral support at the most critical moments.

I'm grateful to Naomi Akers and Kate Weinkauf for feedback on drafts of my data collection instruments, and especially to Kate Weinkauf for guidance about collecting demographic data as I conceptualized this project. Thanks also to Gary Lee for carefully reading and commenting on my dissertation prospectus, and for constant support throughout my time at UCSD.

This dissertation was shaped by many hours spent at the Saint James Infirmary and also the Transgender Gender Variant and Intersex Justice Project. Members of these organizations were an amazing source of insight, learning, and emotional support for me as I did this research. In particular, staff and volunteers at SJI provided crucial emotional support and intellectual camaraderie over the course of this research. Concerns about anonymity prohibit me from listing so many of the people who influenced this project the most: I am honored and deeply grateful that my research participants invited me into their lives.

Over the course of this project, I struggled to navigate my roles as a researcher and an advocate. I'm grateful for the friendship and guidance of staff and volunteers at the San Francisco Coalition on Homelessness, the Saint James Infirmary and the Transgender Gender Variant and Intersex Justice Project. I especially want to thank Janetta Johnson, Cyd Nova, and Lisa Marie Alatorre, whose friendship and community organizing genius helped me to chart a path between research and political advocacy.

My understanding of the criminalization of homelessness in San Francisco was shaped by my involvement with the COH's Human Rights Work Group and the Western Regional Advocacy Project beginning in 2012, and I would especially like to thank Lisa Marie Alatorre, Bilal Ali, Paul Boden, Kelley Cutler, Will Daley, Jenny Friedenbach, TJ Johnston, Shira Noel and Colleen Rivecca for discussions that contributed to my understanding of local and state politics surrounding homelessness. I would also like to thank Chris Herring for sociological companionship at the COH and for coauthoring our report entitled "Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco." Collaboration with Chris Herring and our Peer Research Team at the Coalition on Homelessness provided crucial insight into the city agencies that regulate poverty in San Francisco.

Part of "Bill's Story," featured in Chapter 3, was published in "Punishing the Poorest." Bill was part of my independent dissertation research and Chapter 3 of this dissertation contains a longer version of Bill's narrative, based on my interview with

him at the Saint James Infirmary in 2013. Parts of his narrative that were previously published are demarcated by quotation marks and in-text citations. The citation for the co-authored report which features a shorter version of Bill's narrative is: Herring, Chris and Dilara Yarbrough. 2015. *Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco*. Coalition on Homelessness. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract=2620426).

I am very grateful to Rocky Citro for his help formatting (especially the Table of Contents and Bibliography) in time for a tight deadline.

Finally, I would like to thank Ahmet Ustunel for unconditional love and support and for always believing in me and in this project.

# VITA

2006	Bachelor of Arts, Grinnell College
2012	Master of Arts, University of California, San Diego
2016	Doctor of Philosophy, University of California, San Diego

### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

"Outlaw Poverty Not Prostitutes": Sex Workers' Responses to Poverty Management in San Francisco

by

Donna Dilara Yarbrough

Doctor of Philosophy in Sociology

University of California, San Diego, 2016

Professor Isaac W. Martin, Chair

This dissertation draws on interviews and ethnography with service providers, local officials and currently and formerly homeless sex workers to evaluate the effects of three different governmental responses to poverty: Criminalization, medicalization, and harm reduction. In order to understand the relationship between poverty management policies and economic insecurity, I compare my participants' experiences with law enforcement and social service agencies. Focusing on one informal occupational group demonstrates how and why poor people with similar income strategies experience different interventions. My dissertation research contributes to a

broader understanding of how law enforcement and service agencies construct race and gender, and develops a theory of individualizing and structurally transformative responses to poverty.

### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 Race, gender and poverty management

"Baby, we here. We're going across the bridge," P. said, shaking T. gently. She opened her eyes, heavy with mascara and sleep. She looked around at the high-rise buildings. "P., why did you wake me up? We're still in Los Angeles," she admonished, and her eyelids fluttered closed again. P. laughed, that contagious laugh that she loved, and said, "No baby, we're really here."

T. was expecting quaint Victorian houses, painted in vibrant shades of pink, purple, blue. She was expecting a red bridge that rose majestically into the clouds over the churning turquoise water of the bay. What she saw instead looked just like downtown L.A. They got off the bus on Market Street, at the heart of the city's booming drug market. When they reached the United Nations Plaza, homeless people, mostly Black, huddled with puffy jackets, cardboard spread out on the concrete to keep warm. There was a fountain and a monument made from bronze and concrete. Groups of people smoked crack, their belongings in shopping carts or tattered suitcases or spread out to sell for some extra cash. The gold dome of City Hall glinted incongruously in the winter sunlight.

T. had a sinking feeling: "I was devastated because I could not believe that people were sitting there by this water fountain, broad daylight, smoking crack and around these government buildings. That just blew my mind." But she shook the feeling away and thought to herself, "Okay, well this is San Francisco and they used to

say that San Francisco was the gay capital of the world. And, I'm transgender, I'm pretty, so I can make a whole lot of money out here."

T. has been incarcerated six times. The first time T. was arrested was after she and her brother burglarized a house. She did 18 months in prison. When she got out, in the early 1990s, she moved to Los Angeles and started doing street-based sex work. Like many other Black transgender women, T. was profiled and arrested for prostitution after an undercover police officer asked her for sex. Sometimes, police officers would drive T. into a side street and tell her that, in exchange for sex, they would let her go. But this officer didn't try to strike a bargain—he just handcuffed her and took her to jail.

Intermittently homeless after her release, T. was in and out of the missions. Street-based sex work allowed her to make enough money to buy food and drugs.

T. estimates that she has been in drug rehab and detoxification facilities over 60 times. On the first day of each month, T. got her Supplemental Security Income (SSI) check. Most of the time, she would use the money to get a Single Room Occupancy hotel room for two weeks. Then, "after the two weeks, it was either go to a psych ward for the other two weeks or call one of my friends that would come and get me and I would stay at his house for two weeks. Or, I would end up getting busted because now I'm prostituting."

So, that was basically my cycle. It was jail—if I'm not in jail, I'm either in a psych ward or I'm going to a drug and alcohol program." T. went to treatment programs only when she felt exhausted, resigned: "It was like, okay I'm going here—one, because I've been up for a week. They're going to give me a bed... I'm going to get to rest, I'm going to

get to eat, I'll gain my weight back, okay I'll get off crack. But, 'okay I'll get off crack' was always the last thing on the list...

In exchange for temporary access to food and shelter, T. had to endure the staff's denial of her gender identity, and insistence on treating her like an alcoholic. It was the same each time: T. would arrive at the drug rehabilitation center dressed in her regular clothing: Form-fitting jeans or a skirt, a wig, eyeliner and lipstick. The staff would interview her about her substance use and her motivation to change. At the end of the interview, they would say, "okay we'll accept you but—but, you can't have this, none of the makeup."

She was hungry, and she was tired, so T. stripped away these markers of her identity. "I had to go in there being somebody that I despised. And—and, let me take that back—it's not that I despised being who I was—I know who I am and you're making me—one, you're making me dress and act, and all of this, like this boy that I'm not. And, two, the other thing for me was, I'm coming into recovery under a lie. I know I'm not an alcoholic."

Rigid gender segregation in the drug rehabilitation programs meant that T. was housed with the men. She was strictly forbidden from using make-up or wearing women's clothing (which encompassed most of the clothing she owned). Misgendering, coupled with the knowledge that rehab would do nothing to help her get housing in the long term, made her leave the programs soon after she started "eating and gaining weight."

The main problem with drug treatment was that it denied T.'s gender identity and focused on changing her behavior without providing resources that she needed in

order to get out of poverty. Staff focused narrowly on what they viewed as "problem behaviors," and promised that by fixing herself, T. could fix her life. She didn't buy it. T. reflects, "...We were set up to fail... It's a revolving door—and they know it... I mean, you take a person off the street. You bring them to a really nice house up in wherever—wherever—like I said, they've got them all over. You stay there six months, maybe even sometimes 18 months and then you get out and it's like, okay, where do I go?"

In the absence of long-term housing support, most people T. knew ended up right where they started: Back in the shelters and SROs, on the streets and on drugs, in and out of jail.

After her release from prison in 1996, T. wanted a new start. So she and P. got on a Greyhound bus to San Francisco.

Nights on the stroll in San Francisco, women stood on the sidewalk or leaned against buildings in tall shoes, short skirts, meticulously applied eyeliner. Men drove around the block slow, looking. Most of the men who picked T. up were "car dates." They drove her somewhere, away from the glare of the streetlights. They had sex. Then, they paid her very little.

Despite the city's disappointing similarities to L.A.—the drugs, the grinding poverty--there was one small bit of truth to the mythology of San Francisco as a haven of sexual and gender diversity. Here, for the first time, T. encountered harm reduction service organizations that accepted her for who she was, and that didn't try to change

her. One of these organizations was the Saint James Infirmary, the country's only peer-led occupational health and safety clinic for sex workers.

When I came to San Francisco, I guess because of the liberalness of San Francisco, things began to change for us. I learned about Saint James. I had no idea that a place like this existed, because it's not in Los Angeles—and we started coming here. I started receiving my hormones. I heard about harm reduction and that was literally—coming here was the first time I ever even heard that word, harm reduction.

At Saint James, when the staff looked at T., they saw her—no one told her to change out of her wig or skirt. There was a free clothing closet where T. could get new women's clothing. Her doctor helped her get on hormone therapy. The walls were adorned with sex workers' and transgender rights posters. There were free safer sex and drug use supplies. Talking over community dinners at the clinic, rifling through the clothing closet for cute outfits, T. met some of her closest friends. When she was new to the city, they told her the safest spots to work, and which clients and cops to watch out for. "Saint James was the place to be because everybody that came here, whether they were actually still sex working or not and whether they knew that I was or not, I never felt judged here... Saint James was the very first place that we felt welcome."

T. and her husband started volunteering at Saint James and participating in campaigns to decriminalize sex work, and to stop the mass incarceration of transgender people. Volunteering allowed her to meet other transgender people "and actually get into that community," she said. She also started using medical marijuana

in order to reduce her use of crack and got involved in advocacy for drug users' rights. She and P. started going to protests, something they had never done before.

Over the years, T.'s community advocacy would open doors for her at local organizations, and catapult her into her first formal economy job as a transgender woman: A part-time relief counselor at a homeless shelter. This year, at age 49, T. got her first full-time formal job. As a health advocate for transgender people, she runs harm-reduction programs at a local HIV service organization.

T.'s experiences with police, drug treatment facilities, and peer-led service organizations illustrate three different approaches to poverty management:

Criminalization, medicalization and harm reduction. *Poverty management* refers to the myriad ways in which the U.S. government responds to poverty. The poverty management system encompasses law enforcement and carceral systems, the welfare state, and social service organizations. Many of the policies and practices that are ostensibly designed to reduce poverty actually have the effect of (re)producing it.

Recent scholarship has identified criminalization and medicalization as the two main approaches to poverty management in U.S. cities. *Criminalization* is the categorization of poor people as criminals, while *medicalization* is the treatment of poor people as deficient and in need of remediation, often in the form of social services that emphasize behavioral change. In contrast, *harm reduction* is an approach that recognizes social inequality and seeks to minimize harm through the promotion of policies and practices that promote individual and community well-being.

Like a disproportionate number of transgender women of color, T. worked in the criminalized informal economy. She was profiled and arrested—often by undercover officers-- for a variety of poverty-related crimes, including prostitution. Many people who experience extreme poverty are pushed into the informal economy by discrimination and structural inequalities in the formal labor market. As a transgender woman with a criminal record, T. felt like street-based work was her only option. People who do criminalized types of street-based work are more visible, and more vulnerable to arrest, than people who do the same types of work indoors.

T. experienced medicalization when both her drug addiction and gender identity were treated as personal deficiencies that required remediation. Staff at the many drug rehabilitation facilities she frequented focused on changing her behavior and gender expression, ignoring the broader context of racial and gender inequality that surrounded her drug use and poverty. Staff viewed T.'s poverty as a symptom of her personal deficiencies. In their eyes, the barriers to a middle class lifestyle were her "problem behaviors": Drug use, prostitution, feminine gender presentation. Staff encouraged impoverished clients at the drug rehabilitation facilities to see themselves as individuals with choices. They claimed that the right choices—abstaining from drugs and sex work, and conforming to gender norms—would result in economic mobility and security. The focus on individual choice and punishment or treatment are the hallmarks of criminalizing and medicalizing approaches. Both approaches are based on ideologies of individual responsibility that undergird what Spade calls administrative violence, the way in which "administrative systems that classify people

actually invent and produce meaning for the categories they administer, and that those categories manage both the population and the distribution of security and vulnerability" (2011: 32). Scholars of medicalization and administrative violence are not in conversation, but stories like T.'s show how individualizing forms of poverty management distribute life chances unequally based on gender and race.

T. encountered harm reduction at the Saint James Infirmary and other San Francisco organizations that understood sex work as work and did not judge her for using drugs. At Saint James, services were provided in a way that recognized and contested structural inequalities. I argue that harm reduction is not just the approach of a few service providers, but a third strategy of poverty management that scholars of criminalization and medicalization have overlooked. Emerging from the drug users' rights movement, harm reduction has become entrenched in San Francisco's poverty management system as a nonjudgmental approach to service provision. Because of its emphasis on reducing harm through the provision of no-strings-attached resources, rather than on punishment or moral reform, harm reduction avoids the repressive elements of criminalization and medicalization. In fact, the philosophy and practice of harm reduction enables what Majic (2013) calls "movement-borne nonprofits" founded by activists to maintain their commitments to radical social change even as they provide services.

In order to advance sociological understanding of how the poverty management system in contemporary U.S. cities constructs homeless people's income strategies and life chances, I compare currently and formerly homeless sex workers'

experiences with criminalization, medicalization and harm reduction approaches. While it may at first seem that the poverty management system sorts people into groups for punishment or reform based on their behavior, I argue that this process also regulates race, gender, and sexuality. By focusing on a group of people who have experienced homelessness and sold or traded sex, I am able to compare how people who do similar types of criminalized work have interacted with all three approaches to poverty management.

In this dissertation, I make two central arguments: First, that the intersections of criminalizing and medicalizing approaches to poverty management are inadequately theorized, and that scholars of medicalization have not paid adequate attention to how the legal and bureaucratic regulation of race and gender perpetuate inequality. My study of how homeless sex workers, including active drug users, experience the labor market, law enforcement and social services helps theorize the relationships between criminalization and medicalization. I argue that through criminalization and medicalization, the poverty management system constructs racialized and gendered categories of exclusion and belonging.

Second, scholars of poverty management largely overlook harm reduction, which emerged out of identity-based organizing by drug users. Harm reduction has been adopted by a number of homeless service organizations in San Francisco, and is now the official policy of the city's Department of Public Health. Harm reduction, I argue, does not have the same repressive potential as criminalizing and medicalizing approaches to poverty management. Harm reduction-based service provision

represents a promising short-term response to poverty because it facilitates recognition of oppressive systems, which can lead to meaningful challenges to structural inequality in the long term.

### 1.2 The criminalization of street-based sex work

The regulation of sexual labor has most often been theorized as part of the state's regulation of sexuality (Bernstein 2005, Sanders 2009). This understanding of sex work allows scholars to conceptualize sex work in terms of the broader framework of the state's construction of sex and gender norms that designate "good sexual citizens" and "bad sexual citizens" (Seidman 2005: 225-26). While this is a useful framework, it is also crucial to understand the governmental regulation of sexual labor as regulation of poor people's access to urban space, especially in the contemporary U.S. context (Bernstein 2005). The relationship between poverty, gentrification and state regulation is an important starting point for my re-framing of state regulation of sex work as a form of poverty management. The policing of street prostitution is very much an approach to managing poverty through criminalization of poor people's sexual labor.

Reframing the regulation of prostitution as regulation of the poor allows us to recognize that it is only one way that poor sex workers may be criminalized. As members of an extremely marginalized social group, currently and formerly homeless sex workers may apply for welfare, use homeless shelters, visit nonprofit organizations and access needle exchange or drug treatment facilities. In many ways, the experiences of homeless sex workers are similar to the experiences of homeless

people in other informal economies. In fact, while most research on sex work, including sex work by homeless people, focuses narrowly on sex and sexual health, my research indicates that many homeless sex workers do other formal and informal jobs over the course of their lives, even if sex work is their main or only economic strategy for a period of time.

Criminalizing interventions most frequently target the most impoverished group of sex workers. Street-based sex workers are more likely than indoor workers to live in poverty, and are more vulnerable to violence and exploitation (Krusi et al. 2012). The criminalization of both sex work and drug use create health risks by reinforcing stigma, increasing vulnerability to arrest and incarceration, reducing the availability of health supplies like condoms and clean syringes, and constraining the conditions under which sex workers can negotiate safer sex or drug use (Blankenship & Koester 2002, Shannon et al. 2008). Scholars and activists have argued that policing practices create dangerous working conditions for street-based workers in particular. For example, policing curtails the amount of time available to screen out potentially violent clients, and it forces sex workers to work in isolated areas to avoid detection by police (Blankenship & Koester 2002; Monroe 2005; Shannon et al. 2007; Shannon et al. 2008). Sex workers are more vulnerable to violence when they work in locations where their control of the physical space is limited, such as in clients' cars (Spice 2007: 323). Homeless sex workers are especially vulnerable to violence because the physical environments where they work are often less predictable, and economic necessity diminishes their ability to be more selective about clients.

There are many ways that many street-based sex workers are criminalized even when they are not working (Lutnick & Cohan 2009: 44). For example, 85% of participants in Lutnick & Cohan's (2009) survey of street-based female sex workers in San Francisco had been arrested for drug-related crimes in the past, while 60% had been arrested for prostitution-related crimes (42). These statistics are striking not only because they indicate high rates of arrest, but also because they indicate that laws and policies regulating drug use and sale might have even more of an impact on the lives of many extremely low-income sex workers than policies regulating prostitution. Which groups of sex workers are likely to be arrested for prostitution, as opposed to for drug-related crimes? How do other policing practices, including those that do not result in immediate arrest and incarceration (for example citation for loitering or resting in public or harassment and intimidation by police), affect homeless people in the sex trade? By answering these questions, this study contributes to understanding of how the criminalization of sex work is not only an example of governmental regulation of sexuality, but is also a strategy of poverty management.

## 1.3 Criminalization as a form of poverty management

Many scholars agree that the U.S.'s current policy of mass incarceration is a racialized system of social control. While "earlier systems of control were designed to exploit and control black labor," Alexander argues, "mass incarceration is designed to warehouse a population deemed disposable—unnecessary to the functioning of the global economy" (2010: 18). The incarceration rate in the U.S. is "six to ten times

greater than other industrialized nations" and the U.S. incarcerates a higher percentage of minorities than any other country in the world (Alexander 2010: 8).

Most people who go to jail in the U.S. are extremely poor: "Two-thirds of people detained in jails report annual incomes under \$12,000 prior to arrest" (Alexander 2010: 155). Between being targeted for arrest and excluded from labor and housing markets because of prior criminal convictions, many homeless people end up in jail, and many people released from jail end up homeless. Point-in-time counts at the San Francisco County Jail indicate that between 10-24% of people in jail are homeless on any given night, and that there are more homeless people in San Francisco's jail than in its hospitals and treatment programs (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 45). Approximately 25% of people on probation in San Francisco are homeless (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 48). Gowan (2002) argues that "the homelessness/incarceration cycle is best theorized as an exclusion/punishment nexus, a racialized space which germinates, isolates, and perpetuates lower-class male marginality" (503). Homeless people are routinely jailed for doing things like sleeping outside or selling things on the sidewalk (Gowan 2002, Amster 2003, Amster 2004). In 2014, San Francisco police issued 13,390 anti-homeless citations<sup>1</sup>, including 11,920 for resting or sleeping in public space alone.<sup>2</sup> In 2015, 125 people were incarcerated in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Anti-homeless laws are laws that prohibit homeless people from engaging in life-sustaining activities: sleeping, resting, camping, eating or food sharing, and panhandling. San Francisco has 23 state and municipal anti-homeless ordinances, more than any other city in the state of California (Fisher et al., 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citation data provided by Lt. Michael Nevin in response to my June 2015 request on behalf of the San Francisco Coalition on Homelessness. See also Herring and Yarbrough 2015.

the San Francisco County Jail for "quality of life violations" (Campbell et al. 2016). The cycle of citation, arrest and release creates barriers to accessing housing and services. Upon release from jail or prison, many people lose access to their social networks, and are denied housing, employment and even food stamps (Gowan 2002, Manza & Uggen 2006, Pager 2007). Lack of resources and limited eligibility for social support pushes many people into informal, often criminalized, economic strategies upon release from prison (Pager 2007).

The scholarship about the criminalization of sex workers has largely failed to take into account the myriad of activities, in addition to prostitution, for which extremely poor sex workers are apprehended by law enforcement. There are numerous scholarly accounts of the impacts of the criminalization of sex work, but most scholars have ignored the multiple ways in which poor people working in the sex trade are criminalized. Understanding how law enforcement, jails and prisons regulate not only sexuality and sexual labor but also gender, race and homelessness is crucial for scholars of crime and the informal economy. Drawing on ethnographic observations as well as analysis of San Francisco's citation and arrest data, I argue that laws and police practices that govern poor people's activities in public space do not only target criminal behavior, but govern and perpetuate the poverty of racialized and gendered groups.

### 1.4 Medicalization of poverty

The medical model of homeless service provision is characterized by a discourse that identifies substance use, disability or mental illness, and skill

deficiencies as reasons for individuals' inability to "maintain" housing or employment and proposes to resolve these problems through treatment or rehabilitation of homeless individuals. Medicalization became a dominant approach to poverty management nationwide in the 1980s and early 1990s, when homeless services transitioned from volunteer-based advocacy to professionalized service provision (Gowan 2010, Lyon-Callo 2004). With the passage of the McKinney Act in 1987, the federal government increased the number of shelters and jobs for paid staff by thousands each year (Gowan 2010). The homeless service industry expanded during Clinton's first year in office with the "Continuum of Care" (CoC), a funding initiative that prioritized rehabilitation and case management (Gowan 2010: 187). Originally intended to provide services in addition to housing, the CoC became problematic because Congress did not support provision of housing (Gowan 2010: 189, Barrow & Zimmer 1999). Due to this lack of funding for transitional housing, homeless people often lacked housing options after they exceeded short emergency shelter time limits (Gowan 2010: 190). In the absence of permanent affordable housing and living wage jobs, service providers focused on trying to diagnose and reform homeless individuals, in often futile efforts to make them competitive in the private housing market. Despite the stated federal commitment to "Housing First" in 2010, San Francisco remains in the grip of a severe housing crisis: Waiting lists for permanent subsidized housing are closed due to extraordinarily high demand and low supply, and there is only one shelter bed for every 6 homeless San Franciscans (Herring and Yarbrough 2015).

In the case of organizations that serve sex workers specifically, medicalization often takes the form of therapeutic and skill-building interventions that aim to move sex workers into the formal, licit, economy (Oselin & Weitzer 2013).<sup>3</sup> While therapy is essential for many survivors of violence, many purportedly therapeutic interventions perpetuate stigma and blame.

Medicalization also shifts focus away from structurally produced inequalities and identifies individuals as a primary target of intervention. Talking about homelessness or criminalized work in terms of individual problems that require treatment provides an appealing discursive alternative for many service providers who, in a context of market ascendancy, cannot conceive of macro processes or institutions as targets for effective intervention. In contrast, structural change would require attention to systemic social, political and economic processes of marginalization, recognizing that homelessness results not from individual behavior or illness but from large-scale political and market forces.

In many ways, people who have experienced homelessness and have worked in the sex trade are situated at the interstices of criminalizing and medicalizing forms of poverty management. Like drug users, sex workers who are arrested are often sentenced to court-mandated rehabilitation programs. These programs often require engagement in projects of skill-building and moral reform designed to re-make the deficient individual.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Oselin & Weitzer (2013) do not interpret the practices of the "Prostitute-Serving Organizations" in their review as medicalizing, but my assessment is supported by their data.

### 1.5 Harm reduction

Harm reduction is an approach to service provision that recognizes the need for structural transformation, and intervenes in individual lives by providing resources to reduce the harms associated with drug use, sex work, or other high risk activities. Although harm reduction emerged from the drug users' rights movement, the philosophy has been applied to service provision and policy advocacy in other areas as well. Harm reduction challenges both criminalization and medicalization by treating drug use as a normal, rather than deviant, practice and recognizing that therapeutic interventions often "serve the needs of" the providers rather than drug users themselves (Wieloch 2002: 48, also DeLeon 1996, Matteson & Hawthorne 1996). Adopting tactics from AIDS activism, harm reduction "challenges dominant medical models of service-provider-as-authority" (Wieloch 2002: 49). In addition to challenging stigma and affirming drug user expertise, the radical faction of the harm reduction movement has employed civil disobedience to challenge drug policy. Liberal harm reduction activists have pursued more limited goals such as advocating for wider availability of drug treatment and outreach to drug users (ibid).

The non-judgmental ethos inherent in even mainstream iterations of harm reduction combats the impetus to medicalize social problems. By contesting stigma, even mainstream harm reduction takes a significant step toward combating repression. Furthermore, the partial institutionalization of harm reduction principles can create tensions between different parts of the poverty management system. San Francisco provides an example of a city in which two government departments, police and

public health, have clashed. Harm reduction advocates have re-cast sex work and drug use as public health issues, resulting in the official adoption of a harm reduction stance by San Francisco's Department of Public Health (SFDPH) in 2005,<sup>4</sup> and recently, limited decriminalization of protective behaviors related to sex work and drug use, such as carrying condoms or clean syringes. This is unusual, as clean syringes and condoms can be used as evidence of a crime in most U.S. cities.

Based on a case study of Saint James Infirmary, I discuss harm reduction as a way to politicize service provision. Saint James frames the violence that homeless sex workers often encounter as fundamentally rooted in structural inequality. A bright red banner in the clinic reads, "OUTLAW POVERTY NOT PROSTITUTES." Posters of smiling staff members hang prominently on the wall, featuring quotations like, "Farm work can be difficult, but we don't outlaw agriculture. We regulate it to improve conditions for those who work in that industry."

While SJI treats sex work as legitimate labor and advocates for better working conditions, other providers treat the exchange of sex for money as a deviant behavior that must be prevented and reformed through the implementation of strict rules. These different approaches to serving people engaged in extremely low paying sexual labor result in different types of interactions between staff and service participants. Many of my research participants experienced medicalizing approaches as stigmatizing and isolating. In contrast, participants felt that harm reduction providers encouraged them

 $<sup>^4\</sup> http://www.sfdph.org/dph/comupg/oservices/mental Hlth/Substance Abuse/HarmReduction/default.asp$ 

to see themselves as part of a community. Connections forged at organizations like Saint James often encouraged participation in activism and advocacy. Harm reduction approaches have what I call *structurally transformative potential*, because they are likely to facilitate recognition of the conditions that create specific forms of marginality and inequality.

### 1.6 Methods

In order to contribute to sociological understanding of how poverty management practices structure people's lives, I compared the experiences and resistance of homeless sex workers subjected to criminalization, medicalization, and harm reduction practices. Interviews with people who have experienced homelessness and have used sex work as an income or survival strategy allowed me to identify how these processes unfold differently in a diverse group of homeless people's lives, and how resistance to criminalizing and medicalizing approaches by social movement and social service organizations can alter individual lives as well as local poverty management practices.

The poverty management system constructs income strategies and life chances partly by apprehending people differentially based on their race, their gender, and their sexuality. Sampling for racial and gender diversity allowed me to understand how homeless sex workers' experiences with the poverty management system differ across these categories. In my sample of people who have done sex work in addition to other economic activities, cisgender men were more often arrested for drug use or sale, while transgender women were profiled as prostitutes. Whether and how police and

service providers perceive someone as a victim who needs to be saved, a criminal who should be locked up, or as damaged and in need of therapy has a lot more to do with how the poverty management system constructs race and gender than with individuals' behaviors or income strategies. People who engage in similar behaviors and informal economic activities are likely to be channeled into criminalizing, medicalizing or harm reduction interventions differently, in ways that profoundly affect their life chances and opportunities.

### 1.6.1 Case selection and recruitment

Scholars have correctly observed that throughout the country, poverty management systems are overwhelmingly characterized by collusion between law enforcement, government bureaucracies and service providers to alternately punish and reform poor individuals. But they have largely ignored local variation in poverty management systems, as well as the ways in which activist movements have, on occasion, threatened the uniform emphasis on punishment and reform. My study of homeless sex workers' experiences of poverty management in San Francisco illuminates how locally-specific interactions with poverty management have been shaped by identity-based anti-poverty activism.

San Francisco is a particularly appropriate research site because of conflict between the law enforcement, government, and social service arms of the local poverty management system and the relative strength of harm reduction and anti-poverty activism in the local homeless policy sphere. San Francisco's poverty management system has more variation than exists in many American cities: In

addition to criminalizing and medicalizing approaches, activists have succeeded in entrenching harm reduction as an approach practiced by key government agencies and non-profit service providers (Stoller 1998). This is particularly true with regard to service provision for people in the sex trade: San Francisco's Saint James Infirmary is the one of the only peer-run harm reduction-based organizations for sex workers in the U.S.

Researchers often refer to extremely marginalized populations or groups of people who engage in illegal work as "hard to reach." In fact, they are not so much "hard to reach," as hard to *represent*. Most sex work researchers, even in the fields of public health and medicine, employ convenience samples or other non-representative sampling strategies (Pascom et al. 2010).

By recruiting current and former sex workers of different races, genders and ages, who are currently or have been homeless in the past, I was able to trace their interactions with different parts of the poverty management system over time and compare experiences with criminalizing, medicalizing and harm reduction interventions both within individuals' lives and between groups of participants. Rather than representing the population of sex workers in San Francisco, I endeavored to understand a range of experiences with poverty management. For this objective, *nonprobabilistic purposive sampling* was the most effective form of recruitment. Purposive sampling is recruiting based on the researcher's assessment of whether participants will contribute expertise or a different perspective based on their life experiences. Purposive sampling means recruiting for variety--not to represent a

population, but to represent a range of different experiences (Rhodes et al. 2005, Guest et al. 2006; Shannon et al. 2008). Research utilizing purposive sampling techniques is considered complete once "saturation" is reached, meaning that "new information produces little or no change to the codebook" (Guest et al. 2006: 65). Based on the principles of grounded theory, in which inductive codes emerge from researchers' interpretations of the data, "theoretical saturation" means that themes are identified and the codebook for data analysis is complete, so that all new data can fit into the existing categories (Guest et al. 2006: 71, Charmaz 2006, Corbin & Strauss 2008).

In order to capture a range of experiences with poverty management I recruited currently and formerly homeless sex workers from organizations serving people in the sex trade or industry in San Francisco. In order to include sex workers who do not receive services at, or belong to, any organizations, I also recruited from San Francisco's two main sex work strolls in the Tenderloin and Mission neighborhoods. Historically, these neighborhoods have the highest rates of arrest for prostitution, and the busiest outdoor sex markets in a city where higher paid workers have rapidly moved indoors (Bernstein 2007). I recruited homeless sex workers, primarily in the Tenderloin, through nighttime street outreach in that neighborhood. By recruiting from a variety of sites, I was able to find participants who experienced harm-reduction, peer-based approaches to sex work, drug use, and homelessness; participants who experienced more therapeutic or medicalizing interventions; and participants who were involved in sex worker or anti-poverty activism.

Most participants, regardless of recruitment site, had past experiences with medicalizing interventions; many had interactions with law enforcement, jails or prisons; and some also received services from harm reduction providers. Because harm reduction is a less common approach to poverty management and is less well documented in the literature, it was especially important to recruit participants from harm reduction providers like Saint James Infirmary.

Why not limit the sample to people who are *currently* homeless and *currently* doing sex work? Many studies of homeless people focus only on those who are living on the street or in shelters, rather than on people who transition into housing, including supportive housing, subsidized hotels, or market rate rentals (e.g. DesJarlais 1997, Wasserman & Clair 2010, Lyon-Callo 2004, Gowan 2010). While these studies have generated important knowledge about the experiences of homeless people with the poverty management system, there is a general paucity of knowledge about the relationship between poverty management practices and change in housing status over time. Formerly homeless participants who have obtained subsidized or independent housing, or who are marginally housed in SRO hotels, can reflect on factors that allowed them to obtain housing, and on how housing stability and instability affected their working conditions.

Ethnographers' attention to single homeless men on the street and in shelters means that the literature has vivid and well-supported accounts of criminalization and medicalization, and of how these processes perpetuate homelessness. But accounts of processes that interrupt homelessness are often missing, as are analyses of how

poverty management works differently based on race, gender and sexuality. By including participants in a range of housing situations who are able to reflect on past homelessness (and even observing as participants move between streets, shelters, or housing) I was able to trace the poverty management practices that precipitated housing stability or instability for my study participants. Most people who experience homelessness are not homeless for their entire lives. Interviewing people who have transitioned from streets or shelters can provide valuable information about the programs, policies or approaches that facilitated this transition.

Similarly, sex work is not a viable life-long income strategy (Oselin 2010, 2014). Recruiting only people who currently earn most of their money from sex work would cause me to miss a large group of people who combine sex work with other income strategies at different times in their lives. For example, one of my research participants switched from street-based sex work to shoplifting after she became pregnant, explaining that the latter would be safer for her baby. Another participant relied almost exclusively on sex work to earn money for many years during her youth, but transitioned to selling her artwork on the street after she got older and received subsidized housing. The sex work literature has vivid accounts of sexual practices and work environments of current sex workers, but has largely ignored the other parts of their lives. Life and work history interviews (e.g. Richie 2001, Collins & Mayer 2010), as well as ethnographic observation, allowed me to trace how people move in and out of both homelessness and different economic strategies, and to understand to what extent these transitions are an effect of the ways in which the poverty

management system structures life chances in disparate ways depending on race and gender. What happens to elderly people who earned most of their money through sex during their youth when they can no longer earn as much (or any) money through sex work? How do interactions with criminalizing, medicalizing and harm reduction approaches affect economic mobility over one's life course? Under what circumstances does sex work provide economic stability or mobility? I was able to address a number of under-explored questions by including former and transitioning sex workers, in addition to people whose primary or only form of income is from sex work. My participants ranged in age from 22 to 66. Twenty-three participants were current sex workers, eleven more said that they were transitioning out of the sex trade, and 21 were former sex workers, meaning that they had not done sex work for a year or more and did not intend to.

# 1.6.2 Interviews with people who have been homeless and worked in the sex trade

I conducted in-depth, semi-structured interviews with 55 participants who had worked in the sex trade and experienced homelessness. While participants currently stayed in a variety of housing situations, all of them had been homeless (on the street, in shelters, in vehicles, or couch surfing) in the past. At the time of the interview, seven participants stayed on the street, 10 stayed in shelters, 14 in SROs, nine were in other subsidized housing, three were in other temporary situations (couch surfing, a vehicle, and residential drug treatment), and 12 were in rental apartments. My sample included 23 transgender women, 13 cisgender men, 12 cisgender women, five

transgender men, and two intersex people. Twenty-one participants were white, 16 were Black, seven were Latino/a, three were Native American and four identified as multi-racial or "other."

Interviews with currently and formerly homeless sex workers lasted between 45 minutes and three hours, and covered housing and work history, as well as experiences with law enforcement, prisons and jails, homeless service providers, and drug treatment facilities. Participants were asked to compare experiences with different institutions and service providers and reflect on how these affected their lives. They also described their involvement with activist and advocacy organizations. I collected demographic information about participants' housing history, different income and poverty survival strategies (including sex work or trades, drug use or trades, recycling, panhandling, and selling street newspapers), whether they had been arrested or incarcerated, and their health and social service needs. Since income and survival strategies are criminalized to varying degrees, it is important to document the range of legal and illegal activities in which participants are involved in order to analyze the workings of the poverty management system.

Comparison of experiences with punitive, medicalizing and harm reduction practices across the categories of race, gender, and informal economic activity demonstrate how homeless people's identities and activities are apprehended differently by the poverty management system. While participants have engaged in various combinations of licit and illicit work over their lifetimes, recruiting people who have at least one economic strategy in common demonstrates how groups of

people, not just behaviors and types of labor, are categorized by the poverty management system. This allows me to analyze how different economic activities and racialized and gendered groups are subjected to criminalization, medicalization and harm reduction.

## 1.6.3 Interviews with staff at organizations for people in the sex trade

In order to understand how providers' understandings of the causes of and solutions to poverty affect their approaches to service provision and/or advocacy, I interviewed 13 staff and volunteers at San Francisco's service and social movement organizations working with people in the sex trade or industry. Ten of the staff members were current or former sex workers, and three had never done sex work. Staff members were asked about their interactions with participants in their programs, their understanding of the consequences of criminalization of prostitution, their opinions about activists' efforts to de-criminalize prostitution, their understandings of the effects of criminalization on sex worker health, their understanding of poverty as rooted in the failure of individuals or systems, and their own involvement in activism or advocacy. I also asked staff about the similarities and differences between their own backgrounds and experiences, and those of the clients they serve. They were invited to share their opinions about the relationship between poverty and sexual labor, as well as opinions about local policies and policing practices related to poverty and to street prostitution.

## 1.6.4 Ethnographic observation

Between 2012-2015, I conducted more than 1500 hours of observation of participants' interactions with homeless shelter providers, law enforcement, harm reduction service providers and street outreach workers, and advocacy or social movement organizations. I also observed public hearings and events related to the regulation of prostitution and homelessness. As part of my observation, I accompanied participants to as they interacted with poverty management institutions, including General Assistance, homeless shelters, legal aid organizations, and psychiatric and medical care providers.

Ethnographic observation of participants' interactions with poverty management institutions and service providers, as well as activist and informal economic activities allowed me to compare their experiences with criminalizing, medicalizing and harm reduction parts of the poverty management system. Since most homeless people experience more than one form of poverty management at some time in their lives, I was able to trace the effects of interactions with punitive, medicalizing or harm reduction interventions *within* their lives. I then compared how people's lives and experiences differ when they interact with criminalizing, medicalizing, or harm reduction parts of the poverty management system.

Throughout this dissertation, I have changed the names of people and places and other identifying details in order to protect participants' anonymity. All names of interview participants have been changed. Some participants chose their own pseudonyms. Some participants asked to use their real names, and their first names

will be included in future publications when possible. In the dissertation, these participants are referred to by only their first initials, a compromise which is necessary for the legal protection of people who have done criminalized work, pending review of the dissertation's content by an attorney. This dissertation is primarily an account of the effects of different types of poverty management, but it also includes discussion of the roles of harm reduction organizations like SJI and TGIJP, and prominent community activists who speak at protests and public events. Due to the local historical significance of these organizations and activists, and the public nature of their advocacy, their names have not been changed.

## 1.7 Outline of the dissertation

Chapter 2, "Precarious housing and work at the margins," draws on life and work histories to show the relationships between precarious formal and informal labor and housing instability. This chapter explores sex work as a response to precarious formal work, housing instability, and gendered exclusion from the labor market. Most studies of sex work and sex workers ignore housing instability and the precarity of low-wage labor. Many scholars and service providers alike treat sex work as a deviant behavior that can be reformed through individualized treatment. By ignoring the lack of access to affordable housing, living wage jobs, and basic needs, scholars who take this perspective erase structural inequalities. My focus on homeless and marginally housed sex workers highlights an often-overlooked dimension of sex work:

Prostitution is not a "behavior" that needs "treatment"—it is a way to earn enough

money to survive (and less frequently, but sometimes, thrive) under conditions of systemic disadvantage and exclusion.

Chapter 3, "Carceral classification in the criminalization of poverty," explores the ways in which a diverse group of participants experience criminalization. This chapter shows how criminalization—the dominant approach to managing poverty in San Francisco and throughout the United States—perpetuates poverty and violence. The chapter also explores how the criminalization of homelessness, drug use, and sex work affect life chances, creating racialized and gendered categories of marginality. Drawing from participants' experiences with police, jails and prisons, I show that laws and police practices that target poor people's activities in public space do not just target criminal behavior, but govern and perpetuate the vulnerability of racialized and gendered groups.

Chapter 4, "How service bureaucracies administer identity and reform," explores medicalization and administrative violence as other common approaches to poverty management. Scholars of the medicalization of homelessness and scholars of administrative violence are not in conversation, although these processes actually construct one another. This chapter highlights the experiences of gender non-conforming research participants to show how the medicalization of homelessness, sex work, and drug addiction combine with bureaucratic systems that enforce rigid gender separation in order to administer gender identity and reform homeless people, drug users, and people engaged in street economies.

This chapter also dismantles the popular myth that policing is a way to push homeless and street-based people into services that they need in order to change their deviant ways. From quality of life policing to anti-prostitution enforcement, laws and law enforcement interventions rely on policing to force people into "services" that prioritize behavioral reform rather than access to basic needs like housing, food, or medical care. The close connection between criminalizing and purportedly therapeutic approaches disproportionately harms poor people, trans people, and people of color in the sex trade.

Chapter 5, "Harm reduction as a structurally transformative response to poverty" draws on a case study of the Saint James Infirmary, a movement-borne non-profit that serves current and former sex workers, many of whom are homeless and marginally housed. In contrast to criminalizing and medicalizing approaches, harm reduction approaches to service provision often foreground structural rather than individual explanations of poverty and violence, prioritize peer support and leadership of people the organization serves, facilitate stigma transvaluation, and encourage social movement participation. I argue that harm reduction is not just the orientation of a few service organizations, but a third approach to poverty management that has what I call *structurally transformative potential*, or the capacity to interrupt processes that generate inequality.

In this chapter, I review my research participants' activist responses to the criminalization of their homeless status, racial or gender identity, and informal work.

While many scholars claim that sustained exposure to criminalizing and medicalizing

approaches reduces the likelihood of political participation, my findings provide support for other scholars' position that oppressive approaches can generate outrage among members of targeted groups. Even though punitive and medicalizing approaches to poverty management are expected to repress dissent, I show that these approaches can also generate opposition. Through examples of my research participants' social justice activism at the Saint James Infirmary (SJI) and Transgender Gender-variant and Intersex Justice Project (TGIJP), I examine the role of harm reduction organizations in resisting criminalization and medicalization based on gender, race, or earning strategy.

In the conclusion, I review my contributions to sociological theories of poverty management. I suggest that harm reduction is the most effective way to reduce poverty because it counters stigma and challenges structural inequalities. I conclude that a shift away from investment in policing and incarceration and toward housing and social support would a) provide housing and economic stability for people who want to stop doing sex work or other informal work and b) improve working conditions for others who prefer sex work over other employment options. I argue that harm reduction activists' overlapping demands for housing, gender and racial justice, and the decriminalization of sex work and drug use should guide policy solutions to the problems of poverty and violence in the criminalized informal economy.

## 1.8 A note on language

Scholars, activists, and public officials use many different terms to talk about the exchange of sexual services for money or trade. Often, choices about language communicate political positions. For example, "sex work" means the exchange of sexual services for money or other needs, and can be used to refer to a diverse range of legal and criminalized exchanges, including pornography (legal), the exchange of sex for money (illegal), and sexual surrogacy (a legal gray area). Many advocates of decriminalization favor the term "sex work" because it highlights labor and economic need. "Prostitution" refers specifically to an illegal form of sex work, the exchange of sex for money. I use "prostitution" to describe violation of the law prohibiting the exchange of sex for money or other things of value. Some view "prostitutes" or "prostitution" as a pejorative term because it refers to a crime and is used by police and other authorities. "Prostitution" and "escorting" both refer to the exchange sex for money or other needs. Activist Carol Leigh proudly calls herself a prostitute, as did Margo Saint James, who famously ran for Mayor of San Francisco with the slogan, "Outlaw Poverty, Not Prostitutes." People doing this work sometimes told me they thought "escort" sounded less stigmatizing, or that they preferred the more inclusive term "sex worker."

"People in the sex trade" is a more neutral descriptor preferred by some people who sell or trade sex and associate the term "sex worker" with people who are white and middle class. Some scholars also distinguish between "sex work," which they define as the exchange of sex for money, and "survival sex," or "sex trades," the exchange of sex for food, drugs or a place to stay (Frederick 2014, Lutnick 2016). I use both of these terms to describe homeless people's sexual exchanges, because I find that for my participants, the distinction is not always clear. They, and I, also use the

terms "sex work" and sex worker" to describe people who exchange sex to meet a variety of different needs. "Street-based sex work" refers to the practice of picking up clients on the street, rather than by using the Internet. This does not mean that the sex takes place outdoors—it often happens indoors. "Indoor work" means that clients are found via internet or phone, without going out on the stroll (Lutnick 2016, Bernstein 2007).

Some scholars and anti-prostitution activists refer to all people in the sex trade as "prostituted," "trafficked," or "sexually exploited," regardless of whether they are working with a pimp, manager, or escort agency, or working independently and keeping all of the money they earn (Farley 2004, Roe-Sepowitz et al. 2014). I avoid using these terms, not only because they are imprecise, but also because they emphasize victimhood and de-emphasize the economic needs and motivations of people in the sex trade. Some of my research participants also told me that they found these terms demeaning and harmful when applied to consensual sexual exchanges. Throughout this dissertation, I try to mirror the language my participants use to describe themselves and their experiences.

"Sex trafficking," (when used to refer more narrowly to forced sexual labor and forced labor migration) and the "commercial sexual exploitation of children," or CSEC (when used to refer to situations in which adults are profiting from the sexual labor of minors) are important social problems, but they are part of different legal frameworks and research agendas that are beyond the scope of this dissertation.

## **CHAPTER 2**

#### PRECARIOUS HOUSING AND WORK AT THE MARGINS

Many scholars' accounts of how people get into and out of the sex trade ignore sex workers' housing and employment histories (Raphel & Shapiro 2004, Raymond 2003, Farley and Barkan 1998). These omissions give readers a skewed picture of the range of formal and informal earning options available to many poor people, and of what motivates people to sell or trade sex. Even more troubling, most policy makers and service organizations focus on preventing transactional sex and punishing or reforming people who engage in it, rather than addressing poverty and economic precarity. A recent review of the goals of "prostitute-serving organizations" in the U.S. reveals that most of these organizations have exiting prostitution as their primary service goal (Weitzer & Oselin 2013). Organizations' focus on getting sex workers out of "the life" (Oselin 2014) marginalizes the more crucial issues of extreme poverty and housing instability. My participants' experiences demonstrate that people who do not want to do sex work but are compelled to in order to survive, will stop doing this work if their economic needs are met in other ways. In this chapter, I argue that understanding the relationships between precarious housing and work is crucial. Sex workers' working conditions are inextricably tied to housing instability and the precarity of low-wage formal economy work. My participants' experiences show how a) Structural inequalities push people into the informal economy and b) Sex workers' working conditions improve when their basic needs are met.

My research challenges cultural explanations that reduce participation in the sex trade to a lifestyle choice. I argue that the currently and formerly homeless people in my study do not engage in sex work or trades primarily because of "attachment to prostitution and its surrounding subculture" (Oselin 2014: 122), but because it is the most reliable or available way of making money. By highlighting the economic motivations for participation in the sex trade, I draw attention to the ways in which economic and social inequalities push my participants into the informal economy. This challenges scholarly accounts that focus narrowly on sex workers' individual motivation and desire to work in conventional occupations, rather than on the precarious nature of work in the formal economy, and the reality of race and gender-based labor market exclusion.

Oselin's recent study of the processes of "getting out and staying out of sex work" finds that "individual commitment" to exiting prostitution is a key determinant of whether someone will be able to exit the sex trade. The process of exiting prostitution, she argues, depends on a process of "distancing" in which sex workers reject the identity of prostitute and take on the identity of a conventional worker (2014: 159).

For example, a woman can view a legal job as a way to elevate her social and economic status, generate human and social capital, and enhance her self-worth and self-esteem. Conversely, if she does not recognize the benefits associated with this conventional occupation, or simply places no value on them, she is less devoted to it and runs the risk of returning to her prior role of prostitution. (Oselin 2014: 159)

Oselin's findings contrast sharply with my own. While she finds that people exit sex work through role distancing, I find that many of my participants stopped doing sex work or reduced the number of clients they saw after they had other sources of income and other ways to keep a roof over their heads, often through government benefits or subsidies. Furthermore, exiting the sex trade was not a linear process. My participants moved back and forth between sex work and other formal and informal jobs, depending on the opportunities that were available to them at a given moment. And while many scholars highlight cultural explanations for sex trade entry, my participants got into sex work not because they failed to "recognize benefits associated with a conventional occupation" but because a conventional occupation, when attainable, had limited benefits. Many participants in my study described conventional work—primarily minimum-wage work with no job security— as stressful and unpredictable. Still in poverty despite working full time, some participants worked in the sex industry and in the low-wage formal economy at the same time. This was not primarily a decision about "role identification"—it was a decision about having enough money to meet basic needs.

Proponents of race and gender-neutral theories of "role identification" and "a commitment to a prosocial, nondeviant self and role" (Oselin 2014: 131) completely ignore race and gender-based exclusion from and inequalities in the formal labor market. While many cisgender participants had extensive employment histories in the formal labor market, many transgender women who participated in my study felt like they had few options outside of the sex trade. This feeling was not due to their

rejection of the "role" of conventional workers: Instead, discrimination created barriers to formal work. Surveys of employers and would-be employees support the point—very well established in social science literature—that racial and gender discrimination in the formal labor market persists, creating group-specific barriers to formal employment, especially for Black people (Pager 2003) and transgender women (Grant et al. 2011).

Scholars who highlight "individual commitment" and "role distancing" also ignore low income sex workers' formal and informal employment histories outside of sex work, perpetuating the myth of sex work as a "lifestyle" rather than one of many ways of earning money that people might engage in. They also pay inadequate attention to the reality that when "a conventional occupation" is unavailable or does not confer a living wage or other benefits, sex work becomes a more viable option. This chapter argues that sex work is not primarily a "role"—it is a job.

Furthermore, while some scholars argue that sex work is inherently harmful, I found that it provided economic mobility and more rewarding, meaningful work for some participants whose other options were exploitative low-wage work in the service sector, or who were excluded from the formal economy. This chapter challenges scholars of poor people's participation in sex work to consider the dynamics of housing instability and precarious work in the formal and informal sectors. Scholars need to focus on the dynamics of exiting poverty, not just prostitution.

This chapter introduces a diverse group of people who work in the sex trade.

The San Francisco Bay Area is home to a booming sex industry, employing workers

of all races and genders, who provide a wide array of sexual services. As internet advertising has allowed many to work indoors and with relative privacy and security, many of the poorest workers remain homeless or precariously housed, bouncing between Single Room Occupancy (SRO) hotel rooms, shelters, and the streets. This dissertation focuses narrowly on the latter group of workers. For most of my participants, sex work is just one of many formal and informal jobs cobbled together over the years in order to survive. Their other work included panhandling, recycling, drug dealing, construction work, telemarketing, retail, and food service. Their experiences dispel common myths about sex workers: That people in the sex trade are mostly cisgender women who are forced into prostitution by pimps (Raymond 2003), that people get into sex work because they are damaged or deviant (Potterat et al. 1998, Exner et al. 1977), and that sex workers don't know any other way to make money (Oselin 2014).

I join a small but growing number of scholars who are reframing debates about street-based sex work in terms of poverty and precarity and taking sex workers' housing status into account in discussions of working conditions (e.g. Lutnick 2016, Frederick 2014). In addition to housing histories, I add a crucial focus on employment histories and consider the effects of incarceration. The fact that many poor people switch back and forth between formal and informal work and supplement inadequate welfare benefits with paid work is well established by decades of social science literature (Edin & Lein 2007, Newman 1999, O' Connor 2001). Although this is common sense for scholars of poverty, many scholars of sex work, along with

architects of policies and programs "serving" sex workers, have failed to grasp the basic relationships between precarious housing, precarious formal employment, and informal work. This is because many sex work researchers fail to even consider housing and employment history when they design their studies. Many also limit their studies to current sex workers which can have the effect of reifying the sex worker as a type of person who requires intervention, rather than considering sex work as a type of job that many people do as one of many jobs over the course of their lives. Some of these scholars use the term "prostituted woman" even to describe people working independently in the sex trade, further marginalizing the economic motivation and context of sexual labor (see, for example, Jeffreys 1997; Farley & Kelly 2000). In these studies, the sex worker is frozen in time—jobs she (these studies often focus only on cisgender women) did before or concurrently with sex work are never mentioned.

The failure of prominent researchers to account for the ways in which labor market inequalities and housing scarcity create conditions of violence means that their recommendations for policy responses to sex work prioritize policing to "end demand" for sexual services (Farley 2004), and re-education of sex workers to motivate them to leave "the life" (Oselin 2014, Roe-Sepowitz 2014). This scholarship is based on assumptions about the sex worker as a *kind of person*—one who is damaged, flawed, a victim whose participation in her own oppression invites violence —rather than sex work as a *kind of work*, often done in a context of scarcity and structural violence.

This chapter describes the relationships between participants' access to formal employment, government benefits, mental and physical healthcare, and stable housing—or lack thereof—and their working conditions in the sex trade. By presenting narratives showing the interconnections between sex work and other informal work, formal employment, and housing instability, this chapter brings the sociological tradition of focus on the structural drivers of poverty into sex work research.

## 2.1 Precarious work in the low-wage formal economy

Many policies and service programs are designed based on the assumption that formal employment is a ladder out of poverty. In fact, people working in most low-wage jobs in the U.S. are "at-will" employees who can be fired or have their hours cut at any time, and for any reason. And in many American cities, the cost of renting an apartment is so high that even a full-time job does not guarantee housing stability. Furthermore, employers routinely make discriminatory hiring decisions resulting in lower rates of employment for qualified Black (Pager 2007) and transgender (Fitzgerald et al. 2015) workers.

Despite these barriers, many of my participants had extensive employment histories in the low-wage formal economy prior to entering the sex trade. Jobs they did included construction, food service, retail, and telemarketing. The uncertainty of low wage work meant that none of these "at will" jobs were stable. Housing and wages were precarious, and this meant that the loss of a job could catapult them either into

homelessness or into the informal economy, or both. As Katherine Newman writes in her ethnography of minimum-wage fast food workers in another U.S. city:

The working poor are perpetually at risk for becoming the poor of the other kind: they are one paycheck away from what is left of welfare, one sick child away from getting fired, one missed rent payment short of eviction. (1999 xiv)

Rather than considering the ways in which people move through formal and informal jobs, due to housing instability, precarious work in the formal labor market, and race and the ways in which gender and race shape informal labor market opportunities, much of the academic literature—however inadvertently—frames sex work as sensational or aberrant. This section describes the experiences of Jay, Akasha, and Calvin, who got into the sex trade when they couldn't make ends meet with low-wage service jobs, or because at-will employment provided no security. These accounts of low wage formal work, housing instability, and experiences in the sex trade, demonstrate more nuanced relationships between minimum-wage work, sex work, and homelessness.

## 2.1.1 Jay

Jay, a white cisgender man in his thirties, got his first part-time job at age fifteen, working at McDonalds. His dad died that same year, of cancer, and he had never met his mother, so he moved in with his grandparents.

Jay was keeping up with his classes and his part time job when he was assaulted by a homophobic classmate who punched him in the mouth, breaking his

teeth. Jay fought back, and his high school expelled him. The severity of the other student's injuries meant that Jay spent a year in juvenile detention.

Upon release, he was placed in foster care, with a devout Pentecostal family. As a gay teenager who wasn't religious himself, Jay said, "I never felt comfortable to live my life. I had to pretend to be something I'm not. I had to put on a certain persona... and it was really hard for me." He started sneaking out nights to go to a gay club, and then he lied about his age so he could work there as a stripper. He also discovered that he could make extra money by having sex with the customers who propositioned him.

The double life got to be too much. At age seventeen, Jay ran away from his foster home and moved in with his 32-year-old boyfriend. "I got into this really dangerous, controlling relationship," Jay remembers. "Like he had to know everywhere I was, you know like he'd call me at school in the middle of the day... My senior year in high school, he'd be calling me at lunchtime, asking 'What are you doing?' And he knew I was at school, but he was so controlling."

Jay lived with this man for six months while he went to high school and worked part time as a make up assistant at the Clinique counter in the mall. Jay's best friend Tara had already been working at Clinique for three years, and she talked Jay up to the manager. Jay loved this job, because he got free samples of make up and skincare products, and he got to hang out with Tara.

But even as he was doing well in school and at work, Jay faced escalating violence at home. On the worst days, Jay would come to work early, in time for Tara

to paint over the bruises on his face. He sat still while she dabbed concealer, then foundation over his skin.

One day, she interrupted their silent pre-work ritual: "I'm getting really concerned about you." Their eyes met, and then Jay shut his.

"You know he's going to hurt you really bad," Tara said.

A few months later, Jay's boyfriend beat him almost to death, shattering his rib cage and breaking both of his legs.

In the Intensive Care Unit, Jay thought he was going to die. "I was on a respirator because I couldn't breathe... Luckily I came out of it, but it took months and months for me to heal." When Jay was released from the hospital, Tara came to pick him up.

"Is there anyone you can go to? What about your family?" she asked him. Jay shook his head—His family didn't know he was gay.

"I just want to leave. Just go anywhere and get away."

Tara said she would buy him a one-way ticket anywhere he wanted to go, as long as he promised not to come back.

It took a few days to get to California on Amtrack. Jay watched the landscape change from the window of the train, and imagined a future. "I came to San Francisco, because it was the golden state of opportunity, not knowing anyone. And I'm thinking, you know, I'm going to come here, I'm going to get a job, I'm going to get on my feet and start a whole new life."

When Jay first moved to San Francisco in 1998, he says, "I had a lot of people helping me, but in return they wanted to have sex with me, to supply food, to supply clothes, to supply money, things that I needed to help me. So it was all really a trade investment. It was like you're making an investment in stock. You know, what you put in is what you get out of it. So I have to sacrifice my body, you know, my boundaries, my emotions, and do things sexually that I wasn't used to doing, and going beyond."

Jay also got a full-time job as a coffee house barista. He clocked in at six a.m. each morning and finished his shift at two or three in the afternoon. For six months, he worked Monday through Friday. "I really enjoyed the job when it started," he said.

Jay estimated that during his first year in San Francisco, he worked about fifteen hours a day: Eight as a barista, and then an additional "six or seven hours just working the street to pull a couple of clients here and there."

Jay viewed sex work as an investment that would afford him upward mobility:

He learned that he could make more money selling sex than he could make in the

minimum wage jobs that were available to him.

I knew what nights to go out: Fridays, Saturdays, Mondays, because Monday a lot of people have off work, I know this just too well. And I was like, you know it's easy money... But the thing was, I knew what I had to do, and I knew who to call. I knew who was going to be around on a Friday night, the guy in the blue Camry, he'd park here at this time, at eleven, looking for me. He'd pick me up, I'd go home, I'd stay overnight sometimes, you know he gave me a blow job, he'd get me stoned and then he'd cook me breakfast in the morning, and drop me back off, same location, and hand me \$200 in my hand, and it was done—it was a wrap. I didn't even have to have intercourse with him.

The longer Jay worked in the sex trade, the more predicable his regular clients became. In contrast, at Jay's coffee shop job, he would show up each day with an anxious feeling in the pit of his stomach. There was so much employee turnover that the manager asked him to work seven days a week instead of five. "I just got so overwhelmed," Jay said. "My assistant managers were walking out, managers were walking out—quitting—there was no accountability. We were short employees, and people were getting hired and just getting their one week little paychecks and then out the door. So I never knew when I came to my job who was going to be there... and the work environment became so shaky, because it was just so unstable. And my life wasn't stable."

As Jay grew to expect the familiar blue Camry on Friday nights, he became increasingly anxious about the parade of new faces, the recriminations, firing, quitting, that awaited him at the coffee shop. Sex work wasn't what Jay expected to be doing in San Francisco, but it was better than minimum wage work, and better than living with a homophobic foster family or getting beaten half to death by a jealous boyfriend. Although Jay knew nothing is for sure, he was more certain that he could keep himself housed doing sex work than by doing low wage formal work.

"I was already stressed out," he explains, "worried about if my hustler boyfriend at the time was going to have money that night and I'm going to have a roof over my head, and knowing I have to go out and make money after working this stressful day." So after almost a year of juggling full time minimum wage work and sex work, Jay quit the formal economy.

#### 2.1.2 Akasha

Akasha, a white transgender woman in her forties, first considered sex work as an option after she lost her shared rental housing, unable to make ends meet even as she was simultaneously working multiple minimum-wage jobs. Many of her friends worked in the sex industry, and so Akasha decided to give sex work a try. A friend helped her arrange her first client, who met her at a bar, took her out for dinner, and paid her \$200, without ever even asking for sex. Akasha enjoyed the dinner and was overjoyed by the money. However, she quickly discovered that clients like this one were a rarity—Most would only pay for sex, and Akasha didn't feel comfortable having sex with strangers. She decided instead to try fantasy role-play, and ended up at a BDSM house in Oakland.

I was the only trans woman working at the house. Everyone else was a cisgender woman who worked there. Most of them had more experience in the sex industry than I did. I had a really horrible experience there a few months in with one client that I later learned the other women had strenuously avoided, who was really abusive... I was really injured emotionally and physically from the experience...And when I complained about that to the boss, to the woman who run the house, she just gave me hell about that and I was basically fired. I guess you could say I was not very successful as a sex worker, at least financially, but I learned a lot from it. Most of what I learned had to do with how bad the working conditions were, in particular for women like myself who defined the work differently than others and had a different kind of body and ability than others.

At a series of Bay Area BDSM houses, Akasha struggled to negotiate sexual exchanges. Her employers pressured her to do things that made her uncomfortable; a few even asked her to have sex with them. "Each time the boss did that I had to leave,

because I just felt like it wasn't a safe environment for me, or else I would just get fired for not doing as I was told."

After living in a series of short-term sublets, and quitting or being fired from BDSM houses across the Bay Area, Akasha ran out of money and ended up homeless on the streets. She found men who would provide her with housing and food, but their expectations about this relationship diverged from her own:

I had several cisgender men take me in as sugar daddies and they wanted me to like dance for them, and they wanted me to give them naked massages, and I wasn't willing to go that far. Within a few days they just locked the door with all my stuff inside and I had to get another friend to get my stuff out of there...

Left without housing, Akasha panhandled, but could not make enough money that way to survive. While she was living on the street, Akasha traded sex to meet needs for food, money, transportation, even though she disliked having sex with strangers.

## **2.1.3** Calvin

Calvin, a Black cisgender man in his fifties, had steady full-time employment as a construction worker through most of his adult life. He still feels proud of this work, and also of his sex work. He says:

You know, every position has to have workers. I loved doing construction work because I loved walking onto a vacant lot and when I leave, I can turn around and look at what I built. From top to bottom, side to side, inside and out, knowing that I had a lot of blood, sweat and tears in that structure and knowing that that structure is going to be there for years to come and every time I ride by that structure, I can look and it and know—you know, I did that. I did that. I played a part in that.

It was the same thing with sex work. I mean, you know, there's—you know, I met some really good people out there... There was a couple of female clients who would come see me, you know, once a week not only would we perform sex, I mean we would seriously sit and talk, you know. And you know, they really felt—they really felt good when they got done, when we finished. I would leave and they would be smiling and laughing and you know 'oh thank you so much. I really enjoyed talking with you'... it does feel good to know you can help somebody. It really does.

Calvin first realized that he could earn money by having sex when he was in his early twenties. Calvin and a male friend were enjoying their leave while they were in the Navy, meeting women at bars and then taking them to hotel rooms: "We did the two guys and a girl thing with a couple of ladies at one time." One night, Calvin and his friend were having group sex. For Calvin, the purpose of this encounter was to "go after a couple of female girls," but his friend made a sexual advance on Calvin without his consent. "I was drunk as can be, really loaded," Calvin remembers.

When I finally started coming to and realizing what was happening, I jumped up and he was real apologetic... He gave me \$200 and he was like, you know, "please, please, please, you know just don't—you know, first of all, don't hit me, second of all, please just keep this under wraps," you know. He wasn't even on my ship. And you know, \$200—I had the money and I got dressed and I shot out the door. As I'm walking down the street, I'm thinking to myself, hmm. \$200 real quick, you know, it could've been worse. Of course, it could've been better—it could've been the one; it was still a guy, but you know, that was kind of like my first time [getting paid for sex].

Calvin lost his construction job due to a physical injury that left him unable to do the work anymore. This was a significant setback, considering the years he had spent doing manual labor as a construction and warehouse worker. In his formal and informal jobs, Calvin experienced racism. This limited his earnings and advancement. He says:

I enjoy working because I did construction work and I did warehouse work. I love doing that kind of work, so that was very important that I always kept a job. But, you know, on my job, the old racism thing would always show because on a construction site, they see this 6'4," 275 pound Black man, they look at me and they smile and you know, there's a pile of metal and concrete over there and it's got to go way the hell inside the job site, inside the truck, and you need a wheelbarrow and a shovel and you have at it. Let alone, the fact that I've been doing this for a while and I have some pretty good ideas on how to make the job run smoothly, save money, save time. Don't want to hear that. They don't want to hear that. Then, when you do talk about it, you've got somebody who's always listening and they take your ideas and they use them and they get credit for it, you know... it was really shitty... it became a thing of, well, OK, I see what I got to do. You know, I've got to get the credentials in order to advance. When I finally come to that realization and I started getting the credentials on paper, my ankle, it went out on me and that prevented me from going to the job site anymore. The doctor told me, Calvin, you can't do the work you used to do. You know, you can't wear safety shoes anymore, you've got to find a new career... I'm in my mid-40s, how the hell am I going to find a new career?... I had to sit and really think about what it is I could do that I would enjoy that I could make money doing because I refuse to work a job that I don't like. I just won't do it. You know, I'm not going to go to work every day and be there and hate everything about what I'm doing.

Calvin never realized how precarious his steady construction job was until he suffered a disabling injury, which might have happened in part because of his supervisors' beliefs that Black workers should do the heavy lifting, while white workers are in charge of the ideas. He also experienced racism in the sex trade, which proved so intolerable that he had to limit and change the type of work he did. In the formal as well as informal economy, Calvin found that racism limited his earnings and mobility.

After losing his construction job, Calvin briefly tried to make a living as a sex worker. "There was a time when I thought I could do it full time, but then you come

across customers that you really don't want to touch... But you know, you need that money and they see you look at them, and they increase [the payment for sex] 'here's another \$150,' you know." Calvin mimes the bored and exasperated facial expression he uses with these clients: "Come on, hurry up, hurry up, let's hurry up, yo.' Money, it plays such a major role, whether you've got an addiction, or whether it's just to survive on." He still does sex work occasionally to supplement his income from General Assistance, which pays only \$422 per month. But he stopped depending so much on his sex work income because he couldn't stomach the racism of many of his white clients, who simultaneously fetishized and derogated Black men.

[My white male clients are] mouthy-ass motherfuckers that think they're better than you and they feel like because they buy you a drink or they're paying you for sex that they can talk down to you... I don't give a damn who you are, you're not going to talk to me that way; you're not going to treat me like that...I can't stand anyone, especially someone who is in a situation like that, because you're white and you have a little money, you feel it's ok for you to treat me like I'm dirt... Well, you're down here buying dirt, so how much better are you? ...I hate being stereotyped, especially in a negative way."

Calvin remembers having a conversation about race and class with a white client who had been robbed by a different sex worker, a Black man who he picked up on a street corner in the Tenderloin. Calvin connects the lack of formal economic opportunity for people of color in San Francisco with participation in street economies (even as he judges street-based workers who steal or use drugs harshly). Calvin says:

There's some very racist overtones... No minority-owned businesses anywhere in the Castro [a historically gay neighborhood in San Francisco, now with very high property values]. Rich gay folks in the Castro don't want any minorities having any businesses over there... And how they can justify this is beyond me, especially when you've

got the white gay men who will go down to [the Tenderloin], get the bottom of the barrel, scum ass dope fiends, take them to their home, you know, flash all this money, flash all this shit in front of this guy, they don't need this guy in their house while they run to the store or something. You know—all I can say is, you stupid ass, you know, that's what you get.

Calvin's white client asked him, "Why is it all you black guys are so violent all the time?" After hearing the man's story of picking up a street-based worker in the Tenderloin, he replied, "I really have no sympathy for you... You know what, why don't you go get one of them upper class gay black men, who's got money, who's got an education just like you?" Calvin muses:

Well the reason they don't do that is because it makes them feel inferior, you know. Most gay white men want to feel like they're in control, you know, like they're superior. You know, 'this is my little trophy piece of meat right here, look at him. I dressed him, I got him with me. I take care of him. He does what I tell him to do.' You know, and that shit doesn't wash. It doesn't wash. Not in 2013, it doesn't go that way anymore.

In response to the discomfiting power dynamics with his white male clients, Calvin now seeks mostly older women who treat him more respectfully. "I've always had a passion for older women... its all about how you present it to them-- there was always a couple that would be like, 'You know what baby, look here—I got \$150 in my purse right now, you come satisfy what momma need and then you get your pretty little ass on down the road because I don't need you no more... I would be like, you know, that's just what I wanted to hear," he laughs. "You know, do your job and get the fuck on and I was happy with that."

Calvin is couch surfing right now. His most recent formal job was providing in-home care for Bob, a 74-year-old veteran who lived in a Single Room Occupancy

hotel. Bob was a recovering heroin addict "who still doses every day," Calvin says. Bob also had a bad hip and a myriad of other health problems that make it impossible for him to care for himself. Despite the severity of Bob's needs, his caseworkers only approved funding a care worker for a short time each day. Calvin says: "basically it worked out to where I could only give him like an hour a day. And, this poor guy needed all day, every day. And the thing is, his caseworker wouldn't give him any more hours. He stopped caring about his hygiene. He stayed cold all the time, so he stayed locked up in his room and he kept the heat on. He kept two buckets in his room and he used the bathroom and threw garbage in them all the time."

Calvin understood that Bob's bad hip made it difficult for him to make the trip to the shared bathroom in the hallway, so he tried to compromise on a more hygienic solution:

I told him, I said, "Look here: Use one bucket for the toilet; one for the garbage," I says, "because I can't sort through this stuff you know. I can't put the garbage in the toilet, so please, use one bucket for the toilet, one for garbage," but he would never do it. Then, one day I'm in his room and it took me two days to clean his room, actually I mean to get his room bearable. I'm moving bags of laundry and I picked up a bag and there's a big hole in it and like 11 pink baby mice fall out.

The low pay and the impossible demands of providing in-home support for a man who could not care for even his most basic hygiene needs, in a hotel where management refused to deal with health hazards like mice, wore Calvin down. Parttime care workers like Calvin are unionized, but remain vulnerable to exploitation and unreasonable expectations. "...they can fire you at the drop of a dime and there's nobody out there to protect you, you know, to investigate. There's nobody on your

side so you're out there alone, basically and you've got men and women out there who prey on the workers." Calvin frequently spent more than the time he was being paid for accompanying Bob to doctors' appointments, changing diapers. "I really felt for him because he's close in age to my father, you know. My father has Alzheimer's and so my thoughts were, you know, maybe my treatment of this guy I give will help my dad keep some good karma as well from whoever is taking care of him." Calvin finally quit the job, exasperated, after Bob proposed that Calvin split his homecare work check with him.

Calvin is currently pursuing his goal of becoming a truck driver. He completed the required course with flying colors:

Straight line backing where you pull the truck forward so far, bring it back in a straight line, really easy. Alley backing where you'll back the truck up and you'll go at a certain angle like you're going into a dock, actually backing up on a dock and you stop. Real easy. Then, there's a parallel parking where you jackknife the truck between four cones... At school there was nothing to it... I was doing so good where I was showing other guys how to do it. I get to the DMV and I am lost... after the third fail, you have to start all over again. You know I failed that parallel parking three times. But now, I'm ready to go back at it again and I'm going to get it this time.

Many commentators treat sex work as a completely different type of work than low-wage formal work, ignoring its relationship to the structural conditions of the formal economy. But sex work can be a way to supplement or even replace full-time formal work that does not provide security or pay a living wage. People come into street-based sex work, and homelessness, with diverse employment histories in the service industry. My participants worked in a variety of formal economy jobs

including food service, construction, telemarketing, retail and social services, before or during their sex work careers. Like other low-wage workers, they switched between jobs depending on what was available, or supplemented low wages with informal work.

Jay, Akasha and Calvin all experienced the precarious nature of low-wage formal work, from a patient who needed more in-home care than could be provided, to constant turnover among co-workers, to soul-crushing telemarketing jobs that did not even pay subsistence wages, to a good steady job that could end abruptly due to an accident. They had varied experiences in the sex trade, but these experiences were closely related to their opportunities in the low-wage formal economy. All of these participants got into sex work because low-wage work failed to meet their needs, but had varying levels of success in the informal economy. Akasha lost her housing while doing minimum-wage formal work, and then experienced extreme poverty and violence as a homeless sex worker and panhandler. Calvin loved his construction job, but started doing sex work to make ends meet after a physical disability left him unable to do this work. To Jay, sex work felt more predictable and stable than his barista job, which was chaotic and uncertain. The relationship between the precarity of formal work, low wages, and entry into the informal economy is not acknowledged by anti-prostitution scholars, or by policymakers and service providers who doggedly persist in mandating "job training" that focuses on building entry-level skills for lowwage work, and on moving people out of sex work and into minimum wage jobs even when they already have histories of employment in the formal economy. People

like Jay, Calvin, and Akasha would be better served by policy changes like raising the minimum wage and strengthening the social safety net.

# 2.2 How receiving government aid affects work

The United States has an exceptionally weak safety net, the result of what Margaret Somers calls "market-driven governance": privileging a framework of market exchange, in which social inclusion is not an inherent right, but depends on an individual's ability to exchange something of value (2008: 2-3). Market logics organize social provision: "To force the unemployed to work, incentives are reorganized and restructured to impose scarcity and hunger as natural conditions that can only be eliminated by work" when work may not in fact be available (Somers 2008: 39).

Much scholarly attention has focused on the ways in which liberal individualism deprives poor people of citizenship, since this supposedly neutral standpoint is in practice always a representation of the interests of the dominant property-owning class. Liberal citizenship has been characterized as an equation of citizenship with earning (Shklar 1991) and based on a contractual understanding of citizenship (Fraser & Gordon 1992). These two elements of liberal individualism are particularly embedded in the history of social provision in the United States.

"The emphasis on market rationality in many spheres of life led to government and corporate assaults on unions (seen as antimarket forces) that undermined their ability to struggle for improved wages and working conditions. This was accompanied by the systematic dismantling of social programs—in the name of market efficiency

and individual responsibility—which culminated in the welfare reform of 1996" (Collins and Mayer 2010: xi).

In the prelude to welfare retrenchment, policymakers worried about "perverse incentives," the idea that welfare would discourage people from doing low-wage formal work. Because the minimum wage was too low for many to live on, even meager welfare payments could result in a higher standard of living for those who were eligible. Rather than pushing for a living wage and adequate health and childcare benefits for workers, policymakers responded by gutting welfare programs and slashing benefits (O' Connor 2001). The new "workfare" requirements insist on inculcating "job skills" for the low-wage labor market, without acknowledging the reality that in most U.S. cities, minimum wage workers would struggle to support themselves, let alone a family, and ignoring the fact that many welfare recipients already have extensive histories of employment in minimum wage jobs. Following other scholars who have studied the effects of welfare retrenchment on welfare recipients (Collins and Mayer 2010, Edin and Lein 1997), I find that the provision of aid does not discourage work among my participants. Instead, I find that by setting a very low cap on earned income, meager government benefits can push some recipients into the informal economy, while more comprehensive housing and economic support allows others to stop doing criminalized work. My participants received government aid from a variety of sources, including General Assistance (GA), a cash grant of \$65 per month for shelter residents, and \$422 per month for eligible SRO hotel residents, and Supplemental Security Income (SSI), ranging from \$648.50 for recipients living in someone else's home, to \$1,145 for disabled recipients with non-medical out of home care. Most SSI recipients in my sample received \$973.40, the amount for "independent living status with no cooking facility." SSI is only available for people who have a disability or are age 65 or older, and have less than \$2000 in assets.

# 2.2.1 Beto

Beto, a gay Latino man in his early thirties, was in San Francisco shelters for almost two years before he got a SRO hotel room through General Assistance Personal Assisted Employment Services (PAES) program. He was able to meet the workfare requirement by getting into a culinary training program for homeless people, which was a perfect fit because Beto has always loved to cook. One of the hardest things about being homeless for him was not being able to cook his own food; not being in control of his own diet. Beto still has a scar, a hole in his chin, from a serious case of scurvy caused by vitamin C deficiency. He does his best to cover it up with strategic facial hair.

The first thing Beto did when he got his own room was to buy a small hot plate, a 10 pound bag of rice, onions, cooking oil. He arranged cooking pots on a luggage rack that he found on the street and mounted on his wall. He dreamed of becoming a well-known chef. But graduation from the culinary academy came with no small amount of disappointment: He was offered a minimum wage job in a kitchen, but declined when he calculated that his earnings as a prep cook would exceed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> SSI eligibility guidelines are available at: https://www.ssa.gov/pubs/EN-05-11125.pdf.

limit for recipients of General Assistance, but would not pay enough for him to afford rent for his SRO. "I'm in this really awkward situation, where a minimum wage job will not pay my way in the city. So I have the option of either having a job and being homeless, or not having a job and being housed," he concluded. The choice was obvious. Beto had no illusions about stability in the low-wage labor market, and no desire to lose his housing on the chance that a part-time minimum wage job would somehow blossom into more secure full-time work with a living wage and benefits. He told me about homeless friends who lost their General Assistance and their housing after taking temporary full-time jobs working for America's Cup when it came to San Francisco.

Reflecting on the requirements of his housing program, Beto said:

Well, you know it's kind of like everything else that has to do with escaping poverty, I think it is just meant to perpetuate you staying in poverty. At the same time... I'm very thankful that I have a room to sleep in, and a bed to sleep on, and a door to close, because I was in the shelters for a year and a half.

He knew lots of people who were working part time and even full time and staying in shelters, and this wasn't for him. After all the waiting for housing, all the time and energy he spent working the system, he finally had this tiny room of his own, and he wasn't about to give that up—even if his neighbors were noisy and addicted to meth. Beto scrubbed and swept his room, installed soft lighting, found a plant that could live in his windowsill to brighten the view of a drab concrete wall, and proudly displayed a colorful array of sex toys on his dresser.

He decided to keep working off the books, cleaning a "rich guy's" house in his underwear in exchange for cash, with the additional perk of occasional time alone in the man's large, sunlit condo. When his employer wasn't home, Beto would wander from room to room, stretch out on the huge bed or in the bathtub, run his fingers over the smooth granite countertops, and enjoy the silence.

Just as caps on earning for recipients of government benefits propelled some participants into the informal economy, government checks and subsidies helped others get out, or transition into to less demanding types of work. SSI was jokingly referred to by some participants as a "sex worker retirement plan" and it did help older sex workers to remain housed as they transitioned out of the industry. Marnie, a fifty-year-old black transgender woman, was able to stop doing sex work when she received SSI and subsidized housing. She devoted her time to creating and selling handmade crafts, which she spent many happy hours teaching herself how to create by watching youtube videos, and then collecting fabric from found objects. Her crafts were most popular around the holidays, when she carried them around in a cart, basking in her friends' and service providers' exclamations about her talent.

Gigi, a 52-year-old Black transgender woman, spent much of her youth involved in gangs. As a young (and at the time, male-identified) person, she says she did many things to make money that she's not proud of, including armed robbery, pimping, and selling drugs. After she received subsidized housing and SSI, things changed. She started doing street-based sex work as a lower-risk alternative to her previous earning strategies, and continues to see clients occasionally to supplement

her income. Even though she was still poor, having a fixed income took away the edge of desperation, made her feel more patient. There are downsides to being in permanent supportive housing, she says, especially all the rules, but the housing makes her feel secure, like she has enough, like she doesn't need to take from anyone. "I got tapped into resources. Social Security, I got my social security. So economically, I got in a position where I could say, 'well I don't even need to do anything to nobody. I could go stand in line.' I could stand in line to get food, clothes, condoms," Gigi says.

For people who rely on social services, waiting in line can become a full time job. Lately, Jay has been spending so much time waiting for appointments that he doesn't know when he's going to have time to go out and look for clients. This is stressful, because Jay's ability to pay for housing depends on the extra income. At \$1145 a month Jay's SSI, is enough—just barely—to pay for housing in a SRO hotel, which costs him \$275 a week. Often, especially for participants who had a drug habit, or participants who paid for food and other necessities, SSI checks lasted between one and three weeks, which were spent staying in a SRO hotel room until the money ran out and they were back out on the streets or in the shelters.

Jay's drug use and tumultuous relationships with partners meant that he spent considerable time homeless on the streets and in shelters when he was younger. He got into stable housing soon after he was diagnosed with disabling AIDS. Jay's CD4 count

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Gigi and other participants frequently used the phrase "social security" to refer to Supplemental Security Income (SSI). SSI is different from OAI, which provides a higher income for people who have a history of employment in formal jobs. While OAI keeps people out of poverty, SSI pays as little as \$900\* per month, maintaining poverty but sometimes helping recipients avoid homelessness.

was so low by the time he sought treatment, the doctors thought he might die. When Jay survived, he was presented with additional, HIV-specific options for housing and drug treatment, a legacy of HIV/AIDS activism that has resulted in a more robust social safety net in San Francisco for poor people who are diagnosed with disabling AIDS than for poor people who are not. When Jay looks back on his time homeless before and after he was diagnosed, he thinks that being poor got easier in some ways, and harder in others, as a result of being HIV positive. Jay's assessment is supported by recent scholarship: Darling (forthcoming) describes poor people living with HIV as "biopolitical denizens," afforded special social rights tied to their HIV status, but still excluded from full citizenship in many of the same ways as other poor Americans.

After his diagnosis, Jay received a housing subsidy through an AIDS housing organization, but this did not solve his problems, because many of his neighbors were drug users and drug dealers, which made it very difficult for him to meet his goal of decreasing his own drug use. Over his adult life, Jay has stayed on the streets, in shelters, at residential treatment facilities, in SROs, and in private rentals, bouncing back and forth between being homeless and precariously housed. A lot of this movement has to do with his drug use, and his desire to quit using drugs. Last year, Jay gave up his housing subsidy so that he could rent a single bedroom in a quiet residential neighborhood, in an apartment owned by a young couple with a small child. When he moved in, Jay could barely contain his excitement: "I think it's gonna be really good for me," he gushed. But Jay still had to work to make enough money for rent, and he felt bad sneaking in and out at all hours of the night. Still he was

optimistic. "Girl, I have a three-hundred-dollar client tonight," he told me ebulliently over dinner at the Saint James Infirmary, loud enough for everyone in the room to hear him and envy his good luck.

The luck didn't last, though: A few weeks later, Jay went into residential drug treatment just to prevent himself from becoming homeless. "I've been clean for three months," he confessed in a low voice, "but I really feel I need a place to stay to keep myself from using again. Do you think its bad that I lied and told them I was still using?"

"No," I said, and then carefully: "I think it's a good idea to go to treatment, cause its, like, preventative."

His savvy navigation of service bureaucracies and ability to plan ahead helps
Jay avoid sleeping on the streets like he sometimes had to when he was younger. In
the three years that I've known him, Jay has gone from couch surfing, to subsidized
housing, to SROs he paid for himself with income from SSI and sex work, to shelters,
to residential drug treatment and back to couch surfing again. Most recently, he
relapsed on meth, and he is running out of money. He's not sure how he's going to
make it through the month. A couple of his long-term clients have been low-balling
him, offering to pay half of what they have in the past because they can sense his
desperation. Jay recently told one of these clients off: "You know what? You can keep
your money. Never call me again." He strode right out of the man's apartment, and he
is proud of himself for refusing to lower his rates. After cutting ties with a couple of
his regulars, Jay is trying out a new look, intellectual and sophisticated. He feels

hopeful that this will attract wealthier clients, maybe the tech industry workers who have overrun the city of late. "*That's* where the money is," he says.

"You look like a tech worker, or maybe a professor," I tell him when he asks, and he grins, but his face is clouded with worry. He prefers to earn money doing sex work, but his back up plan is to go back to panhandling, which he finds "somewhat degrading," because he hates "asking for a handout." No one knows he's homeless: Not his clients, not even many of his friends, and he's afraid that if they see him asking for money on the street, they'll judge him. Panhandling pays less per hour and is more difficult for Jay than sex work, emotionally, and often physically. He nets the most spare change when he stands outside in the pouring rain, head bowed, looking gaunt and forlorn. People give you more money when you're drenched—not under an awning or an umbrella, he says. He knows it's not healthy for him to be outside in the cold all day, but if he does it, he'll have enough money to get a room for the night.

Jay is better at panhandling than most: He looks perilously undernourished with wet clothes sticking to his thin frame, and he can make his eyes shine with desperation and then with genuine gratitude when he raises his face to passers-by. In the past, he has made up to \$100 in five hours on a rainy day, and he can do it again if his new look doesn't draw clients.

For many people who climb out of the streets and shelters into supportive housing or SROs, the ladder only has one rung. Government benefits provide security—a step up from the desperate poverty of street homelessness—even as eligibility requirements limit mobility. People like Gigi, Beto, Mimi and Jay are pulled

out of the extreme, desperate poverty of the streets and into the routinized, quotidian poverty of the SROs and subsidized housing, where you usually don't go hungry or without shelter, but you do spend your days waiting in lines for food, for appointments with doctors and case workers. Like Jay and Beto, many participants supplemented their meager income from SSI or GA with informal work: Not just sex work, but also panhandling, recycling, or sidewalk sales. Other participants who enjoyed the relative security of subsidized housing got into a holding pattern, minimizing their informal economy work and relying instead on their abilities, honed by years of practice, to navigate social service bureaucracies.

For a few participants, more generous subsidized housing programs with minimal requirements and no income limits resulted in economic mobility. In what she describes as "the hell winter" after three years of being homeless, Akasha was raped by a client. The experience left her with debilitating fear that made earning enough money to meet her basic needs impossible. Things finally changed when she encountered outreach workers from a program serving homeless youth and sex workers.

They were much more willing to meet homeless people where we were at in a nonjudgmental way and create a welcoming homelike environment and offer peer counseling and different kinds of alternative and holistic medicine along with psychiatry and advocacy for people to get on SSI and to get short-term housing.

The outreach workers connected Akasha with a mental health provider, who diagnosed her with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and major depressive disorder. These diagnoses made her eligible for subsidized housing reserved for

homeless people with mental illness.<sup>7</sup> After three years of bouncing between sex work clients' houses, friends' apartments and the streets, Akasha finally got SSI in addition to her own room in a Single Room Occupancy hotel.

When she got housing and SSI, Akasha said, everything changed:

I definitely had a lot of healing to do emotionally from the traumas I'd been through when I was homeless and trying to do sex trades. And that took me *years* and I'm still sort of working on that. I have long-term effects that I'm still dealing with. The immediate effect [of having housing] was that it allowed me the breathing room I needed to rebuild my life. Within about a year and a half [of being housed in SROs] I was back to volunteering and a lot of activist projects, such as at the Coalition on Homelessness where I volunteered for the next five years. That was around the time when I got involved in mental health and tenant advocacy and I also got involved in prisoners' rights, health advocacy... It was generally a very positive period of growth in my life... I was also able to start having relationships based on something other than need—other than the need for a roof over my head. I was able to have close friends and lovers for the first time in a long time...

Subsidized housing and access to mental healthcare allowed Akasha the stability she needed to recover from the trauma of homelessness and sexual assault, and to explore her interests at various non-profit organizations. Akasha parlayed the connections and experience she gained as a volunteer into a social service job, and she now works full time as a policy advocate for a mental health organization, and shares a private market rental with her partner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> I will discuss the effects of diagnosis in the chapter on the medicalization of poverty. A diagnosis of disabling AIDS or certain types of mental illness can facilitate access to housing, with few strings attached. These diagnoses by medical and mental health professionals are sometimes coveted by homeless participants, understood as necessary in order to access scarce resources. In contrast, in the medicalization of poverty, social workers and helping bureaucracies label poor people as deficient and in need of remediation. Many poor people who are not diagnosed with a disability are subjected to life skills trainings and behavioral reform interventions, rather than provided with housing. These differences are rooted in assumptions about the inability of people with disabilities, and the obligation of able-bodied people, to work.

Kyra, a white transgender woman in her twenties, moved to San Francisco at age 18, after she finished high school in a conservative town. She had to leave her family because her parents wouldn't accept her gender identity. She heard that she could get free hormones in San Francisco, and decided that the city would be the best place for her as she transitioned. After she arrived, she moved around frequently, crashing on the floors or couches of friends and acquaintances. She found out about a youth shelter and put her name on the waiting list. Worried about where she would sleep the next night and how to make enough money for food and other necessities, Kyra started doing street-based sex work.

I was on the shelter [waiting] list at [the youth housing program] for like weeks and weeks. I was able to stay with friends and so I actually I couch surfed for like *the longest*. It was basically off and on for like nine months. It was really stressful and really intense. When I was in the situation I wanted to get into the shelter because at least I'll know where I'm going. But I also didn't have to deal with the different types of bullshit that happen in the shelter...

During the time she was homeless, Kyra educated herself about support services in the city. "I would grab all the fliers at every place I went to and I would be like ok so I'm gonna go see what they have, what they're doing."

Kyra sometimes had sex with clients who she felt were "creepy" or had bad intentions, just because she needed the money. When Kyra finally got into a subsidized housing program, she was able to stop taking undesirable sex work clients and spend more time on her activist and nonprofit work. She secured a paid internship at a local LGBTQI service organization and was able to use her position there for community organizing with LGBTQI homeless youth.

Kyra's youth housing program took thirty percent of her income (with no minimum or maximum monthly earning requirement) and saved it in a savings account, which she was able to access on her 25th birthday. Having stable housing through her early twenties allowed her to focus on her future, and devote time to queer youth activism and advocacy. She continued doing sex work, but less frequently. Kyra says, "Having stable housing made it to where sex work was like an additional income source but it wasn't like make it or break it. It was like if I *need* money for something extra I *can* do this, but I could make more choices and be more selective. And that felt good. Instead of like, 'I don't really have good vibes about this person but I feel like I have to do it because of bills.'"

While staying in subsidized housing, Kyra was able to gain extensive experience in nonprofit and advocacy organizations and local government agencies. Because of her experiences doing sex work and her time as a homeless youth, she was familiar with common struggles and available resources for queer youth. At age 23, she was hired as a staff member at SJI, doing intake interviews with youth who had experiences similar to her own. Kyra now rents her own apartment in San Francisco while she works at a different organization developing programming to build the policy advocacy skills of transition-age queer youth. She will graduate from college this spring.

## 2.3 Exclusion from housing and formal work

Transgender people experience employment discrimination and formal labor market exclusion at higher rates than the general population: Among respondents to

the National Transgender Discrimination Survey, a survey of 7,500 transgender and gender non-conforming people throughout the U.S., the unemployment rate was twice that of the general population.<sup>8</sup> Ninety percent of NTDS respondents were harassed or discriminated against at work, 47% were denied a promotion or fired due to their gender identity, and 26% lost a job due to their gender identity (Grant et al. 2011: 2). Nineteen percent were denied a home or apartment and 11% were evicted due to their gender identity or expression; 1/5 had experienced homelessness and 26% had experienced housing instability in the last year (Grant et al. 2011: 3). Thirteen percent of Black transgender and gender non-conforming participants were homeless at the time of the survey and 48% of Black trans participants had experienced housing instability that year (Grant et al. 2011: 114), and 38% of Black trans respondents said they exchanged sex for a place to stay (Grant et al. 2011: 115). 14.2% of all respondents who had never been involved in the sex trade had experienced homelessness at some point; 48.1% of transgender sex workers had been homeless (Fitzgerald et al. 2015: 5).

Of all NTDS respondents, 10.8% (694 respondents) exchanged sex for money, and an additional 2.3% (135 respondents) traded sex for a place to stay (Fitzgerald et al. 2015: 4). 39.9% of Black NTDS respondents, 33.2% of Latino respondents and 6.3% of white respondents did sex work (Fitzgerald 2015: 4). Thirty-one percent of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The NTDS, distributed primarily through community-based organizations and online listservs, is likely close to a representative sample of transgender people throughout the U.S., although it may disproportionately exclude people who lack access to the internet or to transgender-serving organizations (Grant et al. 2011: 12).

transgender sex workers had an income under \$10,000 a year; only 22% reported household earnings exceeding \$50,000 per year.

Parental and family rejection were also common problems for NTDS respondents: 57% reported "significant family rejection" (Fitzgerald et al. 2015: 5). Twenty-six percent of those whose families rejected them experienced homelessness; nineteen percent who experienced family rejection "did sex work or other underground work for income" (Fitzgerald et al. 2015: 5). Family rejection is especially devastating in a context of rampant transphobia in homeless shelters and police profiling of transgender people on the streets. This section illustrates how some of my transgender women participants survived family rejection, formal labor market exclusion, and transphobia in homeless services.

### 2.3.1 Ana

Growing up, Ana's mom beat her, hoping to make her "son" tougher and less effeminate. When that didn't work, she kicked Ana out. Ana heard that her dad, who left years earlier, after her mother found him in bed with another man, was now living in San Francisco. She set out to find him.

Ana was born in the U.S., but lived in Latin America for most of her childhood, and as a result spoke very little English when she wound up alone on the streets of the Tenderloin. Instead of feeling afraid, Ana said, "I just felt right away I am free." She explained, "I didn't have a childhood, or my childhood was 'stay in the house, don't go out because you are very feminine."

She was thirteen years old when she arrived in San Francisco with \$400 in cash. At the time, a Single Room Occupancy hotel room cost \$112 for week. She was running out of money when she met a neighbor, Serafina, who was struggling to pay her own rent and would die a few years later of a heroin overdose. "She practically helped me," Ana said. "It was, I guess, people say, 'pimp,' but I call it more like a stepmother, because if it was not for her, I would've never knew the body or the money, or [how to save so] you first get your rent money. So, she's the one who teach me all that, you know." Serafina found "customers" for Ana, and took a percentage of her earnings in exchange.

Having sex was the surest way Ana, thirteen years old and struggling to learn English, knew how to support herself. She learned how to turn her emotions off, so it was almost like she was a different person when she was working: "Having sex for me, it's a job. It was not emotional... that's the only thing that I have a problem right now to adapting myself [since I stopped doing sex work] is that, for me, having sex, I just feel like it's a job. That I have to get paid for it."

Police, jails and prisons have been a constant presence in Ana's life. She has experienced race and gender profiling on the street as well as gender-based violence in jail and prison as violent and traumatic. But Ana's first arrest as a teenager had an unexpected benefit. At age sixteen, Ana was arrested in a sweep of street-based sex workers in the Tenderloin. In the aftermath of the arrest, officials searched for her father. "For me, it was not bad. They did a favor for me... They found him for me. So, I was happy. I was very grateful too."

With her dad, Ana experienced a few short months with someone who loved her unconditionally. "My dad was for me, everything," she says. Ana's father was very ill with AIDS and died of related complications shortly after their reunion. "It's been 19 years—19 years that he died and I still miss him. I feel like I'm very lonely because I feel I need guidance and I need advice with somebody and I don't have that anymore."

When he died, she says, "everything shut down." She wound up homeless and alone again. After her father's death, there are blank stretches of time that Ana can't account for.

The only thing I remember is in the park, there was the bathrooms, those new bathrooms that you put a quarter in and you have ten minutes. And, behind the bathroom there was a tall, tall grass, so I had a little personal tent. There, I had everything that counted. When I had to go to the bathroom, I would just go to the bathroom. The water runs right away in the sink... I put a little plate on it to catch the water. I used to shave very quick...I do my makeup right away, in 30 minutes I was out of there... I went to work with my luggage and everything.

When she was homeless, Ana never stayed in shelters—she always camped or stayed in the street. "I couldn't go to the male [shelter]," she explains. "I remember I went one time to female [shelter], and transgender at that time was not very well accepted. So, there was a woman trying to get into it with me, and so, I'm not looking for problems, I'm just trying to—to survive, you know. I didn't have no trouble in the streets, so I stayed in the street."

Ana survived on the street as a drag performer and occasional sex worker. Her "drag mother," an older transgender woman, helped Ana land a job performing in drag

shows on the weekends. On the street, she met outreach workers from Proyecto Contra Sida Por Vida, and started volunteering there, eventually working her way into a part-time outreach job that allowed her to save up enough money to get a room.

For \$900 a month, Ana rented a Single Room Occupancy hotel room downtown. "I remember roaches, roaches for days. One time I got a very bad fever and I went to the clinic. And they checked me. I had dead roaches in my ear. And the other time I was sleeping and a rat was, you know, every night I heard it." She scratches the table with her nails. "I was just curious to know what it was. I got a flashlight and I go like this—I light in the closet and this big old rat went whoosh!" She screams. "That's when I decided to put my bunk bed a little higher," she laughs. Ana and her dog Francisco lived in that room for fourteen years, until her friend Sindy told her about an opening in the co-op, part of a Community Land Trust.

After years of sleeping on the streets and in dirty Single Room Occupancy hotels, she and her dog Francisco finally have their own quiet, sunlit bedroom.

Outside, there are wind chimes. Flowers and herbs grow in a large backyard garden.

Inside, there is a spacious kitchen where Ana loves to cook. Last year, before her best friend's gender-affirming surgery, Ana hosted a huge celebration at their house. There was dancing, and a penis-shaped cake cut ceremoniously—with scissors—before it was served to the guests. Friends toasted and gave heartfelt speeches. Ana stayed mostly in the kitchen, laughing as she washed an endless stream of dishes.

## 2.3.2 Pauline

Pauline, a white transgender woman in her fifties, ran away from home at a young age. She explains,

My father was very abusive. He hit my mother in front of me, as well as me, for many years... I am very well educated as far as the street. School wise, I don't have that much education. I learned everything from the boy down the street, which was my very good friend. He was not my pimp. I've never had a pimp in my whole entire life of being a street worker. I started at 12, as a boy and as a girl. Back then it was called drag queen.

During the time Pauline was homeless, minors who ran away from home were classified as status offenders by virtue of being unaccompanied, and there was very little federal funding for homeless youth programs (Fernandes-Alcantara 2014).

Running away from home was a crime, and youth would be returned to their families, without consideration of familial abuse or neglect.

After Pauline ran away, she lived in abandoned buildings with other homeless youth. "...A hotel that was ready to be torn down. You know, first and second floor was for the gay boys. The third, fourth and fifth floor, it was for us girls, you know, drag queens or real biological females." One of the buildings, she remembers was condemned, but hadn't been torn down yet: "the apartments was still pretty good, so we lived in there."

Pauline's friends, also runaways, told her how she could make money:

I was taught that just—you know, if somebody approaches, and stops in the car, go talk to them. Handle your business, make your money. You know, whether it be oral or anal... they pay me very well. Back then you could make good money. Today it's kind of hard, but there's still pretty good money out there still.

As a homeless youth, Pauline never stayed in one place for too long. "... I hitch hiked. I went to Chicago. I went to Toledo. I went to the truck stops and hustled in the truck stops... got to eat, got to sleep in a motel, sleep with a man. You know, if he fed me, like they say, wined and dined me..."

Reflecting on her years as a homeless teenager in the sex trade, she thinks that working the streets and the truck stops was usually, but not always, better than being at home—clients were sometimes verbally and physically abusive, just like her father. As a minor cut off from access to mainstream institutions by virtue of her age, her status as a runaway, her gender identity, and her involvement in a criminalized way of making money, Pauline had no recourse against violence. The extreme poverty combined with the criminalization of many transgender women and youth in the sex trade makes them more vulnerable to client violence, and less likely to use condoms that can reduce the transmission of HIV and other STIs (Human Rights Watch 2012). Pauline says:

I talked to some of my girls...They're out there, that don't use protection because they make more money. You know and—you say, girl be safe, you know, and I said, I know you have to make your money for your hotel room and stuff like that, I said, just be safe, because a lot of those girls are being murdered.

When Pauline thinks about her youth, she remembers her friends dying:

I mean, to find somebody that you knew and basically work the streets with, they'll come up and tell you, you know, 'I have HIV' and then see them two days, 'now I have full blown AIDS.' That quick, and they went that quick. I've seen a lot of my girls and boys go, very quickly.

Also, back then, the children—thank god I didn't go that route, but a lot of the kids, because they were kicked out to the wolves, committed suicide. A lot of the girls committed suicide once they got

the sex change for their man. Their man left them. Left them because they got a sex change. So, then they couldn't handle it and committed suicide. That's happened a lot of the time back in the day.

To survive constant loss, Pauline says, she "took a drink, took a pill... medicated myself, as they say." Pauline used every drug she could find, "from alcohol to pills, to snorting, to smoking, to shooting up."

When Pauline thinks about what would have made life safer and better for her, her friends, and other homeless youth she envisions:

A safe haven, housing. A place where youth or young adults can go and know that they will not be harmed. Know that if I walk into the door, you won't take me straight up to your bedroom and make me have sex with you. Things like that. To where they could get their mental health issues started taking care of. Talking to you know, their lawyer, their doctor—you know, having a doctor, a therapist, things like this, you know, because we still have a little child inside of us and they're still hurting through all the abuse. That will never go away. So, just a safe haven... Instead of being incarcerated—instead of being incarcerated or thrown—just abused and things like that, somewhere we could drop in, you know, for a while, halfway housing.

Instead of being offered safe housing and care, Pauline and other transgender women were most often arrested and incarcerated. Incarceration was both a response to and a producer of transgender women's poverty, a process that will be discussed at length in the next chapter.

Today, Pauline has survived multiple incarcerations, client violence, homelessness and HIV. Pauline still does sex work occasionally, but she is much safer as an adult who has a support network, subsidized housing and steady income from SSI. She reflects, "...for many years I took abuse from men... I stand again as a strong transgender woman today. I do not take any abuse from anybody."

The experiences of transgender women in the sex trade serve as a sharp counterpoint to the susceptibility model's (Kramer & Berg 2003) and cultural deviance theory's claims that people get into sex work because of attachment to "the life" or because "feelings of worthlessness" cause them to act out their histories of past abuse (Oselin 2014: 23). Pauline and Ana both fled abusive homes at a young age. They didn't do sex work because they felt worthless; they did it because they wanted to survive. As runaways, they were already in a precarious legal position. Shelters discriminated against transgender people, and police consistently harassed and arrested street-based sex workers. These youth were homeless because the safety net for homeless youth was thin, and the safety net for transgender youth was nonexistent. They did sex work because discrimination based on their age and gender presentation created insurmountable barriers to formal work. Their fear of authorities—especially police—was justified by frightening sweeps of neighborhood workers and by encounters with undercover officers who had sex with them only to arrest them.

My participants' experiences also cast doubt on theories about "role exiting," psychological detachment from the social role of sex worker (Oselin 2014: 14), as a key determinant of exiting the sex trade. As T., a Black transgender woman who wanted to stop doing sex work after two of her sex worker friends were murdered explained:

I had this belief that because I'm transgender, it doesn't make any difference how pretty I am or whatever, I'm trans. I've got a deep voice; I'm not going to be able to get a regular job. I really believed

that... So, to a certain extent, it seemed like the street was the only option.

Many of my participants sold and traded sex for economic reasons without embracing what Oselin (2014) calls a "subcultural identity" as a prostitute; others proudly declared that they were sex workers even years after SSI and subsidized housing allowed them to "retire." Regardless of how they felt about the work, poor people in my study who sold and traded sex did so for the same reason they did a myriad of other jobs; indeed, for the same reason most people work: Out of economic necessity.

# 2.4 Survival and mobility through sex work

So far, this chapter has established the economic motivations for participants' movement through different types of formal and informal work in a context of precarious housing and formal employment. This section shows that sex work can be a variable experience. Drawing on the experiences of two people who got into the sex trade as teenagers, this section illustrates how the sex trade is a means of survival for some, and affords economic mobility for others. Matt ekes out a living, often feeling disgusted by his clients. "It is what it is," he says. Aimee says that sex work is her "chosen profession:" It has afforded her a comfortable life and a nice apartment, and has helped her pay for higher education. These different experiences show how the lived experience and economic rewards of doing sex work, even among people who start out with very limited resources, can be very different.

#### 2.4.1 Matt

Matt, a 23-year-old gay white man, moved to San Francisco from the South and ended up homeless. He heard that San Francisco was a "gay haven," he says. "I knew that San Francisco would be an easy way for me to make money, obviously, and so I came down here to make money."

"And how's that going?" I ask him.

"So far so good," he replies with a shrug. "I mean it's still kinda depressing, regardless. I mean it's downgrading to do shit with old men, but it is what it is. Especially if I get a lot of money to do it...I kinda hate it, really, but the money is secretly what makes me happy. Cause at the end of the day it's to feed my alcohol addiction and to feed my stomach and feed my housing. You know, hotel, alcohol, food. That's how it goes for me."

Matt left home as a teen and does not have any formal work experience. His lack of a resume, coupled with a history of getting arrested for poverty-related crimes, makes it nearly impossible for him to get a formal economy job. When I ask him what made him decide to start doing sex work, he says:

It's easier. It's so hard to find a job nowadays. If I could really work an eight hour shift, I'd have no problem doing that, you know, but I don't really have that luxury right now and it's so hard to find those jobs. It's so hard to find that right now. The economy's horrific. I do have a background of misdemeanors. I don't have any felonies, but still, are they gonna hire somebody with misdemeanors? If you do any type of background check, any type of nationwide background check, those will show up.

All of Matt's misdemeanors were related to extreme poverty. He said, "Being in that position caused me to have to steal for food. Sometimes I'd steal to get things to

sell to get food and alcohol and drugs, or steal food directly." When he was caught,
Matt was charged with petty theft. He later lied about his social security number when
applying for government benefits, because he knew he had an outstanding warrant.
The lie backfired: "They charged me with something like getting a fake ID," he says.

Matt says he doesn't plan on working in the sex trade forever, but right now it's the only way he can sleep indoors at night. Matt has researched subsidized housing options. Counselors one of the youth drop in centers he visits tell him that one of the youth housing programs has a year-long waiting list, and another has a two-year waiting list. So for now, having sex with older men who he finds unattractive, in exchange for a place to stay at night and food, or enough money to pay for his hotel room, feels like his best option.

### **2.4.2** Aimee

Aimee, a queer cisgender woman in her thirties, was kicked out of her family's home when she came out at age 16. She moved in with her best friend and her friend's mom, who provided her with a loving and stable home and the opportunity to finish high school. "I think that if I didn't have that foundation and that built-in security, I probably would have dropped out of high school; I probably would have ended up in a less secure situation or something unpredictable."

Aimee graduated from high school at age 17. She realized that she was going to need a way to support herself. "I was really struggling," she remembers. An older lesbian friend introduced Aimee to sex work. "I didn't start working until I was 17, and you know I lied about my age, and just kind of saw it as fun, at first. And then

realized, wow, this is the way that I can support myself instead of struggling, trying to do it with all these odd jobs."

I initially got into sex work as a matter of economic circumstance... I needed a means of taking care of myself. It was just kind of a natural progression for me to find sex work. I just was always kind of comfortable with my sexuality and with expressing myself in that way. I was mentored by a friend so I just was incredibly lucky to have that in my life and she was older than me and she introduced me to sensual massage. So I started off working in Los Angeles and I worked for, it was kind of a high end spa in West Hollywood and in the back they had sort of this private area where there was this sensual massage business happening on the down low. And it was just really small and kind of hush hush. I started off doing that. I also apprenticed in a dungeon in Los Angeles and worked with some women who were pro doms [professional dominatrixes]. I was just kinda shadowing them and learning the craft. So I've been really fortunate to be able to find my way mostly through a group of women who were already doing it, who were embracing me with open arms and kind of teaching me the ropes.

Aimee describes her relationship with older women in the sex worker community as one of mentorship, rather than exploitation: The friend who introduced her to sex work was not profiting from Aimee's sexual labor, and the professional dominatrixes she shadowed were her co-workers. Aimee remembers that she consistently enjoyed doing sex work: "I felt really excited about the work and curious, and I suppose empowered by it as much as I could be at that age."

While Aimee enjoyed the physical aspects of sex work, she was most fascinated by her clients' personalities and emotional needs. This interest led her to apply to college: "I explored sort of an extension of the work by wanting to study psychology and become a therapist." Aimee put herself through college doing sex

work, and graduated from a prestigious university with a B.A. in psychology. After graduation, Aimee continued to work as an escort:

I was so engrossed in the work that I didn't end up continuing on and pursuing grad school or anything like that. But that's definitely something I'm still considering. But, you know, I see sex work as my profession, my chosen profession and a career that I've made. I've been doing it for 20 years.

Aimee's experience, education, and social and cultural capital mean that she has a steady stream of high paying regular clients. The consistent, predictable income allows her to live in a spacious rental apartment:

I'm very fortunate to be able to afford my own place. I see my home as my sanctuary. Living in San Francisco, its such a crazy expensive city. The majority of my income goes to my living expenses just because its important to me to have a serene place that I can take respite from the craziness outside. And its kind of like my private little space.

The contrasts between Matt and Aimee's experiences getting into the sex trade as queer youth demonstrate how sex work can be a vehicle for survival, or for economic mobility. Both entered the sex trade as teenagers with no experience in the formal economy. For Matt, the need to survive on his own constrained choice, and made the work deeply unpleasant. For Aimee, the support of friends made the work fun and deeply rewarding. Matt's alcoholism contributed to his inability to save much money, and he remained homeless, while Aimee used drugs and alcohol only recreationally and was able to earn and save enough money to pay for college and a nice apartment. Matt hopes to get out of the sex trade, while Aimee plans to continue doing sex work for the foreseeable future.

Many queer and trans youth leave abusive or unsupportive families and end up in cities like San Francisco. Kyra, Jay, Aimee and Matt all moved to San Francisco as LGBTQ youth, ended up homeless, and started doing sex work. Their diverse experiences show that the relationship between housing instability and informal work is variable. All of them said that doing sex work allowed them to survive and meet their basic needs. While Kyra and Aimee experienced economic mobility and secured stable housing, Matt and Jay continued to experience housing instability. An urgent need for money left some, like Akasha, vulnerable to client violence, or, like Matt and Jay, compelled to sometimes engage in types of sex they did not enjoy, with people they found unattractive. Others, like Aimee and Kyra—after she got into a housing program—were able to choose more desirable clients. Unsurprisingly, housing stability and a steady income resulted in the ability to be more selective about sex work clients, which resulted in feelings of safety and job satisfaction for participants who chose to continue doing sex work once they were housed.

It is important to acknowledge and analyze a diversity of experiences in the sex trade in order to avoid flattening sex workers' diverse experiences into a monolithic account of victimization or of complete sexual freedom and empowerment (for a critique of the former see Weitzer 2005; for a critique of the latter see Weitzer 2000). By taking into account housing and employment histories, and analyzing the effects of participants' interactions with different types of poverty management interventions, this dissertation opens areas of inquiry that extend beyond the choice/coercion debate that currently dominates so much of sex work scholarship.

# 2.5 Incarceration creates barriers to formal employment

Upon release from jail or prison, many people are denied housing, employment and even food stamps (Gowan 2002, Manza & Uggen 2006, Pager 2007). The relationship between incarceration and poverty post-release is well documented in the literature: Lack of resources and limited eligibility for social support pushes many people into informal, often criminalized, economic strategies upon release from prison (Pager 2007). According to data from the Access and Connections Subcommittee of San Francisco's Re-entry Council, about 25% of people on probation in San Francisco lack stable housing. Andy Chu, the Managing Legal Director for San Francisco's Positive Resource Center, a legal aid organization for people with HIV, described how incarceration frequently threatens his clients' housing:

We have had many clients who lost their SSI due to incarceration. In these situations, they would have to re-apply all over again... SSI clients have no income and usually have to rely on GA after release. However, due to their disability, they are often unable to comply with GA requirements, and have great difficulties getting back on SSI. The result is no income and homelessness. I remember in one case, it took the client almost half a year to get to us so we could help him apply for SSI; he was so mentally disabled he wasn't able to apply for SSI and seek help, and had been living on the streets with no income. In worse cases, people are off SSI for years, never able to get back on because they are out of medical care and have no medical records to support their claims. Ideally, there shouldn't be a new medical determination when a person is incarcerated for 12 months or more... it doesn't make any sense, as if prison can improve someone's health. (Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 51)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Author's email correspondence with Leah Rothstein, Adult Probation Department (May 27, 2015). See also Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 48.

The loss of benefits and housing during incarceration pushed many of my participants into criminalized work. For example, Bill, a former sex worker living with disabling AIDS, ended up homeless when he could not get his SSI back after he was released from jail. He survived on the streets with a combination of sex trades, panhandling, and recycling. Ana described how missing fifteen days of work due to an incarceration threatened her ability to pay rent. To keep her housing, she had to go back to doing street-based sex work on the same day that she was released from jail. Carmen had a similar experience: She was arrested for prostitution and released from prison with no money, and no other way to support herself.

### 2.5.1 **Debra**

Debra, a Black cisgender woman in her thirties, lost her housing and job due to incarceration, and traded sex to survive while she was homeless. Debra has been incarcerated four times, including for Driving While Intoxicated when she was sleeping in her car, pulled over on the side of the road; for assault when she was involved in a dispute with a man and defended herself, and for violation of her probation terms. The last time she was incarcerated, in Texas, she spent two months in jail just waiting for her court date.

Before she went to jail, Debra had a steady job as a housecleaner and was also taking college classes. She was renting her apartment, and had her own car.

When she was arrested, Debra's car was impounded. She couldn't pay the rapidly mounting fine of \$100 per day to get the car back, so she lost it permanently. Without a car, she couldn't get to the houses she was supposed to clean, and the

interruption in her employment meant that she couldn't pay her rent. "Your car is gone, your place is gone," she says. The stress of incarceration caused her to develop insomnia and an anxiety disorder, and these conditions made it impossible for her to go back to work after she was released.

Debra didn't have housing after she was released from jail, so she crashed with a series of acquaintances. She ended up on the streets after a man she was staying with raped her. Shortly after she became homeless, she traded sex for the first time, just to meet her basic needs for food and shelter.

Debra finally got stable housing again when a therapist diagnosed her with an anxiety disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder. These diagnoses helped her apply for SSI, and she was able to use this money to rent a shared room. Before jail, she says, "I was independent, and then I became dependent. They did nothing but make me a dependent."

Debra explains how incarceration can generate poverty, homelessness and crime:

They definitely need to take a look at why the recidivism rate is so what it is for criminals, because—and I'm not talking about my situation. I don't even consider myself a criminal. But, when people are let out of jail, a lot of times they've lost everything. Okay. Innocent or guilty, okay, because aren't they supposed to have served their time? Well, when they're let out, innocent or guilty, they've lost everything and most people, in order to get everything back can, you know—some people make stupid choices in order to get back on their feet…it takes a lot to get a car. It takes a lot to, you know, afford—money for a place to live. And if you don't have family, or you know, a friend or friends to get you—to help get you out of that, you're screwed. And so, it's no wonder that people commit crimes to get money or they steal to get money. Now, I wouldn't do that but I could see why the people

continually commit crimes once let out. Or, burglarize, or you know, they're just trying to support themselves and it's like, no wonder. They're just put in a bad situation after—you know, it's—they need more resources to help people get back on their feet. Otherwise the crime is going to continue, you know, and that's not good for the community. I mean, at least give people back their property, like their car.

Aimee, too, has experienced barriers to formal employment. As a young adult, she was arrested for prostitution by undercover officers in a hotel in New Orleans, where this was a felony. Aimee was working for an escort agency at the time, and assumed that the agency carefully screened clients in advance. She said, "I spent a night in jail because it was a felony and they wouldn't let me out because I had to see the judge in the morning. It was really scary." While Aimee finds sex work enjoyable, lucrative and rewarding, and considers it her "chosen profession," she also wants to branch out into the formal economy. She has the skills and credentials to do so, but her criminal record has resulted in her getting turned down for a number of high paying formal jobs.

Basically the fact that I have this on my record has been really limiting for me in a lot of ways. The last time that I had to deal with it I was applying for a job that was with a company that dealt with travel. The way that they phrased it was because of your record and because it had to deal with an exchange of money we're not able to accept this as something that we're ok with.

In Aimee's case, legal barriers to formal employment influenced her decision to continue to rely on sex work as her primary income strategy. However, Aimee was able to subsidize her education at a prestigious university through sex work, and her substantial cultural and educational capital allows her to select an elite group of high paying clients. While Aimee's job satisfaction as a sex worker is high, her criminal

record has stymied some of her attempts to branch out into formal economy. Despite her high earnings and enjoyment of her work, this narrowing of her options makes Aimee's economic position more precarious than it would be if she did not have a criminal record.

Especially for those who do not end up with a criminal record, sex work can be a vehicle for economic mobility. People with stable housing who do criminalized work indoors are much less likely to be caught by police than those who work and spend time in public space. The relative privacy and safety of indoor work allows indoor workers to make more money, and without a criminal record, they can move more easily into the formal economy if and when they choose to do so.

For example, Blair, a white cisgender volunteer at a sex worker advocacy organization, has never been homeless. She got into sex work in college, and discovered she could earn a lot by escorting, which led her to drop out of college to work as an escort full time for a few years. Blair's escort agency thoroughly screens all prospective clients to prevent sex workers from coming into contact with police and people who have perpetrated violence in the past: All clients of Blair's agency must have at least three verifiable references from other reputable sex workers or agencies. The highest earning participant in my sample, Blair earned between \$6,000-\$12,000 monthly while working as an escort, and recently transitioned to running the business full time.

As a manager, Blair thought that she provided a safe, flexible and supportive work environment for her employees, some of whom were single mothers who needed

flexible work that would allow them to spend time caring for their young children, or furthering their education.

Like Aimee, Blair enjoys doing sex work. She describes her work, both her past job as an escort and her current job managing a small escort agency that employs five women, as very fulfilling: Some of her favorite work-related memories are of a client who was very clearly still in love with his wife, who had died of cancer years ago. This client, Blair said, was very lonely, but was not ready for a new relationship. Sometimes he would just cry in her arms. By listening empathetically to his memories of his wife and providing comfort and companionship, Blair felt she had played a crucial role in the man's emotional healing.

Partly because she has never been arrested, Blair transitioned seamlessly out of the sex industry before age thirty, exactly as she planned. Over the course of my fieldwork, she moved into the management position and then used her substantial savings and earnings from sex work to finish college. As a college graduate without a criminal record, she has access to a wider array of formal jobs. Sex work has afforded Blair, a white woman with educational capital and credentials, upward mobility and stability.

# 2.6 Discussion

In policy and the popular imagination, there is a clear delineation between hard working formal economy workers in "conventional jobs," mostly in the service sector, and the people doing crimes on the street. In the real lives of many homeless and

precariously housed San Franciscans, the line between low-paying formal work and informal work, legal and criminalized work, is very thin.

My research shows that many of the poorest people who do sex work also do many other formal and informal jobs over the course of their lives. My participants moved from construction into sex work; from telemarketing into sex work; from sex work into recycling; from sex work into petty theft. Informal work allowed participants to survive homelessness, drug addiction, and mental illness.

Sociologists have long known that most poor people in the U.S. do not get by on low-wage formal labor or welfare alone (Edin & Lein 1997). Yet despite decades of social science scholarship documenting the insufficiency of welfare and wages, many sex work researchers have defined stigmatized informal work as a problem in the narrow terms of individual behavior or interpersonal violence. This chapter has argued that sex work, like recycling, panhandling, and other criminalized *work* is done in order to earn money.

This chapter also challenges scholars to move beyond the false binary of choice and coercion in street-based sex work, and to consider the bigger picture of social and political inequality. Instead of asking limiting questions about how to get and keep people out of prostitution, researchers should focus their inquiry on poverty and inequality. How do formal and informal work, including selling or trading sex, allow people to survive or to exit homelessness? What types of governmental responses reduce or exacerbate poverty?

Because this chapter is a corrective to scholarship that strips sex workers' careers away from the rest of their lives, and then reduces their identities to this one job, I have presented narratives showing the interconnections of housing and different kinds of work in a diverse group of participants' lives. I hope that this will facilitate discussion of the complex and diverse pathways through homelessness and formal and informal work while keeping the focus on structural conditions that produce housing and income insecurity.

This chapter also highlights the diversity of people who sell or trade sexual services at some point in their lives. For many commentators, the phrase "sex worker" conjures images of cisgender women, when in fact sex workers are a diverse group including people of all genders. Recent surveys of research literature on sex work have found ten times more articles focused exclusively on cisgender girls than on other groups of youth in the sex trade (Dennis 2008 cited in Lutnick 2016: 9). The obsessive focus on cisgender "women and girls" in prostitution research and policy debates serves to naturalize efforts to protect and control female sexuality, so criminalization and rehabilitation are more easily understood as necessary and good, rather than as projects that create and manage gendered and racialized populations of surplus laborers.

For many street-based sex workers, the problem is not exploitation, but poverty. In anti-prostitution research and policy debates, the rhetoric of sexually exploited women and girls serves to shift focus onto interpersonal violence, and away from the broader systems that create and administer poverty. Very rarely was someone

else making any money from my homeless and precariously housed participants' sexual labor. This is not unusual, even among the groups of sex workers most vulnerable to exploitation: Recent studies of youth in the sex trade have found that relatively few (between ten and thirty-three percent) are working with a third party, most often a "boyfriend" or friend in their age group (Lutnick 2016: 30). The considerable violence experienced by the poorest sex workers happens in a context of poverty, welfare retrenchment and labor market exclusion. The vulnerability of homeless people who do sex work and other types of informal work is produced through a free market economy that prioritizes capital accumulation by the few over the provision of a living wage or publically funded social assistance. As I will argue in subsequent chapters, the poverty management system has responded to poor people—their identities, their work, their presence in public space—with interventions that allow poverty to continue unabated.

This chapter has argued for more scholarly attention to the context of poverty and precarious work. By highlighting the interactions between housing and different types of work and sources of income, this chapter demonstrates why interventions aiming to improve the lives of poor and homeless people in the sex trade need to respond to poverty, not just prostitution. The following chapters will discuss the effects of three different types of responses to poverty: Criminalization, medicalization, and harm reduction. The following chapter will show how precariously housed sex workers' opportunities and trajectories are profoundly influenced by whether the carceral system and service bureaucracies define them as

criminals who should be punished; patients in need of treatment; or people in need of resources to reduce harm.

### CHAPTER 3

## CARCERAL CLASSIFICATION IN THE CRIMINALIZATION OF POVERTY

To understand criminalization as a process, it is crucial to focus on the labeling of certain populations as criminal and the classification of certain behaviors as crimes (Spade 2011: 22, Becker 1963). This process of labeling and classification happens through laws and law enforcement. Following a summary of how laws prohibiting prostitution, drug use, and life-sustaining activities in public space function to criminalize poverty, I trace the process of carceral classification through the stages of police encounters in public space, arrest, and incarceration. At each of these moments, carceral system involvement deepens vulnerability to poverty and violence.

The scholarship about the criminalization of sex workers has largely failed to take into account the myriad activities, in addition to prostitution, for which extremely poor sex workers are apprehended by law enforcement. There are numerous scholarly accounts of the impacts of the criminalization of sex work, but most scholars have ignored the multiple ways in which poor people working in the sex trade are criminalized. After a brief review of the laws governing prostitution, drug use, and homelessness in public space, I show how these laws and enforcement practices create racialized and gendered forms of vulnerability for my participants. All of the participants whose stories I tell in this chapter have become more vulnerable to poverty, housing instability, illness or violence as a result of being classified as criminals. Drawing connections between my participants' experiences and the laws and enforcement that regulate poor people's activities in public space, I show how law

enforcement, jails and prisons regulate not homelessness and informal work, but also gender, sexuality, race and poverty. I argue that laws and police practices that govern poor people's activities in public space do not only target criminal behavior, but govern and perpetuate the poverty of racialized and gendered groups.

My discussion of the criminalization of poverty focuses on the experiences of a diverse group of participants who interact with police for different reasons, and with different outcomes. Homeless and marginally housed people who live or work in public space are all vulnerable to citation and arrest, but are profiled and arrested differently based on race and gender. None of the men in my sample of sex workers had ever been stopped or arrested for prostitution, but many transgender women were profiled as prostitutes. Many transgender and cisgender women who participated in my study reported being arrested for prostitution by undercover officers, while cisgender men were more likely to be arrested for drug use. More participants of color spent time in jail or prison than white participants.

Comparing the law enforcement experiences of a diverse group of participants who all do illegal work, I argue that criminalization regulates and generates racialized and gendered forms of poverty. The first part of this chapter focuses on my participants' classification as criminals under anti-homeless, anti-prostitution, and anti-drug laws and enforcement. The second part of the chapter shows how race and gender classification happen not only through profiling at the stages of citation and arrest, but also through the process of incarceration. In my discussion of gender-based violence in jails and prisons, I analyze the experiences of transgender women who are

incarcerated in men's facilities. The use of undercover police, gender classification, and solitary confinement generate gender-specific forms of harm for transgender women who work in street economies and limit their life chances at every stage of the process.

## 3.1 Managing poverty: From entitlement to mass incarceration

Criminalization became a dominant governmental response to poverty in a context of mass incarceration and welfare retrenchment. Incarceration became the dominant system of racial repression and control in the wake of the Civil Rights movement, as conservatives "used rising crime as an excuse to crack down on impoverished black communities" and "purposefully failed to distinguish between the direct action tactics of civil rights activists, violent rebellion in inner cities, and traditional crimes of an economic or violent nature" (Alexander 2010: 42-43). Reagan campaigned on the promise of reducing crime and welfare, and used "racially coded rhetoric" to secure the votes of democrats and gain popularity among poor whites (Alexander 2010: 49). When Reagan announced the War on Drugs in 1982, he tapped into white Americans' racial anxieties: "By waging a war on drug users and dealers, Reagan made good on his promise to crack down on racially defined 'others'—the undeserving" (Alexander 2010: 49). Between 1980-1991, the U.S. government decided to respond to drug use by the poor through incarceration instead of drug treatment, slashing funding for drug treatment and education programs, and dramatically increasing funding for drug crime policing (Alexander 2010: 50; see also Gottshalk 2015).

Punitive policies extended beyond the arena of law enforcement: playing on the racial fears of working class whites, politicians vowed to eradicate crime and welfare. The Clinton administration enjoyed bipartisan support for the "three strikes" law, and authorized expenditures of over \$16 billion to expand prisons and police forces (Alexander 2010: 56). This unprecedented expansion of the carceral system was accompanied by divestment in housing and entitlements, resulting in the exclusion of increasing numbers of poor people of color from full citizenship.

Alexander (2010) links Clinton's signing of the extraordinarily punitive "Personal Work Responsibility and Opportunity Reconciliation Act" to the policy of the permanent marginalization of people labeled criminals, noting that the PWRORA included "a permanent, lifetime ban on eligibility for welfare and food stamps for anyone convicted of a felony drug offense, including simple possession of marijuana" (57). The shift to mass incarceration and the withdrawal of social support was not a matter of reduction in the amount of money spent on poverty management, but of reallocation of resources to prioritize policing and incarceration.

Despite claims that these radical policy changes were driven by fiscal conservatism—i.e. the desire to end big government and slash budget deficits—the reality is that government was not reducing the amount of money devoted to the management of the urban poor. It was radically altering what the funds would be used for. The dramatic shift toward punitiveness resulted in a massive reallocation of public resources. By 1996, the penal budget doubled the amount that had been allocated to AFDC or food stamps. Similarly, funding that had once been used for public housing was being redirected to prison construction. During Clinton's tenure, Washington slashed funding for public housing by \$17 billion (a reduction of 61 percent) and boosted corrections by \$19 billion (an increase of 171 percent), "effectively making the

construction of prisons the nation's main housing program for the urban poor." (Alexander 2010: 57)

The 1980s and '90s also heralded devastating increases in government subsidies of the wealthy at the expense of the poor. Wacquant (2009: 42) points out:

The US government continues to provide many kinds of guarantees and support to corporations as well as to the middle and upper classes, starting, for example, with home ownership assistance: almost half of the \$64 billion in fiscal deductions for mortgage interest payments and real estate taxes granted in 1994 by Washington (amounting to nearly three times the budget for public housing) went to the 5 percent of American households earning more than \$100,000 that year...Over seven in ten families received mortgage subsidies (averaging \$8457), as against fewer than 3 percent of the families below the \$30,000 mark (for a paltry \$486 each). This fiscal subsidy of \$64 billion to wealthy home owners dwarfed the national outlay for welfare (\$17 billion) food stamps (\$25 million) and child nutrition assistance (\$7.5 billion).

At the same time, the department of Housing and Urban Development implemented Clinton's "One Strike and You're Out" initiative, which evicted public housing residents who had been caught using drugs or even allowing a family member who had a record of possession into their homes. The new HUD guidelines encouraged extraordinarily punitive screening and eviction policies in public housing around the country: The "Quality Housing and Work Responsibility Act of 1998" allowed public housing agencies to "bar applicants believed to be using drugs or abusing alcohol—whether or not they had been convicted of a crime" (Alexander 2010: 145). In 2002, the Supreme Court ruled that public housing "tenants could be held civilly liable for the nonviolent behavior of their children or caregivers" (Alexander 2010: 147). In practice, this meant that residents whose children or

caregivers were caught with drugs—even outside of the housing complex—could be evicted.

The simultaneous investment in mass incarceration and divestment in social welfare happened at the state level as well. Beckett and Western (2001) link increased spending on incarceration to decreased spending on social welfare at the state level. They find that "large penal systems are found in states with weak welfare systems" and argue that "welfare and penal institutions comprise a single policy regime aimed at the governance of social marginality" (33). In California, the 1978 passage of Proposition 13 cut off property tax revenue for municipal governments, which resulted in reduced investment in public services (Martin 2008). California's poverty rate "rose 67% between 1979 and 1995," and the lack of workers' movements combined with voter mandates for the state to "become leaner and meaner," allowed California's elected officials to build the state's prison system (Gilmore 2007: 52-53). Gilmore argues:

The postwar pragmatic care once unevenly bestowed on labor was transferred, with an icing of solicitude, to capital. The state focused on capital's needs—particularly how to minimize impediments, and maximize opportunities, for capital recruitment and retention...Having been elected under crisis conditions, Governors Deukmejian and Wilson consolidated their administrations around the anticrime theme they had popularized. The state built itself by building prisons fashioned from surpluses that the newly developing political economy had not absorbed in other ways. (2007: 53-54)

California poured money into building the prison system. In the fiscal year of 2010, the total cost of California's prisons was \$7.9 billion, costing an average of \$47,421 annually per inmate (Henrichson & Delaney 2012). This investment allowed

the state to warehouse people at the bottom of the state's socioeconomic and racial hierarchy: In 2000, only 44% of California prisoners had worked for the same employer for at least 6 months, and people of color were incarcerated at disproportionate rates (Gilmore 2007: 111-12). Through mass incarceration, "the state could round up persons who correspond demographically to those squeezed out of restructured labor markets..." (Gilmore 2007: 114). As of 2007, the California Department of Corrections was "the state's largest department, with a budget exceeding 8 percent of the annual general fund—roughly equal to general fund appropriations for postsecondary education" (Gilmore 2007: 144).

### 3.2 Prostitution laws and enforcement

Since shifts in the post-industrial economy moved higher paying sex work indoors, the sex workers left soliciting in public are often those who don't have the social or economic capital to avail themselves of higher-paying clients online (Bernstein 2005, 2009). Bernstein argues:

...state regulatory strategies around prostitution are deeply embedded in struggles over the allocation of urban space. Both the state policing of the street-level sex trade and the normalization of the sex business [indoors] reveal a shared set of underlying economic and cultural interests: The excision of class and racial Others from gentrifying inner cities, the facilitation of the postindustrial service sector, and the creation of clean and shiny urban spaces in which middle class men can safely indulge in recreational commercial sexual consumption. (2005: 123)

This relationship between poverty, gentrification and state regulation is an important starting point for my re-framing of the governmental regulation of sex work as a form of poverty management. A (2009) survey of 247 street-based cisgender

women sex workers in San Francisco demonstrates the ubiquity of poverty and criminalization among street-based sex workers. Researchers found that 53% of participants were homeless; 31% received Supplemental Security Income (SSI); and 29% received General Assistance (GA) (Lutnick & Cohan 2009: 42). Thirty-two percent of participants in this study reported that they experienced physical assault while doing sex work, and 29% reported sexual assault (Lutnick & Cohan 2009: 42). Many of the women surveyed also reported violence perpetrated by police: 14% of respondents reported that they had been threatened with arrest unless they had sex with police; 8% were arrested after having sex with police, and 5% were arrested after refusing to have sex with police (Lutnick & Cohan 2009: 42).

Under these conditions, the policing of street prostitution is a way of managing poverty through the criminalization of poor people's sexual labor. San Francisco Police Department records of citations and arrests for "prostitution incidents" (excluding the related charge of "loitering with intent to commit prostitution") show that although the overall number of prostitution-related citations and arrests declined steadily between 2009-2013, more citations and arrests during this time period happened in the rapidly gentrifying Mission District than in any other neighborhood (SFPD 2009, SFPD 2010, SFPD 2011, SFPD 2012, SFPD 2013). For example, 13 of 18 total adult bookings for prostitution, and 93 of 147 total adult prostitution citations in 2013 occurred in the Mission district (SFPD 2013). This indicates that the policing of street prostitution, like that of homelessness, is likely influenced by the complaints of affluent neighborhood residents.

## 3.3 Anti-homeless and quality of life laws and enforcement

With 23 municipal ordinances prohibiting sleeping, sitting, and begging, San Francisco has more anti-homeless laws on the books than any other California city (Fisher et al. 2015: 17). Anti-homeless laws are prohibitions on necessary life-sustaining activities in public space, including sleeping and sitting (ibid). These laws are enforced aggressively, with over 22,000 documented citations for sleeping, sitting, and begging issued between 2006-2014 (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 2). Anti-homeless laws are a subset of "quality of life" citations, which include anti-homeless laws as well as restrictions on drinking, smoking, dogs off of a leash, and other infractions in public space. San Francisco police issued 51,757 quality of life citations between 2006-2014. In 2009, the National Law Center on Homelessness ranked San Francisco as the sixth worst city out of 224 U.S. cities with regard to its treatment of homeless people, using an index of anti-homeless laws and penalties (Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 12-13).

The San Francisco Coalition on Homelessness's recent survey of 351 homeless people in public space indicated that a majority of visibly homeless people interact frequently with police: Police approached 74% percent of participants in public space in the past year; 20% were approached four times or more in the past month (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 1). Seventy percent of respondents were "forced to move from public space," with even higher percentages among people who slept outdoors: 93% of people who camped and 88% of people who slept on the streets were forced to move in the past year (ibid). Fifty-six percent of respondents were searched by police in the

last year, and 46% reported that their belongings—including identity documents, medications, tents and sleeping bags—were confiscated or destroyed by city officials (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 2). Most survey respondents—69%— were cited in the last year, and most were unable to pay the fine or resolve their citation (ibid). This automatically results in the addition of a \$300 civil assessment. The accrual of unpaid citations results in the issuance of a bench warrant for arrest, drivers' license suspension, and damaged credit, all of which increase the difficulty of exiting homelessness (ibid).

The San Francisco Coalition on Homelessness found that anti-homeless enforcement disproportionately affected people sleeping on the streets and in camps, as well as people with mental or physical disabilities and people of color (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 55). Some scholars have suggested that anti-homeless laws, despite their narrow targeting of homeless people, have endured constitutional challenges because the *language* of the laws focuses on behavior—sleeping, resting, and sitting—rather than on homeless identity (Ortiz et al. 2015). In other words, anti-homeless laws ostensibly also prevent housed people, who are not forced to rest in public space, from doing so. This veneer of formal equality in the law helps to justify the criminalization of homeless people who are forced to sleep in public when they have nowhere else to go.

## 3.4 Drug laws and enforcement

By 2005, the number of yearly drug arrests throughout the U.S. was more than three times the number in 1980, despite a decline in drug use (Alexander 2010: 72). In

1988, the Byrne Grant Program made available millions of dollars in federal grants to state and local jurisdictions that prioritized drug enforcement (Alexander 2010: 73; Gottschalk 2015: 33). After Reagan announced the Drug War, subsequent presidential administrations continued to provide federal financial incentives for local and state prioritization of drug enforcement, from donations of military equipment to law enforcement agencies to asset forfeiture laws that made drug arrests a lucrative way to grow police department budgets (Alexander 2010: 81-83). In California, advocates succeeded in changing the possession of drugs for personal use from a felony to a misdemeanor with the passage of Proposition 47 in 2014. Drug laws and enforcement are perhaps the most-well documented example of how laws and enforcement combine with racially discriminatory effects. From the sentencing disparity<sup>10</sup> that results in Black drug users being incarcerated for longer for using the same drug as white drug users (Alexander 2010), to racial profiling that results in higher arrest rates of Black drug users, even though Black people are less likely to use drugs than white people (Moore & Elkavich 2008), the Drug War is a prime example of racial oppression through criminalization.

## 3.5 Theorizing intersectional vulnerability

All poor people who live or work in public space are vulnerable to criminalization through the enforcement of laws and local ordinances related to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Until 2010, the crack to powder cocaine sentencing disparity was 100:1. After Congress passed the Fair Sentencing Act in 2010, the sentencing disparity became 18:1. Because most of the people arrested for possession of crack are Black, the crack to powder cocaine sentencing disparity means that Black people are incarcerated for a much longer time for a comparable offense (ACLU 2016).

survival and informal work in public space, especially laws regulating homelessness, prostitution, and drug use. People of color are more likely to get caught up in the carceral system, not only because of racial profiling, but also because they are more likely to be poor and homeless in the first place.

Black people, only 6% of San Francisco's population, <sup>11</sup> are 24-39% of the city's homeless population, and 56% of the jail population. Latinos are 15% of San Francisco's general population, 26% of the homeless population, and 13% of the jail population. White people are less likely to be homeless or in jail: Whites are 54% of San Francisco's general population, 29% of homeless people counted in the city's last point-in-time survey, and 22% of the jail population (City and County of San Francisco Office of the Controller 2013; United States Census Bureau 2016; Applied Survey Research 2015). A community-based survey of visibly homeless people in San Francisco's central city found that "81% of Black respondents and 84% of Latino, Native American and other respondents of color had been approached by police, compared with 77% of white respondents" (Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 55). The same survey found that 77% of black men participants (N = 97) and 57% of white men participants (N = 78) had been incarcerated at least once in the past (Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 57).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Developer-driven policies have cut the city's overall Black population by half since 1970, a faster rate of population decline than in any other U.S. city (Fulbright 2008). Most homeless San Franciscans grew up in San Francisco and many have been priced out of historically Black neighborhoods (Herring & Yarbrough 2015).

Many city officials view the disproportionate incarceration of Black people in San Francisco as a consequence of Black criminality, rather than as an effect of the city's own policies of criminalizing poor people's activities in public space. The criminalization of Black people is so entrenched in city policy that the San Francisco Controller's Office assumes the city's jail population will decline in direct proportion to its Black population:

The African American population in San Francisco decreased by 18 percent (59,461 to 48,870) between 2000 and 2010, and the DOF [Department of Finance] projects a continued decline through 2050 to 34,101. These population changes are relevant because, as mentioned previously, adults age 18-35 and African Americans are disproportionately represented in the jail population. A decline on these populations could have a downward impact on the jail population in the future. (City & County Office of the Controller 2013: 15)

Transgender people experience homelessness and incarceration at much higher rates than the general population: 48% of Black transgender respondents and 26% of all trans respondents to a national survey of 6,450 transgender people experienced housing instability in the previous year (Grant et al. 2011: 114). The same survey found that 16% of transgender respondents spent time in jail or prison "for any reason." Transgender women were incarcerated at the highest rates: 21% of all transgender women respondents, 47% of Black transgender women respondents and 30% of Native American transgender women respondents had been incarcerated (Grant et al. 2011: 163).

The disproportionate poverty and homelessness of people of color and gender non-conforming people is only part of the reason why members of these groups are

more likely to encounter police and more likely to wind up in jail or prison. Critical legal scholars and critical criminologists point out that the law is not neutral, and neither is enforcement. What is defined as crime and who is defined as a criminal is socially and politically constructed, a reflection of "consensus only among those who control or wield considerable influence" (Mogul, Ritchie and Whitlock 2011: xvi). The social and political construction of crime and criminality is based on the manipulation of law "to legitimate existing maldistributions of wealth and power" (Matsuda 1995: 64).

Sometimes, race or gender bias is written into the text of the law: For example, legal scholars found that contemporary anti-homeless legislation is similar in language, form, and function to laws that have been declared unconstitutional and taken off the books, including Jim Crow Laws and Ugly Laws (Ortiz, Dick and Rankin 2015); others have analyzed the way that binary gender categories in administrative law exclude transgender people from social citizenship (Spade 2008, 2011).

Sometimes, racial and gender bias happen through enforcement priorities, for example San Francisco's decision to use federal grant money meant for the enforcement of laws against human trafficking to instead arrest street-based sex workers in response to complaints about prostitution in one neighborhood (Winshell 2011). Even laws with race and gender-neutral language can have discriminatory effects on people of color (Bonilla Silva 2006, Alexander 2010) or transgender people (Spade 2008).

Building on the insights of critical legal scholars, this chapter theorizes the criminalization of poverty as a process of carceral classification that regulates and produces racialized and gendered forms of vulnerability. The cycle of poverty and vulnerability begins with precarious labor and labor market exclusion (discussed in chapter one) that pushes people into homelessness and criminalized informal work. From there, poor people—disproportionately people of color-- who live and work on the street are more likely to encounter policing in public space. Racial and gender profiling and the use of undercover officers to generate crime means that, even in my sample of people who are all selling or trading sex, men are profiled for drug use or sale; transgender and cisgender women are additionally targeted for prostitution; and people sleeping or camping outside—regardless of race or gender—are vulnerable to anti-homeless enforcement. Racial and gender sorting increase vulnerability to violence in jail and prison; post-release, a criminal record, interruption in benefits, and the effects of incarceration on mental health increase the likelihood of homelessness. Table 3.1 describes how laws and enforcement combine to produce stratification.

Table 3.1. Intersectional Vulnerability in the Criminalization of Poverty

Criminalized identity, activity or condition	Laws and administrative policies	Enforcement and implementation
Homelessness	Anti-homeless and quality of life laws, including laws against sleeping, resting, panhandling, and camping in public space; San Francisco has 27 anti-homeless laws; more than any other California city.	Homeless people who camp or sleep outdoors are most frequently targeted for enforcement of anti-homeless and quality of life laws.
Prostitution	Laws against exchanging sex for anything of value. 647(b) Prostitution-related crimes are generally misdemeanors in San Francisco; some participants were charged with felonies elsewhere.	Street-based sex workers (disproportionately trans and women of color) are arrested the most often. Undercover officers target women. Police sometimes use arrest or threat of arrest to perpetrate sexual violence.
Drug use	Laws against possession and sale of drugs. Since the passage of California Proposition 47 in 2014, possession is a misdemeanor.	People using drugs in public space (disproportionately homeless and people of color) are arrested most often. Police profile people of color as drug users.
HIV	HIV-specific sentence enhancements HIV-specific felony laws criminalize non-disclosure of HIV status to sexual partners Prostitution while HIV+ is a felony The CDCR places HIV+ prisoners in solitary confinement	Street-based sex workers are most likely to be arrested and to be HIV-positive; Jails and prisons often place HIV+ prisoners in solitary confinement.  Transgender women are disproportionately vulnerable to HIV-related criminalization.
Mental illness	Laws regulating homelessness, drug use, and prostitution	Homeless people in public space are vulnerable to police enforcement.
Non-white race	Laws regulating homelessness, drug use, and prostitution	Racial profiling and selective enforcement by police
Non-normative gender identity or presentation	Carceral classification in jails and prisons; Laws regulating homelessness, drug use and prostitution	Police profiling of transgender women as prostitutes; gender-based violence against transgender people in jail and prison

This table highlights intersectional vulnerability in the criminalization of poverty. The table represents the laws and enforcement practices most salient in the lives of my research participants, rather than an exhaustive list of the laws that contribute to the criminalization of poverty. Homeless and street-based workers are all vulnerable to policing in public space, but the particularities of laws and law enforcement make some subpopulations more vulnerable. For example, T., as a homeless Black transgender woman who does street-based sex work and uses drugs, is vulnerable based on laws regulating drug use, prostitution, and homelessness; and enforcement targeting Black and transgender people. White cisgender participants like Belinda are vulnerable based primarily on laws and enforcement targeting homeless people who sleep outdoors.

The reality of racial profiling is well-documented, as is the disparate impact of drug laws on people of color (Alexander 2010, Gottschalk 2015, Moore & Elkavich 2008), although racist enforcement priorities are rarely codified in the law itself. This table shows how laws and enforcement priorities combine to render groups of poor and homeless people vulnerable to criminalization in ways that depend on their race and gender identities and their activities in public space. While the table shows how laws and enforcement practices regulating different aspects of poor people's identities and income strategies are analytically separable, it also shows how these laws and enforcement practices intersect in each participant's life. This table also provides a different perspective on debates about whether race or class is the primary cause of criminalization. The table helps to make sense of my research participants'

experiences with the carceral system, described in subsequent sections. Based on the table, we can see that for white people who sleep outside, like Belinda and Bill, laws and enforcement regulating homelessness and drug use create vulnerability, even in the absence of racial profiling. In contrast, identity-based discrimination is central to the criminalization of many participants of color, like Ana and Calvin, who are detained due to race and gender-based profiling—even when they are not committing any crime. Others, like T., Pauline, and Carmen, are rendered vulnerable not just because they are breaking the law but also due to biased enforcement.

Even though laws regulating poor people's presence and activities in public space may seem race and gender-neutral, they have a disparate impact on people of color and transgender people. This is in part due to the fact that people of color and transgender people are disproportionately likely to be excluded from formal labor markets and pushed into homelessness and street-based work (see Chapter One), and partly due to biased law enforcement in the form of racial and gender profiling. This chapter argues for an expansive definition of the criminalization of poverty that accounts for intersectional vulnerability. My participants' experiences demonstrate that the criminalization of poverty is the management not just of poor people's presence or activities in public space, but also of race and gender identity and expression. Many of the laws that in effect criminalize poverty don't initially seem to be about regulating poverty at all. But in fact, all of the laws in the table above (and more) have the effect of criminalizing poverty. Similarly, the laws in the table above

poverty in U.S. cities is racialized and gendered, the criminalization of poverty disproportionately harms people of color and transgender people.

# 3.6 Policing in public space

Chapter One showed how people move through formal and informal work and homelessness. Poor people of color are disproportionately subjected to criminalizing interventions in San Francisco and throughout the U.S. People of color experience racial profiling (police targeting based partly on their race) which leads to more police contact, especially in the context of disproportionate policing of neighborhoods where most residents are people of color, and many are homeless. Participants who were homeless on the street had frequent police encounters, regardless of race or gender. Participants who were transgender or people of color experienced frequent police profiling; men of color were frequently searched for drugs, and transgender women were profiled as prostitutes.

## 3.6.1 Anti-homeless enforcement

Akasha, a white transgender woman, remembers:

My partner was homeless and sleeping outside. I wanted to sleep outside with her to make sure she was safe, and safety in numbers. So we often squatted and slept in between houses or in whatever kind of space we could. We were frequently rousted by cops in the middle of the night or early dawn hours and forced to move on. So that further eroded my direct experience of dealing with cops...I saw how selectively the lodging ordinance was being enforced on people who stayed under the freeways in tent cities... Hundreds of homeless people were swept, and the tent city was swept, at the time this parking lot [Now AT&T park property] was constructed, around 2001 or 2002...

As far as cops, I had a long distrust of them from knowing so many sex workers in the mid to late nineties and just hearing their stories... how they were arrested, how they were sometimes forced to have sex with cops in lieu of being arrested, all the different ways the cops abused their power when you would not have any standing in a court of law.

When asked if police targeted her because she was homeless, because she was trans, or because she did sex work, Akasha said:

I felt at risk for being abused by cops for all of those reasons. After I became housed, if I was staying outside, I was still very vulnerable as someone who appeared homeless. I always felt very vulnerable as a trans person too "cause I was keenly aware that trans people were being abused at SF County Jail, and that we were being discriminated against by SFPD [San Francisco Police Department]."

Jay, a 35-year-old white gay man, has been selling sex and using drugs for years. After he ran away from his homophobic family in high school, he moved in with an older abusive boyfriend who almost beat him to death. Encouraged by a friend who paid for his bus ticket, Jay fled to San Francisco, where he ended up homeless. In and out of shelters, he started doing street-based sex work on San Francisco's transgender stroll, at first dressing in drag, and then starting to identify as a woman. After living and working as a trans woman from age 19-26, Jay started again to identify as a man. Reflecting on his current and past sex work and drug use, he says:

I've never been popped for drugs so I mean I have been fortunate... Over the years, 15 years of doing drugs, honey, I'm very fortunate. And you know, I don't want to wind up in jail, because my freedom: Like I could get any job I wanted. I have a good credit score, you know, I have a clean record, knock on wood, you know and everything I've done, some of it's illegal--a lot of it's illegal--but I managed to walk out of it with a clean slate, and I'm fortunate for that, because so many people I know, just one time has made them.

Jay's good luck has a lot to do with his race. The only time Jay has ever been to jail (if you don't count the time he spent in juvenile detention when he beat up a

high school classmate who called him a "faggot") was when he was homeless, after police discovered him sleeping outside. Jay was dressed in drag, coming down off of speed, curled into a little "cubby space" above the train station. He heard someone bellow, "You need to get your ass up!" The voice, and the sharp pain in his side as the officer kicked him, jolted him to his feet. *Fuck you motherfucker*, Jay remembers thinking angrily, before he started to argue. He was arrested.

At the police station, "They took the wig off of course - it was just terrible and I was traumatized and all that, and that was awful."

The officers led Jay to the "transgender section" of the jail. Looking around, he realized that he knew all of the trans women who were incarcerated there. "And they're like - What are you doing in here? Like what did you do? Because I was really good about how I handled my shit, and how I did things... And they were like 'What'd you do girl, like what happened?' And I wasn't a girl at the time..."

Since Jay was arrested on a Friday, he had to wait in jail for three days before going to traffic court, which handles San Francisco's citations for sleeping and resting. In court, Jay was surprised to hear he was being charged with "attempted assault" against a police officer. He was given a public defender "... And so like for me I was really lucky, and of course the judge expunged it, and I was out." Jay was released from jail while it was still light out, so he had plenty of time to find a new spot to sleep. He chose a train underpass, camouflaged by bushes, where he could hide. "I slept out there many times."

Some local commentators and pundits believe that policing will push "service-resistant" homeless people into the city's shelters. In fact, most homeless people who are forced to move by police do not move indoors—in a city with only one shelter bed for every six homeless adults, and limited indoor public space available in the daytime, there is nowhere to go. Most frequently, homeless people move around the block or to a nearby location, and in cases of particularly intense policing in one neighborhood, they move to another outdoor location (Herring & Yarbrough 2015).

### 3.6.2 Police profiling

Calvin, a cisgender Black man, doesn't use or sell drugs, but is nonetheless stopped constantly by police. Calvin says that San Francisco police use surveillance and the threat of arrest to enforce racial boundaries.

It's like, you know, they'll see me walking and they'll pull up alongside, real nice and slow. I'll look at them and they'll look at me, you know, and—it's like you know, it's their way of letting me know, I know who you are and I'm watching you.

Or you know, they'll see me and decide for just for no reason just to stop—they'll see me talking to a really nice looking white woman for example. They'll stop and get out the car and run my name.

I used to ask them, you know, "why are you stopping me? Have I done anything wrong? Was I jaywalking, you know, do you want to search me? I have no drugs on me, no paraphernalia, you know, what is it that you want from me?"

...I have never been to the penitentiary. I have no felonies on my record. They look at me like, you know, who the hell are you? And I said—that's when I say, "What? Why are you looking at me like that's something I should've done," you know. I said, "most Black people where I come from [a small Midwestern town] that I know don't go to the penitentiary, they don't have a record, they are educated," you know. And, I would start hitting them with—I would start tearing into them and that's not a good thing. You don't make them look small because they will beat you small. One way or another, if not physically,

you know, mentally, they'll hound you and they'll hound or whatever, you know.

Calvin says that police frequently search him for drugs, but he is confident they will never arrest him for anything related to his sex work.

I had an incident where I had condoms on me. They were searching me. They were looking for dope though—they thought I had dope. So that's why they stopped me. And, one of the officers, he pulls out the condoms and he's like, what is this? I said, "excuse me?"

"What are these for? What are you doing with these?" I looked at him and then I looked at his partner ... I said, "come on man," I said, "I might get lucky. I'm trying to practice safe sex here. What's the big deal with me having condoms?" He goes, "oh you might get lucky, huh?" I go, "Well hell I look better than you—I'm sure I'm going to get lucky." Calvin laughs, "He turned beet red in the face... I said, I need to shut up and let these guys finish what they were doing because he was starting to get pissed off... His buddy had a hard time not laughing. As I was walking off, he was like, "I can't believe you would ask him such stupid fucking questions." He was like, "come on man, you're acting like a rookie." I increased my pace and got up on out of there.

While Calvin was able to draw on ideas about masculinity and the acceptability of recreational sex for men to explain his possession of condoms, police officers throughout the U.S. frequently use possession of condoms as cause to arrest transgender women on suspicion of prostitution. (Human Rights Watch 2012). Until 2013, the use of condoms as evidence of "an act of furtherance" of prostitution was legal in San Francisco, and it remains legal in Oakland and most other U.S. cities. In a 2012 survey by the PROS Network, 75% of transgender respondents reported that fear of police made them decide not to carry condoms (Fitzgerald et al 2015: 10).

Historically, the use of condoms of evidence of prostitution has been applied selectively to transgender women, deepening their vulnerability to HIV and other

sexually transmitted infections. The San Francisco Department of Public Health estimates that one in three transgender women in San Francisco are HIV positive; a 2010 study on HIV prevalence found 40 percent of transgender women participants were HIV positive and four out of five study participants had annual incomes below \$21,000 (San Francisco Department of Public Health 2010: 66). Seventy-one percent of transgender women diagnosed with HIV in San Francisco in 2010 were African American (ibid). The criminalization of street-based sex work has increased poor transgender women's vulnerability to HIV infection.

The use of undercover officers to target poor people of color generates crime, resulting in the disproportionate incarceration of transgender women and people of color. Street-based sex workers are especially vulnerable to being caught by undercover officers. Carmen, a 40-year-old Native American transgender woman, did street-based sex work from the 1990s to 2014 in Phoenix, Hollywood, and San Francisco. She sometimes traded sex for food, drugs, or a place to stay. When she did get paid in cash, she remembers earning \$40-50 for a blowjob and \$100 for sex. She usually earned about \$200 a week, but a lot of this money went to pay for drugs, so she supplemented her income with petty theft or "boosting"—mostly just make-up "to keep my look," she said.

Carmen has stayed on the streets, in shelters, couch surfed, and lived at residential drug treatment facilities. She estimates that she has been arrested between thirty and forty times for a variety of offenses related primarily to "quality of life" enforcement, but also for drug possession and prostitution. Most of the time, police

charged her with disorderly conduct, public intoxication, public nuisance, or loitering. She has also been arrested and incarcerated on charges of drug possession and drug trafficking. Like T., Pauline, and many other transgender women, Carmen was arrested and incarcerated for prostitution after she got into an undercover officer's car. The longest she was ever in prison was 19 months. Her other sentences were shorter: 30 days, six months, a year.

Prison officials, she says, "were trying to throw me into general population with men, where I didn't want to go." There was always "an inadequate supply of food" in prison, and she was denied hormones. The court process was slow, so she was incarcerated for months before she was even brought before a judge or convicted of a crime.

In the men's prison, Carmen continued to do sex work in exchange for food and cosmetics. This is an irony of the incarceration of trans women on prostitution charges: Many participants who did time in men's prisons told me that they had to sell or trade sex while incarcerated in order to meet basic needs for protection, food, and cosmetics. For many transgender women, prison constrains sexual choice and requires transactional sex for survival.

Not once in the over thirty times Carmen has been incarcerated did prison officials ever attempt to connect her with housing, benefits, or other services upon release. After she got out of jail or prison, Carmen never had enough income to meet her basic needs. She went right back to sex work and boosting to support herself.

In addition to being arrested after having sex with an undercover officer, some participants described having sex with a police officer in order to avoid arrest, and being sexually harassed or assaulted by police officers.

T., a Black transgender woman who did street-based work in the Tenderloin explains:

You can have a girl out on the corner in the Castro [a wealthier neighborhood] but because she looks different than the one that's down here in the Tenderloin, the one in the Castro doesn't get bothered [by police]. You know, she's a professional. The cops want to date her... the cops really want to date her, the ones in the Castro. They'll take them out to dinner and all this. The ones down here, the cops will pull you over and they'll pull you over, put you in a car, pull up in some alley and say, well if you do la, la, la, [a specific sex act] I'll let you go. That's happened to me, right here in San Francisco.

Melissa, a 28-year-old white cisgender woman, has been arrested for prostitution and possession of drugs. She remembers fending off police officers' sexual advances on a number of different occasions. She says:

There are so many crooked cops out there. I've been harassed by them on some really shady levels...If I were to report them, it's like my word against theirs. And I'm like a drug addict street prostitute—and to them I'm like the lowest of the low. There's no way in hell that his whole life and his career is gonna be taken away from him on my word. So its kinda like why put myself out there in that position, but its like I think what they do and how they treat people is worse than anything, but I just-- I don't know. I really don't know how to address that.

## Calvin says:

And then police, you know, they're raping the workers too. You know, they're just flat out raping them and robbing them and nothing is being done about it, because you know, you're a whore. [Sarcastically] You're accusing an officer of the law of doing something wrong. You know, while you were out *whoring*, this officer stops you and now

you're going to bring up these *false charges* on him. You know, so—[laughs].

Calvin's observation, that criminalization and stigma create conditions for police to perpetrate violence against sex workers with impunity, is supported by other participants' experiences.

Lanie, a white cisgender woman in her forties who is homeless remembers sitting alone in an alleyway in the Tenderloin when she was approached by two male officers. They "searched" underneath her bra and rifled through her belongings. Lanie was pregnant at the time, and one officer told her that she should be sterilized: "I don't want to pay for your kid." Lanie said that she was going to have an abortion, and the officer told her that paying for that would be a waste of taxpayer money, too. After looking up her record and seeing that she had a prior prostitution arrest, "They said don't touch this pen because you probably have a disease." Although the officers did not arrest her that day, they continued to harass her until she started crying. "It was verbally abusive. It was very judgmental. They were kicking my stuff around. They were really horrible."

Lanie moved to San Francisco from Los Angeles, where she had been arrested twenty-five times in only three years, and charged with three felonies. She says, "In L.A. they make you plead guilty." Because she is banned from most formal avenues of employment, she continues to work in the informal economy, where she routinely encounters police and risks re-incarceration.

Pauline, a white transgender woman, says that police harassed and arrested her for a constellation of reasons over the course of her life. She believes her frequent

arrests had as much to do with her appearance as with her presence in public space and her criminalized work.

It was how I looked. It was because I was out there on the street as far as sex work. The first encounter when I got arrested, I had given an undercover cop—which I did not know he was undercover, I had gave him oral sex. As soon as I was finished—at first, no money exchange was mentioned. Then, after that, I kind of mentioned—I said, 'Well you know, um... a donation would be nice,' and that's when he pulled out a badge and said, 'You're busted.' I said, 'Are you f-ing kidding me, I just gave you some head, and you're going to bust me.' They handcuffed me. They hit me—not really hard, but hard enough with the billy club and stuff like that. Called me every name under the sun, like I said, you know, like, 'Faggot, you're not a woman,' you know, all this sort of stuff, you know.

True enough, I was doing something against the law, but that's still the injustice and the cruelty that you get from some of these officers, once they get a badge, its totally unnecessary. You know, even if you sneeze you may get shot, you know. Let's keep it on the real, even if you sneeze you may get shot. Its ridiculous.

#### Pauline continues:

As far as the sex workers: Police, stop harassing us. OK, I guess I'm out there and I'm working, ok fine, but if I'm civilized and not acting like a fool and carrying on and hollering and hooping and all that, then leave me the hell alone. I'm not bothering you. I've got to make my money to survive. Are you going to give it to me? I don't think so. You going to arrest me though and you're going to harass me and maybe criticize me and abuse me too... leave us alone. Stop every moment harassing us.

Police profiling and the violence it allows are not the result of just a few crooked cops. Instead, they are the result of the massive allocation of resources at the federal, state and local levels, to the criminalization of poverty. Laws against sleeping, resting, and other life-sustaining activities in public space; laws forbidding drug use and the exchange of sex for money or other items, and the decisions of federal, state

and local government to invest in these laws, renders the most marginalized groups of people even more vulnerable. The misogyny, transphobia, racism, or class bias of individual police officers cannot explain the persistent patterns of criminalization detailed in this chapter. As Mogul, Ritchie and Whitlock argue:

The 'bad apple' theory—the idea that a few rogue individual are responsible for poisoning the barrel, and that their identification and removal is the simple cure—cannot account for the historically pervasive, consistent, and persistent systemic violence that characterizes the criminal legal system. The barrel itself is rotten—that is to say, foundationally and systemically violent and unjust. (xx)

What this means is that the problem of violence extends far beyond the level of interpersonal interactions between police and people who live or work on the streets. This violence, the most immediately apparent manifestation of the harms of criminalization, is rooted in the political and economic prioritization of criminalizing interventions. At the national level and in California, the State has invested heavily in the carceral system, at the expense of social provision.

# 3.6.3 Criminalization of drug addiction and mental illness

According to the National Coalition for the Homeless, between 20-25% of people without stable housing have been diagnosed with mental illness (2006). Antihomeless and quality of life laws and their enforcement mean that homeless people who have addictions or mental illness are extraordinarily vulnerable to law enforcement contact and arrest. In the Coalition on Homelessness's (2015) survey of homeless San Franciscans, 42% reported that they had a mental or emotional disability. Of these participants, 85% had been approached by police in the last year;

of those approached 80% were cited in the last year (Sparks 2015: 60). San Francisco's most recent point-in-time count of homeless people shows that there were more homeless people in jail than in hospitals and resource centers combined (Applied Survey Research 2015: 20). The incarceration of poor people with mental illness is increasingly common throughout California and the U.S., and studies have consistently found more people with mental illness incarcerated than in treatment facilities (Torrey et al. 2010, Lamb et al. 2004). Seventy-one percent of people incarcerated in San Francisco and 45 percent of California state prisoners are diagnosed with severe mental illness (Sparks 2015: 61). This indicates that criminalization—not treatment—is the dominant response to poor people's mental illness.

Unaddressed mental illness and drug use increase vulnerability to homelessness, and homelessness makes people vulnerable to stressful and traumatic events that threaten mental health. For some of my participants, homelessness, mental illness or substance use, and participation in criminalized informal work become a self-perpetuating cycle. In a context of rapid divestment in voluntary mental health and drug treatment services, working poor people with mental illness or addiction are disproportionately likely to lose their housing and employment. Unable to meet the demands of low-wage formal work and with few resources, many homeless people with mental illness or drug addiction are swept into the informal economy. Their homelessness and visible presence in public space also makes them more vulnerable to policing and incarceration. This section draws from the stories of Belinda and Bill to

show how anti-homeless and drug laws and enforcement trap people in a cycle of criminalization and poverty. In Belinda's case, repeated interactions with city officials enforcing quality of life and anti-homeless laws exacerbate her mental illness and fear of authorities, result in a bench warrant for her arrest and create unresolved court debt. Although she is never incarcerated, Belinda's experiences with police increase her feelings of vulnerability. Bill, targeted for drug enforcement because he is homeless in public space, becomes caught in an inescapable cycle of incarceration, surveillance, probation and parole violations, re-incarceration, and homelessness. Both of these stories show how categorizing poor people who use drugs or have mental illness as criminals threatens their well-being and entrenches their poverty.

### 3.6.3.1 Belinda

"You're the first person I've talked to this week," Belinda tells me one night.

Belinda is a white cisgender woman in her thirties. Over the years she has spent homeless in San Francisco, she has become increasingly isolated. Repeatedly turned away from shelters due to a visible skin infection, Belinda sleeps outdoors. She trades sex for money and sometimes food, and is ticketed frequently not for her illegal work but for her presence in public space. She interacts almost daily with police, and very rarely with service providers. Belinda often receives multiple citations each day, which means she is vulnerable to arrest on a bench warrant that is automatically issued after 30 days of the issuance of the original citation (see Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 39 for an explanation of this process).

One time I was with my boyfriend in the park. His shit was everywhere-- like bags and stuff-- but they thought it was my stuff. So they gave me a ticket. Then they handcuffed me and threw me against the wall. Right then, I felt this energy, like if I just tried hard enough I could break out of the handcuffs, like the incredible hulk or something. They charged me with resisting arrest and assaulting an officer.

Belinda is barely five feet tall and weighs maybe 130 pounds.

"They said I kicked him, but I didn't kick him. I think I probably tripped over his leg or something," she says. "I was really scared, because they put me in an unmarked car. How was I supposed to know if they were real cops?" I was screaming, "Help! Somebody help me."

Belinda is also afraid of the Department of Public Works, which routinely confiscates and destroys homeless people's tents, sleeping bags, and belongings.

Although (or perhaps because) there are at least 2,633 unsheltered single adults and 33 families living on the streets with nowhere to go, the DPW spends \$3 million dollars each year evicting encampments. Watching DPW tear down homeless camps and throw tents, sleeping bags, and any other belongings they find, into a trash compactor, Belinda thinks how easily a person or a pet could end up in the trash compactor. What if they were still in the tent or sleeping bag? The DPW workers don't check—they just throw everything away. Belinda has nightmares where she wakes up in the trash compactor too late, terrified and certain that she will be crushed along with the tents and backpacks. One of her biggest fears—even when she is awake—is that she will be thrown away.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Mattier and Ross, "Clearing SF Homeless Camps an Exercise in Futility." *San Francisco Chronicle*. March 8, 2015.

Lately, Belinda has sought increasingly isolated locations to sleep, where she will not be found by police, the DPW, or abusive ex-boyfriends. With nowhere else to go and limited contact with service organizations, Belinda is stuck in a cycle of police citation and displacement.

Until a few years ago, Belinda was living like many working class Americans in a rental apartment, earning just enough money to pay the bills.

Growing up, Belinda was always a good student. In high school, she liked science and art classes the best. She planned to become a doctor. She took Adderall so that she could finish all her homework and then stay up all night drawing. This is how her drug addiction started, although the Adderall didn't feel like a problem at the time—she was a successful student with good grades, and even won her school's senior essay contest. Belinda had a steady boyfriend and got pregnant shortly after she graduated from high school. She got a part time entry-level job working for a technology firm, her boyfriend got a full time job at a grocery store, and they moved into an apartment together. Belinda's boyfriend worked from 9am to 5pm, and Belinda worked from 5pm to 10pm, and then did her community college homework while her daughter slept.

In addition to Adderall, Belinda started using, and became addicted to, opiates.

She remembers being dope sick at home alone with her daughter during the day.

Sometimes Belinda would pass out, leaving her daughter to fend for herself.

This continued for years: Belinda was working from home, using stimulants when she needed to be up. But after Belinda found out her boyfriend was cheating on

her, she sunk into depression that broke the fragile hold she had on her life. She used drugs more frequently, missed deadlines.

My quality of work declined very rapidly because once I found out he cheated on me... the nights where I was thinking like, is he cheating on me, is he okay, and so I wasn't working that well... So I lost my job, my boyfriend and my apartment in a week." Belinda also lost custody of her daughter, who she thinks of often. "She's with my ex-husband and like, his family is a little bit more wealthy and they have like, access to things that I don't. So I kind of just like left her there. And plus I was like, really sick with—I was addicted to opiates...

With no apartment and no family support, Belinda said, "I just took the opportunity, like that, since all those ties were keeping me there, to just move."

Belinda wound up at a homeless shelter in San Francisco. In response to questions about whether shelter staff attempted to sign her up for benefits, Belinda shook her head adamantly. "I didn't get anything but yelled at," she said. "That was also one of the reasons I didn't end up staying. They yelled at me like all the time." The constant yelling in the shelter, to hurry up, or in response to her request for a "late pass" to stay out past 6 p.m., made it an unappealing option.

Occasionally, pimps would canvass the shelter lines, approaching a few homeless women and asking if they'd like to make some fast money. So when one of these men picked her out of the shelter line, she took the opportunity. This arrangement sometimes worked out well for Belinda, who was glad to have a break from the constant commotion and yelling at the shelter. But the respite from homelessness was short-lived: "One of the problems is that I fell in love with one of the pimps. He's like, really hot... And I would just mainly work just to—you know, so

I could make him happy and spend time with him." She remembers, "I lived with him for a little bit, with him and his wife, but she was a sex worker too and... I didn't know any better, but you know, I would give her the money. I would give her everything instead of just a little bit." In exchange, Belinda received food and housing: "They provided everything, but—it was really frustrating because they also had a baby and I was like, okay, do you want me to be a babysitter or do you want me to, you know, be a hooker, like which one? So it didn't last very long, but that was my first experience."

After Belinda decided that this arrangement wasn't working for her anymore, she left, and ended up homeless again. Her memory of the extended period she has spent on the streets since then is foggy, but she recalls living under the freeway with a boyfriend during the winter of 2012. During this time, her mental health started to deteriorate:

I started having these memory problems where I would fall asleep and wake up—like I would fall asleep at almost anywhere. Most likely the bathroom, any time I sat down, I fell asleep. Wake up forgetting I had a boyfriend. So then I would go do—you know, trade sex for drugs or whatever and then I would—suddenly remember, like afterwards, like oh crap, what about my boyfriend, you know. I was actually and still am, very in love with him... I don't know, maybe my brain was so overwhelmed by everything... I think it was like, PTSD or something.

Belinda also started to have disturbing visions. She remembers looking at her boyfriend, and seeing someone else:

One day his face changed and he started to look more like my grandma, who I guess, maybe she was trying to tell me in her own little way that she was dying. Because she died like, this past June. It was like my

little six month warning, like "hey I'm going to die, you know, you better, you know, come see me," but she—it really freaked me out...

When one of her ex-boyfriends started stalking her, Belinda went to a domestic violence shelter in a supposedly confidential location. The ex-boyfriend found her almost immediately. She started to feel afraid of staying in one place, felt like she needed to move around. Since then, she sleeps somewhere different almost every night. Right now, Belinda is staying alone, sleeping in parks and alleyways. After staying outside for so long, staying indoors makes Belinda nervous. "I'll get anxious—its probably the fact that I don't have any—I'm exposed to like all the elements and all the people; like I'm outside all the time. Even if I'm inside, I feel like I'm outside, or like if I'm inside, I'm worried that there's going to be a fire…"

Sleeping alone and moving around all the time leaves Belinda more vulnerable to violence. After being robbed multiple times, Belinda decided to stop using money all together, and instead to trade sex to meet her basic needs.

Trading sex, she says, is "something I try to avoid, but it's necessary so I keep a very small circuit of clientele. The ones that I do have, you know, they—it's not like they need it every day, maybe once a week, but they come and find me. And if I don't—it's almost like they're addicted to it, because it's like, if I don't do it then they get very offended. They get personally offended. And I don't need any more of the drama. So, I'm not expanding, you know, I'm trying to make myself a little bit harder to find."

Unlike some other participants who experience sex work as rewarding and fulfilling, Belinda dislikes trading sex. However, her unaddressed mental illness and

substance use, coupled with her lack of housing, make her too unstable to seek, let alone obtain or keep, employment in the formal economy. Trading sex is a way for Belinda to meet her most basic needs for food and protection in order to survive, and to get drugs that soften the edges of untreated mental illness and trauma.

Also significant about Belinda's experience is her exclusion from the shelter system, in the past due to the many alienating and aggressively enforced rules, and presently because her untreated skin infection puts her in a category of people denied shelter services due to their contagious conditions. Living on the streets with minimal access to showers, let alone running water, is not conducive to the treatment of her skin condition, so she joins hundreds of other homeless people whose health is too precarious for admission to a shelter, but not dire enough to access emergency room care.

Despite her unaddressed mental illness and drug use, San Francisco—through its budget that prioritizes policing as a primary response to poverty—has categorized Belinda as a criminal. Belinda's increasing isolation means that she interacts more frequently with police than with service providers. Instead of having access to the things she needs, Belinda, like thousands of other homeless people staying on the streets throughout the U.S., is vulnerable to confiscation and destruction of her belongings. Instead of investing in helping her get more resources, the city invests in destroying the belongings she has; instead of funding mental health services, the city invests in policing that deepens her experience of trauma on the streets.

#### 3.6.3.2 Bill

Bill, a 40-year-old white man who combines occasional sex trades with other informal economic activities, estimates that he has been arrested over 60 times, mostly in San Francisco. "That includes three prison terms and working violations on the prison terms, going back to prison for a technical violation: Not reporting [to my probation or parole officer], or not reporting on time, or having dirty urine" (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 52). Bill had a lot of contact with police due to his homelessness, and was often stopped and searched, and then arrested on charges of drug possession.

It seems like they targeted me as far as the War on Drugs goes to be like the enemy of the state. They sought to persecute me, busting me for drugs and selling drugs and parole violations again and again and again... What I was doing to my body, using drugs, all of a sudden became something they were really concerned about, something they wanted to lock me up for. And that's what they did, again and again.

"When Bill finally completed his probation, he was unable to find housing or employment with a criminal record. Now, Bill makes his money recycling and doing odd jobs when he can. None of his informal jobs pay enough for him to have anything close to stable housing, so he waits in line at soup kitchens and sleeps outdoors or occasionally in friends' SRO hotel rooms" (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 52). Bill said:

It pretty much ruined my life altogether to tell you the truth, just getting trapped in that system. Some of the best years of your life get eaten up by that criminal justice system. I don't know how it would have gone had it gone the other way. You know, what opportunities I missed because of that... Just the people you meet and the friends that you make, versus the friends that you don't make. The sort of opportunities that would open up to you versus the sort of opportunities that you

don't get... It definitely messes with your self-esteem. (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 52)

"Bill's prolonged contact with law enforcement officials, prisons and jails has deepened his poverty. With no re-entry support, Bill continues to live and work on the street, where he is likely to come into contact with police and be pulled back into the vicious cycle of homelessness and incarceration" (Herring and Yarbrough 2015: 52).

Sometimes kicked awake by police, always with unpaid tickets and rapidly accruing court debt, Belinda and Bill continue to fend for themselves outdoors. On the streets, Belinda's mental health deteriorates rapidly. The death of family members, the demands of street life, the increasing drug use that make both of these things more bearable, take their toll. Belinda interacts frequently with police, who wake her up and move her along, who sometimes cite or arrest her. But she almost never interacts with service providers. With the exception of occasional emergency medical treatment, all of the city money that is spent on Belinda is spent on policing or camp clearance. In fact, for the past few months, the only government workers who have spoken to her are police or employees of the Department of Public Works. Bill's situation is similar: After he lost his SSI due to his most recent incarceration, his physical health deteriorated. Being on the street makes it difficult to manage his addiction and his AIDS, but the city funnels its resources into police officers who roust him and tell him to move along, and probation officers who catch him on technical violations to throw him back in jail. Bill's experience demonstrates the devastating consequences of the criminalization of drug use.

Belinda's story demonstrates how the criminalization of poverty can have damaging effects even for homeless people who are never incarcerated: Tickets for sleeping or camping outdoors add up, generating legal entanglements and debt. At the same time, the policing of homelessness in public space deepens her anxiety and fear of authorities and exacerbates her mental illness. It is not an accident that Bill and Belinda are so much more likely to encounter police than to be offered housing, mental health, and drug treatment services: San Francisco employs 24 "Homeless Outreach" police officers to respond to 911 calls related to homelessness, in addition to the regular police officers who also interact with homeless people on a daily basis (Herring & Yarbrough 2015: 30). The annual starting salary for a San Francisco police officer is \$80,574, which means that the annual cost of paying 24 police officers to criminalize homelessness full-time is approximately \$1,933,776 in officer salaries alone. According to San Francisco's Budget and Legislative Analyst:

The City incurred approximately \$20.6 million for sanctioning homeless individuals for violating quality of life laws... the Police Department accounts for approximately 90 percent of these costs, with 60,491 quality of life incidents involving the homeless from January 2015 to November 2015. Of the 60,491 incidents, 0.2 percent (125) resulted in arrests and at least 8.3 percent (4,711) in citations. (Campbell et al. 2016: 2)

San Francisco's decision to respond to homelessness by hiring more police rather than investing in health and housing services has made criminalization the dominant response to poor people's drug use and mental illness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Author's own calculations, based on the annual starting salary of \$80,574 for a SFPD officer, available at: http://www.sf-police.org/index.aspx?page=1655.

## 3.7 Carceral classification in jails and prisons

After participants encountered police in public space as a result of being transgender, being people of color, being homeless, selling sex, or using drugs, some were incarcerated. Chapter one illustrated the ways in which incarceration creates barriers to housing and employment, by cutting off income from employment or government benefits; and creating legal barriers to housing and formal employment, as well as causing psychological distress that is, for some people like Debra, debilitating. But the harms of incarceration are not limited only to its aftermath. Jails and prisons engage in a process of carceral classification, racial and gender sorting through the rules and bureaucratic processes of incarceration. The violence of carceral classification begins with police encounter and arrest and continues through incarceration as prisoners are sorted into categories based on gender, race, and HIV status. These classifications limit their well-being and sometimes also their chances of survival. Carceral classification is the systematic denial of life chances to people who are categorized as criminals and caught up in a cycle of police contact and homelessness, or incarceration and poverty. Classificatory violence is not random or individual—it operates at the level of populations. A specific type of classificatory violence is what Spade (2011) calls administrative violence, which describes the ways in which the use of binary gender categories excludes and marginalizes transgender people.

Carceral classification goes beyond profiling. The cycle of criminalization and poverty begins when poor people—disproportionately transgender women and people

of color—are pushed into criminalized work in order to survive. High rates of homelessness, participation in criminalized work in public space, and gender presentation that does not conform to dominant social norms makes transgender women frequent targets of policing.

## 3.7.1 Ana

Police have been a constant presence in Ana's life ever since she moved to San Francisco alone at the age of 13. As a transgender girl working to keep a roof over her head, Ana had many encounters with police. The first time a sweep happened, she had only been in the city for three weeks. She remembers,

Police blocked the street...with a paddy wagon on either side. All the queens that were between [the two streets where we usually worked], all that got blocked. Everybody that looked like a prostitute, they were picked up, all picked up. So, I managed to get inside a trash can. They didn't take me. I hid in the trash can for almost three hours. I didn't even breathe. I didn't care it was stink, I just stood over there. I stood over there. When I saw the sun coming out, that's when I left—I went home. Thank God they didn't take me to jail.

Sweeps like this were common in the nineties, during Ana's youth. "Police harassing everybody, I thought that was normal, so I didn't take it personally," she remembers. When asked who went to jail during sweeps, Ana says emphatically:

Everybody. Everybody. Everybody that's on that block, everybody went to jail. Everybody. Everybody. It doesn't matter if it's a lady with a little kid or whatever, everybody went to jail in the paddy wagon. Uh huh. So that's what I remember in those times.

Some of Ana's experiences with police were exceptional: She was the only one of all my participants who ever experienced police intervention as a pathway to safety or security. Her arrest as a teenager led to her reunion with her father. And five years

ago, San Francisco Police again rescued Ana after a client kidnapped her for 36 hours, trapping her in his house and raping her.

But even more frequently, Ana has experienced police, jails and prisons as sources of violence, and incarceration has deepened her vulnerability to poverty and threatened her physical and mental health. The first time she was in jail, for fifteen days, Ana almost lost her housing as a result. It all started when Ana invited another transgender woman to stay in her SRO hotel room. The woman, a friend, would have been homeless otherwise. Ana spent the weekend at a volunteer retreat with the Transgender Gender Variant and Intersex Justice Project, while her friend—unbeknownst to Ana—spent the weekend burglarizing homes in a rich neighborhood. Police told Ana that she was an accomplice because the friend had been staying in her room, even though she had no knowledge of the robberies. "When they found [my friend], she never opened her mouth to say that I was not part of it. No, she kept her mouth shut... So, they gave me three years probation... I felt that it was not right. It was not fair. But what can I say?"

When Ana was released from jail, she had lost fifteen days worth of income. She didn't have enough money to pay for her room, but she was determined not to end up homeless again. The same night she got out of jail, Ana went out on the stroll: "I went to work and I did the money the same night to pay my rent... In one night, I made \$400."

Ana's last arrest was in 2005, for prostitution. She completed her probation, and was finally happy with her life: She was re-building her relationship with her

mother, who she has started calling weekly on the phone and is planning to visit.

Ana's mom finally accepts her for who she is, and Ana forgives her for the abuse growing up: "She was only 14 when she had me," Ana explains. "A child."

Ana never liked doing sex work and was glad that her SSI and low rent afforded her the ability to get out of the sex trade. She went to protests: For sex worker rights, for Black Lives Matter, against discrimination in the city's shelters. She kept busy volunteering for TGIJP, sewing, and spending time in her large vegetable garden with Francisco as she recovered from a leg injury and filled out paperwork related to her application for gender-affirming surgery.

All of this changed when Ana was incarcerated again, after she was arrested simply because the name and female gender identity on her California ID card did not match the name and gender in a law enforcement computer database. At the time of her arrest, Ana was doing nothing illegal—officials detained her simply because they did not believe that she was a woman. This is not uncommon: Many transgender women are arrested because of gender profiling and incarcerated due to a mismatch between the name and gender listed on their state ID cards, and the information in computer databases. Beauchamp ties increased surveillance and criminalization of gender non-conforming bodies to legislation passed during the War on Terror. The 2005 passage of the Real ID Act classified identity documents as "important as weapons" for terrorists (2013: 50).

In the context of US nationalism that seeks to eradicate the foreign, the Act is most overtly directed at the immigrant and the terrorist, certainly not imagined as exclusive categories. To eliminate these figures, the

Act increases state surveillance of identity by requiring and storing a single identity for each individual. But maintaining a singular, consistent, and legally documented identity is deeply complicated for many gender nonconforming people: for example, common law name changes mean there is no court order to be filed with a Real ID card. Similarly, different state agencies define "change of sex differently" [based on surgical procedure or other criteria], making a single gender marker on a Real ID card impossible. (Beauchamp 2013: 50)

This legislation helps explain the computer-assisted surveillance of Ana's legitimate California Identification card and of her gender identity and presentation by officials who did not believe she was a woman. The figure of the potential terrorist is racialized as non-white and gendered as non-normative. This figure threatens the literal and symbolic borders of white America by troubling racial and gender boundaries.

Alongside more overt statements like the DHS Advisory, the Real ID Act and SSA no-match letters function as significant state practices and policies that link gender ambiguity to national security threats... concealment is strongly associated with the category of transgender, a perception fueled by cultural depictions of trans deception and by the medico-legal system that aims to normalize trans bodies by simultaneously tracking and documenting gender changes. (Beauchamp 2013: 51)

After Ana was finally released from prison, she felt unbearably anxious and depressed. Her viral load, undetectable before she was incarcerated, soared. She thought of suicide. Each time she considered ending her life, she looked down at her dog Francisco, and decided not to go through with it.

The experience of incarceration was traumatic for all of my formerly incarcerated transgender participants, each of whom experienced gender-based and sexual violence in jail or prison. T., a Black transgender woman, was arrested after she

was approached by an undercover police officer in San Francisco. It was daytime, and T. was not doing anything illegal—she and her husband were just walking together in a low-income neighborhood. Following her conversation with the undercover officer, T. describes how "jump outs," other undercover officers, tackled her to the ground and handcuffed her as her husband looked on in shock. T. waited for hours in a tiny, windowless room at the men's county jail. Finally, a corrections officer appeared. He handed her a bag. "Take off all your clothes and put them in this bag," he said.

"For what?" T. asked.

"We have to fingerprint you," he replied.

"You have to fingerprint me *naked*?"

Another officer laughed, and the first repeated, "I said take off your clothes."

So I took off my clothes, took off my wig, everything, and they marched me out of the little room, over to the desk and there was a whole row of cells, with nothing but dudes...Then, they literally—they marched me from one end of the hall, down to the next. Just parading me...they didn't have to make me get naked. They weren't supposed to do that. ...it's like you can know your rights and still, you know your rights but they're cops. And they don't care if you know your rights or not, you're still going to jail and whatever they say is basically what goes. It's your word against theirs.

Other transgender women described similar experiences of prison staff forcing them to remove their clothing in front of men, and experiences of verbal and physical violence. Janetta Johnson, now the Executive Director of TGIJP, spoke about her own time in prison at a public event hosted by the California Institute for Integral Studies, as Ana sat in the audience nodding vigorously:

I remember before the judge sentenced me, I told him, "I realize that you're sentencing me to six years in prison. You're also sentencing me to sexual abuse. I think there should be other alternatives to me having to be a victim of sexual abuse."... He just shook his head and said, 'I'm sorry. I'll try to get you into a safe place.' He didn't give a shit. Another safe place. Prisons aren't safe for anybody because the system is set up to pit everybody against each other so that everybody can keep everybody in line. They keep everybody separated and divided.

Janetta says, "I was housed in a men's facility. I was also housed in what they call protective custody, which basically means that you're housed in a location where they house people that are sex offenders... A cage is a cage is a cage. It doesn't matter which cage they put you in." Janetta was threatened with sexual violence each day she spent in prison, and quickly learned that reporting these threats to prison staff would land her in solitary confinement.

Incarceration also imperils physical health. Maria, a Latina transgender woman, was denied HIV medications for the duration of her incarceration, even though she told prison officials that she is HIV-positive and had her medication and prescription with her at the time of her arrest. Instead of being provided with her medication, she was placed in solitary confinement, and her HIV status was noted on a sign affixed to her cell for all to see. Denial of Maria's HIV medications in prison was not a fluke or an accident. Her experience is just one example of a pattern of deliberate denial of HIV medications in federal detention facilities (Velasquez-Potts 2015: 121). In 2007, the AIDS-related death of transgender Latina Victoria Arellano, who was incarcerated in an ICE detention center, brought attention to how "historically racialized and sexualized groups are subjected to ever increasing violence and criminalization by the state" (Velasquez-Potts 2015: 121).

Citing the U.S. Center for Disease Control's definition of "bio-terrorism," Velasquez-Potts suggests that the carceral system views HIV positive people as "walking bio-weapons" (2015: 122). In fact, HIV-positive people have been prosecuted and incarcerated under terrorism statutes throughout the U.S. (Center for HIV Law and Policy 2015). In California, prostitution is a misdemeanor. However, prostitution while HIV positive is a felony, regardless of the likelihood of transmission (Hasenbush et al. 2015: 5). This means that even HIV-positive sex workers who have a low viral load and use condoms are vulnerable to heightened penalties. HIV criminalization can also fuel police harassment: Shawna, a street-based sex worker who I met doing street outreach in the Tenderloin, told me that San Francisco Police knew her HIV status and threatened to arrest her and charge her with a felony if they saw her working out there again. In California, "95 percent of all HIV-specific criminal incidents" involved sex workers or people suspected of doing sex work (Hasenbush et al. 2015: 2). HIV positive prisoners across the U.S. are frequently placed in solitary confinement as a matter of prison policy (Velasquez-Potts 2015: 125). "Solitary confinement like that of HIV segregated prisons is a tactic of the state to manage and surveil bodies," and the solitary confinement of transgender prisoners prevents them from communicating with people other than correctional officers and isolates them from other prisoners (Velasquez-Potts 2015: 127). Isolation increases vulnerability to physical violence perpetrated by officers. A number of transgender women participants described being physically assaulted by guards, sometimes because they refused to identify or present as male.

Pauline, who was raped by correctional officers during her incarceration, says:

As far as us trans women, oh my God, the abuse we have to go through. Through the men, through society. Just wondering, again, where our next meal or our next dollar is coming from... We're being murdered. We're being raped. We're being put—if someone harms us and I harm you back...because you put your hand on me or hurt me, then I'm sent to the penitentiary for this crime. But meanwhile, you did all this to me but I defend myself and I'm the one sent to prison.

Transgender women are often punished for defending themselves against attacks, as documented by the high-profile case of CeCe McDonald, a Black transgender woman who was incarcerated after she fought back against racist and transphobic attackers (McDonald 2015: 1). But Pauline's statement about her experience also illustrates why many transgender activists regard opposing all incarceration as central to the movement for gender justice: Incarceration jeopardizes not only freedom, but also bodily integrity.

On May 12, 2016, approximately fifty members of TGIJP and SJI packed a San Francisco courtroom in support of a Black transgender participant who was incarcerated in the county jail. She was arrested after her husband found out that she wanted to annul their marriage, and he retaliated by calling the police to have her probation revoked, claiming that she threatened him. TGIJP and SJI staff responded by circulating a petition for her release with the slogan #survivedandpunished, showing that her husband was using the police to punish her for annulling the marriage.

Advocates, including many formerly incarcerated transgender women, waited for more than an hour for her hearing, watching countless defendants shuffle in and

out of the courtroom in orange sweats and handcuffs, only to have their hearings deferred until next week or next month, listening to the judge read names and repeat "failure to report for probation; bench warrant issued." When she finally appeared, she smiled radiantly at her supporters. She changed her plea from innocent to guilty when the judge offered her a sentence of 18 days in jail with credit for 18 days time served, along with 36 sessions of court-mandated anger management, a stay-away order from her husband's business, and electronic monitoring via ankle bracelet for 30 days. "Yes ma'am," she said in a respectful tone that barely concealed her jubilation when the judge asked if she understood the rights she would be waiving if she accepted a plea deal. If she had not waived her right to a jury trial or changed her plea to guilty, she could have languished in jail for months waiting for a trial. As her public defender pointed out, a longer incarceration would have threatened her hard-won subsidized housing, which she had only recently secured with the help of SJI staff after months of staying on the streets and in shelters. With the guilty plea, she was released the same day.

At the rally on the courthouse steps following the verdict, Janetta told the crowd of supporters:

I think this is a wonderful example of how we need to stand up and advocate for ourselves and stop the abuse within the transgender community, because everybody knows when you attack a transgender person, you could always plead, "I didn't know," or "that's not really who that is." There's always some drama around violence against transgender people. So we won a small victory today in supporting [her] in getting out today so we're very happy and excited that she gets to have some privacy, because you know inside they invade every bit of privacy. I can only imagine that she's very happy and excited that

nobody gets to physically touch her body when she doesn't want to be touched, or look at her body when she doesn't want to be looked at, and she gets an opportunity to eat what she wants...

For many transgender women, gender-based profiling resulted in incarceration that seriously damaged their physical and emotional health. But racial and gender profiling is not the whole story. The gender-based violence against transgender women in prison is not only the result of hatred and transphobia by prison staff.

Rather, federal law and prison policies categorically create conditions of violence against transgender prisoners. My participants were classified as criminals because of a constellation of laws and prison policies that equate transgender identity with criminality, classify HIV as a potential weapon of bioterrorism, and incarcerate people based on the resemblance of their names to those of "known criminals," a racially discriminatory practice.

This chapter has argued for an expansive definition of the criminalization of poverty that accounts for intersectional vulnerability. I have argued that the criminalization of poverty is the management not just of poor people's presence or activities in public space, but also of race and gender identity and expression. Many of the laws that in effect criminalize poverty don't initially seem to be about regulating poverty at all. But in fact, all of the laws listed in the table at the beginning of this chapter (and more) have the effect of criminalizing poverty. Similarly, the laws discussed in this chapter may not initially seem relevant to the regulation of race or gender. But because poverty in U.S. cities is racialized and gendered, and because law

enforcement is biased, the criminalization of poverty disproportionately harms people of color and transgender people.

# 3.8 The politicization of violence in research about the sex trade

Anti-prostitution scholars insist that stricter laws regulating transactional sex and increased penalties for their violation will protect women and girls from interpersonal violence, which these scholars identify as the central problem facing people involved in the sex trade. This perspective, which sex worker activists refer to as "white feminism," ignores the experiences of people of color and transgender people who often experience policing and the carceral system as sources of violence rather than protection. This perspective also fails to recognize how criminalization targets poor people and reproduces poverty. This chapter has shown how poor people's income strategies as well as their race and gender identities come to be defined as criminal, and how this classification affects their lives. This chapter has also demonstrated that researchers and policymakers should focus on the legal and extralegal production of violence by state and market forces, rather than only on interpersonal violence.

Violence against poor people in the sex trade is endemic. Violence is also at the center of debates about the law, law enforcement, and law reform. Scholars' explanations of violence in the sex trade too often speak past each other, with one side drawing from what Weitzer (2005) calls "the best available examples" of privileged high income sex workers earning lots of money through commercial sex, and the "anti-prostitution feminists" focusing narrowly on violence perpetrated by clients and

pimps. Anti-prostitution feminist scholars maintain that transactional sex is inherently violent and harmful, and that prostitution is a violent patriarchal institution that perpetuates male dominance (Dworkin 1997; MacKinnon 1989; Barry 1995; Jeffreys 1997). This pitched debate focuses on the *amount* of violence sex workers experience, with some researchers showing that sex work is often safe and enjoyable (see Weitzer 2005: 946), and others giving examples of extreme violence (Raphael & Shapiro 2004; Farley 2004). Criticism of both camps focuses on flawed theory and methods (Weitzer 2000, 2005), but does not question whether the debate over the extent and prevalence of interpersonal violence in the sex trade is worth having. I argue that we should focus on the causes of and solutions to violence, rather than debating its prevalence.

Anti-prostitution researchers, most notably Melissa Farley, use stories of client violence against "sexually exploited women" to call for increased investment in law enforcement, assuming that police can rescue and protect people involved in the sex trade. This perspective ignores violence perpetrated by police, while highlighting violence perpetrated by clients. While I find a more diverse range of experiences with clients (likely because I asked my participants about the best as well as most difficult or worst aspects of their work), I am not arguing about whether clients sometimes rape, rob, kidnap, or otherwise harm sex workers—the fact that some clients commit these acts of violence is well established in my own and others' research. What *is* disputed is the reason why this violence occurs, and what should be done to end it. Ana says: "I think [prostitution] should be legalized because we go through so much shit. We go through a lot of discrimination and—and if they only knew that we're only

doing this to survive. I don't enjoy it. I don't—I only do it for what, to eat, have a place to live and to have-- at least to have-- a little extra money in my pocket."

Violence, even violence perpetrated by individuals, cannot be divorced from its structural context. In social science and legal studies, "structural violence" refers to the ways in which systems and institutions produce oppression and marginality (Galtung 1969; Farmer 2006). This framework emphasizes the importance of contextualizing experiences of violence, including interpersonal violence perpetrated by sex work clients or police. Recognizing the existence of structural violence means asking difficult questions: What social, economic and political conditions circumscribe group-specific experiences of violence? Which institutions and systems produce the conditions for violence to take place? Legal scholars' critiques of the "perpetrator perspective"—the focus on violence or discrimination motivated by racial hatred-- in discrimination law (Freeman 1996; Spade 2011: 82) can also be applied to laws regulating transactional sex. The perpetrator perspective individualizes violence and focuses on punishment. One problem with a focus on punishment is that it does not prevent violence (Spade 2011: 82). Another problem with a focus on punishment is that it diverts attention from "the failures of our legal system and, specifically, the violence of our criminal punishment systems" (Spade 2011: 82). Instead of addressing systemic harm, the perpetrator perspective seems to justify ever-increasing investment in finding and punishing "aberrant individuals with overtly biased intentions." Meanwhile, all the daily disparities in life chances that shape our world along lines of race, class, indigeneity, disability, sexuality, national origin, sex and gender remain

untouchable and affirmed as non-discriminatory or even fair" (Spade 2011: 85). Critics of the perpetrator perspective argue that harsher penalties ignore the role of the carceral system as a source of violence (Spade and Willse 2000) and that calls for harsher laws and penalties erroneously "casts the law in particular and the state more generally as neutral arbiters of injury rather than as themselves invested with the power to injure" (Wendy Brown 1995: 27, cited in Spade 2011: 35).

Applying these scholars' critiques to scholarly and policy responses to sex work, I argue that advocates of criminalization individualize the problem of violence against sex workers by focusing narrowly on interpersonal rather than state-sanctioned violence, and by funneling resources to systems that harm many of the people working in the sex trade. As Spade argues:

In a context of mass imprisonment and rapid prison growth targeting traditionally marginalized groups, what does it mean to use criminal punishment-enhancing laws to purportedly address violence against those groups?... The neoliberal reframing of discrimination and violence that have drastically shifted and undermined strategies of resistance to economic exploitation and state violence produce this narrow law reform agenda that ignores and colludes in the harm and violence faced every day by queer and trans people struggling against racism, ableism, xenophobia, transphobia, homophobia, and poverty. (2011: 89)

This chapter has traced the process of carceral classification through police encounters, arrest and incarceration. I argue that carceral classification is in itself a form of violence: Policing, jails and prisons systematically deprive people of life chances at the population level. Poor and homeless sex workers' experiences with

police, jails and prisons often cause them to sink deeper into poverty, and increase their vulnerability to physical and mental illness.

Laws regulating homelessness, drug use and transactional sex in public space funnel resources into policing and prisons in the name of protecting the people most vulnerable to victimization. Ironically, the laws prohibiting prostitution and the enforcement of these laws fail to protect people in the sex trade. Instead, they are rendered more vulnerable to violence during the process of arrest and incarceration, and more vulnerable to poverty upon release. Similarly, anti-homeless and drug law enforcement fail to police homeless people into services. Instead, they further marginalize homeless people, especially people with mental illness and drug addictions.

This chapter has shown that policing and incarceration are deeply harmful responses to poverty. Ending the criminalization of poverty would drastically reduce the vulnerability of homeless and street-based workers to violence and illness.

California has taken some positive steps toward reducing criminalization: The recent passage of Proposition 47 resulted in a reduction of the state's prison population. San Francisco's jail is at only 57% of full capacity, and in 2015 activists defeated a proposal to construct a \$278,000,000 new jail. <sup>14</sup> In 2013, activists succeeded in changing local legislation to decriminalize the possession of condoms. Despite these positive developments, we are a long way from ending the criminalization of poverty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Cost estimate from SF DPW Hall of Justice Replacement Project (accessed June 9, 2015): www.sfdpw.org/index.aspx?page=1818

What if federal, state and local responses to poor people's presence and activities in public space prioritized housing and treatment for drug addiction and trauma? What if Lanie, Carmen, and Ana had instead encountered trauma or addiction specialists? What if Belinda, Akasha and Jay had received housing instead of citations and arrests? Imagining the answers to these questions requires that we re-imagine state and local budgets to divest from the policing of poverty and invest in other solutions. The following chapter will explore the effects of the classification of poverty as a medical or therapeutic, rather than criminal, issue.

# 3.9 Acknowledgments

Part of "Bill's Story," featured in Chapter 3, was published in "Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco," which I co-authored with Chris Herring.

Bill was part of my independent dissertation research and Chapter 3 of this dissertation contains a longer version of Bill's narrative, based on my interview with him at the Saint James Infirmary in 2013. Parts of Bill's narrative that were previously published are demarcated by quotation marks and in-text citations. The citation for the co-authored report which features a shorter version of Bill's narrative is: Herring, Chris and Dilara Yarbrough. 2015. *Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco*. Coalition on Homelessness. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract=2620426).

### CHAPTER 4

# THE MEDICALIZATION OF POVERTY: HOW SERVICE BUREAUCRACIES ADMINISTER IDENTITY AND REFORM

### 4.1 Introduction

Spring, 2013: Melissa was handcuffed to a bed at the San Francisco General Hospital. Two uniformed police officers, both men, guarded the door. When they got tired of staring at her, they started talking to each other, joking and laughing as Melissa's mind raced. She was homeless, she was addicted to heroin, and—she had very recently learned—she was pregnant.

Melissa found out she was pregnant in jail. After she told jail medical staff about some symptoms she had been having, they tested her for what she thought was just a urinary tract infection. Jail staff told her that because withdrawal from heroin could be very serious for a baby, she would have to go to the emergency room. And also, she thought privately, jail employees were "covering their ass," because it would be a liability if she had a miscarriage in jail.

... It was just a lot of overload information. I'm finding out I'm pregnant, an addict, I'm homeless. It was a lot... it was really scary for me, and its like I can't even call my family or friends. Here I am sitting in a kind of emotionally overloading situation, and they're just kind of staring at me and making silly jokes to themselves, and its like yeah I do realize that I'm in custody but I'm also a human being, you know?

The doctors at the hospital determined that Melissa would need methadone treatment, and communicated this to jail staff. The guards brought her back to the jail, where medical staff verified that she was pregnant. She was then taken back to the emergency room, where the on-call doctor greeted her return with an exasperated sigh.

"We know she's pregnant," the doctor said. "We sent you back to put her on treatment in jail."

The doctor explained that it was now too late in the day to get Melissa on treatment at the hospital—the guards would need to wait with her through the night so that she could be admitted and start methadone treatment at General Hospital the following day. Shortly after this was conveyed to jail officials, all charges against Melissa were mysteriously dropped and she was released from police custody—and from the hospital.

So [the guards] woulda had to wait with me in the hospital all night and onto the next day. And so they ended up dropping my charges and releasing me from the hospital—which was great. But now, being that I was no longer in custody, and dismissed me from the hospital because I was no longer forced having to be there to get treatment, they told me to go get treatment on my own.

Melissa was happy to be released from police custody, but felt ambivalent about her discharge from the hospital:

It was important for me to be in the hospital, because they wanted me to be on treatment. But now that I'm not in jail, its not a liability to the jail, *now* come back on my own time tomorrow morning. I didn't expect them to keep me there overnight, but maybe they could've gone more out of their way like, "This woman, she's pregnant, she needs help, she's an addict, she's probably gonna go use tonight. What can we do to help her right now, to keep her from not using tonight?" Whereas they're like "oh come back"—What if I never came back?

When Melissa was unchained from the hospital bed and told she was free to go, she was still homeless, still addicted to heroin, and still pregnant. She had not received methadone treatment.

I didn't have nowhere to go. I was happy that I didn't have any more charges and I was getting released from jail; I could at least go call my boyfriend and go get some emotional support from friends and stuff, but like they sent me basically back out to the wolves, you know what I mean? Some people may never have went back to treatment. Some people could have just stayed on, kept on partying, whereas they knew what situation I was in—They could've maybe tried more to help me, I think.

Melissa found a place to sleep that night and returned to the hospital the next day. A hospital social worker helped her apply for General Assistance and get on the waiting list for a homeless shelter bed. Melissa said, "Right now, it's going to be impossible to have stable housing in San Francisco. You have to show income, a bank account—I have nothing... I have legal issues too, so I can't really apply for SSI and all that. Because I have a possible warrant and stuff."

The shelter was full of people Melissa knew, people who use drugs or sold drugs, all together in cramped quarters. Melissa had promised herself that she would stop using heroin, and knew she wouldn't make it in this environment. She slept outdoors for a while, until she could earn enough money to afford a SRO hotel room. The SROs were still filled with drug use, but at least she could control everything about her own tiny room after she closed her door.

Its like I'm not using [heroin] currently while I'm pregnant. If I wanted to completely follow the straight and narrow, and just walk the line that they want me to walk, through, I would be completely screwed. Their GA [General Assistance], homeless GA, which I just recently have been applying for this week, and tomorrow morning I will be approved for, homeless GA is 59 dollars. That's what you get. What is that gonna do?

With no legal way to make money, Melissa switched from sex work to shoplifting because she felt it carried a lower risk for her baby. "You know, its like I

really wanna be done with it all, and just steer clear [of illegal work]. But I really can't right now. Like I can't live off 59 dollars a month and my food stamps and I just-- I'm trying, but it's kinda slow moving."

The hospital social worker helped Melissa get on a waiting list for subsidized housing for pregnant women, but this would not be available until her baby was born. In the meantime, Melissa will have to get by with very little support. She says she wants to stop doing criminalized work, but right now she doesn't see any other options.

There are benefits available to pregnant women but like "Oh we'll get you into housing by your due date." And that's November. So right now I'm still continuing to [do illegal work]. I've stopped doing a lot of things I did to make money... Basically right now I'm doing my other hustle, which is stealing from grocery stores and then I sell that. It's still illegally making money, basically, but I'm trying to pick what could be the least harmful. I'm not trying to put myself or the baby in any harm either. And so I did have to cut a lot of things out of my life, just "cause like disease, and it could be dangerous, so, and I wanna have a healthy baby, so."

Melissa's criminal record, combined with the inadequacy of cash benefits available for homeless people in San Francisco, leaves her stuck earning money illegally, for now. Within these constraints, Melissa looks out for her health and safety as well as possible, avoiding situations that could trigger her desire to use heroin, making appointments with doctors and social workers, and choosing the least risky earning strategy in her repertoire. Outstanding warrants for her arrest in other California counties create legal entanglements that keep the possibility of other benefits out of reach, as she is unable to apply for certain types of social support.

Melissa's experience of being arrested, found to be pregnant, taken to the hospital in handcuffs, and then released without treatment, shows how carceral and medical classifications can be flexible. Melissa was arrested as a criminal, taken to the hospital and detained there as a criminal-patient, and then released when she was recategorized as a liability—when her care would be too costly. Melissa experienced this bureaucratic abdication of responsibility as both freeing (literally) and dehumanizing. After being handcuffed to a hospital bed, shuttled from the hospital to the jail and back again, she was released without ever seeing the inside of a jail cell. Due in large part to her pregnancy, Melissa was ultimately redefined as a patient rather than a criminal. Even though the hospital did not initially give Melissa the treatment she needed, being defined as a patient, rather than a criminal, opened up opportunities for her to return for treatment.

Because Melissa's heroin use was redefined as a health issue, she was able to access resources that helped her get out of homelessness and stop doing criminalized work. None of this would have happened if Melissa's drug use had remained strictly a criminal matter. Instead, like many other homeless mothers caught up in the system, she would have lost her baby to the foster care system while she remained incarcerated. Melissa's story shows how the classifications of poverty management bureaucracies can shift in a matter of moments, with life-changing consequences.

When Melissa returned to the hospital the next day of her own volition, hospital social workers referred her to local agencies including a harm reduction heroin users' group for pregnant women, and a housing program for homeless mothers. In harm reduction-

based treatment (discussed in the following chapter) rather than jail, Melissa was able to reduce and eventually stop using heroin. Melissa earned enough money through petty theft to stay in a SRO hotel room for most of her pregnancy. Because she was never caught and arrested for stealing, she was able to stay on the waiting list for subsidized housing. She gave birth to a healthy baby, and they moved with her partner into a subsidized apartment near the community college where she eventually went back to school.

The previous chapter showed how being classified as a criminal produces vulnerability to poverty and violence. This chapter explores the effects of the ways in which service bureaucracies and government agencies sometimes classify poor people's identities and practices in medical terms, and how these classifications affect their lives. This chapter traces how homelessness, sex work, drug use, mental illness, and HIV are classified as treatable individual problems (medicalized), sometimes instead of, and sometimes in addition to, crimes.

In its original conceptualization by medical sociologists, *medicalization* refers to the definition of a social issue in medical terms, or to the expansion of medical categories through the proliferation of diagnosis and treatment (Conrad 2007: 4).

Defining an issue as medical is not inherently bad or good, although much of the scholarship on medicalization has focused on the "overmedicalization" of social issues (Conrad 2007: 5). As Conrad, the medical sociologist who originated the concept of "medicalization" writes:

Critics have been concerned that medicalization transforms aspects of everyday life into pathologies, narrowing the range of what is considered acceptable. Medicalization also focuses the source of the problem in the individual rather than in the social environment; it calls for individual medical interventions rather than more collective or social solutions. (2007: 7-8)

Scholars of poverty and homelessness have borrowed from medical sociologists' concept of "medicalization" to refer to a somewhat different process. The medicalization of homelessness does not involve the intervention of medical professionals, but describes how policymakers and service providers have categorized homelessness as an individual condition that can be remedied by pseudo-therapeutic intervention (Mathieu 1993, Lyon-Callo 2000, Gowan 2010, Wasserman & Clair 2010). When I use the phrase "medicalization" throughout this chapter, I refer to the classification of homeless people as in need of treatment, rather than to the expansion of the jurisdiction of medical professionals that is described by medical sociologists. In some of the cases I will discuss, medical professionals are involved, for example the medicalization of HIV and mental illness. In other cases, for example the medicalization of homelessness and sex work, medicalization does not involve the intervention of medical professionals. Instead, homelessness and sex work are categorized as individual conditions to be remedied by self-help or pseudo-therapeutic intervention. The low-resource version of medicalization is the expectation that poor people will exit poverty by regulating their own behavior.

In this chapter, I distinguish between the effects of medicalization in *interaction* between service providers and participants, and the use and effects of medicalization as a poverty management *policy*. This chapter addresses two separate

but inter-related questions: 1) How does medicalization work in interaction between poor people and service providers or organizations, and how does this affect their lives? and 2) How does medicalization function as a policy response to poverty, and what are the effects of responding to poverty through a proliferation of individual treatment interventions? I argue that sometimes, medicalization confers access to resources, for example when participants living with HIV or mental illness are defined as patients, rather than criminals. Due to federal guidelines that prioritize supportive housing for people with HIV, mental illness, or a "dual-diagnosis" (mental illness and substance use), the labeling and diagnosis of a medical condition can open access to housing and care that was previously unavailable. Sometimes, but not always, these labels come with stigma and expectations of behavioral reform. For poor individuals, being defined as a patient can open up access to resources that are unavailable to poor people who have not been diagnosed with a condition that is considered treatable. However, the process of diagnosis and labeling can also perpetuate stigma and pathologize the identities and practices of poor people of color and gender nonconforming people.

This chapter also provides empirical specification of Spade's (2011) theory of administrative violence, analyzing how binary gender classification in homeless serving and government agencies excludes people with non-normative gender presentation from access to resources. Spade argues:

Navigating benefits systems, shelter systems, essential medical services, and entanglement with the criminal justice system that is now a central aspect of low income existence in order to survive is

increasingly tied to the ability of each person to meet highly gendered and raced behavioral and expression requirements... all the essential services and coercive social control institutions (jails, homeless shelters, group homes, drug treatment facilities, housing for the mentally ill) that increasingly dominate the lives of poor people and disproportionately of poor people of color use gender segregation as part of the gendered social control they maintain. (2006: 224, 227)

Building on feminist analyses of welfare requirements, Spade calls attention to the gender segregation of most institutions and programs that respond to poverty (2006: 220). He argues, "interventions that would appear to remedy the exploitative and damaging outcomes of the economic system have often been structured to control gendered behavior and expression" (2006: 221). Although administrative violence refers more narrowly to the formal bureaucratic regulation of gender identity, it is also a useful lens through which to analyze the regulation of gender identity and expression in interactions at service organizations. Throughout this chapter, I use the concept more broadly to describe the regulation of gender not just through legal and bureaucratic classification, but also through social interaction. While Spade focuses on formal regulation through the codification of gender classifications in law and written rules, applying the concept more broadly shows how bureaucratic gatekeepers also use unwritten informal cultural categories to regulate access to resources. Expanding the concept of administrative violence to discuss cultural processes of classification in interaction allows us to see how staff members at service agencies—bureaucratic gatekeepers—use cultural categories to determine who gets access to resources.

Scholars of medicalization and administrative violence are not yet in conversation, but I argue that these processes construct one another in ways that shape

my participants' lives and opportunities. This chapter shows how the medicalization of homelessness, sex work, and drug addiction combine with bureaucratic systems that enforce rigid gender separation in order to administer gender identity and reform homeless people, drug users, and people engaged in street economies. Previous analyses of the medicalization of homelessness have not accounted for the ways in which service bureaucracies administer not just poverty but also identity. General studies of the medicalization of homelessness fail to account for the complex ways in which service bureaucracies administer race, gender and moral or behavioral reform; as well as the ways in which outcomes can diverge depending on the identities or practices that are defined as treatable issues. My study of homeless people who have worked in the sex trade allows more complete theorization of the medicalization of poverty in terms of ascribed identities and practices. By considering multiple vectors of medicalization in poor and street-based workers' lives, including homelessness, sex work, drug use, mental illness and HIV, we can understand how certain identities and practices come to be labeled as medical, and how categorization as patients in need or treatment or reform affects people's lives. This chapter shows that as a policy response to poverty, medicalization fails to address the structural causes of poverty. Individuallevel interventions, even those that provide treatment and care to particularly vulnerable sub-populations, do not change the conditions of an exploitative low-wage labor market, scarcity of affordable housing, inadequate investment in social support, and the lack of a safety net.

## 4.2 Medicalization of homelessness

The 1980s and '90s saw attacks on the American welfare state, including public housing (O'Connor 1999, Beckett & Western 2001). At the same time, deregulation, consolidation of wealth, and rising income inequality precipitated a rise in extreme poverty throughout the U.S. (Spade 2008). As government increasingly failed to meet Americans' most basic needs, nonprofit organizations transformed into a "shadow state" tasked with providing services previously considered the responsibility of the government (Gilmore 2007). The devolution of government responsibility meant that organizations became increasingly reliant on corporate charity and foundations (Spade 2008: 55-56). As the responsibility for social welfare shifted from federal government to private foundations, many service organizations focused on individual treatment rather than social change as the key to ending homelessness.

Service agencies have responded to the problem of scarcity by re-defining economic and political problem of homelessness as a personal deficiency or illness that requires treatment. Scholars refer to this redefinition as the *medicalization of homelessness*. The medicalization of homelessness is predicated on assumptions that addiction and mental illness—not economic inequality—are the primary causes of homelessness (Mathieu 1993). Within this framework, homelessness itself becomes an illness or pathology that must be cured through individual treatment (Wasserman & Clair 2014: 1177).

The push to focus on changing homeless individuals, rather than resisting the root causes of homelessness in society at large, resulted from federal policy that prioritized rehabilitation and treatment at a time when the country's affordable housing stock was dwindling. Partly, this was due to a Clinton-era federal policy called the "Continuum of Care," which emphasized movement through various stages of treatment before homeless people were considered "housing ready" (Schwartz 2010: 250).

Within ten years of the 1987 passage of the McKinney Act, thousands of new positions for service providers, "trained in the language of disease and dysfunction," opened in U.S. cities (Gowan 2010: 49). The Clinton administration's "Continuum of Care" plan required these new homeless service professionals to document and record homeless clients' "capacities in terms of mental health, substance use, life stills, parenting, budgeting and overall 'housing readiness'" (ibid). Service agencies identified substance use, disability or mental illness, and skill deficiencies as reasons that individuals were not "ready" to maintain housing or employment and proposed to resolve these problems through treatment or rehabilitation of homeless individuals (Schwartz 2010: 250). The "dominant assumption" of homeless organizations during this time "was that a large proportion of the homeless population... had such severe social, psychological and medical issues that they were not 'ready' for permanent housing" (Schwartz 250). The job of service providers was to provide structure and stability, treating homeless clients' pathology or illness and teaching life skills that would allow them to "graduate" to permanent housing (ibid). While the original intent of the Continuum of Care was to provide housing in addition to treatment services, the housing component of the continuum was deeply under-funded (Barrow & Zimmer 1999). The result was that homeless clients whose shelter time limits expired often "graduated" to the streets or to other unstable living situations. Homeless services staff responded to the lack of housing options with efforts to make their clients competitive in the low-wage job and private housing markets. These interventions often took the forms of diagnosis and treatment of perceived illness or deficiency (Gowan 2010).

Housing First, which supplanted Housing Readiness as the federal approach to homelessness, was an important articulation of the Obama administration's belief in housing as a human right. However, this policy has not been followed up with adequate resources to result in a transformation of the dominant approach to homeless service provision. This is painfully evident in San Francisco, a rapidly gentrifying city in the grip of a severe housing crisis.

Federal funding requirements and impossibly high housing costs in U.S. cities continue to push many service organizations, especially those serving the homeless, to identify and treat pathology and ignore the causes of social inequality. Organizations become more concerned with maintaining funding to keep their doors open than with solving social problems. Even following the implementation of Housing First, the structural conditions that produced medicalization as a dominant response to homelessness persist. In San Francisco, Gowan argues:

Through gentrification and redevelopment, the reduction of public housing, and quality of life policing, neoconservative politicians have reversed the three-decade abandonment of the central cities to "tax-and-

spend" democrats, forging a new pro-urban conservatism that reappreciates the city and claims it back from the deviant and unruly. Within this context, the push toward authoritarian medicalization of the homeless serves a dual strategy: First, the focus on overcoming the self-destructive delusions and denial of the sick justifies the steady progress of quality-of-life policing and vehicle confiscation against those living outside... cleansing valuable urban space for more profitable uses. Second... it creates a chasm between homelessness and mundane poverty. High-profile initiatives like Housing First and Homeless Connect demonstrate compassionate action in aid of the most needy without disrupting continued divestments in more broad-based programs and goods. (2010: 272)

Scholars agree that the homeless service industry's emphasis on poverty as an indicator of illness that requires treatment is the primary driver of an increasingly individualistic and disempowering understanding of homelessness. Medicalization shifts focus away from structurally produced inequalities and identifies individuals as a primary target of intervention. The medicalization of homelessness—as a government policy and as an approach to service provision—focuses on remedying individual deficiency or illness while ignoring social inequality (Mathieu 1993; Lyon-Callo 2000, 2004; Gowan 2010).

Not only does medicalization provide the language to justify divestment in affordable housing and privatization of public goods and services at the municipal level, it also provides language to silence dissent among members of the most adversely affected groups. According to scholars of medicalization, one way that homeless service providers suppress dissent among homeless clients is by treating clients' criticism of institutions or systems as pathological. The literature gives a number of examples of providers who view homeless resistance to social inequality as symptomatic of mental illness (see for example Lyon-Callo 2000; Gowan 2010;

Wasserman & Clair 2010). In the medical model, "The homeless person is diagnosed as misplacing attention on 'political' matters and not on real individual issues. Often, these 'political' concerns are understood as symptoms of mental illness and paranoia" (Lyon-Callo, 2000: 339). This focus on diagnosing and treating individual reasons for homelessness redefines the political problem of racialized poverty as a treatable individual disorder:

Through their experiences in shelters, many homeless people [become] more likely to engage in self-blame and self-governing than in collective work against structural violence... People who come to believe that the solution to homelessness lies in treating or reforming the self are unlikely to engage in collective action. Within that discursive framework, collective action makes little sense because it does not involve working on individual issues. (Lyon-Callo 2000: 332, 338)

Scholarship about the medicalization of homelessness would be enriched by attention to the ways in which poverty management practices create and reinforce gender inequalities. Feminist theorists' analyses of sexist and heterosexist welfare requirements provide a useful starting point for analysis of the ways in which poverty relief requires conformity with traditional gender roles (Nadasen 2009; Mink 1998; Sparks 2003). Black feminist theorists have argued that coercive welfare policies are built around white supremacist assumptions about morality, womanhood, and motherhood (Collins 2009).

In a context of resource scarcity like in San Francisco and many other U.S. cities, hundreds of homeless people are warehoused in a single shelter. In these cases, front line service staff work to manage large populations by enforcing strict rules.

Many of these rules are biased against people whose gender identities and expressions do not fit into binary categories. In a national survey of transgender people, 29% of respondents who tried to access homeless shelters "were turned away all together, and 42% were forced to stay in facilities designated for the wrong gender" (Grant et al. 2011: 106). Of those who stayed in shelters, 55% were harassed and 25% were physically assaulted (ibid). The discussion that follows traces the connections between medicalization and administrative violence through the experiences of gender nonconforming participants.

A number of my participants remember avoiding or being removed from homeless shelters and transitional services due to endemic gender-based violence. Ana says:

When I was homeless, it was—it was so hard to spend the night in a shelter. One, you have to look like a real girl. If you don't look like a girl, then you have a problem with the females over there. So, it was hard. Because I couldn't go to the male one... I remember I went one time to the female, and transgender at that time was not very well accepted. So, there was a woman trying to get into it with me and so, I—I'm not—I'm not looking for problems, I'm just trying to—to survive, you know. I didn't have no trouble in the streets, so I stayed in the street.

Jay, who now identifies as a cisgender man, but lived and worked as a transgender woman in the late nineties, remembers:

...I had nowhere to go. And I refused to stay in a shelter, I was really stubborn about the shelter system, because at the time I identified as a woman, and I was transitioning, and I was on hormones. And so for me it was really hard at the time back in '98 to do that and be fresh to San Francisco, not knowing anyone, not knowing - I knew the dangers that were there, identifying as male to female and transgender. And so for me I had a really hard time, starting off with that, because the fact you're being - not just I was being discriminated because of being

homeless, but also my sexual orientation and how I identified at the time in my gender... as a trans woman I did not feel safe in the shelters at all, no.

More recently, San Francisco's homeless shelters started housing people according to their current gender, rather than the gender assigned at birth. This policy change has allowed more transgender women to access the shelter system. T., a Black transgender woman in her fifties, says:

Shelters in Los Angeles were totally different from here [in San Francisco]. Shelters in Los Angeles, it was like boys and girls side. Had to be on the boy's side. Shelters here, literally this was my very first experience for almost everything. I mean, we got to use the women's restrooms without a problem, the staff was just phenomenal...the staff there, to us, literally was fantastic. I never had an issue. I never had an issue with any of the women. I kind of think that was also because of the way I carry myself. And, for me, I made some decisions when I went in there. I was like, okay, I'm here—because I thought they was going to station me with the men, but once I found out that they were stationing me with cisgendered women, I made some decisions. I have not had my bottom surgery yet. So, I'm like, okay well I'm not going to offend any of these women by going in there and taking a shower at the same time they're in there taking a shower. So, I would either—I would take my showers early in the morning, right before breakfast, or late at night.

I've heard about different issues that some of the other girls have, you know, but for me, I look at it like this. I—I understand that everybody—a lot of people are in different stage of transition. For me, it was about accepting this person, wherever they're at. I really get that. However, I can also be honest and say that, if I had a guy come in and look like my husband and he tells me, you look like that, you sound like a dude, all that, you walk like a dude and you tell me, well I'm really a trans woman and I want to be stationed with the women—I'm not going to lie, it would tinge me a little to have to take a shower with you. And, the reason I say that is because being here, I literally ended up meeting some people that are really new in their transition. Some of them still got beards, mustaches all of that, but they identify as being trans women. It's like, for me, if that's who you say you are, then I need to believe you and I need to treat you accordingly.

T.'s narrative indicates that San Francisco has made progress in providing shelter to transgender people, but that they still experience significant hardship, including the threat of interpersonal conflict or violence if they fail to conform to gender norms. When I reflected that staying up late or getting up early to shower when no one else was around sounded like a lot of extra work, T. said that it was, but:

I didn't expect them to change their rules or anything just because I was there. And, I wasn't the only trans woman there, but because—like I said, because I was there and I had heard and seen some of the issues that other trans women were having, I'm like, you know what, I'm going to make this easy for me. I'm going to stay out of staff's face, to the best of my ability, you know, and do what I need to do to get up on out of here. That was really me and his determination. Because P. [my husband] know... I don't like shelters, I don't. But, it was like, I'm going to be in here before I lay down on the street. That was one of the things that, you know, I'm not going to do that. So, if I want a roof over my head, be in here, stay out of the staff's face...

Sometimes, though, it is impossible to avoid conflict. Sally, a 50-year-old white transgender woman, confronted administrative violence in a number of bureaucratic contexts, including the General Assistance office and homeless shelters. I observed that about half of the time, General Assistance and homeless service workers used male pronouns to refer to Sally, even through her California ID and legal name indicate that she is a woman. Gendered expectations about how she should act and the biases of shelter staff made it difficult for her to maintain access to shelter services, even though transgender women are now housed with cisgender women in shelters throughout San Francisco. Sally was denied shelter services as a result of interpersonal conflicts or rule infractions multiple times. I attended six hearings in which she

appealed these denials, and observed that many of the "Denials Of Service" (DOS) were related to her gender identity and expression.

The following excerpts from my field notes detail the events surrounding Sally's hearing after a Denial Of Service at New Neighbor shelter:

New Neighbor Shelter is a square, nondescript building. People mill in front. As we near the entrance, Sally veers away into the street. "Stay *off* the sidewalk," she tells me sharply. "It's not safe." Puzzled, I oblige, careful to also avoid oncoming traffic.

A few meters away from New Neighbor's front entrance, a man leans against the wall muttering, angry but unintelligible, until he begins to yell: "Faggot!" He screams the same word, over and over. We walk quickly, not looking anywhere but straight ahead, until we are inside.

At the door, Sally tells the security guard we're here for her shelter hearing. The guard doesn't search my backpack, but looks carefully through Sally's purse.

Janetta, from TGIJP, and Lucy, Sally's case manager from Saint James, are sitting in plastic chairs pushed up against the wall across from the island where front desk staff sit to check people in. I introduce Sally to Janetta.

When Jon, the shelter-client advocate arrives, one of the shelter staff ushers him into the next room and closes the door. After they confer, she opens the door again with a smile and invites us back. We sit down on one side of the table, all facing the door, which is again closed so that Jon, Janetta, Lucy and I can we can talk with Sally privately before the hearing. Jon passes around the written warnings so we can all see them.

Sally tells us what happened: For more than three months, she had been using her lamp for hair removal in the "quiet room," a communal space within the shelter. When she uses tweezers or does electrolysis in the bathroom, sometimes people "bump into" her on purpose. Suddenly, shelter staff are telling her that she is not allowed to use her lamp in the quiet room. She has violated this rule too many times, and the staff want to evict her from the shelter.

Jon sighs and spreads the rule violations out on the table. "I don't see why they don't just let you use your lamp in the quiet room," he says.

The reason becomes clear when New Neighbor staff come into the room.

The residential counselor says: "Whatever she doin' with her face, maybe other clients don't want to see."

The shelter manager says that it is impossible to accommodate everyone, explains that others, including someone with an electric wheelchair and a respirator, need to use the electrical outlets.

Lucy asks: Can the shelter honor the medical excuse that she has?

Janetta adds: What would it be like for the shelter to make a reasonable accommodation for transgender people?

The manager keeps bringing the conversation back to what he calls "real" medical needs like the wheelchair and the respirator.

Janetta says, "Based on the fact that you have no idea what it's like to be trans, you're determining what's medically necessary and what's not."

The manager keeps saying that if he lets Sally use the quiet room for hair removal, then everyone will want to use it for everything. Jon and points out that Sally has a doctor's note, which is the crucial difference.

The manager keeps bringing the conversation back to equal treatment of all residents: "At the end of the day I'm accountable to 334 residents"

As we walk down the hill after Sally's hearing, I remember that I need to give Sally a copy of her consent form, so I stop in the middle of the sidewalk. "That's not safe," Sally exclaims as I open my bag to dig the paper out and hand it to her. She and Janetta move so their backs are to a wall and they can see everything around them. "It's a trans thing," Janetta tells Sally, who is staring at me incredulously. I start

walking again, backpack still open, but Sally waits, vigilant, until I have closed my bag and am looking up again. "Are you done?"

Sally leaves for an appointment, and Janetta and I make our way to City Hall for a public hearing about conditions in San Francisco's shelters. During the time allotted for public comment, Janetta speaks about the conditions for trans women in shelters. The director of New Neighbor shelters is sitting in the row behind us, and asks if Janetta would like to meet with her sometime. Janetta's testimony, which focuses on a pattern of gender-based discrimination and violence in the shelter system, results in Sally's being allowed to continue using her lamp after the director personally intervenes with the staff at New Neighbor.

Sally is kicked out again just a few weeks later, after New Neighbor's security guard confiscates her pepper spray, which she carries with her at all times for safety. When Sally protests that she is not safe outside and she needs her pepper spray whenever she leaves the building, staff call the police, and two officers drag Sally out of the building. She sleeps that night curled up on the steps of a church, and the next night in an acquaintance's van.

The surveillance and regulation of gender expression and gender-appropriate behavior in homeless service agencies happens through informal interactions as well as through formal rules. From binary gender categories on General Assistance forms, to staff assumptions about how women should look and act, medicalization and administrative violence combine to create rules and practices that exclude transgender participants from access to services. When shelter staff are unable to change shelter

clients' behavior to conform to gendered expectations in interaction and formal rules that are set up for cisgender people, they sometimes call the police.

## 4.3 Medicalization of sex work

In the case of organizations that serve sex workers specifically, medicalization often takes the form of therapeutic and skill-building interventions that aim to move sex workers into the formal, licit economy (Oselin & Weitzer 2013). While therapy is essential for many survivors of violence, many purportedly therapeutic interventions perpetuate stigma and blame, and some service interventions reinforce criminalization. In this section, I analyze how sex work and non-normative gender expression are classified as problems in need of treatment at Serenity Village, <sup>15</sup> a residential treatment program at a confidential location in San Francisco for women "escaping prostitution." The following discussion demonstrates how non-normative sexual and gender expression are medicalized, and how failure to reform behaviors and practices deemed problematic by service providers can push people to the edge of patienthood, where they are in danger of being defined as criminals instead.

## 4.3.1 Serenity Village: Medicalization through behavioral reform

Serenity Village is a refurbished multi-level home on a quiet tree-lined street, with a large sunny kitchen and bright airy rooms throughout. There is a bowl of brilliantly colored fruit on the kitchen counter, and the walls are painted in soothing pastel tones. "It's so beautiful here," I say to Sally, who has been staying here for three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Serenity Village is a pseudonym.

months after a year and a half of bouncing between different homeless shelters. "Like a beautiful prison," she replies wryly. Sally chafes at the many rules, often arguing with staff over her computer and phone privileges (repeatedly revoked) her desire to drink wine, and the challenges of communal living.

Serenity Village does not require law enforcement referral. Other homeless service providers can refer clients to the program, and there is a long waiting list for the seven rooms, each of which houses two women. The organization takes an addiction treatment approach to prostitution, framing sex trade involvement in the language of addiction and recovery. Sex trade involvement is assumed to be inherently harmful. Indeed, some of the women who live in Serenity Village have experienced harm in the sex trade, and the confidential location and strict limitations on visitors help to protect them from violent former clients or pimps. In contrast, Sally hasn't done sex work of any kind for years. She is just here because she is homeless, and Serenity Village is "transitional housing," which would satisfy her doctor's requirement that she have stable housing where she can recover before she is allowed to schedule gender-affirming surgery through San Francisco's free surgery program.

Like other programs that seek to control clients' behaviors until clients can successfully monitor, govern and transform themselves, Serenity Village responds forcefully to breaches of the organization's standards of comportment. Self-control and self-governance through behavior change are important goals of the program. A sign on the door of the case manager's office sums it up: "You're not working unless you're working on yourself." Clients must attend mandatory therapeutic groups and

community meetings, and must do their assigned household chores. They must submit to weekly urinalysis drug tests throughout their stay, with the knowledge that a positive test will result in the loss of their housing. The organization's manual explains the "steps" of the program. For the first month of residence, clients are not allowed to use any phone or computer, and are not allowed to leave the building. "They don't explain why," Sally tells me when I ask. "They just say, 'that's how it is." For Sally, the Internet is a crucial way to connect with the outside world, especially since she struggles to make friends with the people around her. When she is told that Serenity Village staff will lock her computer away for a few weeks, she is angry and distressed. Finally, after much internal debate, the case manager tells Sally that she can store her computer in her storage space at a public storage facility she that rents off site. That way, at least she can use her computer when she leaves the house. Following the month-long probationary period, Serenity Village residents are eligible to move to Phase One. As the handbook says, "During Phase One your focus will be on attending your day treatment program, being an active member of the community, identifying your issues and modifying your behavior." In order to move to the next phase after two-three months, residents must attend three "self-help meetings" each week and abstain from prostitution. If, at any time, they are caught with "unauthorized prescriptions or paraphernalia," "appearing intoxicated and refusing a drug test" (residents can be tested at any time at staff discretion and "will be asked to leave" if they refuse), or "engaging in prostitution," they will be removed from the program and lose their housing. These rules outlined in the manual that is provided to every resident demonstrate the emphasis on behavioral reform and treatment, on self-regulation and moral reform, with an emphasis on abstinence, especially from prostitution.

After she "graduates" from "the demonstration phase" by successfully staying inside the house without access to a phone or computer, Sally is allowed to venture out, but only if she is accompanied by another resident. This arrangement becomes a point of tension between Sally and her roommate, as they want to leave at different times, and each feels stifled by the other's ill-timed desire to go out or stay in. Sally gets into heated arguments with her roommate, staff and other residents over mundane rule infractions: Why are staff and clients allowed to smoke cancer-causing cigarettes in the courtyard near her window, but she can't drink red wine, which is healthy? Why (after their computer privileges are finally instated) does her roommate want to use the computer to watch movies at night while Sally is trying to sleep? These disagreements escalate in close quarters, exacerbated by Sally's bellicose style.

After Sally and another resident bump into one another on the stairs, Sally is accused of intentionally ramming her shoulder into the other resident. When staff confront Sally, they think she seems belligerent. They issue a Denial Of Services (DOS). Sally appeals her eviction through the city's shelter arbitration process, represented by her shelter client advocate from the Eviction Defense Collaborative. Even though Serenity Village staff want Sally out, she is allowed back in, on the condition that she completes a five week anger management program run by the sheriff's department. Sally finishes the program, but staff don't see a change in her

behavior: She continues to argue about the program's many rules and to struggle with communal living.

"That's ridiculous. I was just talking the way I normally talk," Sally huffs in the Serenity Village case manager's office following yet another argument with staff and residents. She is curled into a chair in the corner, legs tucked beneath her, glaring. We discuss the difference between how people might perceive her volume and tone of voice, and how she might adjust the way she communicates in order to get along better with the other clients and staff. I offer that even if she hasn't done anything wrong, she could strategically change how she acts in order to get what she wants. Sally concedes half-heartedly that maybe she could try, and the Serenity Village case manager seems pleased.

Serenity Village is a program for women only. All of the staff I met were cisgender women, and the residents included transgender as well as cisgender women. The program emphasizes safety. Many residents have experienced physical and emotional violence, and a few have only recently gotten away from people who harmed them. For this reason, Serenity Village is in a confidential location, with a heavy metal gate and a buzzer with an intercom at the door, along with cameras that allow staff to monitor the sidewalk in front of the door. The staff's preoccupation with Sally's anger and the way she expresses herself is due in large part to the ways in which expressions of anger, including tone and volume of speech, might remind other residents of past trauma. However, it is also likely that gendered expectations about acceptable affect and presentation shape Serenity Village staff and client interactions

with Sally: Women should not take up too much space. They should speak softly. They should be patient. They should be nurturing and caring; should prioritize others' feelings and needs. Sally expresses none of these qualities. Her tone is frequently abrasive, and she has a sarcastic sense of humor. She has a rigid sense of right and wrong and has trouble seeing things from anyone else's point of view. She is quick to anger, and she never tries to make herself smaller than she is: She stands tall and squares her shoulders when she walks. When she feels slighted, she retaliates, sometimes resorting to name-calling.

Sally is kicked out of Serenity Village for good after she initiates an argument over use of the bathroom. Another resident is using the only bathroom with a shower, but, Sally insists, is not actually taking a shower. Why can't she go in the other bathroom, so Sally can take a shower? Sally knocks on the door repeatedly and gets no response, so she goes to her room and waits. Then she returns and knocks on the door for minutes on end with her hairbrush, yelling for the person inside to hurry up. According to the staff incident report:

Client Sally is on the second floor banging and pounding aggressively on the bathroom door yelling at the top of her voice for [client] to get out of the bathroom. I approached the client and asked Sally in a very respectful manner to please refrain from banging on the door in that way and to have patience for the person utilizing the shower who has only been in there for five minutes. Sally got very hostile and aggressive yelling and taking a threatening posture and gesturing wildly, flapping and waving her hands and pointing and flinging her bath brush toward my face in a manner where I felt threatened and unsafe. I asked Sally if she could lower her voice, and Sally continued to take a very threatening stance. I tried to de-escalate the situation but she refused to. I disengaged from the conversation for safety, and then

Sally exited to her room and slammed the door. I documented and called my manager and the on-call staff for support.

The manger and director, off site at the time, return to Serenity Village. They call Sally into their office and tell her that she is being issued an immediate Denial of Services (DOS). Sally yells at the staff member who told her to wait for the restroom, "You're a liar and a criminal!"

The director tells Sally to leave immediately. According to the director's written incident report,

She refused to be issued a DOS and said that she was going to remain in the house until arbitration. We told her that it was an immediate DOS and that she would have to leave. She refused and yelled, "then we're going to arbitration!" I informed her that we have to call the police if she refused to leave and she said, "go ahead, call the police."

We called the police around 12:10 and they showed up about 5 minutes later. We informed them of the situation and that we are asking Sally to leave. Officer [name] tried to talk to her and get her to leave. The police asked if we had any keys to open Sally's room, and we were unable to locate the keys. After 30 minutes, I asked [staff member] to take the door off the hinges. When the door came off, Sally pushed the door against the four officers on the other side and kept aggressively pushing it into them. The officers had called for back up. About 10 police cars showed up, and they eventually got Sally to leave and made her put her hands behind her back.

Officer [name] asked if I wanted to make a citizen's arrest. I responded affirmatively, since Sally was hostile and had been aggressively hostile towards the police. I was concerned about the safety of the staff and residents.

Even in her description of Sally's forcible removal from her room by twelve police officers, Serenity Village's director paints Sally as the sole aggressor. The statement that an unarmed person could be "aggressively hostile" toward armed police officers who were forcing their way into her bedroom demonstrates the depth of staff's

conviction that a client's failure to effectively "manage" her anger warrants police intervention.

In the three years I have known her, Sally has never physically harmed anyone. Yet all of the Serenity Village staff incident reports use the words "threatening," "aggressive," and "hostile," to describe Sally, and focus on fears about the safety of staff or other residents. These descriptions accurately convey staff's feelings about Sally. But these feelings are also shaped by gendered expectations about appropriate displays of emotion and ways of interacting. Would a petite cisgender woman's incessant knocking on a bathroom door, or demands that the bathroom's occupant hurry up have escalated to the level of police intervention? Would her demands be construed as threatening, or just perceived as annoying, inconsiderate and disrespectful? Would twelve officers be summoned to break down her door and lead her out of the building in handcuffs?

White womanhood as a social and historical construct marshals racialized and gendered tropes of innocence and virtue to marginalize racial and gender Others (Collins 2001). Women whose bodies do not evoke the myth of white womanhood, including women of color and transgender women of all races, are more often treated as threats (ibid). For people in homeless shelters and transitional living programs, being perceived as threatening, and being unable to alter this perception, can mean losing the roof over their heads.

Serenity Village's Operations Manager's statement says:

The police were unable to get her to answer them; however, as they were on the fire escape they let us know that she was packing her stuff. They gave us the option of them leaving or us removing the hinges to allow them entrance, at that point I removed the hinges from the door to allow the police access and escort her out of the building. The police talked to Sally through the door letting her know that they were not hear to harm her, they only wanted to escort her from the building.

At Sally's arbitration, Serenity Village's director says that seeing police in the building and seeing ten police cars outside was traumatic for many of the other residents who had negative experiences with police in the past. Nonetheless, the director blames Sally.

Sally has failed to behave in an acceptable way; to monitor herself; to control her anger; to "work on yourself" in the way that you are supposed to in a place like Serenity Village. Why, when police told Serenity Village staff that they saw Sally packing her belongings in her room and offered that they could leave, did Serenity Village staff ask police to break down the door and lead Sally out? No one asked this question at Sally's arbitration because the answer was clear: Staff felt threatened.

At Sally's hearing, Sally's shelter-client advocate inquires about Serenity Village's conflict de-escalation training for staff. He suggests that the situation could have been resolved without evicting Sally or calling the police. But Serenity Village's perspective prevails.

"Why didn't you let the police in?" The arbitrator, a volunteer lawyer, asks Sally in a condescending and accusatory tone. Tears well in Sally's eyes as she tries to explain what happened; she brushes them angrily away when they reach her cheeks. I imagine how terrifying it would be to remain alone in a bedroom while armed police officers broke the door down. The sob in Sally's throat chokes the words, but she says them with as much defiance as she can muster: "If they were going to kick me out, I wanted it to be a big deal."

"Do you understand how your behavior was perceived as threatening?" the arbitrator asks her.

Sally's failure to submit to all of the house rules and to engage in successful behavioral reform meant that she lost her housing. "You hated it there," I reflected as we walked to the bus stop after her hearing. Sally agreed, but hastened to add that this wasn't the point. While Sally is happier staying at the city's small LGBT emergency overnight shelter, which finally opened in 2015 as a result of activists' demands, she won't qualify for gender-affirming surgery until she can document that she has a more permanent place to stay during her recovery. Since she was kicked out of Serenity Village, Sally no longer has an acceptable address to list on her application for surgery. At Serenity Village, the medicalization of sex work was a means for the allocation of scarce resources, but it came with stigma and with the implication that failure to reform behavior that the organization and its representatives deemed problematic would be met with criminal penalties. Women who had been involved the sex trade could access a beautiful sunlit home, healthy meals, and staff attention at Serenity Village, but only if they were willing and able to change who they were and how they acted. Those unwilling or unable to submit to anger management, drug tests, confiscation of telephones and computers, or to abstain from selling sex or using drugs; those who broke the rules, who didn't work on themselves, could no longer access the resources that Serenity Village provided.

## 4.4 Medicalization of HIV and mental illness

In response to federal guidelines prioritizing housing for special subpopulations, including "chronically homeless" people, many U.S. cities are focusing more of their resources for housing single homeless adults on people with "severe" or life-threatening illnesses. A diagnosis can sometimes help homeless people gain access to housing and care, but this by no means guaranteed. With extremely limited resources, the Department of Public health's homeless outreach workers are instructed to triage homeless people into services and housing based on the severity of their need. As scholars of "social triage" have pointed out, triage is not only a prioritization of medical need or urgency—it is also a bureaucratic response to scarcity (Darling, forthcoming).

Barry Zevin, the medical director of the Department of Public Health's Homeless Outreach Team, says that the HOT team's primary goal is to prevent death. "We have taken the sickest people and provided them with supportive housing," Zevin told the *San Francisco Examiner*. "This is quite calculated. We sit and have these discussions when we decide who is going to get the housing slot." Priority goes to homeless people on the street who have been diagnosed with AIDS, "severe" mental illness, life-threatening heart disease or cirrhosis of the liver. "They are at very high risk of dying in the next year or two and we've got to get them indoors," Zevin says (Sabatini 2016).

Despite the prioritization of people with severe mental illness and AIDS, homeless people die on the streets of San Francisco every year. Between 2014 and 2015, the Medical Examiner's Office reported 41 homeless deaths on the city's streets (Sabatini 2016). This is because, irrespective of the public health establishment's

attempts to triage homeless people living outdoors, the city simply does not have enough housing for homeless people-- even those with life-threatening illnesses.

In a June 6, 2014 memo to San Francisco's homeless service agencies, entitled "Suspension of new referrals to Direct Access to Housing Program," the program's director explained:

The Department of Public Health- Housing and Urban Health section reopened the Direct Access to Housing (DAH) pool for new referrals in January 2014. Since that time, DPH placement has received and forwarded over 700 new referrals to our DAH Access and Referral Team (DART) for the DAH supportive housing program. Over the same period, the DAH portfolio of 1,700 units averaged approximately 25 vacancies per month. Clearly, the demand for supportive housing continues to greatly outstrip the available supply. In order to meet our goal of assessing and matching the needs of each individual with an appropriate building option, we have to suspend new referrals to the DAH program effective immediately and until further notice. <sup>16</sup>

In a context where need far outstrips availability of resources, the gatekeepers must prioritize housing and treatment for people who fit their criteria for urgent need.

A medical diagnosis makes access to these resources more likely.

## 4.4.1 Jay

Jay remembers when he was first diagnosed with HIV, in 2008. He had been feeling sick, like he had the flu. When he collapsed, his partner carried him down the stairs and took him to the hospital in a cab.

I had full-blown AIDS. I had two weeks to live... They told me I was going to die... they said there was no way I'd make it. I had—my lover at the time that passed away last year... my partner, bless his heart. And my best friend of fifteen years at the time by my side, and I said,

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  Available at: https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/huh/DAH-CommunityAnnouncement.pdf Accessed 4/10/16

'you know what, I'm going to make it through this.' At the time, I had green bowel coming out, I was wearing diapers, I had no way to take care of myself at the time, and I was very sick... And I'm a survivor. And I don't give up, no matter what with my health. I do adhere to my medication; I take it every day. I've been undetectable for the last six months. You know and I'm very, very grateful for the new medications that have come out recently.

The bureaucratic and legal categorization of Jay's AIDS as a medical problem rather than a criminal one means that he gained a sense of control over his life and health. He credits his survival not only to his medication and access to care, but also his own tenacity, his refusal to "give up," and his decision to take his medication every day, regardless of his housing situation, his use of illicit drugs, or other things happening in his life. This sense of control and agency is possible only because Jay has access to medical treatment. When he got a medical diagnosis, this opened the door to eligibility for housing through the federally funded Housing Opportunities for People With AIDS.

Jay's partner and best friend took care of him, and his medical case manager helped him deal with the mountains of paperwork he needed to complete in order to gain access to health insurance and eventually a housing subsidy. The protracted legal and bureaucratic process of documenting his HIV, certifying it as a disabling condition, and accessing resources cycled Jay through various organizations throughout the city.

A social worker came in... and they were sitting there with my partner at the time, which he already did all of this... And the process was really quick, I think really fast, I mean some of it's a little fuzzy, because of my health at the time, but within less than a couple weeks, I went in and had a doctor's appointment. I got hooked up with medical care, the insurance part was fun [sarcastically]. I wasn't on disability at

the time, when I was diagnosed, so I was still—I was on SSIP, GA, that's the Social Security Income Pending. I had an advocator [a hospital employee charged with helping newly diagnosed patients navigate the HIV care bureaucracy] at the time. So I was having a really hard time. I wasn't housed and I was living with my boyfriend at the time... Once the whole health thing came through, I still waited a year and a half to get SSI and SSDI, like I went through hell to get it...I had to see a nurse, a doctor. I had to have blood work done, all kinds of shit. I was like wow, I don't know if I'm going to be able to make it much longer. And that part was hard...I went through any agency I could find...

Jay got connected with the Saint James Infirmary, Shanti, the San Francisco AIDS Foundation, Magnet, Project Open Hand, Tom Waddell clinic—any agency he could find that offered HIV-specific services.

I was like wow, there're services for people who are positive, and I started using these services. And then having the support of my partner at the time... I was able to do it... it took months for my health to improve. My T cells, when I went in the hospital were like 79, I was 76 pounds, my stomach was like a balloon and I had green bowel coming out. So for me to be here today, I feel grateful, very grateful.

Jay had a CD4 count of 100 and a viral load of 130,000 when he got out of the hospital. In order to be eligible for benefits, he had to document his disability while taking sixteen different HIV medications and with an income of only \$430 per month. He got medical case management through two different hospitals. It took eight years from the time of his diagnosis for Jay to get subsidized housing through the AIDS Emergency Fund. Although it was a long and arduous process, Jay says that since he was diagnosed, it has been easier for him to get housing. He now receives \$993 a month from SSI. The last SRO he stayed in cost \$275 per week, he says, making it impossible to afford on SSI alone. His payment would be reduced if he disclosed that

he was staying in a homeless shelter, so he has to use someone else's address "to keep the money coming."

Jay still does sex work now that his HIV is under control. But he feels like he has to be more careful now. "I feel that I always let people know my status and my health, because I think that's really important. You know, I am undetectable for HIV right now, but at the same time, even when my health is 100 percent, I still have to protect other people, because its only fair to me... The reason I had stopped working in the sex industry is because I do have health issues, and I do believe that I need to be very careful with that, because I don't want to get someone else infected, you know."

In the last chapter, we saw that being arrested for prostitution while HIV positive enhances criminal charges from a misdemeanor to a felony, and that when poor people living with HIV are categorized as criminals, this endangers their health and their lives and pushes them deeper into poverty. Unlike Maria, whose HIV status was used by guards to harass her and who was denied medication in prison, and Shawna, a street-based sex worker, who was threatened by police officers who knew her HIV status, Jay's HIV has been treated exclusively as a medical issue.

Where Jay gets his healthcare now,

The clinic is amazing, all the staff are professional... And it's quiet, the waiting room is quiet. There aren't screaming people... it's calm... and they're efficient. My medical care is exactly what I want in a medical care system. I feel like my health in the last six months has done a 180 and improved like 50 percent... I have no viral load. I mean, I've never had that in my life with my health.

Because his HIV has been defined as a medical rather than as a criminal problem, Jay is surrounded by service providers who monitor and track his well-being, making him feel valued and cared for. The HIV service providers Jay has encountered, including housing programs for people with HIV, use a harm reduction approach to HIV prevention and care, discussed in depth in the following chapter. Briefly, this means that Jay's housing is not contingent on abstinence from drugs, and that his providers have recognized the structural barriers to Jay's health (lack of stable housing, income and insurance) and worked to help circumvent them.

The definition of a condition in medical terms can take two general directions:

The first is an exclusive focus on behavioral health, which often results in a stigmatizing redefinition of social problems in terms of individual shortcomings. The second, which Jay has experienced, focuses not just on individual health promotion practices but also on structural barriers to health, and the need for social change. A harm reduction approach means that Jay's HIV, rather than his sexuality or his identity, has been defined as a medical problem. Historically, this has not been the standard response to HIV, even in San Francisco.

In the early days of the AIDS epidemic, medical researchers and professionals called what we now know as HIV, "Gay-Related Immune Deficiency." Their construction of gay "lifestyle" as "medically problematic" was based on entirely on stereotypes (Epstein 1996: 50-51).

While it cannot be doubted that doctors were genuinely concerned with treating the venereal diseases of gay men, the issue was framed in particular ways that influenced medical perceptions of homosexuality.

First, the key phrases that were used—"homosexual hazards," "gay bowel syndrome," "homosexuality as a risk factor"—posed the problem essentially as one of identity and 'lifestyle,' rather than contraction of specific infections. (Epstein 1996: 51)

While medical professionals and researchers now understand how HIV is transmitted, the legacy of medicalized understandings of identity and lifestyle persists in social service delivery. Some interventions focus narrowly on behavioral health. Providers often convey that patients need to take responsibility for their own health, by using condoms, by sticking to a medication regimen, by avoiding certain sexual practices. Public health researchers have found that interventions with sex workers that focus too narrowly on behavioral health without attending to dynamics of power and oppression can feel blaming, and are less effective at promoting the desired health outcomes than harm reduction interventions (Swendeman 2009).<sup>17</sup>

#### **4.4.2** Sandra

Sandra is a Black cisgender woman who has been working in the criminalized informal economy since she ran away from home at age seventeen. As a child, Sandra felt like she had to protect her younger sister: "I just took all the abuse, the punishment, all that. I took it to cover my sister... My sister never got hit with a belt or nothin' because I saved her." When she finally ran away, Sandra supported herself through sex work. Sandra has a history of arrests for selling "fake" drugs (for example

<sup>17</sup> The stereotype of sex workers as "vectors of disease" is so prevalent that Jay says: "I didn't get it from doing sex work—HIV—I want to make that clear for the record... I didn't get it until I was with my lover... I knew he was positive for like four or five years. So I knew what I was getting into, but I also was using protection... I didn't seroconvert from him. The person I with *before* him had gave it to me and I didn't know. I wanted that on record- because there's a lot of misconceptions. And I was having unprotected sex with the other person before him, trusting that he was using protection, which he wasn't."

substances that resemble crack but are not), holding drugs or money for boyfriends who are dealing, and prostitution. Her history of arrest, hospitalization, and sentencing to mandatory drug treatment, demonstrates the complex effects of the categorization of extremely poor drug users as criminals and patients at the same time.

For many women, the danger of sleeping alone on the streets is much greater than the danger of supporting themselves through street-based sex work. There are hundreds of people on the waiting list for homeless shelters in San Francisco, and a safe respite might only become available in a moment of acute crisis, if at all.

Sandra says: "I been slept on the streets, woke up with a man's dick in me-which I didn't know the person-- and I told the police: I was like 'I got raped,' and
they didn't believe me...how do you deal with that?" A history of being categorized as
a criminal meant that police were unlikely to perceive or treat Sandra as a victim. As a
homeless woman with a history of arrests for prostitution and drug-related crimes,
Sandra did not receive protection or support from police who doubted her credibility.

After the sexual assault triggered an acute psychiatric crisis, an outreach worker who had been visiting Sandra on the street offered to help her get psychiatric care at what Sandra calls "the rubber room, the crazy house" at San Francisco General Hospital. Sandra explains, "I felt safer there. After I got out of it I felt like I could just breathe. I wasn't cluttered in by people who just wanted to take take take take."

Sandra was only able to get psychiatric care and a place to sleep indoors after an outreach worker observed and documented her psychiatric breakdown. Until this moment of medical diagnosis, a safe place to sleep—which would have prevented her

from being raped by a stranger in the first place—was out of reach. As chapter two showed, homeless people like Sandra and Belinda frequently interact with police and jails, cycling between incarceration and the streets. While Belinda was never incarcerated, her constant contact with police on the streets exacerbated her mental illness. Sandra, living in similar circumstances, got a respite from the streets when her mental illness was diagnosed and documented by an outreach worker.

After she was released from the mental hospital, Sandra stayed in shelters and SROs. She was again arrested, this time for drug use. Sandra was sentenced to mandatory drug treatment, which she says helped her feel equipped to stop using drugs. She says,

I brought myself out of it because when I went to the pen I seen women my age and they tell me about they grandkids it's like, I can't do it no more. I went into the program they had there and I went to [the drug treatment program]. And I relapsed and then I went back to face my consequences." Sandra continues with a proud smile, "They gave me a kind of difficult task to do, but I did it anyway. I made a collage with all the possibilities that I could have, the future I could have, and the past and the present. I had to get up in front of 30 people? No, it was a hundred some people? And I had to get up in front of them and explain why I wanna come back in the house, why I want to get my graces back. It was a challenge for me and I felt good about it.

Although she said that being sentenced to mandatory treatment saved her from spiraling deeper into drug use, Sandra also noted that her criminal record made it nearly impossible for her to get more permanent housing.

Sometimes it made me feel angry and made me want to go back and use because sometimes I'd go to get a place and they said its full... and I'm like "OK, I'm not dealing with this, let me go just take one [a hit]. And I've done that a couple times, what's the point in it? Nothin'. So I

try to stop completely. I been doin pretty good," she nodded and smiled, "I been doin' damn good, I been OK."

Sandra has lived most of her adult life on the legal and bureaucratic border between criminal and patient. She has been incarcerated multiple times for myriad poverty-related crimes. As someone with a diagnosed mental illness, she was treated as a patient, rather than a criminal. As a drug user, her arrest and sentencing to mandatory drug treatment meant that a space was reserved for her at a free drug rehabilitation center: She could bypass the long waiting list for drug treatment and go right into the treatment facility, where she would have free meals and a roof over her head. The waiting lists to access no-cost residential drug and alcohol treatment centers in San Francisco are extremely long, so by the time someone who is homeless gets a space, it is often impossible for treatment center staff to locate or contact the person. In contrast to the reserved spaces for people released directly from jail to treatment, the process of voluntary admission to a free drug treatment facility requires multiple days of showing up for intake appointments and phone calls, which can be prohibitive for drug users with no stable housing.

For first-time drug offenders in San Francisco, a court referral is the surest way to gain access to free residential treatment. In contrast, homeless people who are not involved in the criminal legal system do not have access to beds reserved for "diversion clients." Instead, poor people seeking access to voluntary residential drug treatment languish on impossibly long waiting lists. Diversion programs can have positive outcomes at an individual level for people like Sandra, who benefitted immensely from her time in court-ordered treatment. However, at the municipal level,

diversion programs can exacerbate the problem of scarcity. In the absence of significantly increased investment in free, voluntary residential treatment programs, court-ordered treatment increases carceral control of scarce resources.

# 4.5 Medicalization of drug addiction

Sandra and Melissa's experiences show how drug use can be classified as a criminal or a medical issue, and often both over the course of someone's life. Some drug users experience primarily criminal interventions, while others experience only medical interventions. Bill, introduced in the previous chapter, and Jay are both white men who have done sex work and panhandled. Both men are HIV positive, both long-term drug users, and both have been homeless on the street. But Bill is caught in a cycle of homelessness and incarceration, unable to get SSI and stay on medication because his criminal history interrupts and precludes this. In contrast, Jay's drug use has been defined as a medical rather than a criminal issue. For this reason, he and Bill have had very different life trajectories.

Jay says:

I've never been popped for drugs so I mean I have been fortunate...Over the years, fifteen years of doing drugs, honey, I'm *very* fortunate. And you know I thought about it too, I don't want to wind up in jail, because my freedom; like I could get any job I wanted, I have a good credit score, you know I have a clean record, knock on wood, you know and everything I've done, some of its illegal—a lot of its illegal—but I managed to walk out of it with a clean slate, and I'm very fortunate for that, because so many people I know, one time has made them.

Instead, Jay's drug use has been categorized as a medical problem. This means that he goes to drug treatment instead of jail. The skills he learns in treatment help him to reduce his drug use and protect his health. He says:

I took really two good coping skills away from the program when I left. One is to avoid people, places and environments where people are using drugs around me. That's one I use every day right now, and it's keeping me clean. The second one is setting boundaries and telling people no. And that's a hard one for me, because I'm a very willing person. But I've been like no, no, no, no.

In contrast, T. estimates that she has been in drug rehab facilities 63 different times. While she was doing street-based sex work and homeless in Los Angeles, Tameka cycled through jails, psych wards, shelters, and drug and alcohol treatment programs. She went to treatment programs only when she needed food and a place to sleep, and felt too exhausted and resigned to do anything else. She explains:

After getting out [of prison], that first time, I was still very heavily on drugs so I was in and out of drug rehabilitation programs and some of—well, most of the ones that I went to in Los Angeles, back in the early '90s, would—didn't allow me to actually be T... I had to go in basically as a—what we call a gay boy: I had to dress like a boy.

In exchange for temporary access to food and shelter, T. had to endure the staff's denial of her gender identity, and insistence on treating her like an alcoholic. It was the same each time: Tameka would arrive at the drug rehabilitation center dressed in her regular clothing: Form-fitting jeans or a skirt, a wig, eyeliner and lipstick. The staff would interview her about her substance use and her motivation to change. At the end of the interview, they would say, "okay we'll accept you but—but, you can't have this, none of the makeup."

She was hungry, and she was tired, so T. stripped away these markers of her identity. "I had to go in there being somebody that I despised. And—and, let me take that back—it's not that I despised being who I was—I know who I am and you're making me—one, you're making me dress and act, and all of this, like this boy that I'm not. And, two, the other thing for me was, I'm coming into recovery under a lie. I know I'm not an alcoholic."

Rigid gender segregation in the drug rehabilitation programs meant that T. was housed with the men. She was strictly forbidden from using make-up or wearing women's clothing (which encompassed most of the clothing she owned). Misgendering, coupled with the knowledge that rehab would do nothing to help her get housing in the long term, made her leave the programs soon after she started "eating and gaining weight."

The main problem with drug treatment was that it denied T.'s gender identity and focused on changing her behavior without providing resources that she needed in order to get out of poverty. Staff focused narrowly on what they viewed as "problem behaviors," and promised that by fixing herself, T. could fix her life. The rehab centers approached not only T.'s drug use, but also her gender identity and expression as an area for treatment and intervention. Unlike Sandra, a Black cisgender woman who benefited from drug treatment, T. could not make it through rehab because the programs were set up in ways that enforced gender binaries and stigmatized transgender identity and expression. She needed treatment for her drug addiction, but she got a pseudo therapeutic moral reform intervention that targeted her identity.

## 4.6 Conclusion

Like the medicalization of homelessness, the medicalization of prostitution in service organizations is a response to scarcity: Without adequate ability to provide housing or other resources, program staff often focus on inculcating skills and behaviors that they hope will allow homeless people and sex workers to compete in the low-wage labor and housing markets. This approach ignores the structural forces that produce stratification and surplus labor in U.S. cities.

This chapter has discussed what happens when people are defined as patients rather than criminals. Although criminalization and medicalization are analytically separable, they often work in tandem. For example, in San Francisco, homeless people savvy enough to navigate the court bureaucracy can document that they have received twenty hours of homeless services per citation in order to avoid paying fines, and in many U.S. cities people arrested for drug use or prostitution are sometimes court-ordered to treatment. Framing homelessness and street-based sex work as treatable individual disorders legitimates the close connection between policing and the provision of individual treatment. Framed as the "only way" to find victims of sexual exploitation or get "service-resistant" homeless people and drug users into treatment, the policing of poverty is touted as a solution to, rather than a cause of, the vulnerability of homeless and street-based workers.

While the medicalization of homelessness and sex work provide rhetorical support for increased policing and political cover for decreased investment in housing, the medicalization of drug use, mental illness, HIV sometimes funnel limited

resources to populations whose drug use, mental illness or HIV have been redefined as medical, rather than criminal, issues. For members of priority sub-populations, being categorized as a patient rather than a criminal can open up access to resources that would otherwise be unavailable. As an individual-level intervention, a medical diagnosis or label can help connect people with services. But at the level of local and state policy, a discourse of public health and safety often covers up the problem of scarce resources. The medicalization of homelessness, drug addiction and sex work defines homeless people, drug users and sex workers as in need of treatment. This definition comes with stigma, and with the implication that if you fail to "work on" your identity and behavior, you will again be apprehended as a criminal. Furthermore, the marriage between policing and treatment of drug use, homelessness, and prostitution in the form of some "diversion" programs consolidates carceral control of scarce resources that would otherwise be allocated to the provision of voluntary services. In other words, medicalization does not grow the pie of available resources it just slices it in different ways. Medicalization is an individualizing approach that at best fails to acknowledge, and at worst, obscures or even reinforces, the structural causes of poverty.

## CHAPTER 5

# HARM REDUCTION AS A STRUCTURALLY TRANSFORMATIVE RESPONSE TO POVERTY

#### 5.1 Introduction

The geography of poverty and informal work in the Tenderloin is racialized and gendered: White homeless heroin users in the plaza; Salvadorean teenagers selling drugs a few blocks away; Black crack dealers a little further up the hill, along with older Black men hustling needles, DVDs, shoes, clothing; trans Latina sex workers on the sidewalk close to a local trans bar; homeless women trading sex when there's no other currency left. A few nights a week outreach workers from local harm reduction organizations move through these spaces, distributing condoms and clean syringes.

Between 10 p.m. and 1 a.m. on Fridays, outreach workers from the Saint James Infirmary distribute harm reduction supplies to homeless people and especially street-based sex workers, inviting them to SJI for services. At U.N. Plaza, before the police start late-night sweeps, we hand out safer injection supplies to small groups of heroin users.

A few blocks up, there is a frenetic energy as crack dealers and users hurriedly exchange the drugs for cash across from a sidewalk vendor who sells used clothing, shoes, DVDs, and sometimes packs of clean syringes from the needle exchange. "What you got?" someone will ask after we introduce ourselves. We recite the list and when we say "brillos!" people crowd around. On this block, everyone wants brillo. It's a better filter in crack pipes than aluminum foil—easier on the lungs, and we have small pieces packaged with a crack pipe cover and chapstick to prevent hepatitis.

Near a food pantry that closes early each evening, a man leans against a tent in the middle of the sidewalk. I give him plastic wrapped packages of 27-gauge syringes, cottons and alcohol pads. He's worried about his partner who's been using too much—he's almost sure his partner will overdose on heroin tonight, and wants to know do we have any Narcan. You can get your own overdose prevention kit at the needle exchange, I tell him. He knows—he's done this before. He has saved four people from overdose in four months, he says proudly, as I hand over my Narcan.

Further up the hill, close to midnight, trans Latinas stand in groups of two or three, with expertly applied liquid eyeliner, short lycra skirts and long, shiny hair. We wait at a distance if a client is approaching, careful not to interrupt. Most of the sex workers on this block know us by now—they smile, "gracias mami," take tubes of silicone lube and then go back to watching the street.

Activists have fought hard for outreach workers to be able to walk through the Tenderloin with messenger bags full of syringes, fix kits, crack pipe covers, brillo, condoms and lubricant. These supplies are made available by the San Francisco Department of Public Health, the result of years of struggle by poor drug users, sex workers, and queer communities most dramatically affected by the sudden and devastating proliferation of HIV, AIDS, and Hepatitis C. Free access to safer sex and drug use supplies means that poor people more frequently have protection from sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections. And the dissemination of Narcan to heroin users has dramatically reduced the number of deaths from heroin overdose throughout San Francisco.

At the same time, keeping people alive is not—will never be—enough.

At the top of the hill, we meet a woman who tells us she was just in a fight. Her stringy blond hair hangs over her face, which is still bleeding. She was staying with a friend at a nearby SRO hotel. Kicked out after the argument, she has nowhere to go.

"Do you have any food?" She asks hopefully. "Sorry," I say, because we ran out of granola bars two hours ago. "Just the health supplies."

She takes a few steps away and then turns back. "I'll take some condoms then, and needles too," she says, resigned. "It's the only way I'm gonna get through tonight. I'm gonna have to suck someone's dick to get some food to eat."

"I'm sorry to hear that," my outreach partner murmurs as I hand her the condoms and syringes.

As a policy response, harm reduction has decreased the likelihood of illness, incarceration, and death for homeless people who use drugs or sell or trade sex.

Limited decriminalization of health-protecting behaviors like carrying condoms or clean syringes means that sex workers and drug users are less likely to be jailed for possession of safer sex or drug use supplies. And the city's investment in making harm reduction supplies available to poor people is helping to reduce the prevalence of HIV among trans women<sup>18</sup> and overdose deaths of heroin users, predominantly homeless and marginally housed (Enteen et al. 2010). The importance of reducing vulnerability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Santos et al. (2014) estimate that 39 percent of transgender women in San Francisco are HIV-positive.

transgender and people of color—cannot be overstated. But how does it feel when city officials pat themselves on the back for stemming the tide of death and disease, yet stop short of providing housing, healthcare and drug treatment? The same way it feels to hand someone a mint-flavored condom after they've asked you for food.

This chapter discusses harm reduction as a social movement, a practice of service provision and a policy intervention. Based on a case study of the Saint James Infirmary, I discuss harm reduction as a politicized approach to service provision, as well as a resource for anti-criminalization activism and policy advocacy. Chapters 3 and 4 discussed criminalization and medicalization as dominant policy responses to poverty and homelessness. In this chapter, I argue that harm reduction, often overlooked by scholars of poverty and social policy, is a third type of response to poverty. But unlike criminalization and medicalization, harm reduction does not take for granted or perpetuate the conditions that cause poverty and vulnerability.

The first part of this chapter shows how harm reduction as a practice of service provision challenges medicalization and administrative violence. While the medicalization of poverty perpetuates stigma and blames individuals, harm reduction points to the structural sources of poverty, refuses to categorize people as deserving or undeserving of care based on their identities or behaviors, and fights stigma.

The second part of this chapter shows how harm reduction is a resource in the fight to decriminalize poor people's presence and survival strategies in public space.

While criminalization perpetuates racialized and gendered forms of poverty and

vulnerability, harm reduction promotes policies of decriminalization that would improve the lives of the most vulnerable groups of poor people.

# 5.2 What is harm reduction?

Harm reduction is an approach to service provision that recognizes the need for structural transformation, and intervenes in individual lives by providing resources to reduce the harms associated with drug use, sex work, or other criminalized activities. Although harm reduction emerged from the drug users' rights movement, the philosophy has been applied to service provision and policy advocacy in other areas as well. Harm reduction challenges both criminalization and medicalization by treating drug use as a normal, rather than deviant, practice and recognizing that therapeutic interventions often "serve the needs of" the providers rather than drug users themselves (Wieloch 2002: 48, also DeLeon 1996, Matteson & Hawthorne 1996). Adopting tactics from AIDS activism, harm reduction "challenges dominant medical models of service-provider-as-authority" (Wieloch 2002: 49). In addition to challenging stigma and affirming drug user expertise, the radical faction of the harm reduction movement has employed civil disobedience to challenge drug policy. Liberal harm reduction activists have pursued more limited goals such as advocating for wider availability of drug treatment and outreach to drug users (ibid).

Current scholarship on harm reduction is increasingly preoccupied with whether the formal adoption of harm reduction principles or harm reduction-based treatment models has de-radicalized the movement (Roe 2005, Moore & Fraser 2006, Smith 2012). Some scholars argue that the institutionalization of harm reduction as

public health policy de-politicized the movement by shifting the focus away from structural determinants of harm like drug laws and onto individual practices (Moore & Fraser 2006, Smith 2012).

Critics of liberal harm reduction as an approach to service provision argue that, in the absence of active resistance against political, legal and economic causes of harm, provision of medical resources becomes yet another way to surveil and govern marginalized populations (Smith 2012; see also Foucault 1977, 1991, Miller 2001, Fischer et al. 2004). For example, Roe (2005) cautions that the adoption of harm reduction models of service provision does not necessarily translate into promotion of social justice. Beginning from the premise that the "medicalization of social and political problems plays" an ever-increasing role in "governance at the margins of the neoliberal state," Roe points out that official acceptance of harm reduction has most often "coincided with the need to reduce expenses in health and legal services" and cautions that the institutionalization of harm reduction may be just another way to manage the poor without ever addressing the root causes of poverty (2005: 243). Through a Foucauldian lens, these scholars view the public health establishment's appropriation of harm reduction as a shift from coercive state power to self-regulation in a process that absolves the state from responsibility for the structural roots of harm (Miller 2001, Mugford 1993, Moffat 1999, Roe 2005).

In contrast to scholars that focus on the depoliticizing effects of service provision, a small but growing number of studies demonstrate how nonprofit service organizations that grow out of social movements can maintain their radical

commitments (e.g. Spade 2008, Majic 2011). These hybrid service and movement organizations are often peer-led, with more democratic decision-making structures, and continue to mobilize members of oppressed groups to fight against social inequality even as they provide services. At non-profits that grow out of social movements, radical priorities are reflected in mission statements, hiring and fundraising practices, as well as in the ideologies, discourses and practices of daily life at the organizations (ibid). Majic suggests that "nonprofits like SJI and CAL-PEP may provide sites for fostering and encouraging further political participation by marginalized populations" (2014: 90). While these organizations do not always mobilize sex workers to participate in the movement for sex workers' rights, they do provide a space free of stigma and judgment. Majic (2013) finds that maintenance of activist commitments and practices occurs through "oppositional implementation," in which activists take advantage of "trends toward government-nonprofit policy coproduction to implement a mission and method of service delivery that directly reflects oppositional political goals" (27). This allows activists who have formed health or social service organizations to provide services and social justice advocacy at the same time (Majic 2013: 28-30).

This chapter builds on these findings to specify how SJI in particular and harm reduction organizations in general not only encourage the development of political consciousness, but also contest local policies and service practices that perpetuate poverty and vulnerability. I argue that a harm reduction approach lends itself to oppositional implementation because harm reduction practice opposes criminalizing

approaches to sex work and drug use. While acknowledging the danger of a discursive shift from economic justice to individual health outcomes, I argue that the partial institutionalization of harm reduction is a partial but crucial victory in the struggle against structural sources of poverty and harm. The non-judgmental ethos inherent in even mainstream iterations of harm reduction combats the impetus to medicalize social problems. By contesting stigma, even mainstream harm reduction takes a significant step toward combating repression. Furthermore, the partial institutionalization of harm reduction principles can create tensions between different parts of the poverty management system. San Francisco provides an example of a city in which two government departments, police and public health, have clashed. Harm reduction advocates have re-cast sex work and drug use as public health issues, resulting in the official adoption of a harm reduction stance by San Francisco's Department of Public Health (SFDPH) in 2005, <sup>19</sup> and recently, limited decriminalization of protective behaviors related to sex work and drug use, such as carrying condoms or clean syringes. This is unusual, as possession of clean syringes and condoms can be used as evidence of a crime in most U.S. cities. This chapter distinguishes between mainstream or liberal approaches to harm reduction, like that advanced by San Francisco's Department of Public Health, and radical approaches, like that of SJI. While mainstream approaches challenge criminalization in more

 $<sup>^{19}\</sup> http://www.sfdph.org/dph/comupg/oservices/mentalHlth/SubstanceAbuse/HarmReduction/default.asp$ 

limited ways, radical approaches mount more sweeping challenges to the dominant approaches to poverty management.

# 5.3 From criminalization to health promotion: Historical shifts in the use of health rationales in the management of sexuality, race and poverty

Narratives about public health do not always work to promote harm reduction policies—they can also be deployed in support of criminalization. Depending on the historical moment, "public health" has been used as a rationale for or against the arrest and incarceration of sex workers. Craddock (2000) argues that constructions of disease have historically been deployed to discipline and control; to construct and manage racialized and gendered categories (3). How disease is interpreted is not merely a question of discourse or ideology but a matter of how public health policy entrenches "carceral or exclusionary tactics, punitive intrusions into everyday life, or equally punitive neglect of basic welfare" (2000: 3). Disease, Craddock argues, shifts narratives of deviance and blame "from the socially constructed to the medically legitimized... to a rational basis for surveillance, control and exclusion" (2000: 4).

Historically, San Francisco's policy for the management of prostitution has relied heavily medical legitimation. In 1911 The San Francisco Municipal Clinic provided healthcare for prostitutes, who were required to undergo examinations every four days (Sides 2009: 22). Prostitutes deemed "clean" received a stamp of approval, while police charged others with "vagrancy" (Sides 2009: 22). The clinic closed within two years due to pressure from local businesses (Sides 2009: 25-26).

Prostitution was driven further underground in the World War II era, when the federal

government, concerned about the "debilitative effects of venereal disease" on soldiers, passed legislation criminalizing prostitution near military bases (Sides 2009: 26). San Francisco officials responded swiftly by closing brothels in 1941, and the Mayor worked with army officials to "round up" and prosecute "all known prostitutes" (Sides 2009: 26). But Sides argues that "the most radical and enduring change in local prostitution policy came when Mayor Rossi empowered the SFPD with quarantine authority" in 1944 (Sides 2009: 26). Previously, SFDPH had sole jurisdiction of "venereal disease control," and SFDPH doctors treated prostitutes, attempted to notify "potentially infected clients" and "insisted on the prostitutes' voluntary quarantine," only calling in the police if prostitutes resumed work before completing treatment for infections like syphilis or gonorrhea (Sides 2009: 26).

When "quarantine authority" was given to the SFPD, the police chief instituted a "preliminary quarantine policy," meaning that they locked "suspected prostitutes or "suspected venereal disease carriers" in jail until they underwent a mandatory medical examination (Sides 2009: 27). "If found to be infected, women were sentenced to quarantine at the county jail" (Sides 2009: 27). Symptoms of sexually transmitted infections were not visible, so police arrested people based on their prejudices. "The policy gave the SFPD a long-sought and highly effective way to deal with socially undesirable women—including prostitutes, well-known alcoholics and women who were known to be promiscuous—under the guise of health enforcement" (Sides 2009: 27). Quarantine was also a way for the SFPD to maintain racial order, arresting and imprisoning women of color who they found in predominantly white neighborhoods,

for example an African American domestic worker who, on her way home from cleaning houses was forced into a police car, and then forcibly tested for STIs and incarcerated for three days (Sides 2009: 28). Despite objections from some public health officials and civil libertarians, the policy of "preliminary quarantine" was allowed to continue in San Francisco through 1975 until it was finally defeated by Margo Saint James, a woman who sued after she was wrongfully convicted of prostitution, causing a local judge to "issue an injunction forbidding the SFPD's historic, odious practice" (Sides 2009: 149). Ironically, the wrongful prostitution conviction not only politicized Saint James but also left her without family support and with sex work as her best option (Lutnick 2006). She started working as a prostitute and founded Call Off Your Old Tired Ethics (COYOTE), the U.S.'s first prostitutes' rights organization (Lutnick 2006).

The AIDS epidemic proved an opening for alliance between sex workers' rights advocates and the public health establishment. In 1985, the California Prostitutes Education Project (CAL-PEP) began distributing health supplies in San Francisco's Tenderloin. Founded by prostitutes' rights activist Priscilla Alexander and subsidized by the California Department of Public Health, CAL-PEP started as a grassroots, mostly volunteer organization (Stoller 1998, Sides 2009). As it transitioned into a professionalized non-profit organization, CAL-PEP prioritized service provision rather than decriminalization activism, but maintained its "pro-prostitution values" and commitment to "an identity rooted in prostitution, poverty and street life" (Stoller 1998: 82, 95). As Stoller argues:

The AIDS crisis has provided a powerful avenue for the struggle to legitimize prostitution, especially in countries like the United States where sex work is still a criminal activity. Our government does not view civil rights for sex workers as a legitimate goal for the state to pursue, but it does wish to invest funds in stopping the spread of AIDS. In this context, sex workers may subversively accept the identity of disease carrier in order to secure funding, to force a place at the policy table, and to enhance recognition of their expertise in the public sexual realm. (1998: 85)

The availability of HIV prevention funding facilitated SJI's founding by Margo Saint James in 1999, even as SJI contested the stereotype of sex workers as vectors of disease. The era of AIDS activism heralded historical shifts in the use of health rationales in the management of sexuality, race and poverty. Currently, a number of San Francisco organizations that receive HIV prevention funding to serve vulnerable populations also use these resources for political consciousness raising and political organizing around issues of poverty and policing—the Saint James Infirmary, El/la Para Trans Latinas, the Homeless Youth Alliance, and the San Francisco Drug Users' Union are just a few of many examples.

San Francisco's contemporary responses to the needs of homeless people, especially those in the sex trade, illustrate the competing priorities of law enforcement, the public health establishment, and decriminalization activists. Police departments are provided with financial incentives to criminalize poor communities, while the Department of Public Health has stated commitments to the promotion of safer sex and safer drug use (sidestepping the thorny issue of economic justice in a rapidly gentrifying city). There is an undeniable similarity between these departments' discourses of 'fighting crime' and 'fighting disease:' Both tend to focus on individual

behavior. But the policies of city agencies do not condemn service providers to a similar approach. Instead, harm reduction activists and service organizations like SJI leverage public health resources to fight against systemic denials of access to resources, including affordable housing and medical care.

# 5.4 Harm reduction practice at the Saint James Infirmary

The San Francisco-based Harm Reduction Coalition offers the following *Principles of Harm Reduction*:<sup>20</sup>

Establishes quality of individual and community life and well-being—not necessarily cessation of all drug use—as the criteria for successful interventions and policies.

Calls for the non-judgmental, non-coercive provision on services and resources to people who use drugs and the communities in which they live in order to assist them in reducing attendant harm.

Ensures that drug users and those with a history of drug use routinely have a real voice in the creation of programs and policies designed to serve them.

Recognizes that the realities of poverty, class, racism, social isolation, past trauma, sex-based discrimination and other social inequalities affect both people's vulnerability to and capacity for dealing with drug-related harm.

Each of the above principles describes a break with traditional approaches to serving poor people: The emphasis of quality of life rather than behavior change, commitment to provision of resources, free of judgment and coercion, the participatory approach to policy advocacy, and the recognition of social inequalities.

Saint James Infirmary has adopted this approach to both drug use and sex work. Under the heading, "Only Rights Can Stop the Wrongs!" SJI's *Occupational* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Available at: http://harmreduction.org/about-us/principles-of-harm-reduction/

Health and Safety Handbook (2010), distributed to clinic staff and participants includes the following narrative about violence prevention:

Sex Workers are often victims of violence. Not because sex work is inherently violent but because social stigma, criminalization, unjust working conditions, decreased social status/social capitol and systematic abuse of powers by police, judges and institutions make it easier and more tolerable for violent predators and perpetrators to inflict violence against us without consequences... We are people who deserve equal protection under the law. However, we rarely get justice. Even though there are situations in which certain authorities take seriously abuses against Sex Workers and pursue our perpetrators with force, there are hundreds (if not thousands) of other situations in which Sex Workers are treated as less-than-human by those who are meant to protect us. No Humans Involved ("NHI") has been a term used by law enforcement officers and institutions to describe victims of violence and murder who are also identified as Sex Workers. This is totally unacceptable and further confounds the problem of violence against Sex Workers...

Because sex work is currently classified as illegal in most of the US—thus making us criminals—we are forced with a difficult decision when we are victims of violence: Go to the police and maybe go to jail, and be treated like crap? Or do nothing. In most cases, Sex Workers will not report abuse or violence. The reality of police in the role as enforcers of prostitution laws as well as our jailers makes it difficult, if not impossible, for us to trust them and reach out to them for protection. This has to change. Thus we advocate for the decriminalization of sex work.

Since we are often tasked with protecting ourselves, prevention is the preferred strategy. There are numerous steps sex workers can take to reduce the chance that we might fall victim to a perpetrator or predator. Since many predators pose as customers, carefully screening clients is the first and best line of defense... (61-62)

Here, individual strategies for violence prevention are offered, but only after explanation of the context of structural violence. The handbook shows how individual strategies such as screening clients can reduce the chance of exposure to violence

perpetrated by clients, but that the real solution to this problem is not individual but structural: The decriminalization of sex work.

The section of the *Occupational Health & Safety Handbook* on drug use prefaces safer injection, smoking, detox and overdose prevention tips with advice designed to combat anti-drug user stigma:

We feel it is important to state that many of us use drugs because they are fun and they feel good. Drug use can be a way to relax, have fun, socialize with friends, enhance certain experiences, alter our feelings when our feelings need altering, or just because we like doing them... For another portion of us, we might find that our drug use causes problems in our lives, leads to risk-taking behaviors, can add to or create health problems or just makes our lives miserable and "unmanageable." Either camp you relate to, this section is meant to provide information on how to use drugs safer as well as options on how to stop drug using altogether if necessary. (70)

This approach helps to meet the immediate needs of vulnerable groups of people in an environment of criminalization and social and economic inequality.

Unlike criminalization and medicalization, a harm reduction approach is inherently compatible with structural transformation to end poverty. From its inception, the harm reduction movement combined service provision and activism.

Saint James frames the violence that homeless sex workers often encounter as fundamentally rooted in structural inequality. A bright red banner in the clinic reads, "OUTLAW POVERTY NOT PROSTITUTES." Posters of smiling staff members hang prominently on the wall, featuring quotations like, "Farm work can be difficult, but we don't outlaw agriculture. We regulate it to improve conditions for those who work in that industry."

While other providers treat the exchange of sex for money as a deviant behavior that must be prevented and reformed through the implementation of strict rules, SJI treats sex work as legitimate labor and advocates for better working conditions. These different approaches to serving people engaged in extremely low paying sexual labor result in different types of interactions between staff and service participants. Chapter 3 showed how many of my research participants experienced medicalizing approaches as stigmatizing and isolating. In contrast, participants often felt that harm reduction providers encouraged them to see themselves as part of a community. Connections forged at organizations like Saint James often encouraged participation in activism and advocacy. Harm reduction approaches have what I call structurally transformative potential, because they are likely to facilitate recognition of, and resistance to, the conditions that create group-specific forms of marginality and inequality.

Like the medicalization of poverty, harm reduction uses a discourse about health to frame discussion of broader issues related to poverty. Unlike medicalization, harm reduction shifts focus from individual behavior to structural violence, asserting that the latter is a source of not only health disparities but also broader patterns of economic, political and social inequality. This shift is not just discursive. It has real effects in everyday interactions between service providers and service users.

#### 5.5 How harm reduction contests medicalization and administrative violence

SJI participants' and providers descriptions of experiences receiving and providing care at SJI show how harm reduction approaches avoid medicalizing and

individualizing responses to poverty. SJI providers and healthcare participants use narratives about harm reduction and health to de-stigmatize sex work, drug use, and homelessness, contest administrative violence and ideas about deservingness, and reimagine health and housing as human rights.

Participants who accessed health and social services through other service providers reported using a number of strategies to decrease their vulnerability to discrimination, including lying to doctors or withholding information that could be important to care. Some participants reported difficulty explaining, and receiving care for, occupational injuries. Men are were not often identified as sex workers by their providers, so there were fewer barriers to sexual health care, although male sex workers living with HIV or AIDS reported stigma and discrimination related to HIV status or drug use.

Drug users and gender non-conforming people, especially transgender women, reported high levels of stigma, discrimination and denial of access to care in traditional healthcare settings, even when they did not disclose to their providers that they engaged in sex work.

In contrast, a diverse group of sex worker participants reported that SJI provided care that affirmed their experiences or identities as sex workers, gender non-conforming people, and/or drug users.<sup>21</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> While recruiting from SJI might have biased my sample to include a disproportionate number of people who experienced difficulty seeking care elsewhere, or who had positive experiences at SJI, it is nonetheless crucial to understand the interactional processes related to such dramatically different experiences of receiving care at SJI vs. other providers.

SJI providers and participants challenge hierarchical power relations and contest stigma. A non-judgmental approach to service provision is central to both liberal and radical harm reduction practice, and SJI's peer model undermines the power dynamics of more mainstream service provider-client interactions. For example, Kyra, a young transgender woman who was discriminated against by other prospective employers, finally found her place as a paid counselor and outreach worker at SJI. Kyra recalled her first visit to SJI, when she was homeless and doing sex work. "I wasn't very confident in being a sex worker at the time, or even talking about it, so I never told a medical provider because I felt like I would be judged," she said. At Saint James, where most of the staff are sex workers themselves, she encountered the opposite reaction. The first staff member Kyra met at SJI was Tim, who promptly told her that he was a sex worker, too, and gave her some tips that helped her earn more money more safely. She was astounded that a service provider could provide such practical advice based on his own experiences. "I just thought it was the most amazing thing in the world that Tim was like 'Oh yeah, I'm a prostitute too and I do this,' and I was like [whispering] 'Oh my God. He's like *getting paid* [as a service provider] and he's talking to me about this'... the fact that he not only tolerated what I was saying but he accepted it, said he was doing it as well, and then gave me resources, was the thing that blew me away."

An accomplished activist who had recently completed an internship at a local LGBT center, Kyra had spent most of the past year unemployed and homeless.

No one else would give me a job. I applied a lot of different places... I had like a really extensive resume with a lot of stuff on it. I would have people throw away my resume while I was still there, or give everyone else an interview on the spot and say [in a high fake-nice voice] 'Oh we'll call you.' And I was like 'bitch you ain't gonna call me!' [we both laugh.] The only work I was getting would be like super part time...

...I believe in the work that Saint James does. I'd never really been in a space where I could talk about doing sex work, because I feel like even in LGBT circles it's stigmatized and its something that I still am working through my own personal shame and stigma around and so for a while I hadn't even engaged much with Saint James because I didn't want to have to address my own, like [brightly] 'I'm a ho!' or that kind of stuff. But I wanted to work here for a while because it would be a chance to work collectively with other sex workers. I feel like because of criminalization, they specifically criminalize working together. A lot of times people are like, 'I don't wanna talk to you because then I'll get busted, or I'll get in more trouble because me giving you a reference or me giving you skills could be like promoting prostitution or pimping or something like that.

Kyra says that working at SJI in a sex positive environment where part of her job is actively fighting stigma and focusing on the underlying causes of harm and risk helped her deal with her own internalized shame about her past work as an escort:

A big part of [how SJI operates differently from other providers] is harm reduction. That's something I hadn't explicitly heard talked about in other jobs that I had and I think that for them to recognize as an institution that people are gonna do things that are harmful to them, or that other people might perceive as harmful to them, and we're just gonna recognize that that's happening and that there's reasons that that's happening and try to support them where they're at, has been instrumental for me in dealing with my own shit and also helping other people work through their issues in a non-judgmental way.

Part of the reason Kyra had been unable to find a job before she started working at SJI was because, despite her qualifications, most service organizations refused to hire people "from the community" being served. Kyra's time accessing homeless youth services helped her get into subsidized housing, but also limited her

career options: After she completed an internship at a homeless service organization with flying colors, she applied for a full-time opening. The organization rejected her application.

Kyra: ...I got screwed out of a job because I was from the community. I had been working as like an interim coordinator once the other coordinator left. And they basically told me that I wasn't even allowed to apply for the job because I had received homeless services from an agency that we had partnered with. They were like, 'the agency that we work with says that you can't apply for this job because you have received services from them, and that they don't let people work for them if they've received services in the past two years.'

Dilara: But that's a different organization!

Kyra: Yeah! Exactly. That's like an extreme example of 'you can't be from the community,' and I while I was working there I was like, 'I thought it would help me better provide care knowing the community and knowing what they're going through, and not being completely disassociated, and that's something that Saint James gets, but other organizations don't get. The other organization that I'm work for now, LYRIC, they have different pathways into leadership positions which promote leadership of youth and young people. You can be an intern and then you can be a part-time staff, and then a full-time staff, and at no point are they like, 'and you have to never come back for a couple years and we don't want to talk to you and you have to get your life together, and not be from the community. I really appreciate that about both of these places.

Dilara: Yeah that's kind of like a catch-22 because its like ok well you're going to understand homeless youth issues if you *have* been homeless better than someone who's never been through it and if you use, like, the only provider that has housing

Kyra: Exactly! Exactly! And now they're saying you can't work for people who work with them

Dilara: Which is basically everyone.

Kyra: Yeah. [laughing.]

Dilara: So how do you use your own experiences to connect with the participants here?

Kyra: I guess because I've worked on the street and I've worked online as an escort I can relate to people in doing that and I can understand what people are saying and I obviously feel more comfortable talking about that than someone who's never experienced that and who's like 'Oooh!' [She widens her eyes and raises her hands to her open mouth with a high-pitched giggle in a parody of an out-of-touch social worker] You just said 'blow job!'...it's not like a completely foreign concept. I think that I'm able to provide specific resources and specific websites and specific harm reduction tips that if I hadn't had experience and even if I had a master's degree in public health I still wouldn't know the like, hands on [laughing]—pun intended—for how to reduce harm in situations.

And also like because I've accessed a lot of the services at different agencies I have more relationships and more connections there and I can say, "So this is how you have to act to get services." And if I hadn't had to receive services I would have no clue and I would just say [imitating the chipper social work voice] "Here's the phone number!" Whereas now I'm able to say, "Call Kim and say 'put me on the list' and call back every day..."

Kyra explains that the contrast between her experience receiving health advice from "out-of-touch social workers" at other organizations and peer counselors at SJI reaffirmed her own commitment to a peer-based, harm reduction model of service provision.

# She reflects:

A lot of the people that I meet during trans intakes come to San Francisco specifically because it's a trans mecca and because they've heard that you can get free hormones here. And that's why I came. So I can relate to a lot of the trans people on that. Especially because a lot of the trans people are not just coming for the hormones but because of discrimination and violence that they faced where they're from or where they moved to before they came here. So I can relate to the transient trans population.

Jaymee, a HIV test counselor, drew on her own history of drug use and self-harm as coping strategies to reflect that her experiences allowed her to empathize and make connections with patients, and to provide health information without usurping control of their decisions. She described this orientation as one of "cultural humility," which she defined as awareness of the differences between her own and others' lived experiences, and understanding that patients are the experts on their own experiences. Jaymee's practice runs counter to medicalized understandings of poverty, where people receiving services must defer to providers' authority.

# Jaymee says:

I came into sex work from a place of privilege. I thought it was a good alternative to working my ass off at any old job, and it is. I have had options. When I came out as a trans woman, and my body started showing signs that I was a trans woman, those options started decreasing. Also me being white and other factors like I come from a middle class background... all these types of things give me a lot of privilege to where I made an informed choice about going into sex work. The types of sex work that I've gone into have been pretty safe for me as a trans woman and my orientation and identity and my desires.

Jaymee recognizes that her sex work, primarily in porn, is very different from the criminalized work that other participants do, and that her identities and experiences mean that her own daily struggles are different from many participants, for example trans women of color doing street-based sex work.

... if you are doing different forms of sex work like street based or escorting or whatever, and someone like me who has very little experience with that, I want to be upfront with people and direct with that information, but... that doesn't seem to be a big barrier, to be quite honest. The people that I see mainly fall into the category of street-based sex work... In those situations I can only be the best ally that I

can. It has been my job to understand harm reduction, tactics of 'higher risk' sex trade or sex work. That means understanding really without anything on you, so what do you do if you don't have a condom? If you're a cis woman, drink plenty of water. You can flush out your body. That might help out. Withdrawing before the dude cums inside you is also good. Again, these are things that a seasoned public health official would scoff at, but they're things that actually work at reducing harm in the day to day lives of street-based sex workers in particular.

Positioning herself in opposition to a "public health official," Jaymee emphasizes that harm reduction as a way of providing services is about recognizing the real conditions of sex workers' daily lives, and thinking of ways to improve life, given these conditions.

I come with a pretty holistic idea of healthcare and how to look at someone. If you can't find stable housing, or if... meth is dominating your life right now, then why would we talk about peeing after you have sex and all that type of stuff? There's just all these different things that I haven't personally experienced, but you can only try to be the best support and ally with understanding and working with people for a while and also doing your own research about how to have good harm reduction practices.

At the same time, as sex workers, queer, trans, formerly homeless and/or people of color, most of the providers at SJI have a visceral understanding of identity-based oppression, and how that works in medical and social service settings. Jaymee says,

I've had a lot of really awful experiences with medical providers, especially that I'm trans. I've never disclosed that I'm a sex worker to any medical provider because of safety issues and honestly because I don't think they would know even what the fuck they were doing... They have a hard time as it is with trans issues. Just making assumptions about my gender pronouns that are very incorrect is the most common thing that I've experienced. Asking me inappropriate questions about my genitals and all these different moments where I have to play the educator, rather than just trying to get some healthcare. That's been my experience. My experience of being a provider and

trying not to do that to other people is always checking in with them about their preferred gender pronouns. Even if you are pretty damn sure that they go by this, or she goes by that, or whatever, I would rather someone be thrown off or offended by me asking them what they prefer rather than getting it wrong.

Tim, who provides as well as receives services at SJI also identifies cultural humility and rejecting medical authority as important parts of care at SJI.

You can't say the staff are unbiased. We all have our shit and we all have our preconceptions. We all have our ideas about what is and what isn't harmful... but I think what we are aiming to do is to be a place where sex work itself is not presented as a harmful behavior that needs to be shifted. There are some conditions that may be part of being a sex worker that we can collaborate with them if they want to see it shifted. If someone wants to get out of the industry, that's something we'd work with them on.

If someone is having ways that they have increased risk because of how they are doing the work, we can work with them on that, but sex work itself should not be a sign they are in danger. There is a harm reduction approach, so ideally in the care that we are providing we are not making those judgments for them about what is or what isn't behavior that needs to be shifted. They should be telling us that information, which is pretty rare [as an approach to service provision]. I think for myself, being able to access care here whether its about my sex work or just being who I am and being able to be honest about what my history is with drug use or what my history is with safer sex or different types of things, depression, mental health and feel like giving that information is not going to mean that I don't get the things I need. Clinical staff or counselors can play a game of, "You need this resource from me, so I'm going to make that contingent on you agreeing to do something that I want you to do."

As shown in previous chapters, addiction, mental illness, sex work and homelessness are all the objects of punishment and stigma that deepen poverty and vulnerability. An important part of SJI's harm reduction philosophy is refusing to make access to services or care contingent on behavioral change. First, SJI's providers reject the idea that people's poverty, addiction, mental illness, or sex work make them

less deserving of care, and actively work to fight against the stigma and criminalization tied to each of these.

Tim explains that the quid pro quo focus on behavioral reform at so many organizations that serve marginalized populations not only perpetuates stigma, but also encourages people to lie in order to get their needs met.

If you're like, "Oh, well if you want this test, you're going to have to quit smoking," it is very unlikely that you'd make that person be like, "Okay, I'll quit smoking." What they *are* going to do is say, "Yeah, I quit smoking." Except when you do the test, it's showing them when they are still smoking but they're lying to you about it so it impacts your ability to do comprehensive care. I would say what we aim to do is be a place where people don't have to lie.

When considering barriers to health and safety for sex workers, individual behavior does not even cross Juniper's mind. Juniper says:

I think barriers with health and safety are humans that don't understand the value of safety. Like human rights: They feel that human rights are meant for certain people and not for other people. Sometimes human rights are not meant for poor people because they "didn't work hard enough" or because they "chose this lifestyle," so [other providers focus on] all these other extraneous things when people, what they need is shelter, food, clothing, happiness, and love and care. That's the things people need and that's what we're trying to provide.

The ways in which SJI providers and participants talk about health and safety often foreground structural obstacles to well-being, and show the ways in which individual needs are re-framed as collective demands through interaction with other sex workers at the organization. Collective action frames about group rights to health and safety emerge when sex workers question medical expertise, accept safer sex resources while rejecting stigma, and shift the blame for interpersonal violence away

from the victim. For people who earn money in a criminalized economy and are vulnerable to stigma or violence, an exclusive focus on behavioral health can be disempowering. Combining conversations about personal health with demands for group rights is a more effective way to promote sex worker health and facilitate structural change.

# 5.6 Fighting the norms of professional training

Providers at SJI often reported that harm reduction practice at SJI contradicted things they learned in formal educational settings. Solita, a nurse at SJI, talked about the "repressive" atmosphere of nursing school. As a lesbian, she already felt judged and targeted by her classmates. SJI, where she received healthcare as a sex worker, became her "respite" from this hostile environment. Solita said that her approach to care at SJI was the "complete opposite" of what she perceived as the authoritarian and stigmatizing approach she was taught to take during her medical training.

Nursing school was very repressive. Very homophobic. Super sex negative. Here we are learning how to care for people's bodies and when sexual health came up, it wasn't even called sexual health. It was "reproductive health." Condoms were for birth control. I was a pariah. I'd raise my hand and be like, "Actually, condoms are not necessarily for birth control for everyone. There are a lot of people that it is not a matter of birth control for them because birth is not going to happen no matter what." That just was not going to get talked about. It wasn't just because I was trying to advocate for *special rights for homosexuals*.

Solita remembers coming to Saint James, and appreciating "the community feel and the ambiance" when the SJI moved out of the cramped quarters it shared with the Department of Public Health's City Clinic and got its own space.

It just feels good to have our own clubhouse. That was very appealing to me. I was also on and off still actively engaged in various kinds of sex work myself... Dom work, fantasy play kind of stuff. Stripping. It was cool. It's a place where you can be really open about it. When I was going through nursing school it was the saving grace...

Solita worked at Fantasy World, a BDSM and role-playing club throughout nursing school, and drew strength from the community of sex workers in whom she could confide in about her experiences at nursing school, including harassment by teachers and classmates. She felt calm and supported at Fantasy World, despite the pressure of having to juggle work and school.

I'd go to Fantasy World and in between having clients I'd be cramming for tests or finishing up care plans and med cards. I'm so hugely relieved to say that actually working as a nurse has been awesome and not anything like nursing school was. Nursing school was just like everybody in the universe is heterosexual and we don't talk about sex... It was a very uncomfortable environment.

Solita remembers when her class was practicing inserting catheters and one of her instructors joked, "Solita likes it a little too much." Solita fumed silently. "Oh you really want to know?" she thought. "You really want to fucking know? I respect people who have dicks and I don't need to go 'teeheehee' about it. I'm going to tell right now, that's not my sexual preference and I don't give a shit whose it is. That's just a totally inappropriate comment in an uncomfortable situation that doesn't have to be an uncomfortable situation. In this totally sex negative environment. I imagine that most, if not all of my classmates are probably making more money than I am and working in hospitals where they've all been trained to have the same self-loathing, sex negative attitude: We hate our patients, we hate our jobs. We're making good money. Punch in, punch out. Done with our workday. That's not why I became a nurse. I

became a nurse because I really love people and I think bodies are fascinating and beautiful and complex and beautiful in their complexity. I have a lot of respect for people's human experience and bodily experiences. That includes gender diversity and sexual diversity and diversity of experience in all different kind of ways."

Juniper, who has a Masters in Social Work and has been working at SJI in various capacities for seven years, says that they were not taught about harm reduction in social work school. Juniper remembers:

It was basically more of the, I call it the 'judge treatment program' type of identity where you have to do these number of things by this certain time in order to correct this behavior. It's about this idea of correcting a behavior instead of enhancing your life. I wasn't taught [harm reduction]. That's something I learned through experience.

Solita says that the peer-led model of service and healthcare provision

creates a more welcoming, friendly environment where people feel like they can confide in us more, the medical team. The idea is any of us could be current or former sex workers. I don't think anybody on the medical team actually is [currently doing sex work] but everyone is very welcoming and people who are working here are not working here because they have to. This is not a punching in the clock kind of a job... The medical providers get called by their first name and because it's a community, people come regularly and get to be known. I think a lot of times, for some people who may be living life really on the edge, I personally find it comforting to see somebody come back. In the back of my mind, I'm just like "Yay. They're still alive." I like to think that hopefully they feel cared about and they know that this is someplace that can be some respite for them. I definitely felt that myself as a community member. Coming here, feeling like this is a respite from the shame and bullshit of nursing school, and really the rest of the world, really.

I feel like we can have that common bond between medical provider and community participant. Even just that language: Community participant. It's not doctor and patient. That power imbalance is inherent in that language. Instead it's "care provider and community participant." I like using that language... I think the

power imbalance is somewhat equalized in that because that way people feel like they can be more open about what's going on and whatever they need to talk about. "Look, I had unprotected sex with a trick and then had unprotected sex with my partner and now these symptoms are happening." They don't have to lie about it. They don't have to lie about it and then be all uncomfortable and feel judged and then have unanswered questions and confusion about their body, their symptoms.

At the same time, providers try not to assume common experiences or goals just because they might share other similarities with their service participants. Jaymee says:

I try to have the client lead me rather than me interject my opinion, my judgment about sex work or what they should do. Sex workers do that to each other all the time too: "Oh, honey. Don't do that." So many trans girls policing other trans girls' looks. "Oh, sweetie. You need to shave. You don't look fish [feminine]." Just ways to put each other down. [As a provider, I'm] honoring whatever space they're in and working from that.

Also realizing that where they're coming from may be informed by a lot of trauma. If they're using a lot of what maybe a provider would deem risky or self-destructive behavior, that might not be the case. That actually what they're doing is a lot less self-destructive for them than what they could be doing. When shaming someone about cigarette use, as I've gotten shamed about, I will say, "Well, it's better than what I could be doing." That's not a weird threat or anything like that. It's just an honest assessment of how I practice my harm reduction. Don't shy away from talking about self injury—talk about how to treat your wounds. Talk about vein care for injection users. Talk about chapstick if you want for smoking [crack].

In providing individual services, harm reduction providers work to help participants identify as many options as they can given the limiting circumstances of poverty, housing instability, and the imperative to earn money. Providers consciously shift the focus away from behavior and individual-level interventions, to focus on social, economic and political processes that affect health and well-being. Tim says:

I think Saint James is unique in that it's not a clinic that only does testing... Definitely even when you are talking about STIs, prevention isn't just wearing a condom. It's talking about the things in someone's life that is giving them access or preventing them from having choices about a variety of things. Condom use is one of those, but also there's housing and the custody of their child. Whether their brothel closed down. What's happening on the streets with policing? Or stuff around Prop 35 and them working collaboratively with someone who might get them in trouble. All of those things are related to prevention.

For example, after the passage of Proposition 35, the "Californians Against

Sexual Exploitation Act," funneled additional resources into law enforcement, Tim said,

I think in San Francisco, the DA has committed to not use that in a way that is abusive, but I think that people were really freaked out about it. I have had people be like, "I've heard now that I could be arrested as a pimp. My in call space shut down."

Tim explains how that fear affects people's safety:

Indoor sex work is safer. Collaborative sex work is safer. If you have a network of people that know where you are, have some idea about who's coming in there with you, that is a way that people are safer. When you're breaking down those relationships and making it be so that people have to work more independently or in a more isolated context, a lot of the safety networks break down. Or the people go to just the street and therefore are more impacted by violence on the street

Tim identifies the intersection of stigma and criminalization as a barrier to service provision and care.

When people are criminalized because of something they do, they're going to be hesitant about offering that information up to anyone. Even if someone doesn't have legal ramifications from that, they'll often have discriminatory ramifications... There's this thing where if someone reveals that they're a sex worker [in the hospital], they're going to be like "Oh, we're not going to give you any pain medication." There's an insinuation that all sex workers are drug addicts or drug users or that people are in bad situations they need to be rescued from.

There's a variety of different assumptions that are made about sex workers that can impact their ability to get just general comprehensive healthcare about what their needs are right now, instead of where their provider's assuming their needs are.

Solita feels like providing healthcare to people who are generally classified as undeserving by mainstream providers is a political statement in itself.

... working here, I definitely feel like is activism. Just providing healthcare to communities of people who are homeless and gender variant or transgender or sexual orientations that are all over the map. I sometimes even find myself challenged. I checked myself at one point when I realized that I had absolutely no idea what this person's gender was. I was just like, "Oh." I realized that I had made an assumption initially. I just have to have some patience with myself and move on with it and realize that's good for me to have that learning experience and to have that opportunity to serve somebody's needs in a respectful way.

Chapter 4 showed how many service providers categorize homeless people, trans people, drug users, and sex workers as undeserving of the same level of care, or make care provision contingent on participation in behavioral reform. In contrast, harm reduction providers like Solita, Jaymee and Juniper refuse to sort people into categories of deserving or undeserving of care, and express commitment to providing care in a way that focuses on the risk environment rather than only on individual behaviors. SJI providers' refusal to make access to resources contingent on behavioral reform challenges the dominant approaches to poverty management. To the extent that SJI staff members have had different experiences from participants, they draw on an ethos of "cultural humility," which entails critical examination of one's own standpoint, as well as respect for, and openness to, difference.

Comparison of participants' experiences at a peer-led health clinic and descriptions of accessing care elsewhere (discussed in Chapter 4) demonstrates how SJI contests stigma to provide more effective care to a population that is especially vulnerable to health risks and to discrimination by healthcare providers. Many providers at SJI draw on their own experiences working in the sex industry to destigmatize sex work and provide appropriate care. Providers who have never worked in the sex industry fight stigma by downplaying the role of service provider-as-expert and re-imagining care as collaboration between providers and participants. SJI's twin approaches of rejecting medical authority and affirming expertise that comes from lived experiences of doing sex work, using drugs, being trans or experiencing homelessness politicizes the process of service provision.

# 5.7 Harm reduction as a resource for policy advocacy and against criminalization

As discussed in Chapter 3, the criminalization of prostitution, drug use, and resting in public has a disproportionate impact on poor and homeless people who are forced to do these things in public space. Decriminalization would significantly improve the life chances of poor people, especially people of color, trans people, drug users and sex workers who are disproportionately affected by these laws.

As a policy response, harm reduction opposes criminalization. In San Francisco, SJI and other harm reduction-based service organizations have pushed for the decriminalization of all forms of sex work and drug use, as well as of resting in public space.

# Tim says:

Arresting someone doesn't help them. It doesn't put them into safe and supportive housing. It doesn't increase their ability to get education or access to different jobs. It doesn't do any of that. As an agency, I would love us to be leading that conversation. I would love us to be like, "Hey. We know the community. We know what's happening. Let us tell you what you should do if you really want to shift this dynamic," but we're not getting asked that. Finding a way to get a place at that table is extremely difficult.

Tim described his experience working on housing and employment needs with people who had criminal records or warrants for arrest:

When you have a criminal record, your ability to get housing is severely comprised. Especially with a lot of state supported housing programs. If you are on Section 8 housing, you get a drug arrest or you have an indecent exposure arrest, that housing ends... If you're already poor, chances are your access to employment is already pretty compromised. The options mostly available for you are selling drugs or sex. You're in this horrible position and being like, "What I need to do to get the money to survive is these things, but if I get caught doing them then my housing is going to go away."

Sometimes it does make people be like, "Well, I'm not going to do sex work anymore," but mostly it means people then just do sex work in more sketchy ways.

Tim describes the tension between providing harm reduction-based peer counseling and legal advice for people who are likely to experience arrest:

Part of it would be knowing your rights or what people can expect. What are ways that an arrest should happen and what are the ways it could happen? It's hard because on one hand, from a harm reduction stance, we're saying get the money up front because you don't want money to be conditional on you doing whatever the trick decides that they want you to do, or them doing the act and then not getting money. On the harm reduction side, we're saying, "Yeah, get the money up front." Then on the legal side, we're saying, "No. Don't get the money up front. Once you've accepted that money, then it's definitely an act of prostitution"... the thing is, if someone wants to arrest you, they probably will. That's what people tell me. I can go and do legal rights

trainings and they're like, "Great information, but that's not going to protect me."

# Jaymee says:

A lot of street-based sex workers that I've worked with have just been arrested on the streets for no fucking reason. Sometimes they've been in a sting operation where [police] are just like, "hey get in the car!" and on the street there are so few safety measures, so it's easy picking for cops to just criminalize... It's like a factory of churning out street-based sex work and then using that rhetoric and using those examples to criminalize sex work as a whole... It happens predominantly towards women and then beyond that, women of color. Beyond that, Black women and beyond that, Black transgender women... If you look at where transgender, Black, and feminine or womanhood all collide and then you add sex work to it, you will see a very high rate of murder. At Trans Day of Remembrance, you will see most transgender victims of crime being Black trans women and sex workers, usually during sex work... You live in the community and you will know just by sheer volume of the criminalization of this particular group of people.

It's the bigger picture. It's more looking at all of people's lives rather than just the sex work, just being Black, just being transgender, just being a woman. You'll see that people are criminalized that fit into those identities, either two or three or four, all of them or whatever. The way they're treated not only by the police, but by healthcare in their denial of service from healthcare is informed by their identity. Rather, it's society's reaction toward their identity, especially if they're read as a sex worker. They don't even have to say anything [about doing sex work to providers] because a lot of street-based sex workers, they aren't going to say shit. They're going to try to get as much out of the system as they can because, hello, that's how you survive. You don't even have to open your mouth and they'll [providers will still] tell you to leave.

Many providers at SJI expressed their frustration with helping participants navigate punitive bureaucracies and deal with other providers and systems that were violent or exclusionary toward sex workers, trans people, drug users and homeless people. Juniper says, "...there's a lot of bureaucracy that happens and red tape... It could be blockage to somebody who's vulnerable within systems."

The system that Juniper and many of the other staff see generating the most vulnerability is the carceral system. Juniper ties the physical, sexual and psychic violence against sex workers SJI serves to the criminalization of street-based sex workers:

...especially sex workers that are street-based that are vulnerable to a lot. There are different types of violence that can be out there and how they have been criminalized by the work that they're doing, criminalized and not only that, to the point where they're either raped, sexually assaulted, or demonized by the work they're doing or either killed. There's stories that are not being told or they're swept under the rug.

Juniper's own past experience being arrested and incarcerated in a sting operation deepened their commitment to fighting against the criminalization of sex workers, drug users, gender non-conforming people, and people of color. So while many providers ignore systems that generate vulnerability and instead focus on behavior, harm reduction providers like SJI are more likely to combine activism and advocacy with service provision.

Kyra has never been arrested, but when asked about barriers to sex worker health and safety, she highlighted the need for policy advocacy to decriminalize all form of sex work.

[Knowing that my work entailed breaking the law] definitely stressed me the fuck out because instead of just worrying about "Do I have condoms? Do I know this person? Do I feel safe in this situation?" I also had to be paranoid that this person was an undercover cop and was paranoid that I would get my friends in trouble or that this would be on my record. I've never been arrested and this on my record I felt like would just fuck up my life forever. I was like, I have to do this because there's no way else to get my needs met, but also if I get arrested it's

gonna be really bad. Constantly having that threat stressed me out all the time.

I want decriminalization of sex workers, of johns and other people involved in the industry. If it was decriminalized it would mean that we could have more community and work together to decrease stigma and increase protective factors and do a lot more skill-sharing. We wouldn't feel so disjointed as a community. Maybe we could even have unions! [laughs]

I don't think that sex work is wrong fundamentally, I don't think it's a sin, and so I don't think that there should be stigma associated with it. Placing the blame on the sex worker is wrong and so is placing the blame on the client because the need for sex workers has been around for thousands of years. Like the poster that we have in the back of the clinic. All the laws that they've tried to make against it hasn't got rid of it and so criminalizing the people buying sex isn't going to work and it doesn't make sense.

SJI's position on the ways in which criminalization heightens sex workers' vulnerability to violence and illness leads the organization and staff to advocate openly for the decriminalization of all forms of consensual sex work. SJI also does policy advocacy work (on a more limited scale) fighting against the overlapping criminalization of HIV, drug use, and homelessness. SJI's advocacy has shaped local policy through the use of narratives about health and harm reduction, and partnership with the city's Department of Public Health. Between 2012-2013, SJI spearheaded a successful citywide campaign against the use of condoms as evidence in arrests and trials related to prostitution.

This resulted in the passage of a local ordinance banning the use of condoms as evidence of prostitution. The "No Condoms as Evidence" campaign garnered the support of the San Francisco Department of Public Health and resulted in the 2013 revision of local police codes to prevent officers from confiscating, photographing, or destroying condoms, or using the possession of condoms to charge people with

prostitution-related crimes. Subsequently, Assemblymember Tom Ammiano introduced Assembly Bill 336 to ban the use of condoms as evidence of prostitution throughout the state of California. While "No Condoms as Evidence" failed at a state level, its passage at the local level points to the local resonance of harm reduction and health frames.

In 2013, Tim explained,

We've been having more conversations about [laws and police practices] recently, just to gather information about what is people's understanding of condoms [as evidence]? Is that something that they knew about before? I also do disseminate that information so that they're talking about it with their friends and knowing themselves... I also have conversations with people about noticing trends in the clinic. "Hey I've noticed we're having a lot less participants come in. What is happening in the area that you work or that you live that it might be creating that scenario? Have there been more cops around? If so, what does policing look like? You've been seeing this undercover a lot. What does that undercover look like?"... So that if it's relevant I can keep track of and also give information.

Tim says that not carrying condoms "has been part of someone's conditions of parole" in Fremont and other California cities. "What happens here is that people get this message, 'If you carry condoms, you can be arrested.' Whether or not that's even true, it's a message that people are getting so therefore they're not wanting to do that."

SJI and other sex worker organizations worked with Human Rights Watch to document how the use of condoms as evidence of prostitution was leading to mass arrests of transgender women in four U.S. cities, including San Francisco, as part of the nationwide campaign. SJI then lobbied the San Francisco Department of Public Health to petition for an end to the use of condoms as grounds for arrest and

conviction. The SJI partnered with DPH to collect surveys from street-based sex workers about the use of condoms as evidence of prostitution along during street outreach in order to document the prevalence of police confiscation and destruction of condoms.

After "No Condoms as Evidence" became local law, clinic staff immediately began to spread the word. On the street, SJI Outreach workers passed out condoms packaged in custom printed wrappers that said, in large block letters: "This condom is legal. Do not confiscate." In the middle of the wrapper was a picture of a yellow police tape labeled "evidence" and crossed out. Staff and outreach volunteers gleefully distributed these special edition condoms along with cards with the SFPD logo stating that condoms could no longer be confiscated, destroyed, or used as evidence of prostitution by police officers. However, policy advocacy becomes more difficult when the issues at hand are less clearly related to public health.

# Tim says:

A lot of stuff that it's important that someone who is in a position of power, resources, step up and be critical about, also puts you in a bad place with funders... I think that is really difficult to be an organization that does activism. Sometimes it's worked for us. I think with the condoms and stuff, it worked for us, but also sometimes it doesn't work for us. When we're speaking up about how these human trafficking legislations affect our community, then you get people saying, "Oh so you think that child prostitution is okay." That impacts our ability to be sustainable and continue to get support.

I think it's really difficult. Everyone I know has this thing that San Francisco had a very unique and amazing activist movement and then non-profits fucked it over. It's true. You cannot speak as freely when you are trying to please your funders. I think that Saint James is definitely pretty unique of the HIV prevention organizations I know and our willingness to step out of the line, but I also at the same time

have to be more measured in how I say something because I know that people are not going to be able to hear it.

While liberal approaches to harm reduction focus more narrowly on "meeting people where they're at" and providing resources without judgment in the context of service provision, radical harm reduction also incorporates structural transformation and policy advocacy. Radical harm reduction organizations like SJI and TGIJP (a social movement organization that provides a harm reduction-based re-entry program for transgender women coming out of prison), use service provision as a vehicle for social change. Radical harm reduction is consistent with activism (partly through what Majic calls "oppositional implementation,"), while liberal harm reduction advances the more limited project of nonjudgmental and non-stigmatizing service provision, as well as advocacy of the decriminalization of health-promoting behaviors. For example, while liberal harm reduction agencies like the Department of Public Health and more mainstream harm reduction-based service organizations advocate for the decriminalization of condoms and safer injection equipment, radical harm reduction organizations like SJI and TGIJP advocate for ending police violence against poor, Black, and gender non-conforming people, decriminalizing sex work and drug use, and prison abolition. SJI and TGIJP are different from more mainstream organizations because they are peer-led (TGIJP is led by formerly incarcerated transgender women), and because they grew out of social movements. While TGIJP is primarily a social movement organization that provides limited harm reduction resources and SJI is primarily a service organization that is deeply involved in social movements, both organizations exemplify a radical approach that goes beyond service provision. The

following sections of this chapter will describe the ways in which harm reduction at SJI as well as at other local harm reduction organizations contests identity-based stigma and interactional violence at the level of service provision, and then how harm reduction is a resource for the contestation of criminalization, medicalization and administrative violence at the level of policy.

# 5.8 Accessing harm reduction services for sex workers at SJI

Participants who received services at SJI and other harm reduction organizations said that harm reduction organizations made them feel accepted. Calvin says he has had bad experiences with other clinics, and likes SJI because the staff treat him "like a person":

...a couple of other clinics in the TL... I won't go over there anymore. I just won't go... the wait is bad enough, but then you wait all that time, the doctor comes in and he looks at your chart, he looks at you, "hmm, uh huh," looks at the chart and then looks at you again. He's like "hmm uh huh." You already know right then and there what you're going to get so you know, it's like, before he even says a word to you it's like, damn, can I just go ahead and go? Don't even bother with it. I'll just leave. I won't come back again, I promise. I won't waste your time.

In contrast, Calvin says:

Here [at SJI], you can talk to the staff about just about anything. The staff here is really great, I like the staff here a lot. There's a couple of them, I've got a secret crush on. You know, coming here, it always feels good, it feels right, for a lot of different reasons. You know, you always feel as though you're welcome. You're not treated like, you know, like they treat you out there... you still feel like a person when you leave. You know, you feel like a person when you leave, that's very important.

Jay remembers how he first found out about Saint James:

A home girl had told me about this place... like you should really try out Saint James, they have a lot of resources for sex workers, former, and recent sex workers. And I said, "you know what, I'm going to give it a go." So I came in here the first time, I was terrified. I was totally scared out of my mind, like why am I going to a clinic for sex workers? And first I thought it was just medical, because I wasn't really familiar with this aspect of it, that they had resources and services like this for people who do sex work. And so when I came here I met at the time there was a [staff member] who was working here, bless her heart, I miss her so much, she's amazing... she was so welcoming and so sweet... I'm very heartfelt, because they've known me since 14 years ago. You know Tim? He's known me 14 years, and you know they're just so loving toward me. And no matter what happens, they always say, "how are you?" And to me that's welcoming. Because it's like there's this sincerity here. I mean it's kind of like home for me here. Like I feel safe coming here.

Jay says that the harm reduction organizations he works with have helped him survive, not just by connecting him with HIV medication and housing, but because staff demonstrated sincere concern for his well-being.

Saint James Infirmary has saved my life, and many different organizations, and I owe a little bit to each of them because they gave me so much hope to live my life healthier and to live my life happier, no matter what I'm doing, if I'm trying to make money on the streets; if I'm meeting clients online, whatever that is, as long as I'm being safe while doing it.

Jay says that at SJI,

the staff have been nothing but supportive. The counselors, the volunteers, and everyone. And this agency out of all agencies was my starting point, and it saved my life. And I still access services with the Saint James Infirmary because of the people that work here, and the people that volunteer and are involved and participants... I learned to be sexually safe. I learned about STDS... because working in the sex industry, I had no idea what all this shit was. I was like, what the hell is gonorrhea? But the thing was, they knew how to answer these questions... it was professional, but real. I didn't feel like they were reading out of a book, I thought they were talking from experiences...

The reason it felt "real," Jay says, was because most of the staff had experience working in the sex trade. He credits SJI's peer-led model with helping him develop a safer approach to sex work:

It not just sets a purpose for other people, but it also sets an example, that you can still do this work, but be safe at doing it and making better decision processes in how you handle those situations...

T., a Black transgender woman who experienced criminalization and gender based violence in jails, prisons and service organizations throughout most of her life, says:

When I came to San Francisco, I guess because of the liberalness of San Francisco, things began to change for us. I learned about St. James. I had no idea that a place like this existed, because it's not in Los Angeles and—and we started coming here. I started receiving my hormones. I heard about harm reduction, and that was literally—coming here was the first time I ever even heard that word, harm reduction. When she and P. first came to San Francisco, T. says, "me and my husband were kind of like, new to here and it was scary because I didn't know this area. And, but at the same time, it was like, [pause] pre-recovery, we knew we wanted to get high and I didn't want him to go out and do nothing stupid. So, coming here [to SJI] also allowed me to meet girls that were still in sex work and they told me about the different streets to go on and different stuff.

T. said: "Saint James was the place to be because everybody that came here, whether they were actually still sex working or not and whether they knew that I was or not, I never felt judged here... Saint James was the very first place that we felt welcome." Before she came to San Francisco, T. was repeatedly mis-gendered by service providers. At SJI, she found medical and service providers who accepted her gender identity and supported the goals she defined for herself. My doctor "helped me

get these," she says, gesturing at her breasts, which was difficult because "crack and hormones don't mix."

## T. describes her experience with her doctor at SJI:

I'm smoking crack, I'm trying to be on hormones and all this... Here, they give you vials [of hormones], they give you your [estrogen] pills, and I was on crack. And, girls wanted to buy them... [My doctor] never judged me, but he would ask probing questions that would literally force me to start telling the truth. One of them was, it was like...'I'm giving you this and the doses that you're on and the amount of times that you're supposed to take them, you should start seeing something and nothing is there [gesturing at her chest], so what's going on?' So, it allowed me to literally be honest with him and because of my honesty, it was like, "you know what, we're going to manage you." So, they started—instead of giving me [hormones], they started keeping my stuff here, which forced me to come, which forced me to take them, which forced—and ended up giving me results. ...and, I can honestly say that [my doctor] and [another staff member] and several people here played a part in my recovery.

After she recovered from her addiction, T. became a minister at a Bay Area church frequented by many transgender women. "When I got involved with [the church], that's when life really, really started taking off because I was able to join spirituality into my recovery... I ended up becoming a transgender minister. And, because of that, I—that ended up opening different doors as far as like, being able to go different places and speak and share my—my personal story." T. found that she was an excellent public speaker and a natural minister. T. remembers:

I grew up—my—my mother wasn't fit at the time to have kids, so my great grandmother raised me from birth to 12 years old. I totally believe that she knew that I would be who I am today. She allowed me to play with dolls, all that. From 12 to 18 my mother's sister took over because they felt my grandmother was getting too old, so me and my other—my sibling right before me, moved in with my aunt and her kids. She was

Pentecostal. She was very much, "you're going to die and go to hell because you're gay."

I always loved church, loved church music and I got what they call "saved" or "converted" or whatever when I was 17 years old. However, living with her and accepting for myself Christ, but living with her telling me, "well because you accept it, now you have to change," it was a conflict. So, I—that was one of the reasons I honestly feel I ended up getting on drugs. I ended up, from like 19 until—all the way into my 30s, early 40s... I just stayed away from churches. It was like, I'm not going. I already know what you're going to say, I'm not going. And, honestly—honestly, truthfully, it wasn't until me and my husband came to San Francisco that I ended up [pause] okay, getting a whole new view on religion and faith and all that. Because today...I don't look at myself as being religious. I look at myself as being more spiritual."

It is largely because T.'s drug addiction grew out her family's rejection of her gender identity and out of wider patterns of social exclusion of transgender women that SJI's approach was so powerful, and so different from what she experienced in the past. T.'s doctor affirmed her gender identity and listened to her with respect. San Francisco's harm reduction organizations provided a space for political organizing that validated T.'s identities and practices as a Black transgender woman. Through her connections at harm reduction organizations, T says:

I ended up getting involved with the medical marijuana community and I ended up doing a lot of protesting in and around marijuana use and the rights. Especially during the time that Obama was coming to San Francisco. Me and my husband do a lot of protesting... My husband started volunteering. I would volunteer when I could because I was in school. And they did a campaign for sex workers and asked me and my husband to join; that's why we're on that little poster [advocating for the decriminalization of sex work] and everything. And [coming to SJI] allowed me to meet other trans women but also it allowed me to meet trans men and actually get into that community because I knew nothing, once again, even of trans men.

And, with that, that broadened my knowledge on HIV. It broadened my knowledge on different STDs. It allowed me to actually start going out into the streets and having condoms on me at times and being able to pass them out to my sisters that I knew were still out there, especially the ones that were out there and still on drugs because like I said earlier, tricks don't like condoms, you know, so a lot of us just did not carry them. And, because of doing that, from here, I ended up getting involved with the San Francisco AIDS Foundation. They have a group called Black Brothers Esteem and when it started it was mostly Black brothers, but as it grew, it began to welcome trans women and I ended up getting involved with them.

T. also became involved with TGIJP after meeting executive director Janetta Johnson, who helped T. get a lawyer after she was incarcerated in the San Francisco jail and got her involved in anti-prison organizing. TGIJP, which as of 2013 shares office space with SJI, has a "grassroots harm reduction re-entry program" that combines peer-based help navigating the city's service bureaucracies with political education.

After leaving dozens of drug rehabilitation centers that mis-gendered her and experiencing religious rejection of her gender identity throughout most of her adult life, T. finally found a home in the harm reduction, activist, and spiritual communities of the Bay Area. The nonjudgmental approach of the service organizations she interacted with helped her to stop using drugs. Today, T. and her husband P. have subsidized housing, and both are working in the formal economy. The skills she gained volunteering at SJI helped T. get a part-time job as a residential counselor in a homeless shelter, and more recently a full-time job facilitating harm reduction groups for transgender women at a local HIV/AIDS service organization.

#### 5.9 A Harm reduction response to HIV

One advantage of a harm reduction approach is that it helps combat self-blame and social stigma that can lead to depression. Jay remembers:

When I found out I was positive, for the first year I was really sick, so I wasn't able to do nothing. But I was suggested to get involved in organizations like Shanti, the San Francisco AIDS Foundation... people kept saying 'why don't you come check this out, come check this group out, or come to this support group, this would really help you with what you're going through being positive and newly diagnosed with full-blown AIDS, because full-blown AIDS is a whole different gist, than being diagnosed just pos, it's a whole different dynamic, and I got really depressed. Like for the first year, I didn't think I was going to make it, to be honest with you... I didn't want to be bothered with anyone. I didn't know how I was going to connect to people, tell people... I didn't tell my family for years, you know and the thing now is, I'm not ashamed of it because I'm alive, you know. Like that shame went away. Like a lot of people I know live with that shame every day, and they've been around for fifteen, twenty years. I don't have to do that. Because I'm able to talk.

Jay's shame went away slowly, through his interaction with a number of different harm reduction based service organizations. Jay started getting involved in harm reduction groups at the San Francisco Aids Foundation. The groups helped him deal with his feelings surrounding his diagnosis.

I just- I wanted to live. And whatever it took, service-wise to do it, I accessed it. Like at the Foundation, they told me about harm reduction. I didn't even know what the hell harm reduction was... it changed my view of life and people. I used to see only black or white. Now I see the black, the white, and the gray; which I think the gray is the third eye, really.

## 5.10 A harm reduction response to drug use

Jay describes harm reduction as a source of "insight," beyond the black and white thinking that characterized "conservative" upbringing. Jay explains how harm reduction is different from what he calls "the black or white":

I think the black or white, you're set in a certain way. Like I am not on the abstinence track, I'm not going to lie. I do use medical cannabis to deal with my cravings for speed. And anxiety and sleep and appetite and for my health, but that's my harm reduction... I don't see weed as a

drug: it's grown from the earth... it saved my ass—I mean it's helped me gain weight, it's helped me improve my health, my sanity, it's just like my emotions, my sleep deprivation. I mean it's done dramatic things, and that's really my harm reduction... That's the difference, which to me makes it an addiction or makes it something that is medically used.

Jay's weight dropped dramatically when he was using speed, "because I was just doing drugs instead of eating," he says. "And I'm not proud of it, but I'm not ashamed, because you know I'm learning from it, and I'm able to help other people.

By being open and talking about it openly and clear." I watched Jay talk about his own experience with a friend who was also dealing with drug addiction at a harm reduction service organization. When I asked him about the interaction, he explained,

I see a little bit of reflection of her in me. And I say like you know I've done that. I've been there. You know, and if I haven't, I'm real with it: I'm like no, I can't relate. You know why? Sit there and tell someone you understand if you don't because people will know... they will know if you really are telling the truth or if you're BSing them... I think my perspective has become more open, so I'm able to really be honest with self and other people and just really when I need help, not be ashamed to reach out my hand and ask for it... because where will I be afterward if I don't? ... And to know I have the clarity and understanding to be supportive of someone else is making such a huge difference.

Jay remembers before he started going to harm reduction groups, he couldn't stop using meth for more than a few hours a day. "I was using seven days a week with my lover at the time that was alive. I was going through domestic violence..." Jay's very structured week, attending harm reduction groups at a different organization every day, helped him reduce his drug use and feel hopeful about his future, in addition to feeling like part of a community.

Jay describes one of the groups as "a harm reduction group for guys: Bi, gay, heteroflexible men." He says, "They serve pizza, they play music, sometimes they have a movie they play. Their syringe access care in one room where people can access stuff. They've got super-dosed coffee..." At this group, facilitated by a caring staff member, Jay and other participants talk about "how their week's going, and what's going good and bad," developing strategies for reducing drug use and meeting their personal goals. Crucially, the Jay's group does not require him to change anything about his identity; he decides whether and how he wants to change his behaviors and practices, and his housing or ability to access resources is not contingent on behavior change.

Jay says, "the structure is what keeps me out of trouble," but also highlights the importance of nonjudgmental service provision: "I'm trying to be abstinent from speed, you know and it's a battle, but you know I'm making the best of it and I realized to my self where the harm reduction comes in: If I ever slip, don't beat myself up; pick myself up and keep going." He pauses. "Because that's what's going to keep me alive. And that's where harm reduction falls in my life." He elaborates, "Because, you know, don't look at it and beat yourself up in regret, because regret means you're holding on to it. And when you do that, you don't let it go and be able to move on, you stay stuck and stagnant in my opinion."

Some programs make people feel like if they do relapse or "slip," they have failed. Jay explains, "If I feel like I failed, I'm going to go further." In contrast, if he

forgives himself for a "slip," Jay feels more in control, like he can reduce his drug use or return to his efforts to abstain from using drugs.

Melissa, whose experiences with criminalization and medicalization were discussed in the previous chapters, volunteers as a "secondary syringe exchanger," a drug user who collects used needles from her peers, gives them new needles, and brings boxes of used syringes to local syringe access centers. She talks about local needle exchange centers as a resource in the fight to decriminalize drug use:

I think that our needle exchange [at a different organization in the Tenderloin] and the people who work there are *such* good advocates for like, "Cops stay away; this is like not your space to fuck with people," and I've even actually had good experiences where the woman at the needle exchange pretty much told the cops to kick rocks, like "We got this handled here, there is no one, no one's dying; this is what we're here for, we have this handled so let us do our job. You take a step back." I thought it was really amazing. They [cops] were kinda there pokin' their nose in, but I thought the woman handled it really well. So I think that they're great. I don't necessarily feel myself at risk. It does make me a little nervous that the cops know my face a little bit, so if they were to see me going into a needle exchange and see me on the street they could maybe stop me... I have heard other people like the cops would come fuck with them for jaywalking or something else, near there. That was like their opener... Me personally, I know my rights. I think the thing that I do, I just try and spread the word. I go to needle exchanges and I do the secondary syringe exchange program and so I think spreading the word on the street is the most that I do. I try to make sure everyone knows about Narcan [to prevent drug overdose deaths] because I think it's so important, like the more people that can know about that the better... it should be known in every community, not just the drug community. Because maybe you aren't in the scene but you know someone that is. So I just try and really spread the word. I've lived in other cities before. There's so many amazing resources in this city that are out there and I think a lot of people just don't know about them. I think we're really lucky to have them here.

Melissa's description of her relationship to needle exchanges demonstrates that she understands them as an assertion of drug users' rights to health and freedom from police harassment. She also describes the differences between receiving care at harm reduction-based organizations and through other providers. She says:

I really wish that [medical providers] would be more informed about how to treat people that are in recovery, that are pregnant... Other hospitals, you're pretty much like a black sheep. It's like 'Oh my god, you're delivering a child on methadone? It's like standard to deal with babies that come on methadone and they know what to do with withdrawals whereas like other hospitals don't know what to do. I wish they had more knowledge on that.

She credits a harm reduction heroin users' group for mothers at a local drug rehabilitation center with helping her stop using drugs. Melissa attended the group once a week to learn about pregnancy on methadone. Women in the group talk about "how their baby was," what happened to the baby, and how to stay healthy during the pregnancy. Melissa says:

Women with children, that are going through that, or have been through that, are very supportive of other women. So it's a really, I went into it with an open mind because I'm usually not into things like that, but I tried to go into it with an open mind and I'm so glad I did because it's been probably the most helpful thing for me.

Melissa's favorite thing about the group was that it was a non-judgmental forum to discuss motherhood with other women who shared many of her experiences and struggles. The women also provided more accurate health information that many other medical and service providers Melissa dealt with, who treated her like a criminal and a pariah.

Because she was able to stop using heroin while on methadone, Melissa had a healthy baby, and she and her partner moved into subsidized housing that became available after the baby was born. Melissa was able to go back to school at a local community college.

# 5.11 A harm reduction response to homelessness

Advocates of a harm reduction response to homelessness oppose interventions that focus narrowly on homeless people's behavior and on policing homeless people out of public space. Rather than identifying homeless people's behavior as a cause of homelessness, proponents of harm reduction recognize structural determinants like the scarcity of affordable housing and labor market exclusion. TGIJP's Grassroots Reentry Program for transgender people coming out of jail and prison exemplifies a harm reduction approach to homelessness. When TGIJP members are released from incarceration, staff and volunteers help them find temporary housing to avoid ending up on the street, whenever possible. Instead of telling homeless people that they will be able to get housing if they change their behaviors or identities, harm reduction providers advocate for the provision of housing that is not contingent on abstinence from drug use, sex work, or other behaviors that are grounds for expulsion from medicalizing housing providers like Serenity Village. A harm reduction approach to homelessness opposes criminalization. For example, in response to frequent police sweeps of homeless camps, advocates pointed out the severe shortage of affordable housing and even temporary shelter in San Francisco. When public officials used the medicalizing myth of service resistance to justify the destruction of homeless people's

tents, advocates protested by raising money for new tents, which they distributed to homeless campers. Harm reduction providers argued that the encampments were not caused, as conservative politicians claimed, by homeless people's refusal to access services. Instead, the encampments were a visible manifestation of San Francisco's growing class stratification, which the Mayor and conservative Supervisors sought to cover up by blaming homeless people for their poverty (Waldron 2016, Zirin 2016).

#### **5.12** Harm reduction in action

The frequency with which harm reduction providers and service participants organize and attend protests demonstrates continuity in the legacy of harm reduction as a radical social movement by marginalized groups. My field notes from one protest demonstrate how harm reduction organizations can promote identity-based activism that stretches beyond the promotion of physical health:

This is San Francisco on the eve of the 2016 Superbowl: The waterfront district cordoned off, advertisements everywhere in flashing lights, on billboards: Visa, Verizon, Pepsi. Suddenly there are glossy posters everywhere, with a photo of a young, white, woman looking desperately in the mirror; frail and heavily made up. Block letters read: "CAN YOU SEE HER? RECOGNIZE HUMAN TRAFFICKING" with phone numbers for the Department of Homeland Security and Immigration and Customs Enforcement. The spectacle of sex trafficking, of homelessness, set against the glitter of corporate investment, serves to justify the presence of Department of Homeland Security officers, the snipers on the rooftops, the hundreds of police.

Local activists do not miss the opportunity to turn the spotlight to criminalization and policing in the nation's most economically stratified city. Evenings leading up to the event, the streets are alive with protests against the recent murder of Mario Woods, a young Black man by San Francisco police, protests against the constant harassment and displacement of homeless people.

San Francisco has spent \$5 million of taxpayers' money to host a "party" in honor of the 2016 Superbowl. The police department has

stepped up enforcement of anti-homeless ordinances, evicting people from a homeless camp while the Department of Public Works confiscated and destroyed hundreds of homeless people's tents and belongings. Meanwhile, the weather has been rainy, shelter waiting lists are over one hundred people long on a daily basis and waiting lists for subsidized housing are closed.

Tonight's protest, organized under the banner #tacklehomelessness is the largest San Francisco protest against the criminalization of homelessness in recent memory. Hundreds of police in full riot gear line the sidewalk of the Embarcadero, the tourist district near the "Superbowl City," a heavily guarded monument to corporate advertising. To get here, activists have wound their way past security checkpoints, under the watchful eyes of snipers who perch on the rooftops of hotels. There are so many police that former California Assemblymember Tom Ammiano, who is speaking tonight as the sponsor of the first iteration of a failed California bill to decriminalize homelessness, gestures at the rows of uniformed officers surrounding the protestors and quips: "What are we, ISIS? How many cops can we have? Who's paying for that?" He grins charmingly and adds: "What am I going to do, hit them with my purse? I'm so threatening, aren't I?"

Activists plan to set up a tent city on the sidewalk, and assert the rights of homeless San Franciscans displaced by the Superbowl City to public space. One of the officers says into a megaphone, "Your tents are in violation of [the ordinance against camping]. If they are not removed immediately, they will be confiscated and destroyed." There is a smattering of incredulous laughter at the irony of violating the very ordinance we're protesting, but the organizers are prepared. On cue, protestors lift the tents off the ground and they are transformed from code violations into free speech. The tents hover a meter above the sidewalk, each held up by four protestors— one holding each corner—against a backdrop of seething clouds. The sky changes color, and everything feels temporary.

[Name redacted], hired as part of Saint James's "CDC team" after the organization received a large grant from the Center for Disease Control, holds the microphone in one hand. She is here to represent SJI and the sex workers the organization serves, many of whom are marginally housed and homeless. As San Francisco gentrifies, non-profit organizations—especially harm reduction organizations—have been evicted and priced out of the city at alarming rates: The Homeless Youth Alliance recently lost its lease and now operates out of vans, and SJI—located a block away from the new Twitter headquarters—was informed two months ago that the owner of their building would be selling to a wealthy buyer. Saint James would need to either find a new location, or leave the city.

A red bandana covers [Name's] nose and mouth. Crowded around her, photographers, newscasters and protesters are watching. Behind her, activists hold a green tent, emblazoned with the slogan "Stop stealing our homes, we have a right to rest!" a few feet above the sidewalk.

"I'm born and raised in San Francisco. Where's the Frisco natives at?" she yells to resounding cheers.

"We recognize that we're born in Ohlone land, Yelamu, the village of Yelamu. And we're born and raised here. And we're struggling. The families are struggling... I have my face covered cause I'm not trying to just represent myself. I'm standing with the people that can't be here: My sisters that are in jail. My family that's sick, that's dope sick, that can't get up because they're suffering. People that are using drugs because they're going through it. It's hard out here. And I wanna ask you. I wanna ask you police officer, who's the bigger criminal, who is the bigger criminal? [Name], officer [Name]? Who is the bigger criminal, the man that smokes crack to get by, and he could get arrested and thrown in jail, or the Noe Valley housewife that's off her Adderall all day?"

The crowd breaks into cheers.

"Everyone is doing drugs in this city. We're using drugs in America because its part of our culture. It got sold to us, drug companies made profits. And what is all of this for? For what? Why are you causing our people to suffer? Why are you hurting people? Justice for Mario Woods! Justice for Alex Nieto! Justice for all the people that are getting hurt and scared. Threatened. Threatened because these police officers are criminalizing people for the things that we need to do to survive to try to make it.

And I wanna recognize that I'm here with my sisters, brothers and everyone from Saint James Infirmary and Transgender Gender Variant and Intersex Justice Project. We are a clinic for current and former sex workers, OK. Hos! Hos! People that's been in the sex trade, OK?

And we're standing here and asking you again, who's the bigger criminal?"

She points in the direction of the police.

"The people that are out here, criminalizing our community. And they're so hypocritical, right. And their hypocrisy is showing. Pura hipocresía! Ustedes son unas hipócritas! Dicen que les importan estas mujeres que están aquí trabajando? You care about human trafficking? Who's seen something about human trafficking in the newspaper or on the TV?"

The protestors clap their hands.

"Right, they're talking about human trafficking. Well who's trafficking people, when the federal government is deporting people out

here? And sending people over to the border, to their death, en Honduras en Centroamérica, México? Who's the human trafficker?

And I'm telling you police; you don't know how it is out here. People are gonna do what they need to survive. In a capitalist society, people are gonna do whatever it is that they need to survive. And our youth are going through it, OK our youth are going through it. You claim to care about people being trafficked or whatever, but there's girls who were like me being exposed to this shit at thirteen, fourteen years old because they didn't have people... the services that they needed.

The city owes *us*. If everybody who had come to this little Superbowl fest paid a dollar, what could we have done for our city? What could we have done for our people? You owe us! You owe *us*, right? And we wanna say fire [Police] Chief Suhr, you know what I mean. But we know that it's bigger than that. It's not about these cops. Its not about Chief Suhr. It's about this way of thinking that money is more important than everything, when it's not. We need to defend life, and that's what we're here for."

[Name] catches her breath as the crowd cheers.

"We're getting evicted, you know what I mean. Our little clinic. It's the only clinic for sex workers in the whole country. And you know again I wanna say some people use 'sex workers' some people call it different things, you know what I mean, it looks different for all of us, for men and women that do this, that have done this. And we're the only ones in the whole country when it's a multimillion dollar industry. And so, we're gonna be in the Tenderloin. We're here for you, for all the people that's out there going through it, you know I hope you can hear me. The message is that we have to take care of each other. We must love and protect each other. Black Lives Matter. Black Trans Lives Matter. Stop killing our sisters and murdering these women out here. Right they would say that about, if it was a woman working, they would say "no human involved," right? If she was killed. The system doesn't care about the people. All of this for what? For visa? For Verizon? To make their money. Who's really selling themselves? Who's selling San Francisco? Who's selling our future?"

[Name's] speech, which interweaves criticism of capitalism, racism and police violence with assertions of marginalized groups' right to public space, provides a vivid illustration of the differences between harm reduction and medicalizing approaches.

[Name's] speech politicizes health and encourages sex workers and homeless people

to stand up against discriminatory policing practices. Many other service organizations would not allow one of their staff members to give a speech like this one. But harm reduction organizations have been at the forefront of Bay Area social movements for economic, racial and gender justice, asserting that poor people, people of color and gender non-conforming people deserve access to public space in San Francisco. For example, SJI joined more than a dozen other harm reduction service organizations at a resource fair and protest march in support of the Homeless Bill of Rights to decriminalize homelessness in 2013. At the resource fair before the protest march, harm reduction organizations provided health resources to homeless people, including clean syringes, condoms, and HIV tests. The resource fair was organized not just for the purpose of social provision, but for the purpose of political protest; to assert poor people's rights to health and life in public space. TGIJP has led marches for Black Lives Matter and Black Trans Lives Matter, as well as protests against antitransgender violence in San Francisco's shelter system. In 2016, SJI passed out condoms at "415 day" in a public park, asserting sex workers' and native San Franciscans' claim to public space at a protest against police brutality and gentrification.

As a practice of service provision, a policy intervention and a social movement, radical harm reduction contests the administration of race, gender and reform by poverty management bureaucracies and instead advocates for decriminalization that would improve the lives of people experiencing intersectional marginality: Homeless people, people of color and gender non-conforming people.

Previous chapters showed how criminal and medical rationales combine to create a web of overlapping punishment and reform, so that the carceral and rehabilitation systems join to re-make poor individuals as subjects able to survive capitalism, while broader social inequalities continue unabated. These projects reduce neither the prevalence of poverty, nor population-level disparities. Criminalization and medicalization are individualizing approaches because they manage scarcity by obscuring its structural roots. Shuffling people in and out of jails, treatment centers, shelters and hospitals, the dominant responses to poverty do nothing to end it. The discourses that legitimate criminalization and medicalization promote individual-level interventions, but these responses to poverty actually function to perpetuate group-specific forms of disadvantage and population-level disparities.

As responses to poverty, criminalization and medicalization sort and stratify, creating racialized and gendered forms of marginality. Criminalization and medicalization are approaches built on the assumption that there's nothing wrong with the social order—just with poor people. In contrast, harm reduction assumes that the problem is social, not just individual. These assumptions have very different repercussions for the practices of service provision and policy.

By recognizing how the dominant approaches to managing poverty limit life chances, and by contesting the discourses and practices of punishment and reform, harm reduction leaves an opening for social change. This chapter has shown that harm reduction works at two levels: As an approach to providing services and as a policy alternative. As an interactional strategy, harm reduction fights against stigma. The

refusal of harm reduction providers to sort people into categories of deservingness based on their homeless status, their drug use, their sex work, challenges the medicalization of poverty. Refusing to administer life chances, harm reduction providers reject medical authority and embrace a participatory ethic of care. As an approach to service provision, liberal harm reduction contests stigma and normalizes marginalized practices. As a social movement, radical harm reduction fights against the structural conditions that create and enforce poverty.

Harm reduction is a third response to poverty that scholars of criminalization and medicalization have overlooked, and scholars of social change-oriented service organizations have not theorized as a poverty management approach. Harm reduction is not just the philosophy of a few politically engaged service organizations, but an alternative approach to poverty management. The institutionalization of harm reduction in many service organizations as well as through public health policies of some American cities, including San Francisco, challenges the sweeping criminalization of poor people involved in street economies. More mainstream liberal approaches do not go as far in fostering political engagement, but do provide alternatives to criminalizing and medicalizing approaches. By shifting policy responses away from arrest and incarceration, harm reduction approaches can improve working conditions and even facilitate economic mobility for homeless people engaged in criminalized work. Furthermore, because of its emphasis on the provision of resources, rather than on punishment or moral reform, harm reduction can encourage political participation. As the examples of SJI and TGIJP show,

organizations that take a radical approach to harm reduction are often peer-led, which bolsters their mobilizing potential.

### CHAPTER 6

#### CONCLUSION

This dissertation has used the unique case of currently and formerly homeless people who have worked in the sex trade to examine three different approaches to managing poverty in U.S. cities. The experiences of this specific group illuminate broader patterns of poverty management effects. Homeless people who have worked in the sex trade often experience criminalizing and medicalizing interventions. This makes it possible to trace the effects of both poverty management approaches in people's lives. Their experiences show how poor people can be pushed into the informal economy in ways specific to their race and gender identities, and demonstrate the relationships between formal labor market exclusion, low wages and an inadequate safety net. Their experiences also illustrate how the criminalization and medicalization of poverty perpetuate racial and gender stratification.

San Francisco is a unique city in many ways, but in others it is similar to other U.S. cities. Although harm reduction service agencies can be found in urban areas throughout the U.S., San Francisco's activist history means that harm reduction is more entrenched as an official response to poverty than in most other cities. The unique case of the Saint James Infirmary provides a window into an organization that takes a harm reduction approach to both sex work and homelessness, in sharp contrast to criminalizing and medicalizing interventions that dominate U.S. poverty management. Recruiting research participants from SJI, in addition to recruiting from the streets, provided an opportunity to analyze experiences with a peer-led harm

reduction approach to sex work and homelessness. By recruiting participants who had experienced multiple types of interventions, I was able to trace experiences with all three approaches in different peoples lives. Future research could do this more systematically, for example through Qualitative Comparative Analysis (Ragin 1994, 2009).

Each chapter of this dissertation advanced a separate argument, all of which contribute to the elaboration of a broader typology of individualizing and structurally transformative approaches to poverty management. Analyzing the effects of different poverty management interventions, this dissertation shows that whether someone is classified as in need of punishment or reform is not only based on their behavior, but also on race, gender and sexuality. Scholars of criminalization and medicalization have not paid adequate attention to how the legal and bureaucratic regulation of both race and gender perpetuate inequality. Taking an intersectional approach to the analysis of my research participants' life and work histories, I argue that through criminalization and medicalization, the poverty management system constructs racialized and gendered categories of exclusion.

Whether and how police and service providers perceive someone as a victim who needs to be saved, a criminal who should be locked up, or as in need of reform has more to do with how the poverty management system constructs race and gender than with individuals' behaviors or income strategies. Comparison of experiences with punitive, medicalizing and harm reduction practices across the categories of race, gender and informal economic activity allows me to analyze how different identities

and activities are subjected to criminalization, medicalization and harm reduction.

This dissertation also bridges scholarship on medicalization and administrative violence, showing how these processes construct one another.

One important contribution of this dissertation is methodological. The introductory chapter argues that combining life and work history interviews with ethnographic observation helps avoid problems found in other sex work research. While some other scholarship overlooks the relationship between formal and informal labor markets, race and gender-based discrimination, and an inadequate safety net, this dissertation also considers the context of people's lives.

Chapter Two demonstrated that sex work is work. While anti-prostitution scholars ignore or downplay the economic motivations of sex workers, and ignore discrimination and exclusion in the formal labor market and from housing, these realities push people into informal and criminalized work. People who have enough food to eat, stable housing, and healthcare won't sell or trade sex unless they want to. Interventions should focus on reducing poverty, not prostitution.

The interventions that would help poor people who do sex work are the same as interventions that would help other poor people: Provision of safe, stable housing, welfare benefits that don't push recipients into the informal economy or impede economic mobility, and formal labor market reforms, including raising the minimum wage so that it is high enough to allow people to meet their needs.

Chapter Three drew on the experiences of a diverse group of participants to argue for an intersectional understanding of the criminalization of poverty that

includes not only laws and enforcement practices that regulate poor people's presence and behavior in public space, but also their identities. This chapter showed how laws and enforcement regulating sex work, homelessness and drug use produce racialized and gendered vulnerability. Criminalization is the wrong response to poverty because it makes poor people vulnerable to violence and diminishes their life chances. The decriminalization of sex work, drug use, and homelessness would reduce my participants' exposure to the violence of policing and incarceration, thereby removing significant barriers to their well-being. Because of the ways in which carceral classification is used to manage both poverty and identity, decriminalizing poverty would also destroy one of the most powerful pillars of U.S. racial and gender stratification.

Political and financial investment in the carceral control of poverty in the United States means that poor people who live or work in public space are subjected to frequent policing. The nation's jails and prisons serve to warehouse poor people, disproportionately people of color and gender non-conforming people. Chapter Three argued for a broader definition of the criminalization of poverty, which takes into account how laws and enforcement target different activities, characteristics and identities.

The decriminalization of poverty is an uphill battle: The prison system is deeply embedded in California's economy, making it difficult to expand the movement against mass incarceration beyond directly affected communities (Gilmore 2007). Legislative challenges to the criminalization of homelessness and prostitution

have failed, at least for now: The Homeless Bill of Rights, introduced by progressive California legislators each year since 2012 has yet to pass, and attempts to decriminalize prostitution through lawsuits and popular referendum<sup>22</sup> have failed at the city and state level. Despite this, recent years have seen some encouraging developments: The passage of Proposition 36 in 2012 modified California's "three strikes" law to reduce the length of incarceration for non-violent offenses, an important step in the fight against the criminalization of poverty. California Proposition 47, which passed in 2014, prevented prosecutors from charging many low-level nonviolent crimes as felonies. In the year after the passage of Proposition 47, the state's jail population declined by nine percent overall, with an estimated decline of fifty percent in the number of people incarcerated for "Prop 47 offenses" (Bird et al. 2016: 3).

Prison reform does nothing to stop the mass incarceration of poor people of color and transgender people, but can make life more bearable, or at least increase chances of survival, for incarcerated people. A recent court challenge won the right to trans healthcare in prisons, although transgender women are still being housed with men in most institutions throughout the state, and subjected to gender-specific forms of violence in jail and prison.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In 2008, San Francisco voters defeated a Proposition K, which would have effectively decriminalized prostitution in the city by defunding enforcement of laws against prostitution (McKinley 2008). In 2015, the Erotic Service Providers Union filed suit against Attorney General Kamala Harris, as well as the District Attorneys of various California counties, stating that "private, consensual sexual activity is a fundamental liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment," and that the criminalization of sex work deprives workers and clients of their 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights (Redmond 2015).

Many people believe that efforts to reform poor people's behaviors and identities are a viable alternative to punishment, but they are wrong. My research shows that the medicalization of homelessness and sex work perpetuate stigma and fail to alleviate poverty. Chapter Four showed what happens when poor people are classified as needing treatment or reform. In a context of scarcity, this often means an injunction for poor people to bootstrap themselves out of poverty; to "work on yourself;" change your behavior or identity so you can be a productive low-wage worker. The medicalization of homelessness and sex work cover up the structural conditions that produce poverty and push people into the informal economy. Approaches that frame poverty as an outcome of individual failures serve the needs of capitalism rather than of people experiencing poverty. Like criminalization, the medicalization of poor people's identities and income strategies perpetuates the violence of classification and ignores the root causes of poverty and inequality. In the context of service provision, "homeless," and "prostitute" become stigmatizing labels that are infrequently accompanied by meaningful access to resources, while medical diagnoses including HIV and mental illness can confer a different level of access to professional treatment and care. Sometimes, these medical diagnoses also come with stigma, but not always. Sometimes, the classification of people as patients, rather than criminals, can confer access to limited resources that are allocated to priority subpopulations of homeless people, for example people with HIV or other diagnoses. But at a policy level, medicalization just shifts scarce resources around by prioritizing vulnerable sub-populations, rather than addressing the root causes of poverty or even

expanding the safety net. When people's identities and practices are treated as the causes of their poverty and targeted for reform, this obscures the true causes of poverty and further marginalizes poor people.

Criminalization and medicalization are the dominant approaches to managing poverty in U.S. cities. These approaches are analytically separable, but they often overlap in practice: Many pre-trial diversion programs and community courts sentence people to mandatory services, and elected officials often use a discourse of service resistance to justify the policing of poor people in public space. This overlap is not discussed in this dissertation, which focuses on the separate effects of classification as criminals or patients, but future research could explore the ways in which criminalization and medicalization happen at the same time and construct one another. Scholars of homelessness (e.g. Gowan 2010, Stuart 2014) have called the nexus between criminalization and medicalization "authoritarian medicalization," focusing primarily on the experiences of poor and homeless cisgender men. The experiences of sex workers—who are often classified as criminals and patients at the same time, and who experience criminalization and medicalization in ways specific to their race, gender, and work in the informal economy—could help specify and extend theories of the relationship between criminalization and medicalization. Increasingly, policymakers are combining punitive interventions with service provision, so that people arrested for drug use or prostitution can be court-ordered to treatment, rather than jail. More research is needed to determine not just how different types of diversion programs affect individuals who receive treatment rather than incarceration,

but also how increasing carceral control of service agencies affects the homeless service industry more broadly.

This dissertation has important implications for the architects of policies that funnel resources into ending transactional sex, through investment in policing or social services that prioritize behavior modification. As detailed in Chapters Three and Four, these policy approaches are ineffective and harmful. Based on my findings, I suggest that a better approach would be to meet the immediate needs of the poorest people who do sex work and other types of informal work in order to survive. These needs include safe, stable housing, food, and medical care, and sometimes also mental health care and substance use treatment. Despite decades of social science scholarship documenting the insufficiency of welfare and wages, policymakers and corporate interests persist in opposing efforts to raise the minimum wage or strengthen the social safety net. In order to overcome these obstacles, advocates need to take a firm stand against individualizing approaches to poverty management, and to insist that poverty must be addressed as a political and economic issue. By identifying criminalization and medicalization as individualizing approaches and demonstrating that harm reduction has structurally transformative potential, this dissertation shows how service provision can contest, rather than reinforce, the production of racialized and gendered poverty.

Chapter Five demonstrated that a harm reduction approach, focused on the provision of resources without judgment, opposes criminalization and administrative violence. Harm reduction asserts poor people's rights to access basic resources needed

for survival, and acknowledges the structural sources of scarcity. While liberal harm reduction focuses on the nonjudgmental provision of resources to stigmatized populations and on limited reforms that decriminalize health-protecting behaviors, radical harm reduction is often peer-led and connected to broader movements against criminalization and for racial and gender justice. Harm reduction has what I call structurally transformative potential because it recognizes that the causes of poverty are social, economic and political, rather than individual. Harm reduction is a powerful resource against the criminalization of sex work and drug use, and against the medicalization of sex work and homelessness. Harm reduction is thus an anti-oppressive response to poverty, and a crucial step in the right direction.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Adler, Jeffrey S. 1989. "The Historical Analysis of the Law of Vagrancy." *Criminology* 27(2):209–30. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.1989.tb01029.x.
- Aguirre, A. and Brooks, J. 2001. "City Redevelopment Policies and the Criminalization of Homelessness: A Narrative Case Study." *Research in Urban Sociology* 6:75–105. doi:10.1016/S1047-0042(01)80005-2.
- Ahmed, Aziza. 2011. "Feminism, Power, and Sex Work in the Context of HIV/AIDS: Consequences for Women's Health." School of Law Faculty Paper 23. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://hdl.handle.net/2047/d20001179).
- Alexander, Michelle. 2010/2012. The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness. New York: New Press.
- Alexander, Priscilla. 1998. "Prostitution: A Difficult Issue for Feminists." Pp. 184–214 in *Sex Work: Writings by Women in the Sex Industry*, edited by F. Delacoste and P. Alexander. Berkeley: Cleis Press.
- American Civil Liberties Union. 2016. "Fair Sentencing Act." Retrieved May 15, 2016 (https://www.aclu.org/feature/fair-sentencing-act).
- Amster, Randall. 2003. "Patterns of Exclusion: Sanitizing Space, Criminalizing Homelessness." *Social Justice* 30(1):195–21.
- Amster, Randall. 2004. *Street People and the Contested Realms of Public Space*. New York: LFB Scholarly.
- Applied Survey Research. 2015. *San Francisco Homeless Count*. Watsonville, CA: Applied Survey Research.
- Barrow, Susan and Rita Zimmer. 1999. "Transitional Housing and Services: A Synthesis." Pp. 310–340 in *Practical Lessons: The 1998 National Symposium on Homelessness Research*, edited by Linda B. Fosburg and Deborah L. Dennis. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Barry, K. 1995. The Prostitution of Sexuality. New York: New York University Press.
- Beauchamp, Toby. 2013. "Artful Concealment and Strategic Visability: Transgender Bodies and U.S. State Surveillance after 9/11." Pp. 45–55 in *The Transgender Studies Reader*, 2nd. ed., edited by Susan Stryker and Aren Z. Aizura. New York: Routledge.

- Becker, Howard S. 1963. *Outsiders: Studies in the Sociology of Deviance*. New York: Macmillan.
- Beckett, Katherine and Steve Herbert. 2011. *Banished: The New Social Control in Urban America*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Beckett, Katherine and Bruce Western. 2001. "Governing Social Marginality: Welfare, Incarceration and the Transformation of State Policy." *Punishment and Society* 3:43–59. doi:10.1177/1462474012222824.
- Benford, Robert D. and Snow, David A. 2000. "Framing Processes and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment." *Annual Review of Sociology* 26:611–39.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. 2005. "Desire, Demand, and the Commerce of Sex." Pp. 101–28 in *Regulating Sex: The Politics of Intimacy and Identity*, edited by Elizabeth Bernstein and Laurie Schaffner. New York: Routledge.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. 2007a. "Sex Work for the Middle Classes." *Sexualities* 10(4):473–88.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. 2007b. *Temporarily Yours: Intimacy, Authenticity and the Commerce of Sex.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. 2010. "Bounded Authenticity and the Commerce of Sex." Pp. 148–65 in *Intimate Labors: Cultures, Technologies, and the Politics of Care*, edited by Rhacel Parreñas and Eileen Boris. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Bernstein, Mary. 1997. "Celebration and Suppression: The Strategic Uses of Identity by the Lesbian and Gay Movement." *American Journal of Sociology* 103(3):531–65.
- Berstein, Mary. 2005. "Identity Politics." *Annual Review of Sociology* 31:47–74.
- Bird, Mia, Sonya Tafoya, Ryken Grattet, and Viet Nguyen. 2016. "How Has Proposition 47 Affected California's Jail Population?" Public Policy Institute of California. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.ppic.org/main/publication.asp?i=1187).
- Blankenship Kim M. and Stephen Koester. 2002. "Criminal Law, Policing Policy, and HIV Risk in Female Street Sex Workers and Injection Drug Users." *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 30:548–59.

- Blankenship, Kim M. and Stephen Koester. 2002. "Criminal Law, Policing Policy, and HIV Risk in Female Street Sex Workers and Injection Drug Users." *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 30(4):548–59.
- Blasi, Gary and the UCLA School of Law Fact Investigation Clinic. 2007. *Policing Our Way Out of Homelessness? The First Year of the Safer Cities Initiative on Skid Row.* Retrieved May 30, 2016 (https://www.ncjrs.gov/App/Publications/Abstract.aspx?id=259279).
- Bonilla-Silva, Eduardo. 2003. *Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality in the United States*. New York: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Bonilla-Silva, Eduardo. 2006. *Racism without Racists: Colorblind Racism and the Persistence of Racial Inequality in the United States*. 2nd ed. New York: Roman and Littlefield.
- Bourgois, Philippe, Mark Lettiere, and James Quesada. 1997. "Social Misery and the Sanctions of Substance Abuse: Confronting HIV Risk among Homeless Heroin Addicts in San Francisco." *Social Problems* 44(2):155–73.
- Bourgois, Philippe, Bridget Prince, and Andrew Moss. 2004. "The Everyday Violence of Hepatitis C among Young Women Who Inject Drugs in San Francisco." *Human Organization* 63(3):253–63.
- Brents, Barbara, Crystal A. Jackson, and Kathryn Hausbeck. 2010. *The State of Sex: Tourism, Sex and Sin the New American Heartland*. New York: Routledge.
- Brewis, Joanna and Stephen Linstead. 2002. "Managing the Sex Industry." *Culture and Organization* 8(4):307–26.
- Britt, Lory and Heise, David. 2000. "From Shame to Pride in Identity Politics." Pp. 252–70 in *Self, Identity and Social Movements*, edited by Sheldon Stryker, Timothy J. Owens, and Robert W. White. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Brown, Wendy. 1995. *States of Injury: Power and freedom in late modernity*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bruch, Sarah K., Maya Marx Ferree, and Joe Soss. 2010. "From Policy to Polity: Democracy, Paternalism and the Incorporation of Disadvantaged Citizens." *American Sociological Review* 75(2):205–26. doi:10.1177/0003122410363563.

- Bruzy Stephanie, Amber Ault, and Elizabeth A. Segal. 1997. "Conducting Qualitative Interviews with Women Survivors of Trauma." *Affilia* 12(1):76–83. doi:10.1177/088610999701200105.
- Bryant, Joanne and Carla Treloar. 2006. "Risk Practices and Other Characteristics of Injecting Drug Users Who Obtain Injecting Equipment from Pharmacies and Personal Networks." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 17:418–24. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2006.07.004.
- Bucher, Carrie E. C. 2008. "Toward a Needs-Based Typology of Homeless Youth." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 42(6):549–54.
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2006. "Special Report: Mental Health Problems of Prison and Jail Inmates." Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty =pbdetail&iid=789).
- Campbell, Severin, Latoya McDonald, and Julian Metcalf. 2016. *Homelessness and the Cost of Quality of Life Laws*. City and County of San Francisco Board of Supervisors Budget and Legislative Analyst Policy Analysis Report to Supervisor, May 26. San Francisco: City and County of San Francisco Board of Supervisors.
- Center for HIV Law and Policy. 2015. *Prosecutions and Arrests for HIV Exposure in the United States* 2010-2015. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.hivlawandpolicy.org/sites/www.hivlawandpolicy.org/files/Arrests andProsecutionsforHIVExposureintheU.S.2008-2015revised6.30.15.pdf).
- Charmaz, Kathy. 2006. Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Chowdhury, Reshmi. 2006. "Outsiders and Identity Reconstruction in the Sex Workers Movement in Bangladesh." *Sociological Spectrum* 26:335–57.
- City and County of San Francisco Office of the Controller–City Services Auditor. 2013. "County Jail Needs Assessment Hall of Justice Replacement Jail." Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://sfcontroller.org/sites/default/files/FileCenter/Documents/4596-UPDATED%20FINAL%20Jail%20Needs%20Assessment %2010-21-13.pdf).
- Clear, Todd R. 2007. *Imprisoning Communities: How Mass Incarceration Makes Disadvantaged Neighborhoods Worse*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Clements-Nolle Kristen, Rani Marx, Robert Guzman, and Mitchell Katz. 2001. "HIV Prevalence, Risk Behaviors, Health Care Use, and Mental Health Status of Transgender Persons: Implications for Public Health Intervention." *American Journal of Public Health* 91(6):915–21. doi:10.2105/AJPH.91.6.915.

- Cohan, Deborah, Alexandra Lutnick, Peter Davidson, Charles Cloniger, Antje Herlyn, Johanna Breyer, Cynthia Cobaugh, Daniel Wilson, and Jeff Klausner. 2006. "Sex Worker Health: San Francisco Style." *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 82:418–22. doi:10.1136/sti.2006.020628.
- Collins, Jane L. and Victoria Mayer. 2010. Both Hands Tied: Welfare Reform and the Race to the Bottom in the Low-Wage Labor Market. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 2000/2009. *Black Feminist Thought*. New York: Routledge.
- Connors, Margaret. 1996. "Sex, Drugs and Structural Violence." Pp. 91–123 in *Women, Poverty and AIDS*, edited by Paul Farmer, Margaret Conners, and Janie Simmons. Monroe, ME: Common Courage Press.
- Corbin, Juliet and Anselm Strauss. 2008. *Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory*. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Cornish, Flora. 2006. "Challenging the Stigma of Sex Work in India: Material Context and Symbolic Change." *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 16:462–71.
- Cornish, Flora, Catherine Campbell, Anuprita Shukla and Riddhi Banerji. 2012. "From Brothel to Boardroom: Prospects for Community Leadership of HIV Interventions in the Context of Global Funding Practices." *Health and Place* 18:468–74.
- Cornish, Flora and Riddhi Ghosh. 2007. "The Necessary Contradictions of 'Community-Led' Health Promotion: A Case Study of HIV Prevention in an Indian Red Light District." *Social Science and Medicine* 64(2):496–507.
- Craddock, Susan. 2000. *City of Plagues: Disease, Poverty and Deviance in San Francisco*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Cruikshank, Barbara. 1996. "Revolutions Within: Self Government and Self Esteem." Pp. 231–52 in *Foucault and Political Reason: Liberalism, Neo-Liberalism, and Rationalities of Government*, edited by Barry Osborne. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Cusick, Linda and Matthew Hickman. 2005. "Trapping' in Drug Use and Sex Work Careers." *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy* 12(5):369–79.
- Cusick, Linda. 2006. "Widening the Harm Reduction Agenda: From Drug Use to Sex Work." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 17:3–11.

- Cusick, Linda, Belinda Brooks-Gordon, Rosie Campbell, and Fiona Edgar. 2011. "Exiting' Drug Use and Sex Work: Career paths, Interventions and Government Strategy Targets." *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy* 18(2):145–56. doi:10.3109/09687631003776901.
- Darling, Katherine Weatherford. Forthcoming. "Chronic Crisis: Managing HIV as a Chronic Condition in Biomedicalized Bureaucracies."
- DeLeon, George. 1996. "Therapeutic Communities: AIDS/HIV Risk and Harm Reduction." *Journal of Substance Abuse and Treatment* 13:411–20. doi:10.1016/S0740-5472(96)00118-3.
- Dennis, Jeffrey P. 2008. "Women are Victims, Men Make Choices: The Invisibility of Men and Boys in the Global Sex Trade." *Gender Issues* 25(1):11–25. doi:10.1007/s12147-008-9051-y.
- Desjarlais, Robert. 1997. *Shelter Blues: Sanity and Selfhood among the Homeless*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- DeWard, Sarah and Angela Moe. 2010. "'Like a Prison!': Homeless Women's Narratives of Surviving Shelter." *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare* 37(1):art. 7.
- Dickson-Gomez, Julia, Helena Hilario, Mark Convey, A. Michelle Corbett, Margaret Weeks, and Maria Martinez. 2009. "The Relationship Between Housing Status and HIV Risk Among Active Drug Users: A Qualitative Analysis." *Substance Use and Misuse* 44:139–62. doi:10.1080/10826080802344823.
- Dohan, Daniel. 2003. *The Price of Poverty: Money, Work and Culture in the Mexican American Barrio*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Dowsett, Gary W. 2009. "Dangerous Desires and Post-Queer HIV Prevention: Rethinking Community, Incitement and Intervention" *Social Theory and Health* 7:218–40.
- Duff, Putu, Kathleen Deering, Kate Gibson, Mark Tyndall, and Kate Shannon. 2011. "Homelessness among a Cohort of Women in Street-Based Sex Work: The Need for Safer Environment Interventions." *BMC Public Health* 11:643. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-643.
- Dunier, Michael. 2000. Sidewalk. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Dworkin, Andrea. 1997. Life and Death. New York: Free Press.
- Edin, Kathryn and Laura Lein. 1997. *Making Ends Meet: How Single Mothers Survive Welfare and Low-Wage Work*. New York: Russel Sage.

- Emerson, Robert M., Rachel I. Fretz, and Linda L. Shaw. 1995. *Writing Ethnographic Fieldnotes*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Enteen, Lauren, Joanna Bauer, Rachel McLean, Eliza Wheeler, Emalie Huriaux, Alex H. Kral, and Joshua Bamberger. 2010. "Overdose Prevention and Naloxone Prescription for Opioid Users in San Francisco." *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine 87*(6):931–41. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-010-9495-8
- Evans, Liz and Steffanie A. Strathdee. 2006. "A Roof Is Not Enough: Unstable Housing, Vulnerability to HIV Infection and the Plight of the SRO." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 17:115–17.
- Evans, Sara, and Harry C. Boyte. 1992. *Free Spaces: Sources of Democratic Change in America*. 2nd ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Exner, John E., Joyce Wylie, A. V. Leura, and Tracey Parrill. 1977. "Some Psychological Characteristics of Prostitutes." *Journal of Personality Assessment* 41:474–85. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa4105 3.
- Fairburn, Nadia, Will Small, Kate Shannon, Evan Wood, and Thomas Kerr. 2008. "Seeking Refuge from Violence in Street-Based Drug Scenes: Women's Experiences in North America's First Supervised Injection Facility." *Social Science and Medicine* 67:817–23. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.05.012.
- Farley, Melissa. 2004a. "Bad for the Body, Bad for the Heart:" Prostitution Harms Women Even If Legalized or Decriminalized. *Violence against Women* 10:1087–25. doi:10.1177/1077801204268607.
- Farley, Melissa. 2004b. "Prostitution is Sexual Violence." *Psychiatric Times*, October Special Edition, pp. 7–10.
- Farley, Melissa. 2005. "Prostitution Harms Women Even if Indoors: Reply to Weitzer." *Violence against Women* 11(7):950–64.
- Farley, Melissa. 2006. "Prostitution, Trafficking, and Cultural Amnesia: What We Must Not Know in Order to Keep the Business of Sexual Exploitation Running Smoothly." *Yale Journal of Law and Feminism* 18:109–44.
- Farley, Melissa and Howard Barkan. 1998. "Prostitution, Violence and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder." *Women and Health* 27(3):37–49.
- Farley, Melissa and Vanessa Kelly. 2000. "Prostitution." *Women and Criminal Justice* 11:20–64.

- Farmer, Paul E., Bruce Nizeye, Sara Stulac, and Salaman Keshavjee. 2006. "Structural Violence and Clinical Medicine." *PLoS Med* 3(10): e449. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030449.
- Fernandes, Adrienne L. 2008. "Runaway and Homeless Youth: Reauthorization Legislation and Issues in the 110th Congress." CRS Report for Congress, October 29.
- Fernandes-Alcantara, Adrienne L. 2014. *Vulnerable Youth: Background and Policies*. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.
- Fischer, Benedikt, Sarah Turnbull, Blake Poland, and Emma Haydon. 2004. "Drug Use, Risk, and Urban Order: Examining Supervised Injection Sites (SISs) as 'Governmentality.'" *International Journal of Drug Policy* 15:357–65. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2004.04.002.
- Fisher, Marina, Nathaniel Miller, Lindsay Walter, and Jeffrey Selbin. 2015. California's New Vagrancy Laws: The Growing Enactment and Enforcement of Anti-Homeless Laws in the Golden State. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract=2558944).
- Fitzgerald, Erin, Sarah Elspeth Patterson, Darby Hickey, Cherno Biko, and Harper Jean Tobin. "Meaningful Work: Transgender Experiences in the Sex Trade." 2015: Best Practices Policy Institute. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.transequality.org/sites/default/files/Meaningful%20Work -Full%20Report\_FINAL\_3.pdf).
- Foucault, Michel. 1977. Discipline and Punish. New York: Vintage Press.
- Foucault, Michel. 1980. The History of Sexuality, Vol. 1. New York: Vintage.
- Fraser, Nancy and Linda Gordon. 1992. "Contract versus Charity: Why Is There No Social Citizenship in the United States?" Pp. 113–27 in *The Citizenship Debates*, edited by Gershon Shafir. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Frederick, Tyler. 2014. "Diversity at the Margins: The Interconnections between Homelessness, Sex Work, Mental Health and Substance Use in the Lives of Sexual Minority Homeless Young People." Pp. 473–502 in *Handbook of LGBT Communities, Crime and Justice*, edited by Dana Peterson and Vanessa R. Panfil. New York: Springer.

- Freeman, Alan David. 1996. "Legitimizing Racial Discrimination Through Anti-Discrimination Law: A Critical Review of Supreme Court Doctrine." Pp. 29–45 in *Critical Race Studies: The Key Writings that Formed the Movement*, edited by Kimberle Crenshaw, Neil Gotanda, Garry Peller, and Kendall Thomas. New York: New Press.
- Fulbright, Leslie. 2008. "Black Population Deserting SF, Study Says." *The San Francisco Chronicle*, August 10. Retrieved May 17, 2016 (http://www.sfgate.com/bayarea/article/Black-population-deserting-S-F-study-says-3274047.php).
- Galtung, Johan. 1969. "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research." *Journal of Peace Research* 6(3):167–91.
- Garafolo, Robert, Joanne DeLeon, Elizabeth Osmer, Mary Doll, and Gary W. Harper. 2006. "Overlooked, Misunderstood and At-Risk: Exploring the Lives and HIV Risk of Ethnic Minority Male-to-Female Transgender Youth." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 38:230–36.
- Ghose, Toorjo, Dallas Swendeman, Sheba George, and Debasish Chowdhury. 2008. "Mobilizing Collective Identity to Reduce HIV Risk among Sex Workers in Sonagachi, India: The Boundaries, Consciousness, Negotiation Framework." *Social Science and Medicine* 67:311–20. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.045.
- Gilmore, Ruth Wilson. 2007. *Golden Gulag: Prisons, Surplus, Crisis and Opposition in Globalizing California*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Goddard, Tim. 2012. "Post-Welfarist Risk Managers? Risk, Crime Prevention and The Responsibilization of Community-Based Organizations." *Theoretical Criminology* 16:347–363. doi:10.1177/1362480611433432.
- Goffman, Erving. 1963. *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Good, Erica and Claire Cain Miller. 2013. "Backlash by the Bay? Tech Riches Alter a City." *New York Times*, November 24. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.nytimes.com/2013/11/25/us/backlash-by-the-bay-tech-riches -alter-a-city.html).
- Gottschalk, Marie. 2015. Caught: The Prison State and the Lockdown of American Politics. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Gounis, Kostas. 1992. "The Manufacture of Dependency: Shelterization Revisited." *New England Journal of Public Policy* 8(1):685–93.

- Gowan, Teresa. 2002. "The Nexus: Homelessness and Incarceration in Two American Cities." *Ethnography* 3(4):500–34.
- Gowan, Teresa. 2009. "New Hobos or Necromantic Fantasy? Urban Ethnography Beyond the Neoliberal Disconnect." *Qualitative Sociology* 32:231–57.
- Gowan, Teresa. 2010. *Hobos, Hustlers and Backsliders Homeless in San Francisco*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Gowan, Teresa, Sarah Whetstone, and Tanja Andic. 2012. "Addiction, Agency and the Politics of Self Control: Doing Harm Reduction in a Heroin Users' Group." *Social Science and Medicine* 74:1251–60.
- Grant, Jaime M., Lisa A. Mottet, Justin Tanis, Jack Harrison, Jody L. Herman, and Mara Keisling. 2011. *Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey*. Washington: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force.
- Greene, Jody M., Susan T. Ennet, and Christopher L. Ringwalt. 1997. "Substance Use among Runaway and Homeless Youth in Three National Samples." *American Journal of Public Health* 87:229–35.
- Greene, Jody M., Susan T. Ennet, and Christopher L. Ringwalt. 1999. "Prevalence and Correlates of Survival Sex among Runaway and Homeless Youth." *American Journal of Public Health* 89:1406–09. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.9.1406.
- Guest, Greg, Arwen Bunce, and Laura Johnson. 2006. "How Many Interviews Are Enough? An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability." *Field Methods* 18:59–82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903.
- Hallberg, Lillemor R. M. 2006. "The 'Core Category' of Grounded Theory: Making Constant Comparisons." *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*. 1:141–48.
- Handler, Joel F. and Yeheskel Hasenfeld. *The Moral Construction of Poverty: Welfare Reform in America*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Harcourt, Christine, Jody O'Connor, Sandra Egger, Christopher Fairley, Handan Wand, Marcus Y. Chen, Lewis Marshall, John Kaldor, and Basil Donovan. 2010. "The Decriminalisation of Prostitution Is Associated with Better Coverage of Health Promotion Programs for Sex Workers." *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 34:482–86. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00594.x.

- Harter, Lynn M., Charlene Berquist, B. Scott Titsworth, David Novak, and Tod Brokaw. 2005. "The Structuring of Invisibility among the Hidden Homeless: The Politics of Space, Stigma and Identity Construction." *Journal of Applied Communication Research* 33(4):305–27. doi:10.1080/00909880500278079.
- Hasenbush, Amira, Ayako Miyashita, and Bianca D. M. Wilson. 2015. "HIV Criminalization in California: Penal Implications for People Living with HIV AIDS." California HIV/AIDS Research Program. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/research/health-and-hiv-aids/hiv -criminalization-in-california-penal-implications-for-people-living-with -hivaids/).
- Heijnders M and Meij S. Van Der. 2006. "The Fight against Stigma: An Overview of Stigma-Reduction Strategies and Interventions." *Psychology, Health and Medicine* 11(3):353–63.
- Henderson Stuart, Claire L. Stacey, and Daniel Dohan 2008. "Social Stigma and the dilemmas of Providing Care to Substance Users in a Safety-Net Emergency Department." *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved* 19(4):1336–49.
- Henrichson, Christian and Ruth Delaney. 2012. *The Price of Prisons: What Incarceration Costs Taxpayers*. New York: Vera Institute of Justice.
- Herring, Chris and Dilara Yarbrough. 2015. *Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco*. Coalition on Homelessness. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract =2620426).
- Hubbard, Phil and Teela Sanders. 2003. "Making Space for Sex Work: Female Street Prostitution and the Production of Urban Space." *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research* 27(1):75–89.
- Human Rights Watch. 2000. "Punishment and Prejudice: Racial Disparities in the War on Drugs." *HRW Reports* 12(2). Retrieved May 30, 2016 (https://www.hrw.org/reports/2000/usa/).
- Human Rights Watch. 2012. Sex Workers at Risk: Condoms as Evidence of Prostitution in Four US Cities. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/us0712ForUpload 1.pdf).
- Huq, Shireen. 2006. "Sex Workers struggles in Bangladesh: Learning for the Women's Movement." *IDS Bulletin* 37(5):134–37. doi:10.1111/j.1759-5436.2006.tb00315.x.

- Jeal, Nikki. 2004. "Self-Reported Experiences of Health Services among Female Street-Based Prostitutes: A Cross-Sectional Survey." *The British Journal of General Practice* 54(504):515–19.
- Jeffreys, S. 1997. The idea of prostitution. North Melbourne: Spinifex.
- Jenness, Valerie. 1990. "From Sex as Sin to Sex as Work: Coyote and the reorganization of prostitution as a social problem." *Social Problems* 37(3):403–20.
- Johnson De Rosa, Christine, Susanne Montgomery, Justeen Hyde, Ellen Iverson, and Michele D. Kipke. 2001. "HIV Risk Behavior and HIV Testing: A Comparison of Rates and Associated Factors among Homeless and Runaway Adolescents in Two Cities." *AIDS Education and Prevention* 13:131–48. doi:10.1521/aeap .13.2.131.19739.
- Johnson, Hank, Enrique Larana and Joseph R. Gusfield. 1994. "Identities, Grievances and New Social Movements." Pp. 3–35 in *New Social Movements: From Ideology to Identity*, edited by Enrique Laraña, Hank Johnston and Joseph R. Gusfield. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Johnson, Janetta Louise and Toshio Meronek. 2015. "Custody's Long Shadow: Reentry Support as Abolitionist Work." Pp. 261–68 in *Captive Genders: Trans Embodiment and the Prison Industrial Complex*. 2nd ed., edited by Eric Stanley and Nat Smith. Oakland: AK Press.
- Kellogg, Timothy, Kristen Clements-Nolle K, James W. Dilley, Mitchell H. Katz, and William McFarland. 2001. "Incidence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Among Male-to-Female Transgendered Persons in San Francisco." *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 28(4):380–84. doi:10.1097/00042560 -200112010-00012.
- Kidd, Dorothy and Bernadette Barker-Plummer. 2009. "Neither Silent nor Invisible': Anti-Poverty Communication in the San Francisco Bay Area." *Development in Practice* 19(4–5):479–90. doi:10.1080/09614520902866322.
- Kidder, Daniel P., Richard J. Wolitski, Scott Royal, Angela A. Aidala, Cari Courtenay-Quirk, David R. Holtgrave, David Harre, Esther Sumartojo, and Ron Stall. 2007. "Access to Housing as a Structural Intervention for Homeless and Unstably Housed People Living with HIV: Rationale, Methods, and Implementation of the Housing and Health Study." *AIDS and Behavior* 11:149–61. doi:10.1007/s10461-007-9249-0.
- Klowdawsky, Fran, Tim Aubry, and Susan Farrell. 2006. "Care and the Lives of Homeless Youth in Neoliberal Times in Canada." In *Gender, Place and Culture* 13(4):419–36. doi:10.1080/09663690600808577.

- Koyama, Emi. 2011a. *Understanding the Complexities of Sex Work/Trade and Trafficking*. Portland, OR: Confluere. (Also available at: http://www.eminism.org).
- Koyama, Emi. 2011b. War on Terror and War on Trafficking: A Sex Worker Activist Confronts the Anti Trafficking Movement. Portland, OR: Confluere Publications. (Also available at: http://www.eminism.org).
- Kramer, Lisa A. and Ellen C. Berg. 2003. "A Survival Analysis of Timing of Entry into Prostitution: The Differential Impact of Race, Education Level and Childhood/Adolescent Risk Factors." *Sociological Inquiry* 73(4):511–28.
- Krüsi, Andrea, Jill Chettiar, Amelia Ridgway, Janice Abbott, Steffanie A. Strathdee, and Kate Shannon. 2012. "Negotiating Safety & Sexual Risk Reduction with Clients in Unsanctioned Quasi-Brothels: A Qualitative Study." *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(6), 1154–59. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300638.
- Lamb, Harry R., Linda Weinberger, and Walter J. DeCuir. 2014. "The Police and Mental Health." *Psychiatric Services* 53(10):1266–71. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.53.10.1266.
- Lamb, Richard, Linda E. Weinberger, and Bruce H. Gross. 2004. "Mentally Ill Persons in the Criminal Justice System: Some Perspectives." *Psychiatric Quarterly* 75(2):107–26.
- Latkin, Carl, Wallace Mandell, David Vlahov, Maria Oziemkowska, Amy Knowlton, and David C. Celentano. 1994. "My Place, Your Place, and No Place: Behavior Settings as a Risk Factor for HIV-Related Injection Practices of Drug Users in Baltimore, Maryland." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 22:416–30. doi:10.1007/BF02506873.
- Lee, Barrett A., Kimberly A. Tyler, and James D. Wright. 2010. "The New Homelessness Revisited." *Annual Review of Sociology* 36:501–21. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-070308-115940.
- Lerum, Kari. 1998. "12-Step Feminism Makes Sex Workers Sick: How the State and the Recovery Movement Turn Radical Women into 'Useless Citizens.'" *Sexuality and Culture* 2 (Special issue on Sex Work and Sex Workers):7–36.
- Lerum, Kari and Shari Dworkin. 2009. "Toward an Interdisciplinary Dialogue on Youth, Sexualization and Health." *Journal of Sex Research* 46(4):271–73.
- Lewis, Jacqueline. 2010. "Shifting the Focus: Restorative Justice and Sex Work." Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice 52:285–301. doi:10.3138/cjccj.52.3.285.

- Lutnick, Alexandra. 2006. "The St. James Infirmary: A History" *Sexuality and Culture* 10(2):56–75. doi:10.1007/s12119-006-1015-3.
- Lutnick, Alexandra. 2016. *Domestic Minor Sex Trafficking: Beyond Victims and Villains*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Lutnick, Alexandra and Deborah Cohan. 2009. "Criminalization, Legalization or Decriminalization of Sex Work: What Female Sex Workers Say in San Francisco, USA." *Reproductive Health Matters* 17(34):38–46. doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(09)34469-9.
- Lyon-Callo, Vincent. 2000. "Medicalizing Homelessness: The Production of Self-Blame and Self-Governing Within Homeless Shelters." *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 14(3):328–45.
- Lyon-Callo, Vincent. 2004. *Inequality, Poverty and Neoliberal Governance: Activist Ethnography in the Homeless Sheltering Industry*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Lyon-Callo, Vincent and Susan Brin Hyatt. 2003. "The Neoliberal State and the Depoliticization of Poverty: Activist Anthropology and 'Ethnography from Below." *Urban Anthropology* 32(2):175–204.
- MacKinnon, C. 1989. *Toward a Feminist Theory of the State*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Magallanes-Blanco, Claudia and Juan Antonio Perez-Bermudez. 2009. "Citizens' Publications that Empower: Social Change for the Homeless." *Development in Practice* 19(4–5):.654–64. doi:10.1080/09614520902866306.
- Main. 1996. "Analyzing Evidence for a Structural Theory of Homelessness." *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 18:449–57.
- Majic, Samantha. 2011. "Serving Sex Workers and Promoting Democratic Engagement: Re-thinking Nonprofits' Role in American Civic and Political Life." *Perspectives on Politics* 9(4):821–40.
- Majic, Samantha. 2013. *Sex Work Politics: From Protest to Service Provision*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Majic, Samantha. 2014a. "Beyond 'Victim-Criminals': Sex Workers, Nonprofit Organizations and Gender Ideologies." *Gender and Society* 28(3):463–85. doi:10.1177/0891243214524623.

- Majic, Samantha. 2014b. "Political Participation Despite the Odds: Examining Sex Workers' Political Engagement." *New Political Science* 36(1):76–95. doi:10.1080/07393148.2013.859901.
- Majic, Samantha. 2014c. "Teaching Equality? 'John Schools,' Gender, and Institutional Reform." *Polity*. 46(1):5–30. doi:10.1057/pol.2013.37.
- Manza, Jeff and Christopher Uggen. 2006. Locked Out: Felon Disenfranchisement in the United States. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Marlatt, G. A. 1996. "Harm Reduction: Come as You Are." *Addictive Behaviors* 21:779–88.
- Martin, Isaac W. 2008. *The Permanent Tax Revolt: How the Property Tax Transformed American Politics*. Redwood City: Stanford University Press.
- Mathieu, Arline. 1993. "The Medicalization of Homelessness and the Theater of Repression." *Medical Anthropology Quarterly* 7:170–84.
- Mathieu, Lilian. 2003. "The Emergence and Uncertain Outcomes of Prostitutes' Social Movements." *European Journal of Women's Studies* 10:29–50. doi:10.1177/1350506803010001788.
- Matsuda, Mari. 1995. "Looking to the Bottom: Critical Legal Studies and Reparations." Pp. 46–64 in *Critical Race Theory: The Key Writings that Formed the Movement*, edited by Kimberlé Crenshaw, Neil Gotanda, Gary Peller, and Kendall Thomas. New York: New Press.
- Matsueda, Ross. 1997. "'Cultural Deviance Theory': The Remarkable Persistence of a Flawed Term." *Theoretical Criminology* 1(4):429–52.
- Matteson, K. and J. Hawthorne. 1996. "Harm Reduction: A Realistic Approach Toward Injection Drug Users." *Canadian Nurse* 92:22–26.
- McAdam, Doug and Ronnelle Paulsen. 1993. "Specifying the Relationship between Social Ties and Activism." *American Journal of Sociology* 99(3):640–67.
- McDonald, CeCe. "Foreword." Pp. 1–3 in *Captive Genders: Trans Embodiment and the Prison Industrial Complex*. 2nd ed., edited by Eric Stanley and Nat Smith. Oakland: AK Press.
- McKinley, Jesse. 2008. "San Francisco's Prostitutes Support a Proposition." In *The New York Times*, October 31. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.nytimes.com/2008/11/01/us/01prostitute.html? r=0).

- McLean, Katherine. 2011. "The Biopolitics of Needle Exchange in the United States," *Critical Public Health* 21(1):71–79.
- Miller, Peter G. 2001. "A Critical Review of the Harm Minimization Ideology in Australia." *Critical Public Health* 11:167–78.
- Miller, Rueben Jonathan. 2014. "Devolving the Carceral State: Race, Prisoner Re-Entry and the Micro-Politics of Urban Poverty Management." *Punishment and Society* 16:305–35. doi:10.1177/1462474514527487.
- Mink, Gwendolyn. 1998. Welfare's End. Ithaca: Cornell University.
- Mirabal, Nancy R. 2009. "Geographies of Displacement: Latina/os, Oral History, and the Politics of Displacement in San Francisco's Mission District." *The Public Historian* 31(2):7–31.
- Moffatt, Ken. 1999. "Surveillance and the Government of the Welfare Recipient." Pp. 291–46 in *Reading Foucault for Social Work*, edited by Adrienne S. Chambon, Allan Irving, and Laura Epstein. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Mogul, Joey L., Andrea J. Ritchie, and Kay Whitlock. 2011. *Queer (In)justice: The Criminalization of LGBT People in the United States*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Monnat, Shannon. 2010. "Toward a Critical Understanding of Gendered Color-Blind Racism Within the U.S. Welfare Institution." *Journal of Black Studies* 40(4):637–52.
- Monroe, Jacqueline. 2005. "Women in Street Prostitution: The Result of Poverty and the Brunt of Inequality." *Journal of Poverty* 9(3):69–88.
- Moore, David and Suzanne Fraser. 2006. "Putting at Risk What We Know: Reflecting on the Drug-Using Subject in Harm Reduction and Its Political Implications." *Social Science and Medicine* 62:3035–47.
- Moore, Lisa D. and Amy Elkavich. 2008. "Who's Using and Who's Doing Time: Incarceration, the War on Drugs, and Public Health." *American Journal of Public Health* 98(5):782–86. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.126284.
- Moos, Rudolf H., Becky Pettit, and Valerie A. Gruber. 1995. "Characteristics and Outcomes of Three Models of Community Residential Care for Substance Abuse." *Journal of Substance Abuse* 7:99–116.
- Morgan, H. Wayne. 1981 *Drugs in America: A Social History, 1800–1980.* Syracuse: Syracuse University Press.

- Morisky, Donald E., Lianne A. Urada. 2011. "Organizational Policy Recommendations for Control of STI/HIV Among Female Sex Workers in China: Regular Examination of Workers in Social Hygiene Clinics." *AIDS Care* 23:83–95. doi:10.1080/09540121.2011.554520.
- Mugford, S. 1993. "Social Change and the Control of Psychotropic Drugs—Risk Management, Harm Reduction and 'Postmodernity." *Drug and Alcohol Review* 12:369–75. doi:10.1080/09595239300185461.
- Murphy, Stacey Heneage. 2008. "The Politics of Benevolence: Homeless Policy in San Francisco." PhD dissertation, Department of City and Regional Planning, University of California, Berkeley.
- Nadasen, Premilla, Jennifer Mittelstadt, and Marisa Chappell. 2009. *Welfare in the United States: A History with Documents 1935–1996.* New York: Routledge.
- Namaste Viviane K. 2000. *Invisible Lives: The Erasure of Transsexual and Transgendered People*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- National Coalition for the Homeless. 2006. *Mental Illness and Homelessness*. Retrieved May 17, 2016 (http://www.nationalhomeless.org/publications/facts/Mental\_Illness.pdf).
- National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty. 2006. *Criminalizing Crisis: The Criminalization of Homelessness in U.S. Cities*. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.nlchp.org/content/pubs/11.14.11%20Criminalization%20Report %20and%20Advocacy%20Manual,%20FINAL1.pdf).
- Navarro, Vicente. 1985. Crisis, Health, and Medicine: A Social Critique. New York: Tavistock.
- Nemoto, Tooru, Don Operario, JoAnne Keatley, Lei Han, and Toho Soma. 2005. "Health and Social Services for Male-to-Female Transgender Persons of Color in San Francisco." *International Journal of Transgenderism* 8(2–3):5–19.
- Newman, Elana, Elizabeth Risch, and Nancy Kassam-Adams. 2006. "Ethical Issues in Trauma-Related Research: A Review." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics* 1(3):29–46.
- Newman, Katherine S. 1999. *No Shame in My Game: The Working Poor in the Inner City*. New York: Vintage Books.

- O'Connell, Jacqueline, Thomas Kerr, Kathy Li, Mark W. Tyndall, Robert Hogg, Julio Montaner, and Evan Wood. 2005. "Requiring Help Injecting Independently Predicts Incident HIV Infection among Injection Drug Users." *Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 40(1):83–88. doi:10.1097/01.qai.0000157006.28535.mL.
- O'Connor, Alice. 1999. "Swimming Against the Tide: A Brief History of Federal Policy in Poor Communities." Pp. 77–109 in *Urban Problems and Community Development*, edited by Ronald F. Ferguson and William T. Dickens. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- O'Connor, Alice. 2001. Poverty Knowledge: Social Science, Social Policy and the Poor in Twentieth-Century U.S. History. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Operario, Don, Toho Soma, and Kristen Underhill. 2008. "Sex Work and HIV Status Among Transgender Women: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* (48)1:97–103. doi:10.1097/QAI .0b013e31816e3971.
- Ortiz, Javier, Matthew Dick, and Sara Rankin. 2015. *The Wrong Side of History: A Comparison of Modern and Historical Criminalization Laws*. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract=2602533).
- Oselin, Sharon S. 2010. "Weighing the Consequences of a Deviant Career: Factors Leading to an Exit from Prostitution." *Sociological Perspectives* (53)4:527–50.
- Oselin, Sharon S. 2014. *Leaving Prostitution: Getting Out and Staying Out of Sex Work*. New York: New York University Press.
- Oselin, Sharon S. and Ronald Weitzer. 2013. "Organizations Working on Behalf of Prostitutes: An Analysis of Goals, Practices and Strategies." *Sexualities* 16(3–4):445–66. doi:10.1177/1363460713481741.
- Osgood, Wayne, E. Michael Foster, and Mark E. Courtney. 2010. "Vulnerable Populations and the Transition to Adulthood." *The Future of Children* 20(1):209–29.
- Ottaway, N., K. King, and Patricia Erikson. 2009. "Storying the Street: Transition Narratives of Homeless Youth." *Medical Ethics, Medical Humanities* 35:19–26. doi:10.1136/jmh.2008.001362.
- Pager, Devah. 2003. "The Mark of a Criminal Record" *American Journal of Sociology* 108(5):937–75.
- Pager, Devah. 2007. Marked: Race, Crime and Finding Work in an Era of Mass Incarceration. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Pager, Devah and Lincoln Quillian. 2005. "Walking the Talk? What Employers Say versus What They Do." *American Sociological Review* 70(3):355–80.
- Pager, Devah, Bruce Western, and Naomi Sugie. 2009. "Sequencing Disadvantage: Barriers to Employment Facing Young Black and White Men with Criminal Records." *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 623(1):195–213.
- Pascom, Ana R. P. Célia Landmann Szwarcwald, and Aristides Barbosa Júnior. 2010. "Sampling Studies to Estimate the HIV Prevalence Rate in Female Commercial Sex Workers." *Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases* (14)4. doi:10.1590/S1413-86702010000400014.
- Patillo, Mary, David F. Weiman, and Bruce Western, eds. 2004. *Imprisoning America: The Social Effect of Mass Incarceration*. New York: Russell Sage.
- Petit, Becky. 2012. *Invisible Men: Mass Incarceration and the Myth of Black Progress*. New York: Russell Sage.
- Pettit, Becky and Christopher Lyons. 2007. "Status and the Stigma of Incarceration: The Labor Market Effects of Incarceration by Race, Class, and Criminal Involvement." Pp. 203–26 in *Barriers to Re-entry: The Impact of Incarceration on Labor Market Outcomes*, edited by David Weiman, Shawn Bushway, and Michael Stoll. New York: Russell Sage.
- Pettit, Becky and Christopher Lyons. 2009. "Incarceration and the Legitimate Labor Market: Examining Age-graded Effects on Employment and Wages." *Law and Society Review* 43(4):725–56.
- Pettit, Becky and Bruce Western. 2004. "Mass Imprisonment and the Life Course: Race and Class Inequality in U.S. Incarceration." *American Sociological Review* 69:151–69.
- Piven, Frances Fox and Richard A. Cloward. 1993. *Regulating the Poor: The Functions of Public Welfare*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Plaster, Joey. 2012. "Imagined Conversations and Activist Lineages: Public Histories of Queer Homeless Youth Organizing and the Policing of Public Space in San Francisco's Tenderloin, 1960s and Present." *Radical History Review* 113:99–109.
- Polletta, Francesca. 1998. "'It Was Like a Fever' Narrative and Identity in Social Protest." *Social Problems* 45(2):137–59.
- Polletta, Francesca and James M. Jasper. 2001. "Collective Identity and Social Movements" *Annual Review of Sociology* 27:283–305.

- Poteat, Tonia, Danielle German, and Deanna Kerrigan. 2013. "Managing Uncertainty: A Grounded Theory of Stigma in Transgender Health Encounters." *Social Science and Medicine*. 84:22–29. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.02.019.
- Potterat, John J., Richard B. Rothenberg, Stephen Q. Muth, William W. Darrow, and Lynanne Phillips-Plummer. 1998: "Pathways to Prostitution: The Chronology of Sexual and Drug Abuse Milestones." *Journal of Sex Research* 35(4):333–40.
- Ragin, Charles. 1994. Constructing Social Research: The Unity and Diversity of Method. Newbury Park, CA: Pine Forge Press.
- Ragin, Charles. 2008. *Redesigning Social Inquiry: Fuzzy Sets and Beyond*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Ragin, Charles and Benoît Rihoux, eds. 2009. *Configurational Comparative Methods: Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) and Related Techniques*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Ramirez-Valles, Jesus, Stevenson Fergus, Carol A. Reisen, Paul J. Poppen, and Maria Cecilia Zea. 2005. "Confronting Stigma: Community Involvement and Psychological Well-Being Among HIV Positive Latino Gay Men." *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences* 27(1):101–19. doi:10.1177/0739986304270232.
- Raphael, Jody and Deborah L. Shapiro. 2004. "Violence in Indoor and Outdoor Prostitution Venues." *Violence Against Women* 10:126–39. doi:10.1177/1077801203260529.
- Ray, Nicholas. 2006. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Youth: An Epidemic of Homelessness. New York: National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute and the National Coalition for the Homeless.
- Ray, Raka. 1999. Fields of Protest. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Raymond, Janice G. 2003. "Ten Reasons for *Not* Legalizing Prostitution and a Legal Response to the Demand for Prostitution." *Journal of Trauma Practice* 2:315–32.
- Redmond, Tim. 2015. "Lawsuit Seeks to Throw out Laws Against Sex Work." 48 *Hills*, March 4. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://48hills.org/2015/03/03/lawsuit -seeks-to-throw-out-laws-against-sex-work/).

- Rhodes, Tim and Allan Quirk. 1998. "Drug Users' Sexual Relationships and the Social Organization of Risk: The Sexual Relationship as a Site of Risk Management." *Social Science and Medicine* 46(2):157–69. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(97)00156-1.
- Rhodes, Tim, Merrill Singer, Philippe Bourgoisc, Samuel R. Friedmand, and Steffanie A. Strathdee. 2005. "The Social Structural Production of HIV Risk among Injecting Drug Users." *Social Science and Medicine* 61:1026–44. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.12.024.
- Richie, Beth E. 2001. "Challenges Incarcerated Women Face as They Return to Their Communities: Findings from Life History Interviews." *Crime and Delinquency* 47(3):368–89.
- Richie, Beth E. 2012. Arrested Justice: Black Women, Violence, and America's Prison Nation. New York: New York University Press.
- Rios, Victor M. 2011. *Punished: Policing the Lives of Black and Latino Boys*. New York: New York University Press.
- Rodriguez, Juana Maria. 2003. *Queer Latinidad: Identity Practices, Discursive Spaces*. New York: New York University Press.
- Roe, Gordon. 2005. "Harm Reduction as Paradigm: Is Better Than Bad Good Enough? The Origins of Harm Reduction" *Critical Public Health* 15(3):243–50.
- Roebuck, Christopher William. 2013. "Workin' it: Trans Lives in the Age of Epidemic." PhD dissertation, Department of Medical Anthropology, University of California, Berkeley.
- Roe-Sepowitz, Dominque E., James Gallagher, Kristine E. Hickle, Martha Pérez Loubert, and John Tutelman. 2014. "Project ROSE: An Arrest-Alternative for Victims of Sex Trafficking and Prostitution." *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation* 53(1):57–74. doi:10.1080/10509674.2013.861323.
- Rose, Nikolas and Peter Miller. 1992. "Political Power Beyond the State: Problematics of Government." *British Journal of Sociology* 43(2):173–205.
- Rosen, Eva and Sudhir A. Venkatesh. 2008. "A 'Perversion' of Choice: Sex work offers Just Enough in Chicago's Urban Ghetto." *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography* 37(4):417–41. doi:10.1177/0891241607309879.
- Ross, Becki. 2010. "Sex and (Evacuation from) the City: The Moral and Legal Regulation of Sex Workers in Vancouver's West End, 1975–1985." *Sexualities* 13(2):197–218. doi:10.1177/1363460709359232.

- Sabatini, Joshua. 2016. "Decade of Tracking Homeless Deaths in SF Sheds Light on Imperfect System." *The San Francisco Examiner*, April 4. Retrieved April 14, 2016 (http://www.sfexaminer.com/decade-tracking-homeless-deaths-sf-sheds -light-imperfect-system/).
- Saint James Infirmary. 2010. *Occupational Health and Safety Handbook*. 3rd ed., edited by Naomi Akers and Cathryn Evans. San Francisco: Saint James Infirmary.
- San Francisco Department of Public Health. 2011. *HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Annual Report*—2010. Retrieved May 17, 2016 (https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/reports/RptsHIVAIDS/HIVAIDAnnlRpt2010.pdf).
- San Francisco Department of Public Health. 2016. *Behavioral and Clinical Characteristics of Persons Receiving HIV Medical Care–Medical Monitoring Project, San Francisco 2011–2012*. San Francisco: San Francisco Department of Public Health.
- San Francisco Police Department. "SF Prostitution Incidents 2009." Author's Collection.
- San Francisco Police Department. "SF Prostitution Incidents 2010." Author's Collection.
- San Francisco Police Department. "SF Prostitution Incidents 2011." Author's Collection
- San Francisco Police Department. "SF Prostitution Incidents 2012." Author's Collection
- San Francisco Police Department. "SF Prostitution Incidents 2013." Author's Collection.
- Sanders, Teela. 2007. "Becoming an Ex-Sex Worker: Making Transitions out of a Deviant Career." *Feminist Criminology* 2(1):74–95.
- Sanders, Teela. 2009. "Controlling the Anti-Sexual City: Sexual Citizenship and the Disciplining of Female Street Sex Workers." *Criminology and Criminal Justice* 9(4):507–25. doi:10.1177/1748895809343403.
- Santos Glenn-Milo, Erin Wilson, Jenna Rapues, Oscar Macias, Tracey Packer, and H. Fisher Raymond. 2014. "HIV Treatment Cascade among Transgender Women in a San Francisco Respondent Driven Sampling Study." *Sexually Transmitted Infections*. Aug;90(5):430–33. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2013-051342.

- Schilt, Kristin. 2006. "Just One of the Guys? How Trans Men Make Gender Visible at Work." *Gender and Society* 20(4):465–90.
- Schwartz, Alex F. Housing Policy in the United States. 2nd ed. New York: Routledge.
- Seal, David W., Gloria D. Eldrige, Deborah Kacanek, D. Binson, Robin J. MacGowan, and the Project START Study Group. 2007. "A Longitudinal, Qualitative Analysis of the Context of Substance Use and Sexual Behavior among 18- to 29-Year-Old Men after Their Release from Prison." *Social Science and Medicine* 65:2394–406. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.06.014.
- Seidman, Steven. 2005. "From Outsider to Citizen." Pp. 225–45 in *Regulating Sex: The Politics of Intimacy and Identity*, edited by Elizabeth Bernstein and Laurie Schaffner. New York: Routledge.
- Shannon, Kate, Vicki Bright, Shari Allinott, Debbie Alexson, Kate Gibson, and Mark W. Tyndall. 2007. "Community-Based HIV Prevention Research Among Substance-Using Women in Survival Sex Work: The Maka Project Partnership." *Harm Reduction Journal* 4(1):20. doi:10.1186/1477-7517-4-20.
- Shannon, Kate, Tomiye Ishida, Calvin Lai, and Mark W. Tyndall. 2005. "The Impact of Unregulated Single Room Occupancy Hotels on the Health Status of Illicit Drug Users in Vancouver." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 17(2):107–14. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2005.10.004.
- Shannon, Kate, Thomas Kerr, Shari Allinott, Jill Chettiar, Jean Shoveller, and Mark W. Tyndall. 2008. "Social and Structural Violence and Power Relations in Mitigating HIV Risk of Drug-Using Women in Survival Sex Work." *Social Science and Medicine* 66(4):911–21. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.008.
- Shannon, Kate, Thomas Kerr, Steffanie A. Strathdee, Jean Shoveller, Judio Montaner, and Mark W. Tyndall. 2009. "Prevalence and Structural Correlates of Gender Based Violence among a Prospective Cohort of Female Sex Workers." *British Medical Journal* 339(b2939). doi:10.1136/bmj.b2939.
- Shaver, Frances M., Jacqueline Lewis, and Eleanor Maticka-Tindale. 2011. "Rising to the Challenge: Addressing the Concerns of People Working in the Sex Industry." *Canadian Review of Sociology* 48(1):47–65. doi:10.1111/j.1755-618X.2011.01249.x.
- Shepard, Benjamin. 2013. "Between Harm Reduction, Loss and Wellness: On the Occupational Hazards of Work." *Harm Reduction Journal* 10(5). doi:10.1186/1477-7517-10-5.
- Shklar, Judith. 1991. *American Citizenship: The Quest for Inclusion*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Shola Orloff, Ann. 1993. "Gender and the Social Rights of Citizenship: The Comparative Analysis of Gender Relations and Welfare States." *American Sociological Review* 58:303–28. doi:10.2307/2095903.
- Showden, Carisa R. and Samantha Majic eds. 2014. *Negotiating Sex Work: Unintended Consequences of Policy and Activism.* Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Sides, Josh. 2009. Erotic City: Sexual Revolutions and the Making of Modern San Francisco. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Slesnick, Natasha, Pushpanjali Dashora, Amber Letcher, G. Erdem, and J. Serovich. 2009. "A Review of Services and Interventions for Runaway and Homeless Youth: Moving Forward." *Children and Youth Services Review* 31(7):732–42.
- Small, Mario L., David J. Harding, and Michéle Lamont. 2010. "Reconsidering Culture and Poverty." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 629:6–27.
- Small, Will, Thomas Kerr, John Charette, Martin T. Schechter, and Patricia M. Spittal. 2006. "Impacts of Intensified Police Activity on Injection Drug Users: Evidence from an Ethnographic Investigation." *International Journal of Drug Policy* 17:85–95. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2005.12.005.
- Smith, Christopher B. R. 2012. "Harm Reduction as Anarchist Practice: A User's Guide to Capitalism and Addiction in North America." *Critical Public Health*, 22(2):209–21.
- Smith, David M. 1994. "A Theoretical and Legal Challenge to Homeless Criminalization as Public Policy." *Yale Law and Policy Review* 12(2):478–517.
- Snow, David A. and Leon Anderson. 1987. "Identity Work Among the Homeless: The Verbal Construction and Avowal of Personal Identities." *American Journal of Sociology* 92:1336–71.
- Snow, David A. and Leon Anderson. 1993. *Down on Their Luck: A Study of Homeless Street People*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Snow, David A., Daniel M. Cress, Liam Downey, and Andrew W. Jones. 1998. "Disrupting the Quotidian: Reconceptualizing the Relationship Between Breakdown and the Emergence of Collective Action." *Mobilization* 3(1):1–22.
- Snow, David A., Leon Anderson, and Paul Koegel. 1994. "Distorting Tendencies in Research on the Homeless." *American Behavioral Scientist* 7(4):461–75.

- Snow, David A., E. Burke Rochford, Steven K. Worden, and Robert D. Benford. 1986. "Frame Alignment Processes, Micromobilization, and Movement Participation." *American Sociological Review* 51(4):464–81. doi:10.2307/2095581.
- Somers, Margaret. 2008. *Genealogies of Citizenship: Markets, Statelessness and the Right to Have Rights*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Somers, Margaret and Fred Block. 2005. "From Poverty to Perversity: Ideas, Markets and Institutions Over 200 Years of Welfare Debate." *American Sociological Review* 70(2):260–87. doi:10.1177/000312240507000204.
- Spade, Dean. "Building a Trans and Abolitionist Movement with Everything We've Got." Pp. 14–40 in *Captive Genders: Trans Embodiment and the Prison Industrial Complex*. 2nd ed., edited by Eric Stanley and Nat Smith. Oakland: AK Press.
- Spade, Dean and Craig Willse. 2000. "Confronting The Limits of Gay Hate Crimes Activism: A Radical Critique." *UCLAW Chicano-Latino Law Review* 21:38–52.
- Spade, Dean and Rickke Manazala. 2008. "The Nonprofit Industrial Complex and Trans Resistance." *Sexuality, Research and Social Policy: Journal of NSRC* 5(1):53–71. doi:10.1525/srsp.2008.5.1.53.
- Spade, Dean. 2006. "Compliance is Gendered: Struggling for Gender Self-Definition in a Hostile Economy." Pp. 217–41 in *Transgender Rights*, edited by Currah, Juang and Minter. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Spade, Dean. 2011. Normal Life: Administrative Violence, Critical Trans Politics and the Limits of Law. Brooklyn: NY. South End Press.
- Sparks, Holloway. 2003. "Queens, Teens and Model Mothers: Race, Gender and the Discourse of Welfare Reform." Pp. 171–95 in *Race and the Politics of Welfare Reform*, edited by Sanford F. Schram, Joe Soss, and Richard C. Fording. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Sparks, Tony. 2012. "Governing the Homeless in an Age of Compassion: Homelessness, Citizenship, and the 10-Year Plan to End Homelessness in King County Washington." Antipode 44(4). doi:10.1111/j.1467-8330.2011.00957.x.
- Sparks, Tony. 2015. "Mental Illness and the Criminalization of Homelessness." Pp. 59–62 in *Punishing the Poorest: How the Criminalization of Homelessness Perpetuates Poverty in San Francisco*, edited by Chris Herring and Dilara Yarbrough. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ssrn.com/abstract=2620426).

- Spears, Russel, Bertjan Doosje, and Naomi Ellemers. 1997. "Self-Stereotyping in the Face of Threats to Group Status and Distinctiveness: The Role of Group Identification." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 23(5):538–53.
- Spice, William. 2007. "Management of Sex Workers and Other High Risk Groups." *Occupational Medicine* 57:322–28.
- Stanford Law School Three Strikes Project and NAACP Legal Defense Fund. 2013. *Progress Report: Three Strikes Reform (Proposition 36) 1000 Prisoners Released.* Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.naacpldf.org/files/publications/ThreeStrikesReport\_v6.pdf).
- Steinberg, Darrell, David Mills, and Michael Romano. 2014. *When Did Prisons Become Acceptable Mental Healthcare Facilities?* Stanford Law School Three Strikes Project. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (https://law.stanford.edu/publications/when-did-prisons-become-acceptable-mental-healthcare-facilities-2/).
- Stoller, Nancy E. 1998. Lessons from the Damned: Queers, Whores and Junkies Respond to AIDS. New York: Routledge.
- Stryker, Susan. 2008. Transgender History. Berkeley: Seal Press.
- Stuart, Forrest. 2014. "From 'Rabble Management' to 'Recovery Management': Policing Homelessness in Marginal Urban Space." *Urban Studies* 51(9):1909–25.
- Swendeman, Dallas, Ishika Basu, Sankari Das, Smarajit Jana, and Mary Jane Rotheram-Borus. 2009. "Empowering Sex Workers in India to Reduce Vulnerability to HIV and Sexually Transmitted Diseases." *Social Science and Medicine* 69:1157–66. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.07.035.
- Tajfel, Henri and John C. Turner. 1986. "The Social Identity Theory of Intergroup Behavior." Pp. 7–24 in *Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, edited by William G. Austin and Stephen Worchel. Chicago: Nelson-Hall.
- Takahashi, Lois M. 1997. "The Socio-Spatial Stigmatization of Homelessness and HIV/AIDS: Toward an Explanation of the NIMBY Syndrome." *Social Science and Medicine* 45:903–14.
- Taylor, Verta and Nancy E. Whittier. 1992. "Collective Identity in Social Movement Communities: Lesbian Feminist Mobilization." Pp. 104–129 in *Frontiers in Social Movement Theory*, edited by Aldon D. Morris and Carol McClurg Mueller. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

- Thompson, Sanna J., Kimberly Bender, Liliane Windsor, Mary S. Cook and Travonne Williams. 2010. "Homeless Youth: Characteristics, Contributing Factors, and Service Options." *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 20(2):193–217.
- Torrey, E. Fuller, Aaron D. Sheriff, Richard Lamb, and James Pavle. 2010. *More Mentally Ill People Are in Jails and Prisons than Hospitals: A Survey of the States. Treatment Advocacy Center*. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.treatmentadvocacycenter.org/storage/documents/final\_jails\_v\_hospitals\_study.pdf).
- Turner, John C. 1987. "A Self-Categorization Theory." In *Rediscovering the Social Group: A Self-Categorization Theory*, edited by J. C. Turner, M. A. Hogg, P. J. Oakes, S. D. Reicher and M. S. Wetherell. Oxford, UK: Basil Blackwell.
- Uggen, Christopher. 2000. "Work as a Turning Point in The Life Course of Criminals: A Duration Model of Age, Employment, and Recidivism." *American Sociological Review* 65(4):529–46. doi:10.2307/2657381.
- Uggen, Christopher and Sarah Shannon. "Productive Addicts and Harm Reduction: How Work Reduces Crime—But Not Drug Use." *Social Problems* 61(1):105–30.
- United States Census Bureau. "Quick Facts City and County of San Francisco." Retrieved May 17, 2016 (https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/PST045214/06075).
- Urada, Lianne A., Donald E. Morisky, Laufred I. Hernandez, and Stephanie A. Strathde. 2012. "Social and Structural Factors Associated with Consistent Condom Use Among Female Entertainment Workers Trading Sex in the Philippines." *AIDS and Behavior* 17(2). doi:10.1007/s10461-011-0113-x.
- Valera, Pamela, Matthew W. Epperson, Jessie Daniels, Megha Ramaswamy, and Nicholas Freudenberg. 2009. "Substance Use and HIV-Risk Behaviors Among Young Men Involved in the Criminal Justice System." *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 35(1):43–47. doi:10.1080/00952990802342923.
- Velasquez-Potts, Michelle C. 2015. "Regulatory Sites: Management, Confinement and HIV/AIDS." Pp. 119–32 in *Captive Genders: Trans Embodiment and the Prison Industrial Complex*. 2nd ed., edited by Eric Stanley and Nat Smith. Oakland: AK Press.
- Venkatesh, Sudhir. 2006. *Off the Books: The Underground Economy of the Urban Poor*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Venkatesh, Sudhir. 2013. "Underground Markets as Fields in Transition: Sex Work in New York City." *Sociological Forum* 28(4):682–99.
- Vidal-Ortiz, Salvador. 2002. "Queering Sexuality and Doing Gender: Transgender Men's Identification with Gender and Sexuality." Pp. 181–233 in *Gendered Sexualities*, edited by Patricia Gagne and Richard Tewksbury. New York: Elsevier Press.
- Wacquant, Loic. 2002. "From Slavery to Mass Incarceration: Rethinking the 'Race Question' in the US." *New Left Review* 13(13).
- Wacquant, Loic. 2008. *Punishing the Poor: The New Government of Social Insecurity*. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Wagner, David. 1993. Checkerboard Square: Culture and Resistance in a Homeless Community. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Wagner, David. 2012. Confronting Homelessness: Poverty Politics and the Failure of Social Policy. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.
- Wagner, David and Marcia Cohen. 1991. "The Power of the People: Homeless Protestors in the Aftermath of Social Movement Participation." *Social Problems* 38(4):543–61.
- Waldron, Travis. 2016. "How Super Bowl 50 Became Ground Zero for the Fight Over Homelessness." *The Huffington Post*, February 6. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/san-francisco-homeless-protests-super -bowl-50\_us\_56b625c6e4b01d80b2468235).
- Ward, Jane. 2010. "Gender Labor: Trans Men, Femmes, and Collective Work of Transgression." Pp. 78–94 in *Intimate Labors: Cultures, Technologies, and the Politics of Care*, edited by Rhacel Parreñas and Eileen Boris. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Wasserman, Jason A. and Jeffrey M. Clair. 2010. At Home on the Street: People, Poverty and a Hidden Culture of Homelessness. Boulder: Lynne Reinner.
- Wasserman, Jason A. and Jeffrey M. Clair. 2014. "Homelessness, Medicalization of." Pp. 1176–80 in *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior and Society*, edited by William Cockerham, Robert Dingwall, and Stella R. Quah. Hoboken: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Weaver, Vesla and Amy Lerman. 2010. "Political Consequences of the Carceral State." *The American Political Science Review* 104(4):817–33.

- Weitzer, Ronald. 1999. "Prostitution Control in America: Rethinking Public Policy." *Crime, Law and Social Change* 32:83–102.
- Weitzer, Ronald. 2000. "Deficiencies in the Sociology of Sex Work." *Sociology of Crime, Law and Deviance* 2:259–79.
- Weitzer, Ronald. 2005. "Flawed Theory and Method in Studies of Prostitution." *Violence against Women* 11(7):934–49.
- Weitzer, Ronald. 2009. "Sociology of Sex Work." *Annual Review of Sociology* 35:213–34.
- Weitzer, Ronald. 2010. "The Movement to Criminalize Sex Work in the United States." *Journal of Law and Society* 37(1):61–84.
- Western, Bruce. 2006. *Punishment and Inequality in America*. New York: Russell Sage.
- Wieloch, Neil. 2002. "Collective Mobilization and Identity from the Underground: The Deployment of 'Oppositional Capital' in the Harm Reduction Movement." *The Sociological Quarterly* 43(1):45–72.
- Williams, Jean. 2005. "The Politics of Homelessness: Shelter Now and Political Protest." *Political Research Quarterly* 58(3):497–509.
- Wilson, Erin, Robert Garofalo, Robert D. Harris, and Marvin Belzer. 2010. "Sexual Risk Taking Among Transgender Male-to-Female Youths with Different Partner Types." *American Journal of Public Health* 100(8):1500–05. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.160051.
- Wilson, Erin, Robert Garofalo, Robert D. Harris, Amy Herrick, Miguel Martinez, Jaime Martinez, and Marvin Belzer. 2009. "Transgender Female Youth and Sex Work: HIV Risk and a Comparison of Life Factors Related to Engagement in Sex Work." *AIDS and Behavior* 13(5):902–13. doi:10.1007/s10461-008-9508-8.
- Winshell, Jason. 2011. "After Anti-Trafficking Team Shifted Focus to Prostitution Arrests, Police Retool Investigations." *SF Public Press*, November 30. Retrieved May 17, 2016 (http://sfpublicpress.org/news/2011-11/after-anti-trafficking-team-shifted-focus-to-prostitution-arrests-police-retool-investi).

- Young Women's Empowerment Project. 2009. Girls Do What They Have to Do to Survive: Illuminating Methods Used by Girls in the Sex Trade and Street Economy to Fight Back and Heal—A Participatory Action Research Study of Resilience and Resistance. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://ywepchicago.files .wordpress.com/2011/06/girls-do-what-they-have-to-do-to-survive-a-study-of -resilience-and-resistance.pdf).
- Zirin, Dave. 2016. "The Streets of San Francisco: Superbowl City Meets Tent City." *The Nation*, February 4. Retrieved May 30, 2016 (http://www.thenation.com/article/the-streets-of-san-francisco-super-bowl-city-meets-tent-city/).